HIV-1 RESISTANCE TO RILPIVIRINE IN THE CONTEXT OF PRE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS

by

Kevin Patrick Melody BS, Wheeling Jesuit University, 2005 MS, Louisiana State University, 2008

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2017

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

Graduate School of Public Health

This dissertation was presented by

Kevin Patrick Melody

It was defended on

November 30, 2016

and approved by

Dissertation Advisor: Zandrea Ambrose, PhD Associate Professor Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh

Simon M. Barratt-Boyes, PhD Professor Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology Graduate School of Public Health University of Pittsburgh

John W. Mellors, MD Professor Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh

Todd A. Reinhart, ScD Dean of Sciences and Health Professions Graduate School of Health and Human Services Saint Mary's University of Minnesota

Nicolas Sluis-Cremer, PhD Professor Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine School of Medicine University of Pittsburgh Copyright © by Kevin Patrick Melody

2017

HIV-1 RESISTANCE TO RILPIVIRINE IN THE CONTEXT OF PRE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS

Kevin Patrick Melody, PhD

University of Pittsburgh, 2017

ABSTRACT

To prevent further incidences of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) is effective at inhibiting infection in high-risk populations; however, PrEP efficacy is correlated with adherence. Currently, the only approved PrEP regimen requires taking daily pills. To improve adherence, rilpivirine (RPV), a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor approved for antiretroviral therapy, has been developed into an injectable long-acting nanoparticle formula (RPV LA). RPV LA provides a depot of drug for sustained release and monthly dosing instead of daily pills. A concern with using approved antiretroviral drugs for both therapy and PrEP is the selection of drug-resistant mutations that may confer crossresistance to multiple drugs. This issue has public health relevance, as individuals with crossresistant mutations will have limited therapy options and could transmit drug-resistant virus to others. To study HIV-1 resistance to RPV in the context of PrEP, we treated macaques and humanized mice with RPV LA and characterized selection of drug-resistant virus and the ability to prevent mucosal transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1, respectively. We found that RPV LA monotherapy in macaques selected for transient low-level RPV-resistant mutations. We also found that RPV LA prevented vaginal transmission of HIV-1 with low- but not high-level resistance in a concentration dependent manner. Similar to macaques, we found no evidence of consistent resistance selection in breakthrough infections in mice. Together, these animal models

indicate the risk of resistance selection by RPV LA is low; however, the *in vivo* protective concentration of RPV LA should be better defined before Phase 3 clinical trials to measure efficacy. To counter HIV-1 drug resistance, new antiretroviral compounds must be developed. We studied three experimental RPV analogs and found that one compound selected for a novel combination of two mutations in reverse transcriptase. Together the mutations conferred cross-resistance to all approved NNRTIs; however, hypersusceptibility to several non-NNRTI drugs was observed. This indicates that the analog has a novel interaction with HIV-1 reverse transcriptase that could be exploited to design better antiretroviral compounds.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRI	EFAC	CE	XIV
1.0		INTR	ODUCTION1
	1.1	ł	IIV-1, DRUGS, AND RESISTANCE 4
		1.1.1	The HIV-1 replication cycle4
		1.1.2	HIV-1 pathogenesis9
		1.1.3	HIV-1 antiretroviral therapy13
		1.1.4	HIV-1 resistance selection16
		1.1.5	HIV-1 resistance and antiretroviral therapy19
		1.1.6	Rilpivirine
		1.1.7	HIV-1 resistance to RPV
	1.2	F	RE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS
		1.2.1	HIV-1 PrEP
		1.2.2	RPV LA as PrEP
		1.2.3	Transmission of drug resistance
		1.2.4	Animal models for HIV-1 infection
		1	.2.4.1 Macaque models for PrEP 41
		1	.2.4.2 BLT mouse models for PrEP 56
2.0		SPEC	IFIC AIMS 61

3.0 AIM 1: LOW FREQUENCY OF DRUG-RESISTANT VARIANTS SELECTED BY LONG-ACTING RILPIVIRINE IN MACAQUES INFECTED WITH SIMIAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS CONTAINING HIV-1 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE 63

3.1	F	PREFACE						
3.2	A	ABSTRACT						
3.3	INTRODUCTION 65							
3.4	N	AATERIALS AND METHODS						
	3.4.1	Cell culture and antiretroviral inhibitors68						
	3.4.2	Virus production and titer determination						
	3.4.3	Animals						
	3.4.4	T cell counts and vRNA isolation70						
	3.4.5	RPV plasma and tissue concentrations71						
	3.4.6	vRNA quantitation71						
	3.4.7	vRNA sequencing72						
	3.4.8	RT-SHIV <i>in vitro</i> resistance selection73						
	3.4.9	Drug susceptibility assay73						
3.5	F	RESULTS						
	3.5.1	RPV LA treatment of RT-SHIV-infected macaques74						
	3.5.2	Plasma RT-SHIV drug resistance detection76						
	3.5.3	Tissue RT-SHIV drug resistance detection77						
	3.5.4	Effects of human and macaque plasma on RPV inhibition of HIV-1 and						
	RT-SI	HIV						
3.6	Γ	DISCUSSION						

4.0	AIM 2	2: HIGH CONCENTRATIONS OF LONG-ACTING RILPIVIRINE ARE
EFFECT	TVE A	T INHIBITING TRANSMISSION OF LOW-LEVEL DRUG-RESISTANT
HIV-1 IN	N HUM	ANIZED MICE 86
4.1	P	PREFACE
4.2	A	ABSTRACT
4.3	Ι	NTRODUCTION
4.4	N	ATERIALS AND METHODS 91
	4.4.1	Cell lines and RPV91
	4.4.2	HIV-1 production
	4.4.3	RPV susceptibility of WT and drug-resistant HIV-1
	4.4.4	HIV-1 replication assay
	4.4.5	Animals
	4.4.6	PK analysis of RPV LA95
	4.4.7	Quantitation of plasma HIV-1 RNA95
	4.4.8	Sequencing of vRNA95
	4.4.9	Statistical analyses
4.5	F	RESULTS
	4.5.1	In vitro RPV susceptibility and replication of WT and mutant HIV-196
	4.5.2	Plasma and mucosal tissue PK of RPV LA after a single dose
	4.5.3	Inhibition of HIV-1 vaginal transmission after RPV LA PrEP 100
	4.5.4	Rectal WT HIV-1 challenge of RPV LA-treated mice
	4.5.5	Sequencing for detection of RPV resistance mutations in treated mice. 104
4.6	Γ	DISCUSSION

5.0	AIM	3: A	RILPIVIRINE	ANALOG	SELECTS	FOR	A NOVEL
COMBI	NATIO	N OF	DRUG-RESIST	ANT MUTA	TIONS IN	N HIV-1	REVERSE
TRANS	CRIPTA	ASE	•••••		•••••	•••••	113
5.1	Р	PREFAC	Е		•••••	•••••	114
5.2	A	BSTRA	СТ		•••••	•••••	115
5.3	Ι	NTROD	UCTION		•••••	•••••	116
5.4	N	ATERI	ALS AND METH	IODS	•••••	•••••	118
	5.4.1	Cell lin	es and compound	S	•••••	•••••	118
	5.4.2	HIV-1	production		•••••	•••••	118
	5.4.3	Selectio	on of HIV-1 resist	ance mutation	s with RT in	hibitors	119
	5.4.4	Drug su	isceptibility assay	Ś	•••••	•••••	
	5.4.5	HIV-1	replication assay.		•••••	•••••	120
5.5	R	RESULT	S		•••••	••••••	120
	5.5.1	Selectio	on of DRMs in HI	V-1 by RPV a	nd compoun	ds 7 and 1	1 120
5.5.2 Selection of a novel combination of RT mutations in HIV-1					by compound		
	13	•••••	•••••		•••••	••••••	
	5.5.3	Resista	nce phenotypes of	f RT mutants s	selected by R	RPV and R	PV analogs
		•••••	••••••		••••••	••••••	
	5.5.4	Effect o	of select RT mutat	tions on HIV-1	replication	••••••	
	5.5.5	G112D	/M230I HIV-1 sus	sceptibility to 1	NNRTIs and	NRTIs	
5.6	Ľ	DISCUSS	ION		••••••	••••••	
6.0	FINA	L DISCU	SSION AND IM	PLICATIONS	FOR PUBL	IC HEAL	ТН 136

6.1	RPV L	A MON	OTHERAPY	Y DOES	NOT RE	CADILY	SELECT	FOR
RESIS	TANCE M	UTATIO	NS IN RT-S	HIV-INFE	CTED MA	CAQUE	S	138
6.2	RPV LA	A CAN IN	HIBIT DR	UG-RESIS	STANT HI	V-1 TRA	NSMISSI	ON IN
BLT	MICE	BUT N	OT AT	BIOLOG	GICALLY	RELE	VANT I	DRUG
CONC	ENTRATI	ONS	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	140
6.3	A RPV	ANALC	G SELEC	TS FOR	A NOVE	L COM	BINATIO	N OF
MUTA	TIONS IN	HIV-1 RI	EVERSE TR	RANSCRII	PTASE	•••••	•••••	145
6.4	CONCL	USION	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	147
APPENDIX	: ABBREV	VIATIONS	S PRESENT	ED WITH	IN THE W	ORK	•••••	149
BIBLIOGR	APHY		•••••	•••••	••••••		•••••	151

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Clinical trials with FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs for HIV-1 PrEP 3
Table 2. Macaque studies using FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs as PrEP to prevent mucosal
transmission of SIV or SHIV
Table 3. BLT humanized mouse studies using approved ART as PrEP to prevent mucosal
infection by HIV-1
Table 4. RPV concentrations (ng/ml) in plasma and tissues of both animals at 35 weeks post-
infection
Table 5. Mutations identified in RT of plasma RT-SHIV RNA
Table 6. RPV susceptibility of HIV-1 and RT-SHIV with select mutations identified in plasma
and tissue vRNA
Table 7. RNA copies of RT-SHIV gag and macaque CD4 measured from tissue RNA
Table 8. Mutations identified in RT of RT-SHIV RNA isolated from tissues 79
Table 9. Effect of human and macaque serum on RPV EC50 81
Table 10. Outcome of BLT mice treated with RPV LA and challenged with WT or drug-resistant
HIV-1
Table 11. Sequences of the RT coding region in untreated and RPV LA-treated mice infected
with WT or Y181C HIV-1 as performed by population sequencing

Table 12. Detection of DRMs by single-genome sequencing in HIV-1 isolated from plasma of
BLT mice 107
Table 13. RT sequences of HIV-1 clones isolated from supernatant of cell cultures in RPV,
compound 7, and compound 11 122
Table 14. RT sequences of HIV-1 populations and clones isolated from supernatant of cell
cultures compound 13 125
Table 15. In vitro antiviral activity of RPV and compounds 7, 11, and 13 against WT or mutant
HIV-1
Table 16. Change in <i>in vitro</i> susceptibility of RT inhibitors against G112D, M230I, or
G112D/M230I HIV-1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. The RNA genome of HIV-1
Figure 2. Structure of a mature HIV-1 virion
Figure 3. Progression of HIV-1 pathogenesis
Figure 4. FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs and their targets
Figure 5. Chemical structures of clinically relevant NNRTIs
Figure 6. Comparison of the HIV-1, SIV, and RT-SHIV genomes
Figure 7. Plasma RT-SHIV levels in two macaques treated with RPV LA monotherapy
Figure 8. In vitro susceptibility of HIV-1 to RPV
Figure 9. In vitro replication kinetics of WT, Y181C, and Y181V HIV-1 in primary human cells.
Figure 10. PK profile of RPV LA in BLT mice
Figure 11. Time to detection of HIV-1 infection in BLT mice
Figure 12. Plasma viremia in BLT mice infected with HIV-1
Figure 13. Chemical structures of RPV and analogs 7, 11, and 13 117
Figure 14. Increase in RT inhibitor concentrations during HIV-1 resistance selection 121
Figure 15. Replication kinetics of WT and mutant HIV-1

PREFACE

It has been a long and eventful road to arrive at the point of earning a Doctor of Philosophy and there are a lot of people to recognize for their support on this journey. First recognition goes to my dissertation advisor, Dr. Zandrea Ambrose. She took me in when I was an "orphan" student and needed a project. Thankfully, she presented me with the opportunity to perform drug and animal research, which is a key reason I applied to graduate school. Second, I want to thank my dissertation committee of Drs. Zandrea Ambrose, Simon Barratt-Boyes, John Mellors, Todd Reinhart, and Nicolas Sluis-Cremer for their time and effort in attending meetings, providing feedback, and reviewing my dissertation. Without them, I certainly could not have gotten this far...it is in the rule book. I particularly need to thank Todd for his early mentorship and kindness when I was a new student. Dr. Moses Bility receives gratitude for his long hours helping me put my humanized mice together and then taking them apart. He has been essential in the completion of my mouse work. Meredith Mavero, the former student services coordinator for IDM, deserves special recognition for keeping me on track and monitoring all my non-lab responsibilities, which I fumbled almost every year. Next, I am grateful to the past and present members of the Ambrose lab who provided help at the bench or in their general presence: Beth Corbin, Doug Fischer, Chris Kline, Sarah McBeth, Hongzhan Xu, Jordanna Yahr, and Zhou Zhong, Outside of the Ambrose lab, I need to acknowledge Paul Boyer, Tony Cillo, Kristen Cummings/Hamanishi, Josh Cyktor, Lou Halvas, Steve Hughes, Christina Gardner, Adam Jakub,

Kevin Joseph, Angela Kashuba, Cynthia Klamar, Kristina Lamens, Alissa Moss, Kerri Penrose, Michelle Sobolewski, Steve Smith, Derek Trobaugh, Alex Ufelle, Isabelle Viana, Alan Watson, Won-Bin Young, and Jenn Zerbato who were all instrumental with their training, guidance, or help when it came to completing my experiments. A huge thank you is extended to the DLAR staff at the Hillman Cancer Center and Biological Science Tower III for their instruction and animal care, which was essential for my success. I also appreciate the patience and excellent training provided by the Center for Biological Imaging and the opportunity to learn about imaging techniques.

Outside of the lab, I have experienced a lot personally. My father died during my tenure here, and I wish he could have made it to see my defense. However, I am proud of the birth of two wonderful daughters and a niece along with five more years of marriage to my strong and very patient wife. Without the support of my wife, I would not have achieved this success.

It is said that it takes a village to raise a child, and it is near impossible to properly acknowledge all the people who have helped watch my children when I had experiments to complete. To them, I say thank you very very very much. I am grateful for the wonderful old friends for whom I have reconnected and all the new and talented friends I have made here in Pittsburgh, particularly my wing-eating and beer-drinking compatriots. Earning a doctorate degree is not easy, but I have learned an immense amount of information that will build a foundation for my future. Overall, it has been a marvelous experience and I very much look forward to the next challenge.

Permission for figures presented in the Introduction:

Figure 3 is a composite of figures printed in the following:

1) New England Journal of Medicine, Vol. 328. Pantaleo G, Graziosi C, Fauci, AS. 1993. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. Pages 327-335.

2) Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. Fauci AS, Desrosiers RC. 1997. Pathogenesis of HIV and SIV. *In* Coffin JM, Hughes SH, Varmus HE (ed), Retroviruses. Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
3) Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine, Vol 2. Swanstrom R, Coffin J. 2012. HIV-1 pathogenesis: the virus. Pages 1-18.

Figure 6 with modifications is reprinted from *Trends in Biotechnology*, Vol. 25. Ambrose Z, KewalRamani VN, Bieniasz PD, Hatziioannou T. 2007. HIV/AIDS: in search of an animal model. Pages 333-337.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

It is estimated that 36.7 million people are infected by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1), with 2.1 million new infections occurring in 2015 (1). Since the discovery of HIV-1, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that over 70 million infections and 35 million deaths can be attributed to the virus (2). HIV-1 was discovered and named in the 1980s after healthy young adult men became sick and died from opportunistic infections typically controlled by a normal immune system (3-8). This condition is acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and is defined by a HIV-1 infection plus cluster of differentiation 4 (CD4) positive cell counts of less than 200 cells/µl of blood and/or the presence of opportunistic infections including but not limited to pneumocystis pneumonia, tuberculosis, or Kaposi sarcoma (9). HIV-1 is a human-specific lentivirus that is transmitted via blood-to-blood contact (needle sharing, transfusions, or birth) or exposure to body fluids (genital secretions, breast feeding) with the primary transmission route being sexual intercourse (10). There is no cure for HIV-1, and individuals who become infected require life-long combination antiretroviral therapy (ART) to suppress virus replication, else untreated HIV-1 infection predominantly leads to AIDS.

There is also no approved vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection because Phase III clinical trials have failed to demonstrate efficacy (11, 12) or showed modest protection (13), the correlates of which are still being explored to improve future vaccination strategies. In the absence of a vaccine, pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) with United States (US) Food and Drug

Administration (FDA)-approved antiretroviral drugs is shown to be effective at preventing HIV-1 infection (Table 1). Currently, the only approved PrEP is daily oral Truvada, a co-formulated pill of the FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs emtricitabine (FTC) and tenofovir (TFV); however, global approval of Truvada is limited. Despite the significant reductions in HIV-1 infections reported in Truvada groups in most PrEP studies, the biggest barrier to efficacy is adherence, as highlighted by lack of protection in study participants not taking their pills in two clinical trials (14, 15).

To improve PrEP adherence, rilpivirine (RPV), an antiretroviral drug approved for ART, was formulated into a long-acting injectable nanoparticle formulation. Long-acting injectable drugs administered by healthcare providers eliminate daily dosing and allow for accurate adherence monitoring. Despite the benefits of injectable PrEP, employing the same antiretroviral drugs (*i.e.*, Truvada or RPV) for both ART and PrEP raises concerns for development or transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1 isolates in newly infected individuals on PrEP. Consequently, drug-resistant HIV-1 can limit future therapy options as mutations may confer cross-resistance to other drugs within the same class (16).

To assess the concern of HIV-1 cross-resistance from PrEP, the theme of this dissertation is to understand the effects of HIV-1 resistance to RPV, either long-acting RPV (RPV LA) or novel RPV analogs. Specifically, *in vivo* models were employed to study the development of drug resistance and inhibition of HIV-1 transmission by RPV LA, while cell cultures were used to determine the genotypic and phenotypic resistance profiles of novel RPV analogs. This research aims to bridge the knowledge gap between *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems to guide future work in HIV-1 prophylaxis.

Trial name	Study population	Study design	Risk reduction in intent-to-treat population	Risk reduction in adherent population	Ref.
iPrEx	MSM, transgender women	daily oral FTC/TFV or placebo	44%	92%	(17)
CAPRISA 004	Women	intercourse- dependent TFV gel or placebo	39%	54%	(18)
FEM-PrEP	Women	daily oral FTC/TFV or placebo	No reduction	Failure due to <40% adherence	(14)
Partners PrEP	Serodiscordant couples	daily oral TFV, FTC/TFV, or placebo	67% (TFV) 75% (FTC/TFV)	86% (TFV) 90% (FTC/TFV)	(19)
TDF2	Serodiscordant couples	daily oral FTC/TFV or placebo	62%	78%	(20)
Bangkok Tenofovir Study	IDU	daily oral TFV or placebo	48.9%	74%	(21)
VOICE	Women	daily oral TFV, FTC/TFV, or placebo, TFV gel or placebo gel	-49% (TFV pill) -4% (FTC/TFV pill) 15% (TFV gel)	Failure due to <30% adherence	(15)
iPERGAY	MSM	intercourse- dependent oral FTC/TFV or placebo	82%	Not reported	(22)
PROUD	MSM	daily oral FTC/TFV immediate or delayed	86% (immediate)	Not Reported	(23)
IDU, injecti tenofovir	on drug users; N	1SM, men who ha	ave sex with men; FT	C, emtricitabine;	TFV,

Table 1. Clinical trials with FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs for HIV-1 PrEP

1.1 HIV-1, DRUGS, AND RESISTANCE

HIV-1 is a lentivirus of the *Retroviridae* family and has a positive sense, single-stranded ribonucleic acid (RNA) genome. As a retrovirus, HIV-1 enters a cell, reverse transcribes its RNA genome into double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), and then integrates its DNA into the host cell genome to complete the infection cycle. In addition, host cell transcription and translation of the integrated viral DNA is essential for production of new virions. HIV-1 antiretroviral drugs target various stages of the HIV-1 cycle to block infection and production of new virus; however, HIV-1 replication is an error-prone process that can lead to mutations that confer drug resistance, which abrogates ART usefulness.

1.1.1 The HIV-1 replication cycle

The HIV-1 genome consists of nine genes contained within approximately 1x10⁴ bases of RNA that codes for structural, enzymatic, envelope, and accessory proteins essential to infection, replication, and pathogenesis (Figure 1). HIV-1 begins its infection cycle when the virus binds to a receptor on a target cell via viral envelope (Env) proteins. Glycosylated Env proteins (consisting of gp120 and gp41 subunits) on the virion bind to CD4 molecules (24-26), the primary receptor of HIV-1 that can be found on T cells, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Interaction of gp120 and CD4 results in the reconfiguration of variable loops in gp120 that also allows binding to target cell co-receptors (27), primarily the chemokine receptors C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) or C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) (28-30). Conformation changes in gp120 from these host cell interactions exposes gp41, which facilitates fusion of the virus and target cell membranes and entry of the virus core into the target cell (31).



Figure 1. The RNA genome of HIV-1.

HIV-1 utilizes overlapping coding regions in three reading frames to minimize the size of its genome. HIV-1 has three genes, *gag* (blue), *pol* (yellow), and *env* (red) that code for polyproteins. *Gag* encodes the matrix (MA), capsid (CA), nucleocapsid (NC), and p6 proteins that form a protective layer around the genome and accessory proteins and guide the formation of new virions. The *pol* region codes for protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT), and integrase (IN), which are responsible for cleavage of polyproteins, transcription of viral RNA into DNA, and integration of viral DNA into the host genome, respectively. *Env* encodes the gp120 and gp41 proteins that create glycosylated heterotrimers necessary for host cell receptor binding and cell entry. Vif, Vpr, Vpu, Tat, Rev, and Nef are accessory proteins that modulate the host cell environment to counter antiviral defenses, activate transcription of viral DNA, and export viral RNA. The reading frames for this figure are based on the HIV-1_{NL4-BAL} sequence.

The virus core is composed of capsid proteins, encoded in the *gag* gene, that form a protective shell around the viral genome and enzymes (32-35). Upon entry into a host cell, the core will destabilize and shed capsid proteins in a process called uncoating that is important for viral infectivity (36, 37). The extent of uncoating between entry and integration is debated, but core destabilization begins early post-entry (38, 39) and reverse transcription occurs concurrently with uncoating (36, 37).

A hallmark of retroviruses is reverse transcriptase (RT), which is the enzyme responsible for converting the viral single-stranded RNA genome into a double-stranded DNA genome using host cell deoxynucleoside triphosphates (dNTPs) (40, 41). HIV-1 RT is a heterodimeric enzyme made of two subunits, p66 and p51, where p51 is a truncated version of p66 and lacks the ribonuclease H domain (42-46). Synthesis of viral DNA (vDNA) occurs through the enzymatic activity of p66, while p51 provides structural stability (42, 47-49). Thus, RT possesses multiple enzymatic functions for conversion of single-stranded RNA into single-stranded DNA (RNAdependent DNA polymerase), conversion of single-stranded DNA into double-stranded DNA (DNA-dependent DNA polymerase), and the removal of RNA bases from the RNA-DNA duplex (ribonuclease H) (42-46). Reverse transcription products are detectable in CD4⁺ T cells within 4 hours post-infection with peak double-stranded DNA production after 12 hours (50).

At the completion of reverse transcription, the reverse transcription complex will transition into a pre-integration complex (PIC). The PIC is composed of the newly reverse transcribed vDNA genome, capsid, integrase, and host cell nuclear import factors (51-53). After the PIC crosses the nuclear membrane, integrase performs 3' endonuclease processing of the vDNA, bind the vDNA and host cell DNA, nick the host cell DNA, and catalyze the ligation of virus to host DNA (54, 55). Host enzymes repair the DNA gaps to create the provirus (56, 57), which is the stable integrated genome of the HIV-1 virus that is replicated by the host cell. Capsid is also associated with integration as studies show capsid-host factor interactions for targeting the integration of HIV-1 DNA to sites of active replication (58, 59), thus increasing the chances of transcription of HIV-1 genes.

To produce new virions for continuation of the infection cycle, the HIV-1 provirus requires host cell polymerases to produce nascent genomic viral RNA (vRNA) and messenger RNA (mRNA). Host cell transcription factors bind to the 5' long terminal repeat, the *de facto* promoter region of HIV-1, to begin transcription of the provirus (60-63). During early transcription, replication of the provirus is limited to the regulatory proteins Tat and Rev (64, 65). Tat proteins bind to the transactivation-response (TAR) region (66-68) and recruits the positive transcription elongation factor complex to promote quick and efficient transcription of HIV-1 RNA products (69-72). Without the Tat-TAR interaction, HIV-1 transcription stalls early

in the genome (73). HIV-1 transcription involves the production of both spliced and unspliced RNA elements (74). Spliced products include mRNA for Tat, Rev, and Nef, and these transcripts are safely transported out of the nucleus through normal export channels. To avoid degradation by host cell enzymes, unspliced RNA, such as the nascent genome, *gag*, *gag-pol*, *env*, and some accessory proteins, requires the viral protein Rev for nuclear export. Rev binds to the Rev response element found in the *Env* coding region of unspliced vRNA (75-78) and interacts with nuclear pore proteins via a nuclear export signal for safe trafficking of the viral transcripts out of the nucleus and into the cytoplasm (79-81).

After translation of viral mRNA, HIV-1 proteins must coalesce at the cell membrane for proper virion formation and release from the host cell to complete the replication cycle. The Gag polyprotein consists of matrix, capsid, and nucleocapsid domains and recruits Env and binds the genomic vRNA. The Gag-Pol polyprotein contains the same domains along with the protease, RT, and integrase domains. Localization signals in the matrix domain target the transport of these polyproteins to the host cell membrane (82), and domains in nucleocapsid recognize and selectively bind HIV-1 genomic vRNA to ensure packaging of the correct RNA species (83, 84). Host cell granules deliver Env to the cell membrane in a less constitutive manor than Gag and Gag-Pol (85). At the host cell membrane, viral structural proteins multimerize at lipid rafts to begin the budding process (86-91). Immature virions made of viral proteins and host cell membrane moieties are released from the host cell through the action of host endosomal sorting complexes required for transport system (92). Within the nascent virion, viral protease cleaves Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins to trigger conformation changes necessary for proper core formation and enzyme functions (33, 93-95), thus creating mature, infectious virions and completing the virus replication cycle (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Structure of a mature HIV-1 virion.

Nucleocapsid (NC) forms a protective layer around the genome, while capsid (CA) forms a shell around the genome and viral enzymes (protease (PR), reverse transcriptase (RT), and integrase (IN)) and accessory proteins (Vpr, Vif, Vpu, and Nef) necessary for maturation and infection. Matrix (MA) binds to lipids in the host cell membrane, which become part of the virion membrane as the virus buds. Extracellular envelope proteins (gp120 and gp41) are anchored in the membrane for recognition of target cell receptors and membrane fusion for virus entry.

Throughout the replication cycle, the host cell has a variety of antiviral defenses, but three specialized viral accessory proteins, Vif, Vpu, and Nef, aid in host cell immune evasion and increased pathogenesis. Vif is responsible for binding to apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3 (APOBEC3) enzymes and targeting them to cellular ubiquitin ligases for destruction (96). APOBEC3 proteins are RNA editing enzymes from the APOBEC cytidine deaminase family and can be packaged into virions during nascent virus formation (97). The enzymes deaminate deoxycytidine to create deoxyuridine during first-strand complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis of reverse transcription, resulting in G-to-A hypermutations that are often lethal to the virus (98, 99). Vpu is a multi-functional protein that 1) binds to CD4 within the endoplasmic reticulum, thus leading to CD4 degradation via proteasomes and allowing proper processing of Env (100-103) and 2) allows virion budding by antagonizing tetherin, a protein that binds to the virus membrane to prevent release from the host cell (104-107). The third accessory protein, Nef, is also multi-functional. It induces surface CD4 endocytosis by binding to a cytoplasmic domain on CD4 and targeting it for degradation (108, 109). Nef also causes the endocytosis and lysosomal breakdown of MHC class I and class II molecules (110-113), which prevents proper cytotoxic T cell response to infected cells (114) and potentially interferes with antigen presentation and helper T cell stimulation (112), respectively. Additionally, Nef removes SERINC3 and SERINC5 proteins from the cell surface to prevent these molecules from incorporating into virions and inhibiting fusion (115, 116). The loss of any of these accessory proteins diminishes HIV-1 pathogenesis *in vivo* (111, 117-119).

1.1.2 HIV-1 pathogenesis

The primary targets of HIV-1 infection are CD4⁺ T cells, which have an essential role in host adaptive immunity. There are a variety of CD4⁺ T cells with distinct functions differentiated by gene expression and cytokine release; however, the overall purpose of these cells is to regulate the adaptive immune response to protect the host from foreign bodies, including viruses. HIV-1 targets these cells through their cell surface expression of CD4 and the chemokine co-receptors, CCR5 and CXCR4, as discussed above. While HIV-1 mainly targets CD4⁺ T cells, the virus can also productively infect macrophages and dendritic cells (120-126), which also express CD4 (127). Subsequent infection and long-term loss of immune cells serve to deregulate the host immune system and can lead to infection by opportunistic pathogens and the development of AIDS.

Infection of the host begins with transmission of HIV-1. The primary route of infection is through sexual contact, mainly the female and male genital tracts, and rates of transmission vary

depending on exposure route (10). It is estimated that <1% of HIV-1 exposure events in the female or male genital tract lead to an infection, but probability of rectal transmission is estimated as high as 5% due to differences in cell layers and microenvironment (10). Because HIV-1 is a bloodborne pathogen, transmission probabilities are highest for direct blood contact and range from 5-20% or 0.6-95% during pregnancy/birth and direct blood exposure (needles or transfusion), respectively (10). Initial infection is usually attributed to a single founder virus (128-133). However, multiple isolates can infect an individual at one time and may be dependent on virus inoculum, exposure route, and host environment factors (134-139). For mucosal transmission, activated CCR5⁺ CD4⁺ T cells are the initial targets of HIV-1 infection (133, 137, 140-145) and are found in high numbers at mucosal exposure sites (146-150), including the gutassociated lymphoid tissue (GALT), which is the largest reservoir of lymphocytes in the human body (151). It is proposed that a specific subset of pro-inflammatory $CD4^+$ cells, called Th17 helper cells, are the first T cells infected by HIV-1 (152-155). In time, HIV-1 evolves the ability to also target CXCR4-expressing T cells, which is linked to increased infectivity and pathogenicity (156-158). Although, macrophages and dendritic cells can be infected by HIV-1, they are not considered major players during transmission and acute infection (143, 145). Newly infected cells migrate to target-rich lymph tissues (e.g. lymph nodes (LN)) where the virus can be further disseminated (159), thus exponentially increasing the number of infected cells.

Migration of HIV-1⁺ cells from the site of exposure can lead to systemic spread of the infection, setting off the events that lead to AIDS (Figure 3). Plasma viremia reaches a peak approximately three weeks post-infection and is followed by a drop to a viral set-point as the adaptive immune system responds to counter virus replication (160-162). The period of seroconversion and establishment of a viral set-point is known as clinical latency, where an

individual is asymptomatic but the virus is replicating and transmissible to others, and can last for years. The viral set-point is a near steady longitudinal concentration of detectable vRNA copies in the plasma, and higher plasma viremia is associated with clinical progression to AIDS (163-167). However, viremia is not an absolute predictor (168) and progression to AIDS is a long-term multifactorial event involving viremia, immune response, and CD4⁺ lymphocyte maintenance (163, 165, 166, 169-172). Early signs of HIV-1 infection can be asymptomatic or manifest as a range from general malaise and flu-like symptoms to rashes and unexplained weight loss usually within 4 weeks of infection (9). However, the pathogenic hallmark of HIV-1 infection is the systemic depletion of CD4⁺ T cells (3-5, 173), particularly in the GALT (174, 175), that leads to disruption of immune homeostasis. This depletion of immune cells is a result of cytotoxicity from HIV-1 production (173), apoptosis or pyroptosis of infected and uninfected neighboring cells (176, 177), and killing of infected cells by cytotoxic immune cells, such as cluster of differentiation 8 (CD8) positive T cells and natural killer (NK) cells (178, 179). Damage to the gut epithelial barrier caused by HIV-1 infection and T cell loss leads to microbial translocation (180-182), and the systemic spread of gut microbe products that further perturb the immune system and cause pathogenicity (183-185). HIV-1 infection is also associated with progressive neurocognitive decline associated with infected macrophages (186-189) and brain atrophy from inflammation and damage to glial cells (190).

HIV-1 is constantly evolving to escape cytotoxic lymphocyte and antibody pressure (191-197), and will eventually cause enough systemic damage to create an immunocompromised environment ideal for invasion by opportunistic pathogens that are normally controlled by a healthy immune system. Such opportunistic infections that led to the discovery of AIDS include *Pneumocystis jiroveci* (formerly *P. carinii*) pneumonia, chronic herpes lesions, and Kaposi's sarcoma (3-5). Most HIV-1⁺ individuals will progress to AIDS in approximately 10 years after infection (198) unless they adhere to an ART regimen that successfully suppresses viremia. ART can significantly delay the onset of AIDS and increases life expectancy of HIV-1⁺ persons (199).





HIV-1 viremia (red) peaks within weeks of infection. During this primary infection, CCR5⁺CD4⁺ cells are preferentially depleted (blue line) but partially rebound as immune functions develop to suppress viremia. The viral set-point and clinical latency occur through a balance of virus replication and immune function. Without ART to suppress viral replication, CD4⁺ cells will continuously decline due to virus replication until the immune system is compromised to the point that opportunistic infections occur and lead to mortality. Throughout infection, HIV-1 mutates to escape immune pressure and can develop affinity for CXCR4⁺CD4⁺ T cells, which is associated with increased pathogenicity. Figure reproduced and adapted with permission from Pantaleo *et al.* 1993 (200), © Massachusetts Medical Society, and Facui & Desrosiers 1997 and Swanstrom & Coffin 2012 (201, 202), © Cold Spring Harbor Press.

Only one person has been cured of HIV-1. The Berlin patient (named because of the location of successful treatment) was treated with multiple rounds of chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia and received an allogeneic stem-cell transplant with donor tissue screened for the HIV-1-resistant delta32 CCR5 allele (203). This allele contains a 32-base pair deletion that

results in a non-functioning CCR5 co-receptor that inhibits cell entry and infection by CCR5tropic HIV-1 isolates and delays progression to AIDS (204-206). To date, the Berlin patient has undetectable HIV-1 in the absence of ART; however, this success has not been recapitulated in other persons (207) and is not feasible on a global scale. Until a practical cure is discovered, it is crucial to block the HIV-1 infection cycle with ART for HIV-1⁺ individuals and promote effective prophylactic methods to prevent transmission of HIV-1 to uninfected individuals.

1.1.3 HIV-1 antiretroviral therapy

Disruption of any of the steps in the HIV-1 replication cycle can reduce or abolish infection. Because HIV-1 RT, integrase, and protease are not expressed in host cells, these enzymes essential to virus replication are ideal targets for antiretroviral drugs. Currently, there are 25 FDA-approved drugs that target four steps of the HIV-1 infection cycle (Figure 4): entry, reverse transcription, integration, and protease cleavage. Most of these drugs directly bind to their target HIV-1 protein to inhibit proper function.

There are two FDA-approved drugs for inhibiting HIV-1 cell entry, enfuvirtide (T-20) and maraviroc (MVC). T-20 is a 36 amino acid peptide that interacts with the gp41 subunit of HIV-1 Env to prevent fusion of the virus and host cell membranes (208, 209). Alternatively, MVC binds to host cell CCR5 proteins and inhibits gp120 binding; however, the drug is not effective against HIV-1 isolates with CXCR4 tropism (210). MVC is the only FDA-approved HIV-1 drug that targets a non-viral protein. Although both drugs were effective in clinical trials (211, 212); they are not recommended for first-line ART because T-20 requires twice daily injections and is the most expensive therapy, while MVC also requires twice-daily dosing and tropism testing (213).



Figure 4. FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs and their targets.

Twenty-five drugs that inhibit five steps of the HIV-1 infection cycle are clinically available for the treatment of HIV-1⁺ individuals.

The most commonly prescribed drugs for ART include two classes of RT inhibitors known as nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTI) and non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTI). While both drugs target the same step of the HIV-1 infection cycle, their mechanisms of action are distinct. NRTIs were the first drug class approved for HIV-1⁺ individuals, and they work by resembling dNTPs but lack a 3' hydroxyl group necessary for DNA elongation. These drugs are phosphorylated within a cell and compete with natural dNTPs for insertion into nascent DNA strands by RT, thus NRTIs are competitive inhibitors and their incorporation results in DNA chain termination and abortive reverse transcription products (214, 215). Conversely, NNRTIs are allosteric inhibitors that hinder RT function by binding directly to RT but not in an active site. These drugs bind with high specificity to a hydrophobic region in HIV-1 RT known as the NNRTI-binding pocket, which is approximately 10 angstroms from the RT polymerase active site (49, 216-218). NNRTIs cause a structural shift in RT that affects the

alignment of the primer terminus and the polymerase active site, thus inhibiting the chemical step of nucleotide transfer (219-221). A dual combination of NRTIs (abacavir and lamivudine or FTC and TFV) forms the backbone for all first-line and most alternative recommended ART regimens in the US (213); however, the NNRTIs efavirenz (EFV) and RPV are reserved for alternative first-line options because of central nervous system side effects (EFV), reduced efficacy based on dose (RPV), single mutation resistance profiles (both), and increasing prevalence of resistance mutations within HIV-1⁺ populations (both) (213).

Integrase inhibitors are the newest class of drugs approved by the FDA for ART. There are three clinically available integrase inhibitors that bind directly to the enzyme to prevent strand transfer of the viral genome to the host DNA (222, 223). An advantage of integrase inhibitors over RT inhibitors is the larger window of time for them to be transported into a cell to be effective, as integration does not begin until approximately 8 hours post-entry (50). However, these drugs are only functional after integrase complexes with HIV-1 DNA (222). Due to the potency and tolerability of integrase inhibitors, all three are recommended as first-line HIV-1 therapy in combination with NRTIs in the US (213).

The fourth and largest class of antiretroviral drugs is the protease inhibitors. These drugs bind to the catalytic domain of protease and prevent Gag and Gag-Pol polyprotein cleavage that is necessary for viral maturation and infectivity (94, 95). Most protease inhibitors have peptide-like centers that allow direct interaction with the catalytic aspartic acid residues of HIV-1 protease (224, 225). However, this class of antiretrovirals is only effective in cells where HIV-1 has integrated and begun to produce new virions. Of the eight approved protease inhibitors, darunavir in combination with two NRTIs is recommended for first-line therapy, and atazanavir and lopinavir with two NRTIs are recommended for alternative starting regimens; however,

protease inhibitors require a booster drug, ritonavir, and tend to be more toxic than integrase and RT inhibitors (213).

In 2015, WHO revised global guidelines on ART and now recommends that all HIV-1⁺ individuals should receive ART regardless of CD4⁺ cell counts (226). Previous guidelines recommended ART for all HIV-1⁺ children regardless of CD4 T cell count and adults with <350 CD4⁺ cells/ml or AIDS-related conditions because of improved development and less clinical events in children (227-230) and reduced mortality in adults (231). However, the new recommendations are based on more recent data that show reduction in transmission and better clinical outcomes if ART is started immediately rather than until AIDS occurs (232-236). These studies comparing early versus deferred ART showed significant reductions in HIV-1-related clinical events (232-236), a decrease in mortality (233, 234), and a 96% drop in transmission within serodiscordant couples (232, 237) in cohorts that received immediate ART. Thus, immediate therapy leads to earlier suppression of HIV-1 viremia and better conservation of the immune system, which results in reductions in transmission and adverse clinical events.

1.1.4 HIV-1 resistance selection

The HIV-1 replication cycle is a dynamic process that involves virus proteins as well as dependence on host cell factors that can each exert distinctive rates of mutagenesis. The high mutation and turnover rates of HIV-1 virions lead to genetic variation that can create drug-resistant mutations (DRMs) within the viral quasispecies, the heterogeneous virus population detectable in each infected individual. DRMs can lead to HIV-1 replication in the presence of ART, thus causing therapy failure and increasing the probability of drug-resistant virus transmission (238).

To complete a replication cycle, HIV-1 requires RT to transcribe viral genomic RNA to DNA, and host RNA polymerase II (Pol II) to synthesize proviral DNA into viral genomic and mRNA. The function of these two enzymes can introduce mutations into the HIV-1 genome. The mutation rate of RT in various biochemical and cell culture assays is estimated to range from 10⁻⁴ to 10⁻⁶ bases per replication cycle (239-245). Mutations caused by RT arise from mismatched base substitutions, base deletions or insertions, and frameshift from enzyme slippage in homopolymeric regions (241, 242, 246, 247). HIV-1 RT lacks the proofreading capability to fix errors generated during reverse transcription (239, 240) and is considered the driving force behind HIV-1 mutagenesis (243, 246). The exact contribution of human RNA Pol II to HIV-1 mutation rates is unknown, but RNA Pol II has proofreading capabilities suggesting its role in generating mutations would be significantly lower than RT (246, 248).

Because an infectious HIV-1 virion contains two separate strands of RNA, there is potential for RT to produce mutations through genomic hybridization. Recombination of HIV-1 genomes occurs via strand displacement during reverse transcription when RT switches from one RNA strand to another (249, 250). Should a cell be infected with multiple subtypes of HIV-1 (discussed in the proceeding section), it is possible for nascent virions to package heterologous genomes that could recombine to create a novel infectious isolate referred to as a unique or circulating recombinant form (CRF) (251). High rates of recombination are described in cell lines (252, 253); however, *in vitro* recombination in primary T cells and macrophages is reported to average 1.5 and 6.2 events per 1,000 bases (245). The higher recombination rate in macrophages is attributed to lower dNTPs pools (254), which prompts increased DNA synthesis pausing, strand transfer efficiency, and template switching (255-257). Thus, HIV-1 RT influences HIV-1 evolution through infidelity and recombination.

As mentioned before, the APOBEC3 family of proteins can also contribute to HIV-1 mutagenesis; however, controversy remains as to the contribution of APOBEC3-mediated viral mutagenesis to HIV-1 pathogenesis in humans (258, 259). If unimpeded, the direct contribution of APOBEC3 proteins to drug resistance is likely low due to the high mutation rates and tendency to generate replication incompetent virus (98, 99, 260). APOBEC3 proteins have been estimated to contribute 10- to 100-fold more mutations than RT (258), but the frequency of sublethal mutations is >6-log less than the mutation rate of RT (259). APOBEC3 activity can be reduced by interaction with Vif, thus decreasing the number of APOBEC3-driven mutations and replication-incompetent genomes (261). Hence, APOBEC3 proteins can influence HIV-1 evolution. Interestingly, APOBEC3G activity was shown to prime the quasispecies for easier selection of the M184I RT resistance mutation through recombination (262); although, APOBEC3 hypermutations are not associated with increases in recombination rates (259).

The most significant factor associated with HIV-1 evolution and DRM development is the high turnover rate of the virus. The production of new virions has been estimated to be approximately 10^{10} virions per day with half the plasma viral population turning over nearly every six hours (263). At its lowest estimated fidelity, RT could generate one base change per viral genome per replication cycle. Combined with the production rate of new virions, each base of the HIV-1 genome could change >10,000 times a day (264). Because of rapid mutation and high turnover rates, the virus quasispecies within an individual is estimated to be 3,000 generations removed from its founding sequence after a decade (264). Thus, the longer an individual has unchecked virus replication, the larger the genetic variation and the greater the likelihood of developing DRMs, particularly in replication competent proviruses.

1.1.5 HIV-1 resistance and antiretroviral therapy

HIV-1 can develop DRMs that reduce susceptibility to all approved antiretroviral drugs (16). Because antiretroviral drugs within the same class tend to bind to the same regions of their respective targets, DRMs reduce drug binding and can lead to cross-resistance of several or all drugs of the same class. Such cross-resistant patterns lead to limited therapy options in HIV-1⁺ individuals who acquire or develop these mutations through transmission or evolution, respectively. For example, single amino acid changes in the NNRTI-binding pocket such as K103N or G190S confer high-level resistance to both EFV and nevirapine (NVP) with no change in susceptibility to RPV or etravirine (ETR) (265). However, four mutations in RT, L100I, K101P, G190E, and M230L are considered to have clinically relevant resistance to all four FDA-approved NNRTIs (16, 266). Similarly, mutations at positions T69 and Q151 in RT, or at Q148 in integrase reduce the utility of all NRTIs and integrase inhibitors, respectively (16, 266). MVC is the exception in that HIV-1 can develop mutations to allow binding in the presence of the drug or evolve the preference for an alternative co-receptor (*e.g.* CXCR4) (267).

Despite access to anti-HIV-1 drugs since the late 1980s, treatment failure due to replication of drug resistant virus was noted in individuals taking single drug regimens, or monotherapy (268-270). To prevent resistance selection, the current practice of combination ART (formerly referred to as HAART: <u>Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy</u>) replaced monotherapy in 1996 as clinical data in individuals on a multi-drug regimen showed better viremia suppression (271-274), immune cell recovery (271-273, 275), and reduced resistance selection (272, 273, 276). Therefore, it is imperative that HIV-1⁺ individuals adhere to a lifetime regimen of three to four drugs from at least two antiretroviral drug classes for successful viremia suppression.

Because of its high mutation rate, decades of replication before the advent of ART, and global compartmentalization, HIV-1 group M has evolved into nine distinct subtypes and dozens of CRFs (277). CRFs are a result of infection by more than one HIV-1 subtype and genetic recombination that creates a virus with a mixed subtype genome (278-280). Nearly 50% of the global HIV-1⁺ population is infected with subtype C virus, predominantly in southern Africa and Middle East nations (281); however, the majority of antiretroviral drug development uses subtype B HIV-1, which is most prevalent in the US and Western Europe (281). This means the differences between subtypes may affect the global utility of antiretroviral drugs.

Genetic drift and recombination can lead to polymorphisms, which are different amino acids that are prevalent at the same position within a population, and can influence drug resistance. Between subtypes, 53% of the entire protease and 48% of the first half of the RT coding region are polymorphic in untreated individuals (282). Although most DRMs are similar across subtypes (282), polymorphisms at positions associated with HIV-1 drug resistance could lead to suboptimal therapy in non-B dominant areas. For example, the E138A RT mutation is associated with RPV resistance (16, 265, 283) and is significantly more prevalent in untreated individuals infected with subtype C than subtype B virus (284). Consequently, RPV may not be as effective in areas where subtype C HIV-1 is prevalent, as using the drug could lead to treatment failure in individuals with the mutation.

Despite the benefits of ART and increasing improvements in global ART coverage (1), there is a global increase in drug-resistant HIV-1 prevalence (285). Subsequently, geographic regions with higher treatment rates could see a shift towards drug-resistant polymorphisms if the drugs are not utilized properly. ART could lead to increased DRM prevalence by mutations from suboptimal therapy pressure and drug-resistant HIV-1 transmission to uninfected persons. Thus,
it is imperative to continually develop novel, potent, and safe drugs and therapy combinations that can counter HIV-1 with currently known DRMs and any unique resistant mutations that arise to future drugs.

1.1.6 Rilpivirine

RPV is a diarylpyrimidine small molecule that belongs to the NNRTI class of antiretroviral drugs (Figure 5) and was approved by the FDA for ART in 2011. RPV is the most potent FDAapproved NNRTI to date with *in vitro* effective concentrations to prevent 50% infection (EC₅₀) ranging from 0.06-1.01 nM against primary and laboratory HIV-1 isolates and displays no loss of susceptibility against resistance mutations associated with the first generation NNRTIs, EFV and NVP (265, 286, 287). RPV potency is accredited to amino linker bonds, which provide flexibility to reposition the drug within the NNRTI-binding pocket, and the cyanovinyl group that binds a hydrophobic tunnel between the NNRTI-binding pocket and the dNTP-binding cleft (286, 288, 289). The cyanovinyl group is unique to RPV and not found on the other clinically relevant diarylpyrimidines, ETR and dapivirine (DAP) (286).

Results from clinical trials showed RPV to be non-inferior to EFV in reducing plasma viremia in HIV-1-infected participants on combination ART (290-293). However, RPV was tolerated better, caused significantly less side effects, and predominantly selected different resistance mutations than EFV (292-295). The selection of distinct resistance mutations without cross-resistance to EFV suggests that HIV-1⁺ individuals would be able to continue with NNRTIs as part of their ART regimen should DRMs develop to either drug. In the US, RPV in combination with Truvada is recommended as an alternative first-line ART regimen because of increased failure in individuals with plasma viremia >1x10⁵ RNA copies/ml (213, 292).



Figure 5. Chemical structures of clinically relevant NNRTIs.

EFV, NVP, ETR, and RPV are all FDA-approved NNRTIs for antiretroviral therapy. DAP and MIV-150 are not currently approved for clinical use. However, DAP formulated in an intravaginal ring is shown to protect against vaginal HIV-1 transmission. MIV-150 as part of a multi-functional vaginal gel for PrEP is in safety trials.

1.1.7 HIV-1 resistance to RPV

As previously discussed, HIV-1 can develop mutations that reduce the potency of antiretroviral drugs, some of which can confer cross-resistance to multiple compounds. Because all NNRTIs target the same hydrophobic region of RT (49, 216, 217, 286), DRMs within and around the NNRTI-binding pocket reduce the ability of the drug class to inhibit HIV-1 replication through a reduction in enzyme-drug interactions (296-302). The NNRTI-binding pocket is considered to encompass positions L100, K101, K103, V106, T107, V108, V179, Y181, Y188, V189, G190, F227, W229, L234, P236, and Y318 of p66 and E138 of p51 (49, 216), and clinically relevant mutations to FDA-approved NNRTIs include V90I, A98G, L100I, K101E/H/P, K103N/S, V106A/I/M, V108I, E138A/G/K/Q/R, V179D/F/L/T, Y181C/I/V, Y188C/H/L, G190A/S,

H221Y, P225H, F227C, M230I/L (16). For example, the more rigid first generation NNRTIS EFV and NVP predominantly have reduced ability to occupy the NNRTI-binding pocket in the presence of DRMs, such as K103N and Y181C. The K103N mutation in RT results in the formation of hydrogen bonds between N103 and Y188 and water molecules that 1) essentially block drug access to the NNRTI-binding pocket (296) or 2) result in less drastic conformation changes in drug-bound RT (297). In Y181C RT, NVP loses ring-stacking interactions in the mutant enzyme, which decreases binding affinity (298). However, the different side chain interactions and structural flexibility of RPV (and diarylpyrimidines) allows the drug to reposition within mutant RT and maintain inhibitory activity against viruses with DRMs that confer resistance to EFV and NVP (265, 286, 288).

Although most NNRTI-associated resistance mutations require only one base change (303), RPV is considered to have a higher genetic barrier to resistance than first generation NNRTIs. The genetic barrier to resistance is defined as the number of mutations needed to confer resistance to a drug, and the decrease in drug susceptibility from a single amino acid mutation is less pronounced for RPV than EFV or NVP (265). For example, K103N is the dominant mutation selected in adults failing EFV and NVP therapy (304, 305), but is not selected by RPV and does not confer resistance (265, 306). RPV predominantly selects for E138K (265, 295, 307). In an *in vitro* drug susceptibility assay, HIV-1 with K103N showed a >30-fold decrease in susceptibility to EFV and NVP, while E138K and many other drug-resistant HIV-1 clones showed an approximate 3-fold or less decrease in susceptibility to RPV (265). Theoretically, high enough concentrations of RPV should still suppress virus with DRMs conferring low-level resistance as opposed to EFV and NVP, which tend to select for resistance mutations that display substantial changes in susceptibility. Known single amino acid mutations that confer >10-fold

reduction in susceptibility to RPV are K101P, Y181I, and Y181V, which all require two base changes; else, HIV-1 requires more than one known drug-resistant mutation for high-level resistance to RPV (265). This resistance phenomenon is a hallmark of diarylpyrimidines and was also noted with ETR (308).

In cell culture and RPV clinical trials, E138K, K101E, and Y181C were the most commonly selected DRMs (265, 283, 295, 306). The linker groups of RPV form H-bonds with K101 of the p66 subunit and E138 of the p51 subunit of RT, allowing the drug to bind to the virus enzyme and hinder reverse transcription (288, 289). Mutations at these positions break a salt bridge that links the RT subunits (300) and creates a wider gap in the NNRTI-binding pocket that reduces RPV binding stability (301, 302). Mutations at the Y181 position result in a loss of stacking interaction between the tyrosine group of RT and the dimethylphenyl ring of RPV, again reducing binding of RPV (288). However, the flexibility of RPV allows the molecule to shift within RT to create or maintain other interactions with the enzyme, which accounts for the low-level of resistance conferred by many mutations in the NNRTI-binding pocket region. In the case of Y181C, the ring moiety of RPV can alternatively interact with the tyrosine residue at position 183 to maintain its ability to bind and inhibit RT function, though reduced (288). The RT-binding locations and shifting rings of RPV are critical for potency and why first-generation NNRTI-associated DRMs confer little to no reduction in susceptibility to the drug. The resistance mechanisms conferred by other RPV-associated mutations have not yet been explored.

As of this writing, half of the clinically relevant RPV-associated mutations are associated with DRM transmission but only K101E and Y181C are found in >5% of the treatment-experienced HIV-1⁺ population, while all RPV-associated DRMs are reported in <0.5% of treatment-naïve populations (266, 309). The global distribution of RPV DRMs is varied, with

Europe and Latin America having the highest prevalence of RPV resistance populations at 3.2% and 3.6%, respectively (310). However, drug-resistant polymorphisms at the E138 position are found in 6.1%, 5.1%, and 3.3% of individuals infected with subtypes C, F, and A, respectively (310). While E138 mutations currently have an overall low global prevalence, Y181C is the second most prevalent NNRTI-resistant mutation worldwide with 17.5% prevalence in ART-experience populations (285). Combined, these data indicate that RPV must be used with caution in certain geographic regions or in patients infected with particular HIV-1 subtypes.

If RPV use becomes more common, it is likely the prevalence of associated resistance mutations will also increase and potentially reduce the efficacy of RPV to be effective against HIV-1. Despite a restricted ART recommendation, the favorable potency, safety, and tolerability profile of RPV is why it was chosen for development as a long-acting injectable PrEP agent (311, 312). The use of FDA-approved drugs for both ART and PrEP brings into question the effects of PrEP on resistance selection and DRM transmission. However, a reduction in use of NNRTIs for ART, as recommended by US guidelines (213), could eventually reduce prevalence and incidence of NNRTI-resistant infections, thus alleviating the concern with drug-resistant HIV-1 transmission. This would allow RPV to remain a viable PrEP option should it be shown effective in animal models and clinical trials.

1.2 PRE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS

PrEP is the use of antiretroviral drugs by uninfected individuals to prevent HIV-1 transmission by providing localized or systemic drug concentrations prior to virus exposure. Effective drug concentrations at sites of exposure, particularly mucosal tissues, should entirely block infection or avert spread of a founder population of HIV-1-infected cells. In clinical trials, either daily oral TFV or Truvada was found to significantly prevent HIV-1 infection in high-risk populations including men and transgender women who have sex with men (MSM) (17, 23), serodiscordant couples (19), young heterosexual adults in an area of high HIV-1 prevalence (20), and injection drug users (21) (Table 1). Similarly, significant protection has been shown with intercourse-dependent Truvada (22) and 1% TFV topical gel (18) (Table 1). At the time of this writing, only daily oral Truvada for PrEP is available in high-risk populations, but global availability is limited. Despite the success of Truvada PrEP in clinical trials, adherence, resistance selection, resistance transmission, and long-term use of drugs by HIV-1⁻ individuals are areas of concern.

1.2.1 HIV-1 PrEP

There are 25 approved antiretroviral drugs and countless analogs and experimental compounds that could be chosen for PrEP. The cost and time to properly evaluate a fraction of these candidates would require vast resources and would significantly delay control of the HIV-1 pandemic. Therefore, drugs already approved for clinical use are more likely to be accepted as PrEP because of known safety, tolerability, resistance, and efficacy profiles, which entails years of thorough study and large-scale clinical trials before approval. For example, Truvada was an excellent candidate for PrEP because of good bioavailability of the active metabolites, a well-established safety profile, and lack of interaction with non-HIV-1 therapies relevant to other conditions/diseases (17). The NRTIs in Truvada, FTC and TFV, mimic separate dNTPs (cytidine and adenosine, respectively) and select for distinct resistance mutations (313, 314), indicating a therapeutic effect could be maintained should an individual acquire a single DRM while on PrEP. Of importance, animal models showed successful prevention of HIV-1 infection by

Truvada PrEP (315, 316), providing *in vivo* evidence of PrEP utility prior to initiating clinical trials.

To test the efficacy of daily oral Truvada as PrEP, thousands of individuals from several nations participated in multiple randomized, blinded, and placebo-controlled clinical trials. The rates of protection within the total populations were 44%, 62%, and 75% in MSM, sexually active adults, and serodiscordant couples, respectively (17, 19, 20). When the efficacy data for these trials were adjusted to analyze participants with detectable drug concentrations, HIV-1 prevention was >75% for adherent individuals. Even if drug was detected in treated individuals who became infected, the concentrations were significantly lower than those of matched uninfected persons (17, 20). Comparison of TFV concentrations and protection in Truvada clinical trials indicates that plasma TFV concentrations of ~50 ng/ml estimates a 50% risk reduction in HIV-1 infection (317) and specifies an obtainable, protective concentration in individuals. The success of Truvada PrEP is a much-needed boon for HIV-1 prevention, and different compounds and delivery modalities are being explored to increase PrEP options.

Similar to ART, development of DRMs is a concern for PrEP efficiency. Individuals who are HIV-1⁺ at initiation or become infected while on PrEP will essentially be treated with monoor dual therapy, which could select for drug resistance similar to what occurred in the 1980s and early 1990s prior to the initiation of pre-combination ART. PrEP-turned-therapy and DRM selection raises the issue of cross-resistance and limited ART options; however, resistance selection in individuals adherent to Truvada was low. Follow-up analyses of seroconverters in the TDF2 and iPrEx trials revealed no selection of DRMs if the individuals were infected after initiating PrEP (318, 319); however, 4.8% and 3.3% of infected participants in the Partners PrEP study developed a resistant mutation as a result of Truvada or TFV PrEP, respectively (320). These results indicate that selection of drug resistance during Truvada PrEP is low if one is infected after initiating PrEP. Yet, the resistance outcome was different, though rare, for persons who received PrEP when already infected with HIV-1. One of three participants retrospectively found to be infected at the start of the TDF2 study developed mutations resistant to both drugs (318), while 25% of HIV-1⁺ participants with undetected infection given PrEP in the Partners trial developed DRMs (320). Two participants in the iPrEx trial were retrospectively discovered to be HIV-1⁺ prior to enrollment, and the data indicate that FTC exposure selected M184I/V mutations quickly (319). Although the data sets are small, it appears the risk of developing resistance as a result of PrEP is unlikely if the infection occurs after starting PrEP. However, the individuals in these trials were closely monitored. In a clinical setting, the amount of time before detection of HIV-1 infections in PrEP users may allow more time for selection of DRMs.

While efficacy and low resistance selection for daily oral Truvada PrEP has been observed, adherence is the largest barrier to PrEP effectiveness and should be addressed to reduce the global burden of HIV-1. Daily oral PrEP was ineffective in two studies, the FEM-PrEP and VOICE trials, as no difference in infection rates was exhibited between treatment and placebo groups (14, 15). The entire FEM-PrEP and the single drug arms of VOICE were halted early because of such discouraging results. Despite greater than 85% adherence based on product return and self-reporting, <40% of participants were actually found to be adherent based on plasma drug concentrations in both trials. Follow-up interviews revealed that poor adherence was associated with low risk perception (321) and fear of side effects, real or imagined (322). Although adherence measured by plasma drug concentrations never matched rates of self-reporting or product count monitoring in any Truvada clinical trial (14, 15, 17, 19, 20), adherence in the successful trials was considerably higher. In the iPrEx trial, age and higher

education levels were positively correlated with adherence (323). Similarly, increased age was also positively correlated with adherence in the Bangkok Tenofovir (21) and VOICE (15) trials. These results suggest maturity and experience as key factors for adherence; however, with increased implementation of PrEP strategies and proper education and outreach, it is expected that adherence will increase for future product use (324).

To address daily adherence issues with PrEP, alternative regimens such as intermittent oral pills, topical gels, and intravaginal rings (IVRs) have been investigated, but not yet approved. In the iPERGAY trial, intercourse-driven oral Truvada use rather than daily pills led to an 82% reduction in HIV-1 infections in a MSM population (22). These results indicate that intermittent oral dosing may alleviate adherence problems, as users would take PrEP only during times of sexual activity, thus assuaging fears of potential long-term side effects from daily use.

Microbicide gels provide localized concentrations of anti-HIV-1 compounds and were originally proposed as intercourse-driven PrEP controlled by women (325). The CAPRISA 004 trial explored the use of an intercourse-dependent 1% TFV vaginal gel as PrEP and reported a 39% reduction in HIV-1 infections in the overall treated group, but a 54% reduction in women who were adherent to the product (18). Conversely, no difference in HIV-1 transmission between gel or placebo groups was reported in the VOICE study because of poor adherence (15). Several other microbicide trials explored the use of carrageenan-based gels, Carraguard and PRO2000 (326-328); the surfactant C31G (329); and the acidic Buffergel (328) and all of them failed to show efficacy or were associated with increased infection risk (330, 331). Microbicide gels are not limited to vaginal formulations, as rectal gels with TFV or an experimental NNRTI are shown to be safe and tolerable in both men and women (332-334).

Another female-driven PrEP strategy is the IVR, which provides a solid substrate for localized long-term drug release with intermittent replacement and have been prescribed for contraception and hormone replacement for decades (335). An IVR containing the NNRTI DAP showed similar results to 1% TFV topical gel, leading to 37% and 56% lower incidences of HIV-1 transmission among the total and adherent treated populations, respectively (336). A second DAP IVR clinical trial showed 31% lower incidence of HIV-1 in the DAP group; however, there was no correlation between adherence and increased protection (337). Women would apply the IVR and replace as necessary to maintain vaginal drug concentrations, thus eliminating concerns of missed daily doses. Despite promising results, intermittent pills, microbicide gels, and IVR strategies are still user-driven and cannot guarantee adherence.

New long-acting injectable formulas of antiretroviral drugs such as the NNRTI RPV or the integrase inhibitor cabotegravir (CAB) have been developed for PrEP and have favorable safety and dosing profiles (338-340). Long-acting injectable formulations are designed specifically for intermittent use and provide sustained systemic release of drugs instead of localized concentrations, like topical gels or IVRs. This strategy has been successful in fields such as cancer treatment, contraception, hormone replacement, and psychiatry (341-344). Longacting injectable PrEP benefits from the elimination of user responsibility for daily or eventdriven dosing and administration and adherence monitoring by healthcare providers. Opinions on taking injectable drugs as PrEP are positive in target populations, such as MSM and high-risk women (345, 346); however, long-acting PrEP has not been tested in efficacy trials at the time of this writing.

1.2.2 RPV LA as PrEP

Because of its aforementioned potency and safety profiles, RPV is the most appropriate clinically approved NNRTI for PrEP (312). RPV has been formulated as a long-acting injectable designed to provide a depot of drug that is released systemically over time for monthly dosing and better adherence. RPV LA is prepared by wet-milling irradiated RPV with a surfactant (polxamer 338) in an aqueous environment to obtain a nanoparticle suspension with an average particle size of 200 nm (311, 312, 347). Chelating and isotonifying agents and a phosphate buffer are then added to preserve the product for long-term refrigerated storage (312).

Phase I clinical trials showed that RPV LA is safe and tolerable with reported low-grade adverse events such as rash, stiffness, and injection site pain and swelling (338, 340, 348). In one clinical trial, pharmacokinetic (PK) analysis of plasma RPV in women administered a single 300, 600, or 1,200 mg intramuscular (IM) injection displayed a dose-dependent effect on plasma and vaginal tissue drug disposition (338). Maximal plasma drug concentrations in women averaged 160 ng/ml at 6 days post-injection in the 1,200 mg group and were sustained to 83 ng/ml by 28 days post-injection for a calculated half-life of 38 days (338). The ratio of drug concentrations in cervicovaginal lavages and vaginal tissues versus plasma at 28 days post-injection averaged 1.0 and 0.8, respectively (338). The decay of lavage and plasma drug concentrations mirrored each other; however, vaginal tissue-to-plasma ratios increased as tissue drug concentrations remained steady (300 mg and 600 mg) or increased (1,200 mg) indicating that RPV may concentrate in vaginal tissue, while it is metabolized in plasma (338). In the same study, a population of men was given a 600 mg IM injection of RV LA. Average plasma RPV concentrations were higher in men at all time points than women given the same dose, but displayed a nine day shorter half-life indicating gender difference in metabolism (338). Male rectal tissue-to-plasma ratios of RPV

averaged 0.9 at 2 weeks post-injection (338), suggesting that plasma RPV concentrations could be used as a surrogate measurement for rectal drug concentrations. Data from all participants administered the 600 mg dose suggests that RPV penetrates rectal tissue better than vaginal tissue as concentrations in rectal tissue were 3-fold higher one week post-injection (338), a characteristic of RPV LA that has been confirmed in explant models (348, 349). Although a minimal *in vivo* RPV protective concentration for RPV LA has not been defined to date, the authors reference a protein-adjusted effective concentration to prevent 90% (PAEC₉₀) value of 12.1 ng/ml and propose this as a baseline measurement as a protective threshold (338). Overall, the authors demonstrated systemic distribution of RPV and deposition in sites relevant to HIV-1 exposure at concentrations above the theoretical protective concentration.

A second RPV LA clinical trial corroborates the dose-dependent plasma drug concentrations reported by Jackson *et al.* (338) and outlined a potential dosing strategy of priming with a 1,200 mg IM injection followed by monthly 600 mg injections (340). This dosing regimen was tolerable, maintained drug concentrations above the proposed protective 12.1 ng/ml PAEC₉₀ value, and revealed a consistent peak and trough of plasma RPV concentrations maintained within a 50-80 ng/ml range (340), the minimum effective range reported in oral RPV trials (338). Current methods of measuring RPV account for total drug concentrations and not free/active drug. Like most NNRTIs, RPV is highly protein bound (265, 350) and reported drug concentrations are not an accurate representation of available active drug. While the results of both studies support testing of a monthly 1,200 mg RPV LA dosing strategy for PrEP, it is crucial to determine *in vivo* protective concentrations of RPV and the feasibility of providing these thresholds in humans.

To understand RPV penetration and protection in mucosal tissues, human tissue explant models were used to determine protective ranges of RPV ex vivo. Ectocervical and colon explants revealed that RPV concentrates more readily in colonic versus female genital tract tissue (348, 349). In one study, tissues were incubated in media containing RPV before exposure to HIV-1, and the colonic explants exhibited significantly higher RPV absorption than ectocervical explants, which absorbed <10% of the input drug (349). The effective concentration to prevent 90% infection (EC₉₀) for RPV in the ectocervix and colon explants was approximately 99 and 16 ng/ml, respectively, thus displaying a 6-fold difference in concentrations needed for protection between the tissue compartments (349). A second study used explants taken from RPV LA-treated individuals and found that RPV concentrates in rectal tissue up to 2.5-fold more than matched vaginal and cervical tissues (348). However, this study reported an EC₉₀ value of 91 ng/ml in rectal tissues sampled 14 days post-injection and no protective correlate in cervical or vaginal tissues, which suggests that a 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA may not be effective (348). If these explant results are applied to reported human RPV tissue concentrations (338), RPV LA should provide protection from rectal exposure, suggesting that RPV LA may not be an ideal PrEP candidate for women at risk of HIV-1 infection via vaginal exposure. The explant models further emphasize the need for careful characterization of the *in vivo* protective concentrations of RPV LA, which appear to be unique to specific tissue compartments.

Along with mucosal tissue penetration and protective concentration concerns with RPV LA, cold storage, shipping chains, and a long detectable pharmacologic tail have brought into question the practicality of the PrEP agent. A single 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA provides concentrations of drug that are still detectable nearly 170 days post-dosing; however, after 40 days post-dosing, the drug concentrations remain just above the aforementioned theoretical

protective concentration (338, 348). This long detectable tail of RPV is a problem because low drug concentrations could be ideal for resistance selection should a user stop receiving RPV LA and then become infected with HIV-1. Such resistance selection did occur in one individual that received a single 300 mg dose of RPV LA in the SSAT 040 trial and became infected during the tail phase when RPV concentrations hovered near the 12.1 ng/ml EC₉₀ for over 200 days (351). Using a sensitive sequencing technique, the RPV-associated mutation K101E was detected in approximately 20% of the viral population 70 days after infection (351). Although this is a singular event, it shows that resistance selection can occur during RPV LA monotherapy.

Currently, a phase II clinical trial is underway to explore the safety and tolerability of repeated 1,200 mg IM doses of RPV LA administered to low-risk HIV-1⁻ females every 8 weeks for 52 weeks (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov</u>; NCT02165202). Given the scope of the trial, the supply chain issues may be addressed; however, questions with protective thresholds and waning RPV concentrations should be answered before RPV LA is moved into large scale Phase III trials.

1.2.3 Transmission of drug resistance

While resistance selection during PrEP appears to be limited based on results from clinical trials, the question of the ability of PrEP to prevent transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1 still remains. The global rollout of ART is necessary for the control of HIV-1 viremia and reduction of incidences (232, 237); however, increased ART coverage positively correlates with prevalence of drug resistance (352, 353). According to a meta-analysis, overall drug-resistant HIV-1 prevalence has increased in Sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America, North America, and upper income Asian regions since the scale-up of ART; however, prevalence of NNRTI-associated DRMs and odds of drug-resistant virus transmission is increasing in every global region (285).

Because drug-resistant HIV-1 can be transmitted, global surveillance of specific mutations that are associated with virologic failure was initiated (309, 354). The four criteria for inclusion as a surveillance resistance mutation are: 1) the mutation must be associated with drug resistance and recognized on multiple expert lists of resistance mutations; 2) the mutation should be non-polymorphic, nor occur at highly polymorphic sites; 3) the mutation must show resistance across the most common subtypes of HIV-1; and 4) the list should be simple and exclude very rare mutations (354). Currently there are 34 NRTI, 19 NNRTI, 40 protease, and 17 integrase-associated surveillance mutations (http://hivdb.stanford.edu/pages/surveillance.html). A concern is that PrEP will not inhibit transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1; therefore, the continued scale-up of ART combined with PrEP availability could push the global HIV-1 population towards drug-resistant genotypes.

Because of cross-resistance between currently approved drugs, transmission of resistant virus could limit therapy options of newly infected individuals and reduce PrEP options for serodiscordant partners. Of the oral Truvada clinical trials, only one participant from the Partners PrEP study was reported to have acquired a transmitted drug-resistant infection, which contained NRTI- and NNRTI-associated mutations (320); however, this participant was considered non-adherent to the regimen, so PrEP failure may not have been to blame. Thus far, two case studies have reported transmission of multi-drug-resistant HIV-1 in individuals adherent to Truvada PrEP (355, 356). In both cases, FTC-associated and NNRTI-associated DRMs were detected, including E138Q (355) and Y181C (356). Both E138Q and Y181C confer resistance all NNRTIs (265), thus limiting the utility of an NNRTI-containing ART regimen in these individuals. No resistance was reported in the intermittent Truvada (22) or 1% TFV gel (18) trials. In the ASPIRE study, DRM transmission occurred in clinical trial participants using DAP IVRs.

Similar prevalence of DRMs were reported between newly infected individuals in the placebo and treatment DAP IVR groups (336), and population sequencing results suggest that these seroconverters acquired NNRTI-associated DRMs through transmission (357). In contrast, the development of a DAP-associated DRM, E138A, was more frequent in the treated group versus the placebo in the Ring Study (337).

Transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1 is detected at rates between 2.8-11.5% and is associated with ART use and geographic region (285). NRTI-associated mutations account for the majority of transmissions, and the likelihood of acquiring resistant virus to multiple drug classes decreases by at least 4-fold per additional class (285), suggesting the case studies described above may be rare events and difficult to account for in the design of a clinical trial. Studying PrEP efficacy against drug-resistant HIV-1 is hindered by not knowing the genotype or the amount of virus in which clinical trial participants are exposed. The design of the Partners-PrEP trial, with matched serodiscordant couples, is the only ethical way to test resistance transmission in humans; however, it was not discussed if any of the HIV-1⁺ partners in the trial had a drug-resistant genotype (19). Because transmitted resistance is infrequent and not ethical to purposefully test in humans, animal models have been developed to test the efficacy of PrEP against drug-resistant virus transmission.

1.2.4 Animal models for HIV-1 infection

Cell culture-based studies cannot accurately reflect the complexities of pathogen infection in a host. For example, a novel therapeutic compound that targets a pathogen may be highly effective *in vitro* but host factors such as bioavailability, metabolism, and tissue penetration may affect clinical efficacy. Thus, robust *in vivo* models should be utilized to study such intricate

interactions. To truly understand host and pathogen interactions, it is ideal to study routes of infection, disease pathogenesis, and therapeutic strategies in the host species. However, HIV-1 is a human-specific pathogen with no cure, thus it would be unethical to intentionally infect people to study the virus and its associated disease and treatment. The use of animal models in the HIV-1 field links *in vitro* discoveries to *in vivo* studies and mitigates the high costs associated with long-term human trials that require hundreds to thousands of participants. Animal studies permit manipulation of experimental variables such as genetic backgrounds of the animals, virus challenge stocks, time and route of infection, duration and adherence of treatment, invasive sampling, and other factors that cannot be controlled or sanctioned in human trials. Animals allow researchers to logically and ethically model specific scenarios for hypothesis-driven investigation and provide *in vivo* proof-of-concept data that can guide clinical trial designs or predict study outcomes. Currently, the two most common animals used for HIV-1 modeling are macaques and humanized mice.

Phylogenetic evidence strongly suggests that HIV-1 evolved from multiple simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) cross-species transmissions from African non-human primates (NHP) (358-360), and has been circulating in the human population since the early 1900s (361). However, the SIV crossover responsible for the majority of the HIV-1 pandemic originates from chimpanzees (360), the family of animals most genetically related to humans (362). However, HIV-1 does not readily infect NHPs nor recapitulate AIDS disease progression (363). SIV does not progress to AIDS in its natural African primate hosts, and pathogenesis is abrogated by sustained regulation of immune functions and control of chronic immune activation, which are deregulated hallmarks of infection in non-natural primate species or HIV-1 in humans (364, 365). However, a serendipitous discovery in the mid-1980s revealed that Asian rhesus macaques

could be infected with SIV to recreate a disease pattern that resembles AIDS in humans (366, 367). Historically, the rhesus macaque (*Macaca mulatta*), an Old World monkey endogenous to central Asia, is the most widely used animal for HIV-1 model research, but other species of Asian macaques, including pigtailed (*Macaca nemestrina*) and cynomolgus (*Macaca fascicularis*), are also utilized (368).

SIV or simian-human immunodeficiency virus (SHIV) in macaques offers the advantage of mirroring HIV-1 infection in humans through similar target cells, immune response, and pathogenesis. SHIVs are chimera viruses that contain coding regions from HIV-1 in the SIV genome to model the effects of HIV-1-specific treatments or prevention strategies in NHPs (369-372). Infection of macaques with SIV recapitulates the pathogenesis hallmarks of HIV-1 infection including CD4⁺ T cell depletion (373), microbial translocation (182), and AIDS (366, 367). In addition, macaques are outbred, which allows for modeling of infection within hosts of varying genetic backgrounds. There are many well-characterized SIV and SHIV strains that can be used for NHP infection (374); however, consideration is warranted when choosing a NHP species and challenge virus because of differences in viremia levels, disease progression and pathogenesis, characterization and diversity of protective MHC alleles and innate immune factors, efficacy of therapy, and physiologic cycles (368, 374, 375). For example, female rhesus and pigtailed macaques both experience menstrual cycles, but the former has seasonal cycles while the latter has monthly cycles more comparable to human women (376, 377). Greater thinning of the vaginal epithelium in pigtailed macaques during the luteal phase makes them more susceptible to vaginal infections than rhesus macaques (378).

Despite the knowledge gained from modeling SIV and SHIV infections in NHPs, neither virus is HIV-1, and results from macaque models using either virus should be validated in the

context of HIV-1 infection in humans. HIV-1 cannot be used to recapitulate AIDS in macaques because of NHP restriction factors. Macaque variations of tripartite-motif-containing protein 5α , APOBEC3, tetherin, and SAM domain- and HD-domain-containing protein 1 inhibit HIV-1 replication in macaques due to the lack of the necessary HIV-1 factors evolved by SIV to counter these immune mechanisms (379-383). Also, while most anti-HIV-1 drugs will work against SIV (384-386), differences between SIV and HIV-1 RT (387, 388) prevent NNRTIs from working against SIV. For *in vivo* studies of NNRTIs, a chimeric RT-SHIV virus is used for infection of NHPs (369, 370, 389). Aside from physiological limitations, macaques studies can be limited by availability, facility space, and high costs associated with purchase and maintenance. Hence, an ideal macaque model would be much less expensive and permit the use of HIV-1.

A second animal model for studying HIV-1 infection is the humanized mouse. Humanized mice are generated by transplant and engraftment of human cells and/or tissue into an immunodeficient mouse strain for recapitulation of a human immune system in a small animal (390). Procedures for creating humanized mice can be as simple as an intravenous (IV) injection of human peripheral blood lymphocytes or as complicated as invasive surgery for the transplantation of human tissues (391). Humanized mice provide the key advantage of an *in vivo* system in which actual HIV-1 and human cell response can be studied. Mice are also readily available to order from vendors or can be bred quickly, are significantly less expensive than NHPs, are easier to handle, and require less space and maintenance, thus allowing for larger cohorts.

There are several different methods and genetic backgrounds that can be utilized to generate humanized mice (390). Severe combined immunodeficiency (*scid*) mice transplanted with fetal thymus and LN tissue and liver cells (392) were first shown to be susceptible to HIV-1

infection in the late 1980s (393). However, less technically challenging humanized mouse models include Scid mice only injected with human peripheral blood leukocytes (394, 395) or cluster of differentiation 34 (CD34) positive hematopoietic stem cells (396). Scid mice have a mutation in the protein kinase, DNA activated, catalytic polypeptide (*Prkdc^{scid}*) gene that causes defects in DNA repair and inhibits the generation of B and T cells (397, 398), which allows engraftment of human cells with limited host immune response to the non-mouse cells. However, these scid models display leaky B and T cell development (399) and NK cell activity that rejects human cell engraftment (400). Recombination-activating gene (Rag 1/2) deficient mice are deficient in adaptive immune cell development and eliminate B and T cell leakiness, but still have active NK cells (401, 402). The crossbreeding of *scid* or Rag1/2 with non-obese diabetic (NOD) mice generated an immunodeficient mouse line that lacks both adaptive immune and NK cell activity (403-405). However, the addition of mutations in the interleukin-2 receptor gamma chain (IL2rg) to the scid/NOD or Rag1/2/NOD lines further impairs B, T, and NK cell development and function (406-408) and provides the highest level of human cell engraftment compared to the aforementioned strains (409-412). These different genetic lines (and others) can be used to for HIV-1 infection and treatment studies; however, the model principally used for HIV-1 PrEP research is the bone marrow, liver, and thymus (BLT) mouse. To generate BLT mice, immunodeficient animals are irradiated and transplanted with human fetal liver and thymus tissue (413-416). Post-tissue transplantation, the mice are injected IV with autologous human CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells isolated from the fetal liver and allowed to rest for 8-12 weeks until human immune cells reconstitute the recipient. The genetic backgrounds NOD-Prkdc^{scid}IL2rg^{Tm1Wjl} surgery recommended for BLT are (NSG). NOD.Cg-Prkdc^{scid}Il2rg^{tm1Sug}, or C.129(Cg)-Rag2^{tm1Fwa9}Il2rg^{tm1Cgn} (391). The presence of the human

thymus provides stem cells with an environment for education and HLA-restriction of human origin. These mice also develop human immune cell reconstitution at mucosal tissues (315, 417-419), a feature not seen in the aforementioned humanized mouse models (368). However, BLT mice do have limitations such as a shortened life span due to graft versus host disease (420), poor lymphoid structure development (421, 422), limited B cell maturation (423), and the necessity for human cytokines for improved human myeloid and NK cell function (424). Unlike NHPs, large volumes of blood and survival tissue biopsies are not practical in mice for longitudinal survival studies. Assays that require plasma (*e.g.* measurement of plasma viremia) have reduced sensitivity in mouse samples due to the trade-off between sampling frequency and safe blood draw volumes. In addition, tissue samples require euthanizing animals. Finally, the immunodeficient genetic background of these animals requires stringent aseptic handling and housing to prevent secondary infections that could cause confounding morbidity or mortality.

Although not perfect because of physiological and anatomical differences, animal models serve as pre-clinical systems to evaluate ART and PrEP regimens before more expensive human testing. Therefore, there will always be a need to use animals to safely transition from drug discovery to clinical trials and provide proof-of-concept for antiretroviral agents and prophylactic regimens.

1.2.4.1 Macaque models for PrEP

Macaques have been utilized to test PrEP strategies for over 20 years. Studies with macaques have mirrored the success of human PrEP trials with daily oral Truvada (17), intermittent oral Truvada (22), and microbicide gels (18). In animal models, there are two virus challenge paradigms applied: a single high-dose or repeated low-dose model. The reasoning for the former model is that if an agent can protect from a single high-dose virus challenge, usually beyond

physiologic norms, then success should logically extend to lower more realistic inoculums. This paradigm allows for quicker, less complicated studies. The latter model is employed to mimic physiological HIV-1 inoculums to which humans would be repeatedly exposed (425, 426). There have been dozens of studies published using both challenge paradigms to study PrEP efficacy with experimental and approved compounds in macaques. As previously discussed, approved antiretroviral drugs are more likely to also be accepted for prophylaxis, and Table 2 summarizes the design and outcome of studies that employed macaque models to assess approved antiretroviral drugs as PrEP.

PrEP intervention with approved NRTIs was shown to be viable as early as 1992. In a small study, two infant macaques were protected from SIV infection when administered oral AZT before and after IV challenge (427); however, this success was not repeated in a follow-up study with newborn macaques given a different PrEP dose and virus challenge (428). Because of frequent dosing and side effects, AZT is not an ideal candidate for PrEP, but these studies provided proof-of-concept for pre-exposure intervention with small molecules to inhibit HIV-1 infection. TFV, considered a more tolerable and potent drug than AZT, proved to be a more suitable PrEP candidate as daily subcutaneous (SC) injections protected 100% of juvenile macaques from a high-dose SIV challenge (453). Subsequent studies with low and high doses of oral TFV administered prior to and after oral SIV challenge prevented infection in nearly 100% of newborn macaques in an effort to mimic mother-to-child transmission during breast-feeding (429, 431). Conversely, regular oral TFV dosing exhibited little to partial protection from multiple oral SIV challenges in infant macaques (432, 434); however, it was concluded that protection was dose-dependent implying that a fixed dose was not adequate to provide protective drug concentrations as the animals matured (434). Discrepancies between these studies can be

NHP species	PrEP (dose)	Dosing Strategy	Virus	Challenge (route)	Outcome	Ref.
Rhesus (infant)	oral AZT (50 mg/kg)	2 h pre-challenge and every 8 hours for 6-10 weeks	SIV _{mac}	single, low dose (IV)	2/2 protected	(427)
Rhesus (newborn)	oral AZT (25 mg/kg)	2 h pre-challenge and every 8 hours for 15 months	SIV _{mac}	single, high dose (IV)	0/3 protected, significantly better clinical outcomes	(428)
Rhesus (newborn)	SC TFV (30 mg/kg)	4 h pre- and 20 h post- challenge	SIV _{mac251}	single, high dose (oral)	4/4 protected	(429)
Rhesus (newborn)	SC TFV (30 mg/kg)	1 d pre-challenge and continued daily for 4 weeks	K65R SIV _{mac055}	2 high doses 24 h apart (oral)	2/5 protected, delayed disease course	(430)
Rhesus (newborn)	SC TFV (4 mg/kg)	4 h pre- and 20 h post- challenge	SIV _{mac251}	single, high dose (oral)	3/4 protected	(431)
Rhesus (infant)	oral TFV (~0.01-0.02 mg/kg)	Full dose once daily 1.5 h pre-challenge or 2 half doses daily 1.5 h pre-challenge and 2.5 h post-challenge	SIV _{mac251}	repeated, low dose (oral)	1/4 protected (1 full dose)2/4 protected (2 half doses)	(432)

Table 2. Macaque studies using FDA-approved antiretroviral drugs as PrEP to prevent mucosal transmission of SIV or SHIV

Table 2 continued						
Rhesus	oral TFV (22 mg/kg)	 2 h pre-challenge then daily for 36 weeks 2 h pre-challenge then weekly for 36 weeks 	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (rectal)	1/4 protected (daily) 0/4 protected (weekly) median infection time: 1.5 weeks (untreated), 6.0 weeks (weekly), 7.0 weeks (daily)	(433)
Rhesus (infant)	oral TFV (10 mg/kg)	 6 d pre- and 1 d post-challenge 2 d pre- and 2 weeks post-challenge 	SIV _{mac251}	 1) 5x daily, low dose (oral) 2) 5x daily, low dose (oral) 	 1) 5/6 protected 2) 5/6 protected follow-up challenges resulted in 60% infection of those initially protected 	(434)
Rhesus	TFV gel (1%)	 1) 15 min pre- challenge 2) 120 min pre- challenge 	SIV _{mac251/32H}	single, high dose (rectal)	 4/6 protected 2/3 protected 	(435)
Rhesus	 SC FTC (20 mg/kg) oral FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg) SC FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg) SC FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg) 	1-3) daily7-9 d pre- challenge then daily for18 weeks4) 2 h pre-challengeand 24 h post-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (rectal)	 1) 2/6 protected 2) 4/6 protected 3) 6/6 protected 4) 6/6 protected significant delay in infection in PrEP vs. untreated groups 	(316)

Table 2 continued							
Rhesus	1-3) oral FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg)	 1) 22 h pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge 2) 3 d pre- and 2 h post-challenge 3) 7 d pre- and 2 h post-challenge 4) 2 h pre- and 26 h post-challenge 	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (rectal)	 1) 5/6 protected 2) 5/6 protected 3) 4/6 protected 4) 3/6 protected significant delay in infection in PrEP groups vs. untreated 	(436)	
Rhesus	 MVC gel (0.25 mM) MVC gel (0.5 mM) MVC gel (2 mM) 4-5) MVC gel (6 mM) 	1-4) 30 min pre- challenge5) 0.5-12 h pre- challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	single, high dose (vaginal)	 2/4 protected 3/4 protected 3/4 protected 3/4 protected 6/7 protected 50% efficacy reduction at 4 h pre- challenge 	(437)	
Rhesus	oral FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg)	3 d pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge	M184V SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (rectal)	5/5 protected	(438)	
Rhesus	MVC gel (3.3%)	30 min pre-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	single, high dose (vaginal)	4/4 protected	(439)	
Rhesus	oral FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg)	3 d pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge	K65R SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (rectal)	5/6 protection, 10x the K65R inoculum needed to be as infective as WT virus	(440)	

Table 2 continued							
Rhesus	oral MVC (44 mg/kg)	1 d pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (rectal)	1/6 protected	(441)	
Rhesus	 1) TFV gel (1%) 2) MVC gel (1%) 3) TFV/MVC gel 	30 min pre-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated low-dose (rectal)	 1) 4/6 protected 2) 4/6 protected 3) 4/6 protected 	(442)	
Pig-tailed	1) TFV gel (1%) 2) TFV/FTC gel (1 and 5%)	1-2) 30 min pre- challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	 6/6 protected 6/6 protected 	(443)	
Pig-tailed	TFV gel (1%)	3 days pre-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	4/6 protected	(444)	
Pig-tailed	oral FTC/TFV (20 & 22 mg/kg)	24 h pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	6/6 protected	(445)	
Pig-tailed	IVR TFV (10% by weight)	1 week pre-challenge, replaced every 4 weeks	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	6/6 protected	(446)	
Pig-tailed (DMPA- treated)	oral FTC/TFV (20/22 mg/kg)	24 h pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	6/6 protected	(447)	
Pig-tailed	TFV gel (1%)	30 min before challenge	K65R SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	5/6 protected	(448)	
Pig-tailed	IVR TFV (10% by weight)	1 week pre-challenge, replaced every 4 weeks in presence of DMPA	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	5/6 protected 1 infected after 8 challenges	(449)	

Table 2 continued

Pig-tailed	1) oral FTC/TFV (20/22 mg/kg) 2) TFV IVR (60 mg) 3) TFV gel (1%)	 24 h pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge 1 week pre- challenge 30 min pre- challenge 	1) SHIV _{162p3} 2) SHIV _{162p3} 3) K65R SHIV _{162p3}	1-2) repeated, low dose (vaginal)3) repeated, high dose (vaginal)	 1) 6/6 protected 2) 3/6 protected 3) 5/6 protected 	(450)
Pig-tailed (STI ⁺)	oral FTC/TFV (20/22 mg/kg)	24 h pre-challenge and 2 h post-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	4/6 protected	(451)
Pig-tailed	IVR FTC/TFV (68 & 65 mg)	1 week pre-challenge	SHIV _{162p3}	repeated, low dose (vaginal)	6/6 protected (bi-weekly IVR changes)	(452)
Cynomolgus (juvenile)	1) SC TFV (20 mg/kg) 2) SC TFV (30 mg/kg)	2 d pre-challenge and continued daily for 4 weeks	SIV _{mne}	single, high dose (IV)	 1) 5/5 protected 2) 10/10 protected 	(453)

AZT, zidovudine; DMPA, depot medroxyprogesterone; FTC, emtricitabine; IV, intravenous; MVC, maraviroc; SC, subcutaneous; STI, sexually transmitted infection; TFV, tenofovir

attributed to design dissimilarities such as drug dose, route, and animal age. Yet, the conclusions emulate lessons from the Partners PrEP and TDF2 trials where infection in participants with detectable TFV was associated with lower plasma drug concentrations (19, 20), suggesting a specific drug concentration that needs to be achieved and maintained for protection. Of note, it was shown that active TFV concentrations greater than the *in vitro* effective concentration to prevent 95% of infection in vaginal lymphocytes is correlated with protection in macaques from vaginal transmission (444), providing a reference for mucosal protection in females for future studies.

Although newborn and infant macaque studies provided pre-clinical data on the benefits of PrEP, the majority of HIV-1 incidences in humans are a result of sexual transmission among adults (454). Two studies directly modeled the ability of TFV-based PrEP to prevent rectal infection in adult macaques to support the results of Truvada clinical trials. Once-daily or weekly oral TFV administered two hours prior to repeated rectal challenges with low-dose SHIV delayed infection by 5-6 challenges in treated animals; however, the overall infection rate was similar between the groups (433). Daily oral Truvada also reduced infection 7.8-fold in another study and was shown to be superior to FTC alone (316). These two studies provided proof-ofconcept that daily oral PrEP could provide protection or delay infection in groups that are at risk of HIV-1 transmission via rectal exposure, which was the concern addressed in the iPrEx trial (17). A similar pre- and post-exposure dosing design successfully modeled intermittent Truvada PrEP to inhibit SHIV infection, too. When given 22 hours, 3 days, or 7 days prior to challenge followed by a dose two hours post-challenge, intermittent Truvada was as protective as daily oral dosing (436). These results mirror the outcome of the iPERGAY trial, which showed an 82% reduction in rectal HIV-1 infections in MSM that used intercourse-dependent oral Truvada (22).

Although not explored in humans yet, intermittent oral Truvada was also shown to provide full protection against repeated vaginal challenges in macaques (445).

Alternative NRTI delivery strategies, such as IVRs containing TFV have been tested as PrEP in macaques as well. The TFV IVR provided consistently high drug concentrations in vaginal fluid and local tissues in macaques (446, 449) and were significantly higher than those reported to be protective in human women using a 1% TFV gel (18). The TFV IVR provided significant protection or delay in infection from repeated low-dose vaginal SHIV challenges in cycling and hormone-treated pigtailed macaques (446, 449). Interestingly, one of the studies showed infection inhibition in an IVR preparation also containing a contraceptive hormone (449), which provides *in vivo* proof-of-concept for a multipurpose IVR. Such a multifunctional product could empower women in areas such as Africa where the HIV-1 prevalence is higher in young females than males (455). To expand the utility of IVRs, work has begun on a product that provides contraception and the ability to block HIV-1 and sexually transmitted viruses (456).

Like NRTIs, NNRTIs have also been modeled in macaques as PrEP. However, NNRTIs are not effective against SIV unlike other antiretroviral drug classes (384-386). NNRTI resistance in SIV is due to a 60% homology difference between the RT coding regions of SIV and HIV-1 (387) and NNRTI-resistance mutations that occur naturally in SIV RT (388). To address this issue, a chimeric virus that replaces the SIV RT sequence with the RT coding region of HIV-1_{HXB2} (457) in the SIV genome was created and named RT-SHIV (Figure 6). Two versions of RT-SHIV were developed using either SIV_{mac239} (369) or SIV_{mne} (370) as backbones for use in rhesus or pigtailed macaques, respectively. *In vitro* drug susceptibility of RT-SHIV is similar to that of HIV-1 (370, 386, 458-460). Infection of macaques with RT-SHIV leads to viremia and disease progression equivalent to SIV (369, 461, 462) and responds to NNRTI

therapy with viral suppression and evolution of resistance mutations documented in human treatment failures (369, 389, 463-468). Despite the availability of RT-SHIV, only a few experimental NNRTIs have been investigated as PrEP in macaques.

Two phenylethylthioureathiazole compounds, MIV-150 and MIV-160 (469), were each explored as microbicide gels and IVRs using the RT-SHIV challenge model. MIV-150 was originally co-formulated with Carraguard as a topical gel and shown to be highly effective at preventing vaginal and rectal infection when applied 30 minutes before challenge in animals with or without a herpes simplex virus type 2 (HSV-2) co-infection (470-472). Zinc acetate was then added to the gel because of its potential to block HSV-2, and the new formula prevented 100% of vaginal RT-SHIV infections when applied within 4-24 hours of repeated challenges (473, 474). However, the gel was only 50% effective in preventing rectal infection within 8 hours of use (474), indicating a limited window of efficacy. Unfortunately, the gel formulation was not successful at preventing HSV-2 infection (475). MIV-150 was also tested in an IVR delivery system and provided significant protection when placed two weeks or 24 hours before challenge and left in place for two weeks post-challenge (476). Removal of the ring soon after challenge abrogated the inhibitory effect demonstrating that prolonged use of the product is necessary to prevent infection. The related compound MIV-160 was 100% effective when delivered by an IVR but showed no protection combined in a Carraguard/zinc acetate gel and has not moved into clinical testing (477). Although only the gel formulation of MIV-150 is currently in safety trials (https://clinicaltrials.gov; NCT02033109), macaque models demonstrate the potential of MIV-150 to be administered in two separate delivery systems to increase user options for PrEP while eliminating less effective candidates (MIV-160).



Figure 6. Comparison of the HIV-1, SIV, and RT-SHIV genomes.

The RT coding region of SIV is replaced with the RT coding region of HIV-1 to create a virus that is infectious in macaques and susceptible to NNRTIs. Figure reproduced and adapted with permission from Ambrose et al. 2007 (478), © Elvesier.

MC1220, a member of the 3,4-dihydro-2-alkoxy-6-benzyl-4-oxopyrimidines family of NNRTIS (479), was tested as a topical vaginal microbicide and IVR. A 0.5% or 1.5% gel formulation provided 50% protection in rhesus macaques when challenged with a high dose of RT-SHIV 30 minutes after gel application (480). This result was replicated in a follow-up study, but efficacy was nonexistent in a 0.1% gel formulation (481), suggesting a protective threshold beginning at a 0.5% preparation. Similar partial protection was reported for a MC1220 IVR in macaques challenged repeatedly with low-doses of RT-SHIV; however, the animals displayed a significant delay in infection between the IVR and placebo groups (482). Unlike MIV-150, MC1220 is not currently in clinical trials.

Like IVRs, long-acting injectable PrEP formulations are designed to provide antiretroviral drug depots for sustained release to eliminate issues with missed pills. Unlike IVRs, injectable PrEP provides a drug depot that cannot be removed, thus guaranteeing adherence. Currently there are two drugs being explored for long-acting injectable PrEP, the approved NNRTI RPV and the experimental integrase inhibitor CAB (311, 483). Long-acting CAB (CAB LA) has been shown to protect 75% and 100% of macaques from intravaginal and intrarectal challenges, respectively, if plasma drug concentrations were above a defined protective threshold (484, 485). To elucidate the protective threshold of CAB LA, the drug was administered to macaques that were then repeatedly challenged intrarectally with low doses of SHIV (484). As drug concentrations waned, the authors analyzed plasma concentrations at time of infection and determined that 4-fold the PAEC₉₀ of infections provided complete protection with decreasing efficiency as plasma drug concentrations needed to reach the protective threshold were obtainable in humans (484), thus providing a realistic drug concentration target for clinical trials. This diligence may provide improved outcomes in clinical trials because dependence on *in vitro* effective values does not necessarily translate to efficacy *in vivo* due to the complex interaction of drug and host factors.

Despite the benefits of testing PrEP agents and modalities in animals prior to clinical trials, not all animal models translate to human success. Because of the favorable safety profile of TFV and success as PrEP in macaques, it was formulated into a well-tolerated 1% vaginal gel to be marketed as a female-controlled prophylactic agent (486). Before movement into efficacy trials, the gel was tested in pigtailed macaques due to similarities between the animal and human menstrual cycles (443). Application of the gel 30 minutes prior to virus challenge protected every animal from 20 separate low-dose vaginal challenges, and the same result was seen with a 1% TFV/5% FTC gel. However, reduced protection in the same model was reported when the gel was applied 3 days before challenge, indicating that the gel has a multi-day effective window

but would be most efficient prior to intercourse (444). Of note, 1% TFV gel was shown to considerably reduce rectal vaginal infections from challenge with SHIV (435, 442, 448, 450). Unfortunately, the CAPRISA 004 clinical trial was unable to repeat the success reported in the macaque models not because the gel was ineffective but rather because of participant adherence (18). A similar discrepancy was seen with carrageenan, a small molecule that blocks viral entry and the active ingredient of Carraguard. Despite success predicted by macaque modeling for a vaginal gel containing Carraguard (470), significant protection was not reported in a clinical trial despite lower infection rates in the Carraguard group (326). This was attributed to low adherence and unreliable monitoring (326). Dissimilarities in success between macaque and human studies emphasize the caution that must be exercised when interpreting results from animal models because of factors such as adherence, which cannot be controlled in human trials.

An example of the utility of macaque models and their necessity in PrEP research is highlighted by the failed microbicide nonoxynol-9, a widely available spermicide. Clinical trials of nonoxynol-9 formulated as a vaginal gel revealed that greater use of the product led to a significant increase in HIV-1 infection attributed to lesions caused by the product (330). Irritation and disruption of macaque vaginal epithelium and microflora by nonoxynol-9 had been previously reported (487) but was not referenced in the clinical trial publication. Later, nonoxynol-9 gel showed a similar disruptive effect from repeated exposure in macaque rectal tissue, which confirmed side effects reported in humans (488). Had the available animal safety data been heeded and the gel tested in a repeated dose-challenge model in macaques, it is likely the product would have been shelved before moving into clinical trials, thus saving resources and avoiding an undesirable outcome.

Aside from testing dosing strategies and efficacy of PrEP, NHPs can be used to model the consequences of drug resistance. Because the current PrEP candidates are also prescribed for ART, there is potential that PrEP rollout could increase prevalence of circulating drug-resistant HIV-1 by selecting mutations post-infection or failing to inhibit drug-resistant transmissions. Within two studies 12 macaques became infected while receiving oral Truvada PrEP, but only two animals developed FTC-associated resistance mutations (M184I/V) despite continued treatment for over 9 weeks post-infection for all animals (316, 436). Resistance was not detected in infected macaques receiving oral TFV for >20 weeks post-infection (433), nor was drug resistance selected during TFV vaginal gel, rectal gel, or IVR PrEP studies with continued application of the products post-infection (442, 444, 449). Despite a small sample size, few instances of resistance selection in macaques were reflected in human trials where resistance development was rare in individuals infected after starting PrEP (320).

A similar issue is the selection of resistance mutations in HIV-1⁺ individuals given PrEP, an event that has been realized in clinical trials albeit in a small number of participants (318-320). This scenario is modeled by simply providing monotherapy to infected animals (389, 465, 489, 490), but the PrEP delivery method needs to be considered. An excellent example is a study that compared resistance selection by systemic versus local PrEP (491). Daily IM injections of MIV-150 provided systemic concentrations of the compound and selected for known NNRTI resistance mutations (*e.g.*, K101E, K103N, Y181C) in 100% of RT-SHIV infected macaques; however, localized drug release from an IVR did not select for mutations in plasma or LNs in the majority of animals (491). The mutations found in the IVR-treated animals were detected at low prevalence and were transient as opposed to the systemic animals that showed steady maintenance of the mutant populations (491). These results demonstrate that the mode of PrEP delivery can affect resistance selection, and the consequences of infection during PrEP should be properly explored in animal models prior to clinical trials.

The transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1 is another concern with PrEP. It is possible that drug concentrations able to inhibit wild-type (WT) virus may not be effective at blocking drugresistant virus infection. The only way to ethically explore drug-resistant virus transmission is to treat animals with PrEP and then challenge with drug-resistant isolates. This scenario was first modeled in newborn macaques given SC TFV PrEP (430). The macaques were challenged orally with SIV possessing the K65R TFV-resistant mutation. Infection was prevented in 40% of animals; although, PrEP-treated animals displayed better growth and significantly delayed disease course compared to untreated controls (430). High-level of protection from K65R SHIV infection in a vaginal microbicide model was also reported (450). Two studies using an intermittent oral Truvada strategy showed that PrEP still provides protection against repeated rectal challenges of SHIV with Truvada-resistant mutations; although, the lack of infection is believed to be a result of reduced fitness of the drug-resistant mutants (438, 440, 492). These models provide evidence that PrEP may not increase the prevalence of select transmitted drugresistant mutations; however, drug-resistant virus challenges should be investigated for each PrEP agent and modality.

NHPs occupy a critical role in the pipeline of PrEP development because they are excellent models for predicting the efficacy and consequences of PrEP. With rigorous animal modeling, ineffective compounds such as nonoxynol-9 can be shelved, or successes like Truvada can be moved into human trials. For example, a variety of experimental entry inhibiting molecules and antibodies has been modeled in macaques to demonstrate *in vivo* effectiveness as microbicides that could be used in future PrEP trials (493-499). Although there is no recognized

55

standard macaque model for PrEP research, macaques are invaluable for testing dosing strategies, efficacy, and resistance selection and should not be overlooked in future PrEP work.

1.2.4.2 BLT mouse models for PrEP

A less expensive alternative to NHPs for *in vivo* PrEP research is the humanized mouse model. Although a variety of immunodeficient genetic lines of mice and humanization methods are available for HIV-1 research (390, 421), the BLT model is favored for PrEP studies because animals display excellent human immune cell reconstitution in vaginal and rectal tissues (315, 417-419), the main sites of HIV-1 transmission (454). As described above, these mice are generated by transplantation of human fetal liver and thymus tissues under the kidney capsule of immunodeficient mice followed by an injection of autologous human CD34⁺ stem cells (413-415). BLT mice have been successfully employed in PrEP studies with FDA-approved NRTIs, NNRTIs, and integrase inhibitors (Table 3).

Like macaques, the BLT mouse model has been used to demonstrate the protective efficacy TFV-based PrEP strategies. Daily FTC and TFV displayed protection from vaginal and rectal HIV-1 transmission in BLT mice (315, 500, 506). Although the drugs were not administered orally, the inhibition of HIV-1 infection in mice provided a second pre-clinical *in vivo* model for the utility of systemic FTC and TFV as PrEP. To further validate the BLT model, a study was performed to emulate the PrEP methods tested in a microbicide trial (18). Over 88% of mice treated vaginally with 1% TFV gel in a similar timeframe recommended for women in the CAPRISA 004 trial were protected from HIV-1 infection (500). The same formulation also showed near complete protection from rectal HIV-1 infection when applied 30 minutes prior to challenge (507). The high rate of protection in mice (500, 507) and macaques (443, 444) is likely
PrEP agent (dose)	Dosing	Challenge	Challenge	Outcome	Ref.
		virus	route		
FTC (3.5 mg) & TFV (5.2 mg)	daily IP dose 2 d pre- and 5 d post-challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF}	vaginal	5/5 protected	(315)
TFV (1% gel)	dosing 4 h pre- and 4 h post- challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF}	vaginal	7/8 protected	(500)
FTC (28 μM) & TFV (16.5 μM) gel	single dose 30 min pre- challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF}	vaginal	8/9 protected	(500)
RPV nanoparticle gel (17.5 μg gel)	single dose 1.5 or 25 h pre- challenge	HIV-1 _{RHPA}	vaginal	4/4 protected at 1.5 h challenge 4/8 protected from 24 h challenge	(501)
RPV LA (15 mg)	single IM dose 1 week pre- challenge	HIV-1 _{CH040}	vaginal	6/6 protected	(501)
RPV LA (15 mg)	single IM dose 1 or 4 weeks pre-challenge	HIV-1 _{CH040} HIV-1 _{RHPA} HIV-1 _{JR-CSF} HIV-1 _{THRO}	vaginal	7/10 protected from 1 st challenge 3/7 protected from 2 nd challenge	(501)
RAL LA (300 mg/kg)	single SC dose 1 or 4 weeks pre-challenge	HIV-1 _{CH040} HIV-1 _{THRO}	vaginal	6/6 protected from 1 st challenge 3/5 protected from 2 nd challenge	(502)
TFV nanoparticle gel (0.1%, 0.5%, & 1.0%)	single dose 4 h pre-challenge (0.1%) 1 d pre-challenge (0.5%) 7 d pre-challenge (1.0%)	HIV-1 _{WITO} HIV-1 _{SUMA}	vaginal	4/4 protected with 0.1% 6/6 protected with 0.5% 0/5 protected with 1.0%	(503)

Table 3. BLT humanized mouse studies using approved ART as PrEP to prevent mucosal infection by HIV-1

Table 3 continued

TFV & EVG nanoparticles (200 mg/kg each)	single SC dose 4 or 14 days pre-challenge	HIV-1 _{wito} HIV-1 _{suma}	vaginal	5/5 protected at day 4 3/5 protected at day 14	(504)
TFV (20, 50, 140, or 300 mg/kg)	daily IP dose 3 d pre- and 4 d post-challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF}	vaginal	7/14 protected at 20 mg/kg 8/12 protected at 50 mg/kg 11/13 protected at 140 mg/kg 11/11 protected at 300 mg/kg	(505)
FTC (3.5 mg) & TFV (5.2 mg)	daily IP dose 3 d pre- and 4 d post-challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF}	rectal	9/9 protected	(506)
TFV (1% gel)	single dose 30 min pre- challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF} HIV-1 _{THRO}	rectal	11/12 protected from HIV-1 _{JR-CSF} 6/6 protected from HIV-1 _{THRO}	(507)
FTC (3.5 mg) & TFV (5.2 mg)	daily IP dose 3 d pre- and 4 d post-challenge	HIV-1 _{JR-CSF}	oral	5/5 protected	(508)

FTC, emtricitabine; TFV, tenofovir; RPV, rilpivirine; RAL, raltegravir; EVG, elvitegravir; IM, intramuscular; IP, intraperitoneal; SC, subcutaneous

attributable to the guaranteed adherence of the animals, which is impossible to enforce in humans; however, these distinct animals models suggest that 1% TFV gel should be an effective PrEP strategy if used properly, a concept demonstrated by increased protection rates in participants considered to be adherent in the CAPRISA 004 study (444).

Long-acting injectable formulations of RPV and the integrase inhibitor raltegravir (RAL) have also been tested in BLT mice. IM and SC injections of RPV and RAL, respectively, were given to mice one week prior to intravaginal challenge with transmitted/founder strains of HIV-1 (501, 502). Three separate experiments showed 70-100% protection from HIV-1 transmission with either drug; however, efficacy decreased for both drugs by 4 weeks post-dosing as nearly half the mice became infected after a follow-up challenge despite the presence of drug above defined protective concentrations (501, 502). Lack of protection from the second challenges is likely a result of waning drug concentrations, which reinforces the need for regular dosing to maintain protective concentrations of HIV-1 inhibitors. For both studies, the drug doses administered to mice provided drug concentrations near or above biologically relevant concentrations measured in humans. While concentrations of RAL in mice were similar to those reported in humans (502), the sustained protective plasma concentrations of RPV reported in mice (501) may not be attainable in a clinical setting (338, 340, 348). The disparity between protective concentrations of RPV in mice and in humans highlights the need to use wellcharacterized, biologically relevant animal models for pre-clinical studies.

The concern over PrEP selection of drug resistance has not been directly explored in humanized mouse; however, resistance mutations were not detected by population-based sequencing in the few breakthrough infections reported to occur in mice treated with FTC and TFV (506), TFV gel (507), RPV LA (501), or RAL LA (502). Inhibition of drug-resistant HIV-1

transmission has not been addressed in BLT mouse models either; although, one study did report inefficient vaginal infection with TFV-resistant virus in BLT mice (509) similar to what was shown in macaques (440, 510)

Overall, results of BLT mouse studies with approved ART drugs show near complete protection when the animals are treated and challenged to reflect recommended use of PrEP in humans (Table 3). These outcomes are similar to the results of macaque studies and demonstrate the utility of the humanized mouse as an *in vivo* model for HIV-1 PrEP research. As in macaques, novel PrEP strategies such as experimental NRTIs (511), peptide and small molecule entry inhibitors (500), CCR5 and viral protein small interfering RNA (siRNA) (512), transgenic immunoglobulin A expression vectors (513), lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1-targeting liposomal CCR5 siRNA nanoparticles (514), and an adeno-associated virus vector for broadly neutralizing antibody production (515) have been tested in BLT mice to show successful inhibition of HIV-1 infection and potential as future PrEP strategies. Despite ongoing research to improve human immune cell function in mice to expand their utility for HIV-1 research (424, 516), humanized mice are a cost-effective alternative to NHPs for PrEP studies.

2.0 SPECIFIC AIMS

Without an effective vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection, PrEP is currently an effective option to reduce global HIV-1 transmission. Clinical trials have shown that daily oral Truvada is effective at preventing HIV-1 transmission in high-risk populations and has been approved for clinical use. However, PrEP is most efficacious if individuals are adherent to the prescribed regimen. In an effort to improve PrEP adherence, a long-acting injectable formulation of the antiretroviral drug RPV was developed to provide sustained drug concentrations via monthly dosing. Because RPV has a similar resistance profile to other clinically-approved NNRTIs, there is potential that rollout of RPV LA PrEP could increase the prevalence of circulating drug-resistant HIV-1, thus excluding the use of NNRTI-containing ART in newly infected persons. To address resistance concerns with RPV LA PrEP, the first two Aims focus on the selection and transmission of HIV-1 drug resistance in animal models. The third Aim focuses on the *in vitro* resistance profiles of novel RPV analogs that could be further investigated as ART or PrEP.

AIM 1: Study the selection of RPV resistance by RPV LA monotherapy in a RT-SHIV macaque model. The standard of HIV-1 care is to provide ART that contains multiple antiretroviral drugs with distinct resistance profiles to preserve viral suppression in the event of DRM development. Individuals who become infected with HIV-1 prior to or after receiving RPV LA may be more likely to select for DRMs due to RPV monotherapy. Because it is unethical to test resistance selection by RPV LA in HIV-1⁺ individuals, we investigated whether RPV LA could select for drug resistance in RT-SHIV-infected pigtailed macaques. <u>We hypothesized that</u> <u>RT-SHIV plasma viremia would rebound after RPV LA dosing, and the virus population would</u> <u>contain RPV-associated resistance mutations in the HIV-1 RT coding region.</u>

AIM 2: Investigate the efficacy of RPV LA to prevent mucosal transmission of HIV-1 with NNRTI-resistant mutations in humanized mice. Because of the increase in global ART, prevalence of NNRTI-associated resistance mutations is increasing. It is possible that an individual receiving RPV LA PrEP could be exposed to HIV-1 with a RPV-associated DRM. In this event, the likelihood of RPV LA to prevent transmission of the drug-resistant virus is unknown. To test the efficacy of RPV LA to inhibit vaginal transmission of NNRTI-resistant HIV-1, we challenged humanized mice with two drug-resistant HIV-1 clones that had either low-or high-levels of RPV resistance and compared them to mice challenges with WT HIV-1. We hypothesized that biologically relevant concentrations of RPV LA would inhibit infection by WT HIV-1 but not drug-resistant isolates.

AIM 3: Determine the *in vitro* **resistance profile of mutations in HIV-1 selected by novel RPV analogs.** HIV-1 has a high mutation rate and can develop resistance in the presence of antiretroviral drugs. However, cross-resistance between NNRTIs can limit ART options in individuals failing therapy. New antiretroviral compounds that are effective against HIV-1 with known DRMs must be discovered. Given the favorable potency and safety profile of RPV, analogs with changes to its structure were developed to inhibit HIV-1 with known NNRTIassociated DRMs. To understand the mechanism of actions of three RPV analogs, HIV-1 was selected in the presence of the compounds to identify novel DRMs. <u>We hypothesized that the</u> analogs would select for novel resistance mutations that would not display cross-resistance to other NNRTIs.

3.0 AIM 1: LOW FREQUENCY OF DRUG-RESISTANT VARIANTS SELECTED BY LONG-ACTING RILPIVIRINE IN MACAQUES INFECTED WITH SIMIAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS CONTAINING HIV-1 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE

Kevin Melody¹, Sarah McBeth², Christopher Kline², Angela D.M. Kashuba³, John W. Mellors², Zandrea Ambrose^{1, 2}

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA; ²Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA; ³ Division of Pharmacotherapy and Experimental Therapeutics, Eshelman School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC

3.1 PREFACE

Results of this work were partially presented as a poster titled "Selection of drug resistance in a reverse transcriptase simian-human immunodeficiency virus macaque model using long-acting rilpivirine" at the 2014 International Workshop on Antiviral Drug Resistance in Berlin Germany.

This work, essentially as presented here, was originally published in the Journal of Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (copyright © American Society for Microbiology) as: Melody K, McBeth S, Kline C, Kashuba AD, Mellors JW, Ambrose Z. 2015. Low Frequency of Drug-Resistant Variants Selected by Long-Acting Rilpivirine in Macaques Infected with Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Containing HIV-1 Reverse Transcriptase. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 59:7762-7770. Permission to reprint this work was granted by the American Society of Microbiology (http://journals.asm.org).

The work presented in this chapter is for completion of Aim 1 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. Kevin Melody processed blood samples, sequenced HIV-1 clones from plasma vRNA, and performed drug susceptibility assays. Chris Kline isolated vRNA from plasma samples and performed quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR) on plasma and tissue samples. Sarah McBeth sequenced vRNA variants isolated from tissue samples. Angela Kashuba completed the PK analysis of RPV in macaques to determine RPV LA dosing.

3.2 ABSTRACT

PrEP using antiretroviral drugs is effective in reducing the risk of HIV-1 infection, but adherence to the PrEP regimen is needed. To improve adherence, a long-acting injectable formulation of the NNRTI RPV has been developed. However, there are concerns that PrEP may select for drugresistant mutations during preexisting or breakthrough infections, which could promote the spread of drug resistance and limit options for antiretroviral therapy. To address this concern, we administered RPV LA to macaques infected with RT-SHIV. Peak plasma RPV levels were equivalent to those reported in human trials and waned over time after dosing. RPV LA resulted in a 2-log decrease in plasma viremia, and the therapeutic effect was maintained for 15 weeks, until plasma drug concentrations dropped below 25 ng/ml. RT mutations E138G and E138O were detected in single clones from plasma virus in separate animals but not consistently, and no resistance mutations were detected in vRNA isolated from tissues. WT and E138Q RT-SHIV displayed similar RPV susceptibilities in vitro, whereas E138G conferred 2-fold resistance to RPV. Overall, selection of RPV-resistant variants was rare in an RT-SHIV macaque model despite prolonged exposure to slowly decreasing RPV concentrations following two injections of RPV LA.

3.3 INTRODUCTION

Despite increasing use of ART, which suppresses viral replication and reduces the risk of HIV-1 transmission, an estimated two million new HIV-1 infections still occur annually worldwide (1). While research continues to define effective, vaccine-elicited protective immune responses, PrEP

has proven effective in reducing HIV-1 transmission. Thus far, clinical trials have exhibited a 44 to 75% reduction in HIV-1 infections in individuals treated with TFV with or without FTC (17, 19-21). These successes led to FDA approval of daily oral TFV-FTC PrEP for high-risk populations.

One prominent issue with PrEP is that efficacy is dependent on adherence. Data from clinical trials has shown that participants with detectable plasma drug concentrations indicative of adherence have reduced risk of HIV-1 infection, while poor PrEP adherence confers little protection (14, 17-19, 517). Although recent work suggests that sexual event-driven TFV-FTC administration can be effective in men (316, 436, 445), sporadic PrEP adherence may lower PrEP efficacy and promote selection of drug-resistant variants. To reduce pill burden, long-acting injectable nanoparticle formulations of the NNRTI RPV and an experimental integrase inhibitor, CAB, have been developed (338, 518). Injectable PrEP formulations create a depot at the injection site and provide drug release for weeks to months, thus eliminating the need for daily drug administration. Long-acting injectable medications have been used successfully to administer antipsychotics, contraceptives, hormone replacements, and cancer treatments (341, 519-521).

RPV is the most recently approved NNRTI for ART in combination with other antiretrovirals in patients with plasma viremia of less than 100,000 copies of HIV-1 RNA/ml (213, 292, 522). Clinical trials have shown RPV-TFV-FTC to be non-inferior to and more tolerable than EFV-based ART (292). During these trials, patients failing RPV-based ART also tended to select unique NNRTI-associated resistance mutations in RT compared with those on an EFV-based regimen (306). RPV LA is an injectable nanoparticle formulation that has been shown to be safe and tolerable, with detectable drug concentrations maintained in plasma and tissues weeks after a single injection (340, 347, 483, 523). Multiple clinical trials are under way to test safety and acceptability of RPV LA as PrEP in HIV-1-uninfected men and women (523).

Of concern with RPV LA PrEP is the development of drug resistance if an individual with an undetected HIV-1 infection receives PrEP or someone on PrEP becomes infected, resulting in treatment with RPV monotherapy. Additionally, while patients on a pill-based regimen can cease PrEP and rapidly clear the drug, injectable medications will require weeks to reach undetectable concentrations. These situations may increase the selection of DRMs, promoting spread of drug resistance and limiting future ART options through cross-resistance (16). Resistance analyses of breakthrough infections in TFV-FTC clinical trials revealed that selection of DRMs was rare in patients who became infected after receiving PrEP, but DRMs did develop in the few individuals that were HIV-1⁺ before initiating PrEP (318-320).

Although the development of DRMs during TFV-FTC PrEP clinical trials was rare (318-320), there is currently no published data on the resistance outcome of long-acting PrEP as monotherapy. We report here on a pilot study to explore the selection of drug resistance by RPV LA in RT-SHIV-infected macaques. RT-SHIV_{mne} is a chimeric SIV that contains the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase coding region (370, 389). SIV is not susceptible to NNRTIs due to sequence differences within the RT coding region, but NNRTI sensitivity is established by swapping the SIV and HIV-1 RT coding regions (369, 458). RT-SHIV macaque models have been used to study HIV-1 ART, drug resistance, PrEP, and persistence (369, 389, 464, 466, 467, 470, 472, 473, 476, 477, 480, 491, 524-529). In this study, we treated RT-SHIV-infected macaques with RPV LA and measured plasma viremia, drug concentrations, and drug-resistant isolates over 35 weeks. Our data show that viremia was suppressed by RPV LA monotherapy, which rebounded to pretherapy levels as plasma drug concentrations waned. However, resistance to RPV in RT-SHIV was difficult to select both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

3.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.4.1 Cell culture and antiretroviral inhibitors

293T (530) and TZM-bl (531, 532) cell lines were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Atlanta Biologicals) and 100 U/ml of penicillin, 100 μ g/ml of streptomycin, and 0.292 mg/ml of L-glutamine (P-S-G; Life Technologies). This mix of DMEM, FBS, and P-S-G will henceforth be referred to as complete DMEM (cDMEM). GHOST-R3/X4/R5 cells (533) were maintained in the same medium as described above with the addition of 100 μ g/ml of G418 (Life Technologies), 100 μ g/ml of hygromycin (Life Technologies), and 0.5 μ g/ml of puromycin (EMD Millipore). CEMx174 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% P-S-G. All cell lines were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂.

RPV was acquired from the National Institute of Health (NIH) AIDS Reagent Program. RPV LA was donated by Janssen Sciences UC Ireland.

3.4.2 Virus production and titer determination

Plasmids encoding HIV-1_{LAI} with silent restriction sites within RT (534) and RT-SHIV_{mne} (389) were used for virus production by transfection into 293T cells with Lipofectamine 2000 (Life

Technologies) and stored at -80°C. Mutations were introduced into the plasmids by site-directed mutagenesis using either the QuikChange II XL kit (Agilent Technologies) or the Q5 sitedirected mutagenesis kit (New England BioLabs). Virus was harvested 48 hours after transfection and titered on GHOST cells as previously described with modifications (533). GHOST cells were seeded in a 24-well plate at $2x10^4$ cells/0.5 ml in cDMEM. The following morning, media was removed and cells were exposed to cDMEM with dilutions of virus stock. Cells and virus were incubated for 2 hours, after which virus and media were replaced with fresh cDMEM and allowed to incubate for 48 hours. After 48 hours, cells were trypsinized using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA (Gibco), fixed in paraformaldehyde at a final concentration of 2%, and analyzed for green fluorescent protein expression by flow cytometry on a LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Titers of RT-SHIV stocks were determined using TZM-bl indicator cells and β -galactosidase staining as previously described (370, 535).

3.4.3 Animals

Two juvenile pigtailed macaques were housed at the University of Pittsburgh in accordance with American Association of Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC) standards. All procedures were performed according to protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). The animals were negative for serum antibodies to HIV type 2, SIV, type D retrovirus, and simian T-lymphotropic virus type 1 at study initiation. Animals were infected IV with 1x10⁵ infectious units (IU) of RT-SHIV_{mne}. At 6 and 8 weeks post-infection, animals were treated with 200 mg/kg of RPV LA by IM injection near the scapula. This dosing regimen was determined by prior PK analysis that showed that a single 50 mg/kg dose of RPV LA did not result in plasma drug concentrations above 16 ng/ml within 24 hours of

administration, consistent with our previous observations of rapid metabolism of NNRTIs in pigtailed macaques (data not shown). Blood was drawn under anesthesia weekly or bimonthly. Animals were euthanized at 35 weeks post-infection, and multiple tissues, including axillary LNs and ileum, were immediately flash frozen and stored in liquid nitrogen.

3.4.4 T cell counts and vRNA isolation

Plasma was separated from EDTA-treated whole blood by centrifugation at 400 x g for 10 min and stored at -80°C until processed. vRNA was isolated from plasma as previously described (536). Briefly, plasma was mixed with Tris-buffered saline (Sigma) and pelleted by centrifugation at 21,000 x g for 1 hour. Virus was then suspended in 3 M guanidinium chloride, 50 mM Tric-HCl (pH 7.6), 1 mM CaCl₂, and 1 mg/ml of proteinase K and incubated at 42°C for 1 hour, followed by addition of 5.7 M guanidine thiocyanate, 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 1 mM EDTA, and 600 µg/ml of glycogen and a 5 min incubation at room temperature. RNA was washed with isopropanol and ethanol and samples were suspended in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8). Tissue vRNA isolation was performed as previously described (537).

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from samples using lymphocyte separation medium (Corning) and treated with ACK Lysing Buffer (Life Technologies) and washed with phosphate buffered saline, pH 7.4 (PBS; Life Technologies) to remove red blood cells. PBMCs were stained with NHP T lymphocyte cocktail (BD Biosciences) with antibodies against cluster of differentiation 3 (CD3), CD4, and CD8. CD3⁺CD4⁺, and CD3⁺CD8⁺ cell populations were measured by flow cytometry. Isotype cocktail C (BD Biosciences) was used for isotype controls.

3.4.5 **RPV** plasma and tissue concentrations

RPV was extracted from monkey plasma using protein precipitation followed by liquid chromatograph-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis. Calibration standards and quality control (QC) samples were prepared in monkey plasma (EDTA) on the day of analysis. Fifty microliters of each plasma sample was mixed with 50 µl of a 50:50 methanol-water mixture containing amprenavir-d4 as the internal standard. Then, 300 µl of methanol was added to each sample. Following vortex and centrifugation steps, the resulting supernatant was transferred to a 96-well plate for LC-MS/MS analysis. Tissues were homogenized in 1 ml of 70:30 acetonitrile-1 mM ammonium phosphate (pH 7.4) with a Precellys hard tissue grinding kit tube (Cayman Chemical), followed by a similar plasma preparation procedure. Tissue weights ranged from 84.2 to 95.4 mg. Analyte concentrations from tissue homogenates were normalized to tissue weight. A tissue density of 1 g/ml was used to convert concentrations into ng/ml. A Shimadzu highperformance liquid chromatography system was used for separation, and an AB SCIEX API 5000 mass spectrometer (AB SCIEX) equipped with a turbo spray interface was used as the detector. The samples were analyzed with a set of calibration standards and QC samples, with a dynamic range of 0.5 to 2,000 ng/ml. The precision and accuracy of the calibration standards and QC samples were within the acceptable range of 15%.

3.4.6 vRNA quantitation

Copies of vRNA were measured by generation of cDNA from vRNA isolated from plasma or tissues by the SuperScript III first-strand synthesis kit (Life Technologies) with the SIV_{gag}-R primer (5'-CACTAGGTGTCTCTGCACTATCTGTTTTG-3'). qPCR was performed on cDNA

using SsoFast probes SuperMix (Bio-Rad), SIV_{gag}-F (5'-GTCTGCGTCATCTGGTGCATTC-3') and SIV_{gag}-R primers, and the SIV_{gag}-probe (5'-FAM-CTTCCTCAGTGTGTTTCACTTTCTCTTCTGCG-3' 6-carboxytetramethylrhodamine dye). CCR5 primers and probe were previously described (537). Reaction conditions were 1 cycle of 95°C for 2 min followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 1 min.

3.4.7 vRNA sequencing

The RT coding region was amplified from cDNA generated from vRNA isolated from plasma or tissues using nested PCR. The first round of PCR was performed with the Platinum Taq DNA polymerase high-fidelity kit Technologies), ZA01 (5'-(Life using primers CTAGATCTGAATTTGCCTGCCC-3') ZA02 (5'and TGTAACAGGAATAGAGTTAGGTCC-3') with the following reaction conditions: 94°C for 2 min; 40 cycles of 94°C for 15 s, 49°C for 30 s, and 68°C for 2 min; and 1 cycle of 68°C for 5 min. DNA was purified using the ExoSAP-IT PCR cleanup kit (Affymetrix) per the manufacturer's instructions. The second round of PCR amplification was performed with the Platinum PCR Supermix kit (Life Technologies), using primers **RT19** (5'-GCAAAAGGATTAAAGGGACAA-3') **RT22** (5' and GGGTAATCCAAATTTGAATACCAATCCT-3') with the following reaction conditions: 94°C for 2 min; 26 cycles of 94°C for 15 s, 63°C for 30 s with -0.5°C increments per cycle, and 72°C for 2 min; 15 cycles of 94°C for 15 s, 50°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 2 min; and 1 cycle of 72°C for 5 min. The PCR product was then cleaned using the Wizard SV gel and PCR cleanup system (Promega) and cloned into TOPO vectors using the pCR 2.1-TOPO TA cloning kit (Life Technologies) per the manufacturer's instructions. Bacterial colonies were screened for fulllength RT sequence by PCR. RT-containing TOPO vectors were isolated from overnight bacterial cultures using the QiaPrep Spin Miniprep kit (Qiagen). Sequences were analyzed using Lasergene (DNASTAR).

3.4.8 **RT-SHIV** *in vitro* resistance selection

CEMx174 cells (538) were infected with WT RT-SHIV at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.05 in medium and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours. Cells and virus were then resuspended in medium containing 0.1 nM RPV. Cultures were passaged every 2 to 3 days in new medium. If cytopathic effects (CPE) were apparent, vRNA was isolated from culture supernatant using the RNeasy minikit (Qiagen) and sequenced as described above. If the RT sequence from vRNA isolated from the supernatant was WT, then 50 μ l of culture supernatant was used to infect fresh CEMx174 cells and the RPV concentration was doubled to begin a new round of selection.

3.4.9 Drug susceptibility assay

Drug susceptibility assays were performed as previously described, with minor modifications (370). TZM-bl cells were seeded at 5×10^3 cells in 96-well cell culture-treated white plates (PerkinElmer). The following day, virus and serial drug dilutions were prepared in phenol red-free DMEM (Life Technologies) supplemented with 1% P-S-G and 10% FBS or different amounts of human or macaque serum. Medium containing virus (MOI of 0.05) and drug dilutions in a total volume of 0.2 ml was added to each well in triplicate. Wells with virus and no drug were used as 100% infection controls. Plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 hours. Luciferase activity was measured using Britelite Plus reagent (PerkinElmer) on a Luminoskan

Ascent microplate luminometer (Thermo Scientific). Relative light units (RLU) were converted to percent infection by dividing the RLU of each drug dilution by the RLU of the 100% infection control. Wells containing cells with no virus and no drug were used to normalize for background luciferase output. The EC₅₀ was calculated using PRISM 6 (GraphPad). Specifically, EC₅₀ was calculated by log transforming drug concentrations and using a four-parameter variable slope nonlinear regression for curve fitting analysis.

3.5 RESULTS

3.5.1 RPV LA treatment of RT-SHIV-infected macaques

To assess the potential for selection of drug-resistant virus *in vivo* during RPV LA treatment, two pigtailed macaques were infected with RT-SHIV at week 0. Both animals showed peak viremia between 1×10^6 and 1×10^7 copies of vRNA/ml, which declined to a set point of 5×10^5 to 9×10^5 vRNA copies/ml (Figure 7). Based on PK results (data not shown), animals were treated with two 200 mg/kg IM doses of RPV LA at weeks 6 and 8 post-infection. Post-treatment, there was an immediate ~2-log decline in plasma viremia, which was maintained at approximately 1.35×10^4 vRNA copies/ml until 21 weeks post-infection. Viral loads slowly rebounded thereafter to pretherapy set point values (Figure 7). There was a transient decrease in the percentage of CD4⁺ T cells in both animals after infection, followed by a steady post-treatment increase for the remainder of the study (data not shown). The only adverse events attributed to RPV LA treatment were redness and swelling at the injection sites.



Figure 7. Plasma RT-SHIV levels in two macaques treated with RPV LA monotherapy. Animals were infected at week 0 and received two IM does of RPV LA at 6 and 8 weeks postinfection (designated by arrows under the x axis). Plasma viremia (blue lines) and RPV concentrations (red lines) were measured. The dashed lines indicate the limit of detection of the qRT-PCR assay (50 RNA copies/ml).

Although a standard protective concentration of RPV has not been defined, the *in vitro* EC₅₀ of RPV is 0.1 to 0.7 nM (265, 286), and our dosing strategy was designed to achieve plasma RPV concentrations equivalent to that reported for humans: 50 ng/ml (136 nM) (286, 338). Maximum plasma RPV concentrations of 86.5 ng/ml and 40 ng/ml (214.7 nM and 99.3 nM) were detected at week 10 post-infection in animals M170 and M171, respectively (Figure 7). Plasma RPV concentrations were greater than 15 ng/ml (40.9 nM) in both animals up to 29 weeks after the first RPV LA injection. Virus rebound appeared to be associated with declining drug concentrations, although there was not a significant correlation between plasma RPV concentrations in the axillary LN and ileum were 4- to 421-fold higher than in plasma at the time of necropsy (week 35 post-infection) (Table 4). As tissue homogenate concentrations are averaged across a heterogeneous matrix, these data do not differentiate between extracellular or intracellular drug

exposure and intracellular drug exposure between cell types. Therefore, the averaged concentration could significantly over represent the concentration of drug in mononuclear cells. Since it is difficult to isolate mononuclear cells from tissue without extracellular leaching of drug during the isolation process, intracellular drug concentrations in tissues, and the resulting pharmacodynamic effect, are an area of continued study.

Table 4. RPV concentrations (ng/ml) in plasma and tissues of both animals at 35 weeks post-infection

	RPV concentrations (ng/ml)		
Site	Animal M170	Animal M171	
Plasma	18	18	
Axillary LN	155	7,590	
Ileum	136	80	

3.5.2 Plasma RT-SHIV drug resistance detection

To identify selection of RPV-resistant variants, we sequenced the RT coding region of plasma virus at week 6 prior to therapy and at weeks 9, 13, 21, and 25 post-infection. At all time points, the full-length consensus RT sequence matched the starting RT sequence, indicating a lack of detectable mutations that constituted more than 20% of the virus population (data not shown). However, partial and full clonal RT regions were sequenced and revealed many minor viral variants in the plasma (Table 5). Based on Poisson distribution, the probability of detecting variants present at 5% frequency in a virus population with 90% certainty requires analysis of at least 45 clones. Hence, approximately 45 clones were sequenced at 6, 9, 13, and 25 weeks post-infection. The majority of clonal sequences was either WT or had mutations in RT amino acids 1 to 250 that are not associated with known drug resistance. E138G was identified in a single clone at both weeks 9 and 13 in animal M170 but was not detectable later. E138Q was identified in a

single clone at week 25 in animal M171. T69A and K65R are NRTI-associated resistance mutations that were also identified, but they were also detected at frequencies as low as E138G/Q.

To determine if E138G or E138Q conferred RPV resistance in RT-SHIV, the mutations were made in both HIV-1 and RT-SHIV and were tested for susceptibility to RPV compared to that of WT viruses *in vitro*. WT HIV-1 and RT-SHIV displayed similar RPV susceptibilities, with EC₅₀s of 0.67 \pm 0.08 and 0.35 \pm 0.06 nM (Table 6). E138G conferred a slight increase in EC₅₀ compared to WT virus in both HIV-1 and RT-SHIV backbones: EC₅₀s of 0.94 \pm 0.03 and 0.76 \pm 0.12 nM (1.4- and 2.2-fold changes), respectively. Conversely, E138Q conferred a 4.3-fold EC₅₀ increase above WT HIV-1 (2.85 \pm 0.08 nM) and no difference from WT RT-SHIV (0.30 \pm 0.05 nM). These EC₅₀s for WT, E138G, and E138Q HIV-1 were similar to values previously reported (265, 284).

3.5.3 Tissue RT-SHIV drug resistance detection

Because no consistent RT mutations were identified in plasma virus from either animal, vRNA isolated from axillary LN and ileum obtained at 35 weeks post-infection was clonally sequenced. Axillary LNs were chosen because they were the lymphoid tissues closest to the injection site. Tissues of the gastrointestinal tract were also sampled because they are known to harbor large numbers of infected cells, particularly in the terminal ileum (150). High levels of RT-SHIV RNA copies were measured by qRT-PCR in both the axillary LN and ileum taken at necropsy from both animals (Table 7). While measurements were not taken prior to drug exposure or during peak plasma drug concentrations, the results suggest that significant viral transcription occurs in the LN and ileum despite high RPV levels at those sites (Table 4).

	Mutations in RT-SHIV RT ^a (No. of clones)					
Animal	Week 6 ^b	Week 9	Week 13	Week 21	Week 25	
M170	WT (14) Non-DRM (31)	WT (25) Non-DRM (19) R125G, <u>E138G</u> (1)	WT (19) Non-DRM (25) S68G, <u>E138G</u> (1)	WT (4) Non-DRM (6)	WT (24) Non-DRM (19) K65R (1)	
M171	WT (22) Non-DRM (23)	WT (26) Non-DRM (19)	WT (24) Non-DRM (20) T69A (1)	WT (5) Non-DRM (5)	WT (21) Non-DRM (19) <u>E138Q</u> , P157-, L213F, V244C (1)	

Table 5. Mutations identified in RT of plasma RT-SHIV RNA

^a Results represent a mix of full-length and partial (amino acids 1-250) RT sequences.

^b Prior to RPV-LA administration (6 and 8 weeks post-infection).

WT, wild-type; non-DRM, mutations not associated with drug resistance; -, codon deletion; underline, known RPV-associated resistance mutations.

Virus	Mutation(s) in RT sequence	$EC_{50}(nM)^{a}$	Fold-change from WT virus ^b
HIV-1	WT	0.67 ± 0.08	1
	E138G	0.94 ± 0.03	1
	E138Q	2.85 ± 0.08	4
	A33V	0.42 ± 0.07	0.6
	Y181H	0.17 ± 0.02	0.3
	A33V, Y181H	0.13 ± 0.01	0.2
RT-SHIV	WT	0.35 ± 0.06	1
	E138G	0.76 ± 0.12	2
	E138O	0.30 ± 0.05	0.8

Table 6. RPV susceptibility of HIV-1 and RT-SHIV with select mutations identified in plasma and tissue vRNA

^a Values represent mean and standard deviation of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate.

^b Fold-change is calculated as the ratio of the mean EC_{50} of mutant to WT virus.

		Number of copies	_	
Animal	Tissue ^a	gag copies	CD4 copies	gag/CD4 Ratio
M170	Axillary LN	28 ± 0.5	327 ± 10	0.09
	Ileum	334 ± 36	$126,237 \pm 58,548$	0.003
M171	Axillary LN	10 ± 0.8	29 ± 2	0.3
	Ileum	$7,863 \pm 367$	$54,343 \pm 493$	0.1

Table 7. RNA copies of RT-SHIV gag and macaque CD4 measured from tissue RNA

^a Tissues taken at 35 weeks post-infection. ^b Mean \pm standard deviation, measured by qRT-PCR in duplicate.

Animal	Tissue ^a	Mutations in RT-SHIV RT ^b (No. of clones)
M170	Axillary LN	WT (1)
		A33V (10)
		M16I, A33V (2)
		A33V, I135T (2)
		A33V, V179A (1)
		A33V, I195V, R206G (1)
		Q85R, H96R (1)
		P217S (1)
		K220E (1)
	Ileum	WT (8)
		A33V (10)
		A33V, D218G (1)
		A33V, V245A (1)
M171	Axillary LN	WT (12)
	2	N54S (1)
		D76G (1)
		E79G (1)
		G112D (1)
		G155R (1)
		S163G, G196E (1)
		H208R, D250G (1)
		G242. (1)
	Ileum	WT (14)
		A33V, Q145R (2)
		A33V, K173R (1)
		A33V, Y181H (2)
		A33V, T200A (1)

^a Tissues taken at 35 weeks post-infection. ^b Sequences represent amino acids 1-250 of RT; WT, wild-type; ., stop codon

No known DRMs were detected in 20 clones from either tissue from both animals (Table 8). However, the A33V mutation was identified in 45% of ileum clones from both animals and 80% of axillary LN clones from animal M170. This mutation also was identified in a single clone in the plasma for M170 at week 9 (Table 5). Y181H was present and linked to A33V in two clones from the ileum of animal M171. While Y181H has not previously been reported in association with NNRTI resistance, Y181C, Y181I, and Y181V mutations display RPV resistance (265). Interestingly, we detected G112D in a single clone obtained from one axillary LN from animal M171. This mutation confers 2-fold resistance to RPV and was selected by an RPV analog *in vitro* (see Chapter 5).

Due to the high frequency of the A33V mutation in the viruses isolated from tissues and the association of RPV resistance with mutations at position 181, the amino acid substitutions A33V and Y181H were made separately and together in HIV-1 and tested for RPV sensitivity. A33V did not confer RPV resistance, while Y181H alone or with A33V conferred hypersusceptibility to RPV compared to WT HIV-1: 0.3- and 0.2-fold, respectively (Table 6).

3.5.4 Effects of human and macaque plasma on RPV inhibition of HIV-1 and RT-SHIV

As RPV inhibition of HIV-1 was greatly decreased by the presence of high human serum proteins *in vitro* (265), the effect of macaque serum on RT-SHIV inhibition by RPV was investigated in cell culture. Similar to previously published results in which 50% human serum increased the EC₅₀ of RPV against HIV-1 18.5-fold (265), 25% human serum reduced RPV inhibition of HIV-1 *in vitro* in our study 12-fold (Table 9). Similarly, addition of macaque serum increased the EC₅₀ of RPV against RT-SHIV compared to the values with medium with FBS

(Table 9). The results suggest that macaque serum proteins do not impact RPV activity against RT-SHIV more than human serum proteins.

Selection of RPV resistance in RT-SHIV was also difficult to achieve in CEMx174 cells using the same virus stock as used to infect the macaques. RT-SHIV-infected cells were exposed to increasing concentrations of RPV for 350 days (0.1 to 409.6 nM), and vRNA isolated from supernatants from all time points had WT sequence in the RT coding region (data not shown). This is in contrast to selection of Y181C or K103N in RT-SHIV in CEMx174 cells by NVP or EFV, respectively (370).

Virus	Serum	$EC_{50}(nM)^{a}$	Fold-Change ^b
HIV-1	10% FBS	0.54 ± 0.05	1
	5% Human	1.34 ± 0.10	3
	10% Human	2.45 ± 0.44	5
	25% Human	6.72 ± 0.39	12
RT-SHIV	10% FBS	0.42 ± 0.08	1
	5% Macaque	0.45 ± 0.21	1
	10% Macaque	1.16 ± 0.15	3

Table 9. Effect of human and macaque serum on RPV EC₅₀

^a Mean \pm standard deviation of triplicates from one experiment.

^b Compared to assay performed with 10% FBS.

3.6 DISCUSSION

Although global HIV-1 incidence is decreasing in large part due to rollout of ART, an effective vaccine or cure is not yet available. In lieu of a vaccine, FDA-approved PrEP comprised of two NRTIs can reduce infections in high-risk populations (17-21). However, the most significant barrier to PrEP efficacy is patient adherence, as >90% protection is observed in patients with consistently detectable plasma drug concentrations, whereas no protection is seen in participants

showing undetectable drug concentrations (14, 15, 17, 21, 517, 539). To improve adherence, a long-acting injectable nanoparticle formulation of RPV has been developed and is currently being evaluated in clinical trials (523). However, inappropriate use of PrEP by suboptimal dosing or in individuals who are HIV-1⁺ may lead to development of drug resistance. The development of DRMs during PrEP could limit future therapy options, as was the case in single-dose NVP trials to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 (540).

As there are no currently published data on the effect of RPV LA on HIV-1 resistance selection, we designed a pilot study to explore whether RPV LA monotherapy could select for drug resistance in a preexisting RT-SHIV infection in macaques. Although untreated macaques were not included as a comparison control, the peaks and set points of plasma viremia in the two animals in this study were similar to those in our previous study (389). While RPV LA dosing and metabolism in macaques were different than in humans, its administration in this study led to plasma RPV concentrations detected in the animals that were comparable to concentrations reported for humans who received 600 mg RPV LA doses (338, 340). RPV LA treatment displayed a therapeutic effect with approximate 2-log decreases in plasma viremia one week after treatment that was sustained for roughly 15 weeks after the first injection, and viremia increased as plasma RPV concentrations dropped below 25 ng/ml (68 nM). Axillary LN and ileum RPV concentrations were at least 4.5-fold greater than plasma concentrations 29 weeks after the first injection, which is consistent with a previous report showing that RPV LA achieves higher concentrations in LNs than in plasma (347). While tissues were not assessed at earlier time points for vRNA and drug concentrations, it is likely that tissue RPV concentrations were higher at earlier time points, and it is clear that drug concentrations were not sufficient to fully suppress virus replication in tissues or blood, as evidenced by high RT-SHIV RNA levels.

Despite waning RPV plasma concentrations and lack of complete virus suppression, which may be seen in noncompliant individuals and suggesting suboptimal *in vivo* drug inhibition, persistent DRMs were not selected in the plasma or tissues of either animal after RPV LA administration. This is in contrast to our previous studies, in which EFV monotherapy was administered over four days in RT-SHIV-infected macaques and rapidly selected the NNRTI resistance mutation K103N in the plasma virus that affected the efficacy of subsequent combination therapy containing EFV, particularly in two animals with high plasma viremia levels similar to the animals in this study (389, 527, 541). Another study using a different strain of RT-SHIV in rhesus macaques also showed that K103N and other DRMs arise during EFV monotherapy (466). The RT mutation K103N confers approximately 20- to 35-fold resistance to HIV-1 *in vitro* and arises in HIV-1-infected individuals on EFV-based ART (265, 542).

In contrast, K103N and other single DRMs selected by NNRTIs approved earlier than RPV, such as Y181C, confer no or low-level (*i.e.*, 1- to 3-fold) resistance to RPV (265). K103N was not detected in patients failing RPV-containing ART in two clinical trials (306). In fact, with the exception of K101P, Y181I, and Y181V, which confer significant resistance to RPV *in vitro* (52-, 15-, and 12-fold changes above WT HIV-1, respectively), HIV-1 with any other single NNRTI-associated resistance mutation has no or low-level resistance to RPV (265). Unlike K103N and Y181C, the mutations K101P and Y181I/V require at least two base changes to be made and therefore are likely more difficult to develop. In addition, the accumulation of multiple NNRTI resistance (265, 283, 306, 543), which is less likely to occur prior to therapy or to be transmitted to newly infected individuals (285). Thus, it appears that isolates that are highly

resistant to RPV are difficult to develop compared to mutants that arise during use of other NNRTIs, such as EFV and NVP.

Similarly, in a macaque study investigating sustained release of the novel NNRTI MIV-150 from IVRs in RT-SHIV-infected rhesus macaques, DRMs were not detected by clonal sequencing of plasma virus after 42 days in 5/6 animals using the IVR; however, DRM selection did occur when animals were treated systemically with MIV-150 (491). One IVR-treated animal had a single plasma clone containing Y181I, while all other clones were WT. Similar results were found in LNs at day 57, and no DRMs were detected in vRNA isolated from the cervix or vagina, the site of drug release.

Recently, one individual unexpectedly became infected with HIV-1 in the lowest RPV LA dose arm (300 mg) of the SSAT 040 trial (1/66 in the overall study and 1/20 in the 300-mg dose arm), which evaluated the PK of the drug in HIV-1⁻¹ individuals (351). K101E was selected in the RT of plasma HIV-1 after seroconversion (*i.e.*, K101E HIV-1 was not transmitted to this individual), and K101E HIV-1 clones had 4-fold resistance to RPV *in vitro* compared to that of WT virus. K101E or E138K/Q was the most common RT mutation detected in patients failing RPV-containing therapy in the ECHO, THRIVE, and STaR studies, with E138K constituting the majority of detected NNRTI-associated resistance mutations (306, 544). Molecular modeling studies of RPV bound to the crystal structure of HIV-1 RT show the formation of a salt bridge between E138 and K101 in the WT p66 subunit (545). This interaction was lost with the substitution of the low-level RPV-resistant mutations E138A/G/K/R/Q or K101E, suggesting that disruption of the K101-E138 salt bridge causes low-level RPV resistance (301). A higher prevalence of E138 mutations, particularly E138K/G, in HIV-1 from individuals failing RPV-containing therapy is unknown but may be due to mutational bias (546) or G-to-A hypermutation

(547). The E138Q/G mutations that were selected by RPV LA in the macaques in our study and the K101E mutation that was selected in the individual who failed RPV LA were likely stochastic events.

While this is a small pilot study, the data are encouraging that drug resistance may be difficult to develop in HIV-1 RT during RPV LA monotherapy compared to NNRTIs approved prior to RPV. The single DRMs that we did detect remained a minor species despite persistent drug concentrations. Future studies looking at a larger group of animals with different viremia levels and comparing daily oral RPV dosing to dosing with RPV LA with different lengths of sustained released are warranted to understand how they influence the development of drug resistance. In addition, the effect of development of minority, low-level RPV-resistant viruses on subsequent combination therapy should be addressed.

4.0 AIM 2: HIGH CONCENTRATIONS OF LONG-ACTING RILPIVIRINE ARE EFFECTIVE AT INHIBITING TRANSMISSION OF LOW-LEVEL DRUG-RESISTANT HIV-1 IN HUMANIZED MICE

Kevin Melody¹, Christopher Kline², Mackenzie Cottrell³, Kathleen Shutt², Moses Bility¹, Brandon Keele⁴, Angela Kashuba³, Zandrea Ambrose^{1, 2}

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA; ²Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA; ³Eshelman School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC; ⁴AIDS and Cancer Virus Program, Leidos Biomedical Research Inc., Frederick National Laboratory, Frederick, MD

4.1 PREFACE

Results from this research were presented in part as an oral presentation titled "Vaginal transmission of WT or resistant HIV-1 was not inhibited by long-acting rilpivirine at high plasma and genital concentrations in BLT mice" at the 2016 HIV Research for Prevention conference in Chicago, Illinois.

The work presented in this chapter is for completion of Aim 2 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. Kevin Melody performed the *in vitro* virus assays, all *in vivo* work, and population sequencing of breakthrough infection vRNA. Mackenzie Cottrell and Angela Kashuba completed PK analysis of RPV in plasma and tissue samples collected by Zandrea Ambrose and Kevin Melody. Moses Bility and Kevin Melody conducted the surgeries to generate a cohort of BLT humanized mice. Chris Kline performed the plasma vRNA extractions and qPCR assays. Single-genome sequencing was performed by Brandon Keele. Statistical analysis was performed with assistance from Kathleen Shutt.

4.2 ABSTRACT

RPV LA is an injectable long-acting formula of the antiretroviral RPV, which was developed to improve PrEP adherence. To determine whether RPV LA could prevent transmission of RPVresistant HIV-1, BLT humanized mice were challenged vaginally with WT, low-resistant (Y181C), or high-resistant (Y181V) HIV-1 at days 1 or 7 after RPV LA administration. At day 7 post-RPV LA dosing, drug concentrations in mouse plasma and mucosal tissues were similar to human women given a 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA; whereas, RPV concentrations were >7-fold higher at day 1 post-dosing. Sixty-six percent of mice challenged with WT HIV-1 became infected in both dosing groups versus 86% of untreated mice; however, 0 or 50% of mice became infected with Y181C HIV-1 at days 1 or 7 post-RPV LA dosing, respectively, compared to 63% of untreated mice. In contrast, 88% of untreated and 100% of day 1 post-RPV LA dosing Y181V-challenged mice became infected. A group of mice were challenged with WT HIV-1 at day 7 post-RPV LA dosing to compare efficacy of HIV-1 inhibition via rectal or vaginal challenge. Forty percent of rectally challenged compared to 66% of vaginally challenged mice that received PrEP were infected with WT HIV-1. Population sequencing of plasma vRNA isolated from a subset of mice infected with WT or Y181C HIV-1 did not detect DRMs in RT. We conclude that RPV LA is effective at preventing vaginal transmission of low-level RPVresistant HIV-1 at plasma and mucosal RPV concentrations that are not achieved in humans. In addition, breakthrough infection in the presence of RPV LA does not readily select for resistance mutations.

4.3 INTRODUCTION

An estimated 2.1 million new HIV-1 infections occurred in 2015 (1). In the absence of a vaccine, daily oral PrEP with Truvada, a combination of FDA-approved NRTIs, is shown to be effective at preventing HIV-1 transmission in animal models (315, 316) and human clinical trials (17, 19, 20, 23). Truvada is currently available as PrEP for high-risk individuals in nearly a dozen nations. Microbicide gels and IVRs containing RT inhibitors have also been shown to be effective at inhibiting HIV-1 transmission (18, 336), but are not yet approved by the FDA. Despite significant rates of HIV-1 inhibition in most PrEP trials, lack of adherence is the biggest barrier to PrEP efficacy (14, 15, 18).

To increase adherence to PrEP, the FDA-approved antiretroviral drug RPV was developed into an injectable long-acting nanoparticle formulation, RPV LA (311, 347). RPV is the most potent approved NNRTI and has a favorable safety and tolerability profile that makes it ideal for nanoparticle formulation (311, 312). The long-acting formulation creates a depot of drug at the site of injection and provides sustained systemic release and maintenance of proposed protective RPV concentrations. RPV LA dosing would eliminate the need for daily Truvada pills, reduce lapse in systemic drug concentrations from missed doses, and allow adherence monitoring by healthcare providers. Phase I clinical trials with RPV LA showed that it is safe and tolerable with only mild reported adverse events (338, 340, 348). PK data reveals that a 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA administered monthly should achieve plasma and tissue RPV concentrations estimated to be effective at inhibiting HIV-1 infection for at least one month postdosing (338, 340, 348). A Phase II clinical trial to determine long-term safety and tolerability of RPV LA is currently underway (https://clinicaltrials.gov; NCT02165202).

A concern of using drugs approved for both ART and PrEP (*i.e.* Truvada or potentially RPV) is the potential inability of the PrEP agent to prevent transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1. Subsequently, transmitted drug-resistant virus could reduce ART options in newly infected individuals. For example, RPV is a diarylpyrimidine similar to ETR (286). Because of their similar structures, they select for similar DRMs that confer resistance to both drugs (265, 548). Additionally, all currently approved NNRTIs target the same binding pocket in RT (49, 218, 288, 549); hence, some mutations can confer cross-resistance to all NNRTIs (16, 265). With increases in global availability of ART, there is also a significant increase in drug-resistant HIV-1 transmission, particularly NNRTI resistance (285). It is estimated that prevalence of RPV resistance is as high as 3.6% depending on geographic location, but the frequency of DRMs at amino acid 138 of RT can be as high as 6.1% depending on HIV-1 subtype (310). Increasing DRM prevalence could lead to individuals on PrEP being at higher risk of exposure to drug-resistant HIV-1.

To determine if RPV LA can inhibit transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1, we treated BLT mice with RPV LA and then mucosally challenged them with WT or drug-resistant HIV-1. To determine if there is a threshold for which RPV is still protective against RPV-resistant HIV-1, mice were challenged with HIV-1 containing a low-resistant (Y181C) or high-resistant (Y181V) DRM. We chose Y181C because it is the second most prevalent NNRTI-associated DRM (285), while Y181V is one of the few single DRMs that confer greater than 10-fold resistance to RPV (265). Both mutations are also considered surveillance transmitted DRMs (309). Rectal challenges with WT HIV-1 were also performed to compare the ability of RPV LA to inhibit transmission via different mucosal routes. In addition, the RT region of plasma HIV-1 from mice that became infected was sequenced to determine if DRMs were selected by systemic

RPV after breakthrough infection. Our data indicate that RPV LA inhibits vaginal infection with low-level resistant virus but only at high plasma and tissue RPV concentrations not achieved in humans. Our data also suggest that selection of DRMs is unlikely in the event of breakthrough infection during RPV LA PrEP.

4.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.4.1 Cell lines and RPV

293T, TZM-bl, and GHOST-R3/X4/R5 cells were cultured as described in section 3.4.1. Human PBMCs were isolated from whole blood by density gradient centrifugation using lymphocyte separation media followed by ACK Lysing Buffer incubations and PBS washes to remove red blood cells. PBMCs were stimulated for 48 hours in RPMI 1640 with 10% FBS, 1% P-S-G, 50 U/ml interleukin-2 (IL-2; Roche), and 5 μ g/ml phytohaemagglutinin (Thermo Fisher). After stimulation, PBMCs were washed and cultured in RPMI 1640 with 10% FBS, 1% P-S-G, and 20 U/ml IL-2. All cell lines and cell culture experiments were maintained at 37° C with an atmosphere of 5% CO₂.

RPV was acquired from the NIH AIDS Reagent Program. RPV LA was obtained from Janssen Sciences UC Ireland.

4.4.2 HIV-1 production

HIV-1_{NL4-BAL} is a chimeric CXCR4-tropic virus with a CCR5-tropic envelope gene (550) and will be referred to as HIV-1. The Y181C and Y181V mutations were generated in a full length HIV-1 proviral plasmid using a Q5 site-directed mutagenesis kit. HIV-1 production and virus titer on GHOST-R3/X4/R5 cells were performed as described in section 3.4.2.

4.4.3 RPV susceptibility of WT and drug-resistant HIV-1

Susceptibility of HIV-1 to RPV or RPV LA was tested as described in section 3.4.9 with minor changes. $1x10^4$ TZM-bl cells/well were seeded in 96-well cell culture-treated white plates. The day following seeding, the cells were incubated with virus at a MOI of 0.02 in media with 10% FBS.

4.4.4 HIV-1 replication assay

PBMCs were infected with WT, Y181C, or Y181V HIV-1 at a MOI of 0.01 and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. After the incubation, cells were washed with PBS, resuspended in medium, and incubated at 37°C. Half the media was replaced every 2 days. During media replacement, the removed supernatants were filtered using a 0.45 µm MCE membrane syringe filter (Argos Technologies) and stored at -80°C. HIV-1 capsid protein (p24) in the supernatant samples was measured using the HIV-1 p24 ELISA kit (Xpress Bio).
4.4.5 Animals

Female BLT humanized or NSG mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratory and were housed at the University of Pittsburgh Division of Laboratory Animal Resources. All procedures were performed in accordance with AAALAC and were approved by the University of Pittsburgh IACUC. Humanization of NSG mice was performed as previously described (413). Briefly, NSG mice were irradiated with 200 cGy of ¹³⁷Cs, and fur on the left lateral side was removed the night before surgery. On the day of surgery, mice were anesthetized with 2% isoflurane and injected SC with 5 mg/kg carprofen (Thermo Fischer) and IP with 5 mg/kg ceftiofur (Thermo Fischer). Approximate 1 mm³ pieces of thawed human fetal liver and thymus tissue were implanted under the left kidney capsule of each mouse. Following suturing, the mice were injected IV with approximately 1.5x10⁵ autologous human CD34⁺ cells. At 12 weeks post-surgery, the mice were assessed for human immune reconstitution. To measure the frequency of human immune cells, blood was collected by submandibular bleeding (551) and PBMCs were isolated and stained for live/dead-APC-Cy7 populations (BD Biosciences) anti-human cluster of differentiation 45 (CD45)-PE (Miltenyi), CD3-V450, CD4-PerCP-Cy 5.5, and CD8-FITC (BD Biosciences). Cell populations were analyzed by flow cytometry using the following gating strategies: lymphocytes (side scatter area by forward scatter area) -> single cells (forward scatter height by forward scatter area) -> live/dead (forward scatter area by APC-Cy7) -> human CD45⁺ (forward scatter height by PE) -> human CD45⁺CD3⁺ (PE by V450) -> human CD45⁺CD3⁺CD4⁺ and CD45⁺CD3⁺CD8⁺ (FITC by PerCP-Cy 5.5). Non-transplanted NSG mice were used as controls and demonstrated no staining for human cell markers. The average human CD45⁺ cell reconstitution of mice used in this study was $46.2 \pm 12.3\%$.

To determine the PK of RPV LA in female BLT mice, the drug was administered IM into the left gastrocnemius muscle at 150 mg/kg to 14 mice. Blood samples were collected at 1, 2, 6, 12, 24, 48 hours, and 7 days post-injection. At each time-point, two animals were sacrificed and blood, female genital tract, and rectal tissue were harvested.

To determine RPV LA efficacy to prevent HIV-1 transmission, mice were treated with RPV LA as described above. At days 1 or 7 post-RPV LA dosing, mice were challenged vaginally with 1×10^5 IU of WT, Y181C, or Y181V HIV-1 in <15 µl of PBS. Another cohort was challenged rectally with 1x10⁵ IU of WT HIV-1 at day 7 post-RPV LA dosing. Untreated mice were challenged in the same manner and used as controls. Blood was collected in EDTA-treated tubes (Ram Scientific) by submandibular bleeding, and plasma was separated by centrifugation at 400 x g for 10 min and stored at -80°C until RNA extraction. Mice were considered infected if they had detectable plasma viremia at two time points. PBMCs were isolated from whole blood by two ACK Lysing Buffer incubations and one PBS wash and stored at -80°C. Blood samples were collected weekly for the first 3 weeks post-challenge and then bi-weekly until 10 weeks post-challenge. Due to the frequency of blood collection, mice were injected IP with pre-warmed PBS after each blood sample for fluid replacement, and DietGel 76A (ClearH₂O) was provided to each cage to improve recovery. After 10 weeks, mice were euthanized and brain, lung, liver, spleen, left kidney with thymus organoid, mesenteric LNs, small intestine, female genital tract, and colon tissue were harvested. If possible, tissue samples were collected in triplicate and flash frozen whole, flash frozen in RNAlater (Ambion), or suspended in 10% buffered formalin (Sigma).

4.4.6 PK analysis of RPV LA

RPV concentrations in plasma and tissue were measured as described in section 3.4.5.

4.4.7 Quantitation of plasma HIV-1 RNA

Plasma HIV-1 RNA was isolated as previously described (552) and quantified by the single copy assay (553). Briefly, avian sarcoma-leukosis virus, kindly provided by Stephen Hughes, was spiked into each plasma sample as an internal RNA isolation control and total viral RNA was isolated with guanidinium isothiocyanate and glycogen. cDNA synthesis was performed with random hexamers. Quantitative PCR was performed in duplicate for all samples and standards.

4.4.8 Sequencing of vRNA

Population sequencing of vRNA recovered from plasma of the mice was performed using nested PCR. cDNA was generated from vRNA using the SuperScript III first-strand synthesis kit with random hexamer primers. The cDNA was first amplified using the primers BAL3F (5'-TGTGGAAAGGAAGGACACC-3') and BAL5R (5'-TCACTATTATCTTGTATTACTACTGC-3') with the following reaction conditions: 94°C for 2 min; 40 cycles of 94°C for 15 s, 49°C for 30 s, and 68°C for 3 min; and 1 cycle of 68°C for 5 min. The second round of PCR amplification was performed using primers LAI-RT-F (5'-TTTGCCAGGAAGATGGAAAC-3') and LAI-RT-R (5'-TCACTAGCCATTGCTCTCCA-3') with the following reaction conditions: 94°C for 30 s, with +0.5°C increments per cycle, and 72°C for 2 min; 15 cycles of 94°C for 15 s, 52°C for 30 s,

and 72°C for 2 min; and 1 cycle of 72°C for 5 min. The Platinum Taq DNA polymerase highfidelity kit was used for both rounds of PCR. PCR products were purified with the Wizard SV gel and PCR cleanup system. The full RT coding region was sequenced using primers LAI-RT-F, 200F (5'-GTAGGATCTGACTTAGAAA-3'), 350F (5'-CAGGAAAATATGCAAGAATG-3'), and LAI-RT-R. Sequences were assembled and analyzed using Sequencher (Gene Codes Corporation) and Lasergene (DNASTAR).

Single-genome sequencing was performed as previously described (554).

4.4.9 Statistical analyses

Fischer's exact test was used to test for efficacy to prevent HIV-1 infection between untreated and RPV LA-treated groups challenged with the same virus. Two-sided log-rank test was conducted to determine differences in time to vRNA detection in plasma samples. Mann-Whitney test was used to analyze differences in plasma viremia. A p value of ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant for all tests.

4.5 **RESULTS**

4.5.1 In vitro RPV susceptibility and replication of WT and mutant HIV-1

Mutations at amino acid position 181 in RT have been shown to confer resistance to RPV (265). Site-directed mutagenesis was used to introduce the Y181C ($TAT \rightarrow TGT$) or Y181V ($TAT \rightarrow GTT$) mutations into the HIV-1 proviral plasmid. To confirm resistance of Y181C/V HIV-1,

susceptibility of the WT and mutant viruses to RPV was determined in a single-cycle replication assay. The EC₅₀ values of RPV to WT, Y181C, and Y181V HIV-1 were 0.6, 1.2, and 16.4 nM, respectively (Figure 8A). This translated to 2- and 27-fold resistance conferred by Y181C and Y181V mutations, respectively. The fold-change in EC₅₀ for Y181C HIV-1 was consistent with previous reports (265, 543), but the EC₅₀ for Y181V HIV-1 was twice as high (265). Nonetheless, Y181C and Y181V displayed the desired low- and high-level resistance to RPV.





TZM-bl cells were cultured in the presence of HIV-1 and serial dilutions of powder RPV or RPV LA. Luciferase production was used as a measure of the efficacy of drugs to prevent infection. Results are normalized to luciferase production in cells infected with HIV-1, but not treated with RPV. Susceptibility of WT, Y181C, and Y181V HIV-1 to powder RPV was determined and the results are representative of 3 independent experiments each performed in triplicate (A). The potency of RPV LA to inhibit WT HIV-1 infection was compared to powder RPV (B). Error bars represent standard deviation of experimental triplicates.

To confirm potency of our RPV LA stock, WT HIV-1 susceptibility to reconstituted powder RPV (used above) and RPV LA was directly compared (Figure 8B). Both powder RPV and RPV LA showed similar levels of potency to inhibit WT HIV-1 at 0.6 and 0.4 nM, respectively. Thus, our stock of RPV LA should be potent enough to inhibit HIV-1 transmission. Replication of WT, Y181C, and Y181V HIV-1 was determined in activated human PBMCs *in vitro*. Both mutants had 5-fold or less p24 production at all time points and similar replication kinetics compare to WT HIV-1 (Figure 9). Our results for Y181C virus replication capacity are similar to a slight replication deficiency relative to WT HIV-1 reported in a transformed T lymphocyte cell line (555). Reports directly comparing WT and Y181V HIV-1 replication have not been published. Our *in vitro* data show that our challenge viruses are susceptible to RPV, infectious, and replication competent in primary human cells.



Figure 9. *In vitro* replication kinetics of WT, Y181C, and Y181V HIV-1 in primary human cells.

Human PBMCs were infected with WT, Y181C, or Y181I HIV-1 at a MOI of 0.02. Culture supernatant was measured for virus p24 as a marker for virus production.

4.5.2 Plasma and mucosal tissue PK of RPV LA after a single dose

To assess the PK of RPV, drug concentrations were measured in plasma, female genital tract, and rectal tissues of female BLT mice administered a 150 mg/kg dose of RPV LA (Figure 10). The only side effect noticed was limping directly after the injection. Plasma RPV peaked in the plasma at a mean concentration of 2,277 ng/ml three hours post-injection and declined to a mean

concentration of 130 ng/ml by seven days. The RPV concentrations in female BLT mice at day 7 post-dosing are consistent with peak concentrations reported in human women given a single 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA (338, 340). Mean drug concentrations in female genital tract tissue peaked at 653 ng/ml at 12 hours and declined to a mean of 93 ng/ml at day 7, which is 50% higher than RPV concentrations in women 28 days after a single 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA (338). Concentrations of RPV in rectal tissue varied, likely from the presence of fecal matter in the samples. The mean RPV concentration in rectal tissue at day 7 post-dosing was 37 ng/ml, which is half of the concentration reported in men 14 days after being given a 600 mg dose of RPV LA (338). Mean RPV concentrations measured in the mice were 3- to 11-fold higher than the PAEC₉₀ of 12.1 ng/ml reported by Jackson *et al.* (338). Thus, biologically relevant plasma and mucosal tissue concentrations of RPV were achieved in BLT mice at day 7 post-dosing.





Female BLT mice were administered a single 150 mg/kg IM dose of RPV LA. RPV concentrations were measured in plasma, female genital tract, and rectal tissues at 1, 3, 6, 12, 24, and 48 hours and 7 days post-dosing. The dashed line represents the PAEC₉₀ of 12.1 ng/ml, which is the theoretical protection limit of RPV.

4.5.3 Inhibition of HIV-1 vaginal transmission after RPV LA PrEP

To determine the efficacy of RPV LA to inhibit vaginal transmission of HIV-1, control and treated BLT mice were challenged with WT virus one week after receiving RPV LA. Six of 7 (85.7%) and 4/6 (66.7%) mice became infected in the untreated and RPV LA-treated groups, respectively (Table 10). Due to the lack of protection at day 7 post-RPV LA dosing, we hypothesized that the drug concentrations may have been too low to be effective. Thus, we chose to challenge animals when RPV was at higher concentrations. An additional group of animals was challenged with WT HIV-1 at day 1 post-RPV LA dosing when plasma and vaginal drug concentrations were 7- and 9-fold higher, respectively. Again, 4/6 (66.7%) treated mice became infected with WT HIV-1 (Table 10). There was no significant difference in number of infected animals between treated and untreated groups despite RPV concentrations (p = 0.559).

We also hypothesized that the different concentrations of RPV would affect HIV-1 detection and plasma viremia. Regardless of RPV concentrations at time of challenge, there was no significant delay in time to detect infection between untreated and mice challenged at days 1 (p = 0.188) or 7 after RPV LA dosing (p = 0.144) (Figure 11A). One animal challenged with WT HIV-1 had a blip in plasma viremia that approached 1x10³ vRNA copies/ml at week 7 post-challenge but was below the limit of detection at subsequent time points and was considered uninfected. Furthermore, plasma viremia was undetectable for two mice infected with WT HIV-1 at day 1 post-RPV LA dosing until week 7 post-challenge (Figure 11A). At week 5 post-challenge, the delay in detectable plasma viremia between untreated and day 1 post-RPV LA-treated groups approached significance (p = 0.076). Infected animals in both groups of RPV LA-treated mice had lower mean plasma viremia than untreated mice until week 5 post-challenge (Figure 12A), suggesting a transient suppressive effect on HIV-1 replication by RPV. Overall

plasma viremia levels were similar between the treated groups, indicating no advantage in virus suppression at higher concentrations of RPV. Plasma viremia levels in both RPV LA groups were not statistically different from untreated mice.

Virus	Treatment ^a	Challenge route	Infected	p value ^b
WT	No Drug	vaginal	6/7	-
	RPV LA D1	vaginal	4/6 [°]	0.559
	RPV LA D7	vaginal	4/6	0.559
Y181C	No Drug	vaginal	5/8	-
	RPV LA D1	vaginal	0/6	0.031
	RPV LA D7	vaginal	3/6 ^d	0.999
Y181V	No Drug	vaginal	7/8	_
1101 (RPV LA D1	vaginal	6/6	0.999
WT	No Drug	rectal	4/6	-
	RPV LA D7	rectal	2/5	0.567

Table 10. Outcome of BLT mice treated with RPV LA and challenged with WT or drugresistant HIV-1

^a D1 and D7 represent days after RPV injection that mice were challenged with HIV-1.

^b Results of Fischer's Exact Test for difference between No Drug and treatment groups of same virus and challenge route.

^c A mouse in this group had detectable plasma viremia at one week and is considered uninfected.

^d A mouse in this group had detectable plasma viremia but died before confirmation with a second sample and is considered uninfected.

Similar to mice challenged with WT HIV-1, there was no significant difference between the numbers of infected mice in the untreated and day 7 post-RPV LA-treated groups (p = 0.999) challenged with Y181C HIV-1 (Table 10). Five of 8 (62.5%) and 3/6 (50%) animals were infected in the untreated and treated groups, respectively. One mouse in the treated group had detectable plasma viremia at week 7 post-challenge, but died before infection could be confirmed with a follow-up sample and was considered uninfected. Time to detection of HIV-1 was not significantly different between these groups (p = 0.509) (Figure 11B), nor was the difference in mean plasma viremia levels (p = 0.073) (Figure 12B). The treated group had similar but lower mean plasma viremia kinetics than untreated mice for the entirety of the study. However, all mice challenged at day 1 post-RPV LA-dosing were protected from Y181C HIV-1 transmission (p = 0.031) (Figure 11B), demonstrating that RPV LA can inhibit vaginal transmission of a low-level RPV-resistant virus.



Figure 11. Time to detection of HIV-1 infection in BLT mice.

Kaplan-Meier plots display the number of BLT mice considered uninfected by HIV-1 at each week post-challenge as measured by qPCR (limit of detection of 400 vRNA copies/ml). Mice in each group were vaginally challenged (A-C) with 1×10^5 IU of WT (A, black), Y181C (B, red), or Y181V (C, purple) HIV-1 at 1 or 7 days post-RPV LA dosing. Another group of mice was rectally challenged (D) with 1×10^5 IU of WT (D, green) HIV-1. The number of mice per group is shown in parentheses.

As higher resistance is conferred by Y181V, only mice treated with RPV LA one day before virus inoculation were challenged with Y181V HIV-1. Infection rates were nearly identical in untreated and treated groups with 7/8 (87.5%) and 6/6 (100%) mice infected with Y181V HIV-1, respectively. The difference in numbers of infected animals was not significant (p = 0.999) (Table 10). Similar to the other HIV-1 clones, there was not a significant difference in time to detect infection (p = 0.361) (Figure 11C). Unlike the mice infected by WT and Y181C viruses, mice infected with Y181V HIV-1 had nearly identical mean plasma viremia levels at all time points (Figure 12C), suggesting that RPV LA had no effect on Y181V HIV-1 transmission or replication post-infection.



Figure 12. Plasma viremia in BLT mice infected with HIV-1.

Average and standard error mean of plasma viremia in untreated and RPV LA-treated BLT mice infected vaginally with WT (A, black), Y181C (B, red), or Y181V (C, purple) HIV-1 or infected rectally with WT (D, green) HIV-1. The black long-dash line represents the assay limit of detection (400 RNA copies/ml).

4.5.4 Rectal WT HIV-1 challenge of RPV LA-treated mice

A recent study reported that less RPV is required to inhibit HIV-1 infection of human colonic tissues compared to ectocervical explant tissues (349). Additional explant studies concluded that rectal tissues sampled from RPV LA-treated humans (600 or 1,200 mg doses) are protected from ex vivo HIV-1 infection if tissue RPV concentrations were ≥ 91 ng/ml, but protective values for cervical and vaginal tissues could not be calculated (348). To determine if less RPV LA is required to inhibit rectal HIV-1 transmission, BLT mice were rectally challenged with WT HIV-1 at day 7 post-RPV LA dosing. Two of 5 (40%) mice receiving RPV LA became infected with WT HIV-1, while 4/6 (66%) of the untreated animals became infected (Table 10). This difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.567), nor was there significant difference in time to detect HIV-1 between untreated and treated groups (p = 0.201) (Figure 11D). Similar to vaginal infections, the plasma viral load was initially transiently lower in the animals infected by rectal challenge; however, the mean plasma viremia was higher for untreated mice infected rectally compared to untreated mice infected vaginally (Figure 12A, D). Mean plasma viremia in the day 7 post-RPV LA rectal and day 1 post-RPV LA vaginal groups were nearly identical through week 9 post-challenge (Figure 12A, D). This result suggests that less RPV is required in rectal tissue to achieve the same effect in vaginal tissue, similar to results in Dezzutti et al. (349).

4.5.5 Sequencing for detection of RPV resistance mutations in treated mice

HIV-1 infection in people treated with a single antiretroviral drug can rapidly select DRMs (268-270), which was also observed in one participant in a RPV LA clinical trial (351). To determine if HIV-1 in PrEP-treated mice developed RPV-associated DRMs, virus isolated from the final plasma sample from a subset of mice infected with WT or Y181C HIV-1 was sequenced. In the absence of RPV, no mutations were selected in WT virus, and Y181C was preserved (Table 11). In the presence of RPV, no DRMs were detected in RPV LA-treated mice infected with WT (n = 2), and Y181C (n = 3) was preserved with no additional DRMs. One silent base change and one codon change (G550K) in the RNaseH domain was detected in all sequences regardless of treatment or challenge virus (data not shown). G550K is not associated with resistance and is the consensus amino acid at this position according to the HIV Drug Resistance Database (266), thus G550K likely improves replication of our HIV-1 clone *in vivo*.

					0
Challenge	Animal	Treatment ^a	Challenge	Weeks post-	Sequence ^b
virus			route	challenge	1
WT	448-004	No Drug	vaginal	10	WT
	943-005	No Drug	vaginal	10	WT
	943-004	RPV LA D7	vaginal	7	WT
	912-014	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	A304V
Y181C	448-024	No Drug	vaginal	10	Y181C
	912-007	No Drug	vaginal	10	Y181C
	943-003	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	E6K, Y181C
	912-009	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	Y181C
	912-017	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	Y181C

Table 11. Sequences of the RT coding region in untreated and RPV LA-treated mice infected with WT or Y181C HIV-1 as performed by population sequencing

^a Mice were either untreated or received RPV LA 7 days pre-challenge.

^b Results represent the full RT coding region from the HIV-1 plasma population.

Because population-based sequencing detects mutations at a prevalence >20% of the population, we also performed single-genome sequencing on mice infected after treatment to detect mutations at a frequency of 2%. Of the 23 plasma samples subjected to single-genome sequencing, DRMs were detected in 11 of the animals within the first 277 bases of RT (Table 12). DRMs were detected in 2/5 (40%) of animals that did not receive RPV LA and 9/18 (50%) of animals that were treated. DRMs were not prevalent in more than 10% of the genomes

isolated per animal, thus population sequencing would have missed these mutations. We detected the NNRTI-associated resistance mutations K101E (linked to E138K in one animal), E138K/Q, Y188H, H221Y, P225H, and the NRTI-associated mutations L74V (linked to E138K in one animal) and M184I/V. The most prevalent DRM was the RPV-associated mutation E138K, which was detected in 2-9.5% of samples in 6 animals. H221Y was the only other mutation identified in more than one animal. Of note, the Y181C/V mutations remained constant as seen for Y181C with population sequencing. Only a single genome in two animals infected with Y181C HIV-1 displayed a reversion to Y181.

Samples from 8 animals were subjected to both sequencing methods. The A304V and E6K mutations identified by population sequencing (Table 11) in animals 912-014 and 943-003 were not found in any of the single genomes. This discrepancy may be attributed to differences in PCR or sequencing reaction conditions. Conversely, animals 943-004, 448-024, and 912-017 had one DRM in at least one sequence (Table 12), which were not detected by population sequencing.

Challenge	Animal	Treatment ^a	Challenge	Weeks post-	DRMs
virus			route	challenge	(% of sequences) ^b
WT	448-004	No Drug	vaginal	14	n/a
	255-002	RPV LA D1	vaginal	10	n/a
	255-007	RPV LA D1	vaginal	10	n/a
	255-022	RPV LA D1	vaginal	10	H221Y (2.1)
	255-044	RPV LA D1	vaginal	8	E138K (6.4)
					K101E/E138K (2.1)
	912-008	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	n/a
	912-014	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	n/a
	943-004	RPV LA D7	vaginal	7	E138Q (2.2)
	255-012	RPV LA D7	rectal	10	n/a
	255-017	RPV LA D7	rectal	10	E138K (2.3)
					M184V (2.3)
Y181C	448-024	No Drug	vaginal	14	H221Y (2.2)
	912-007	No Drug	vaginal	10	n/a
	912-009	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	n/a
	912-017	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	M184I (4.3)
	943-003	RPV LA D7	vaginal	10	n/a
V191V	255 021	No Drug	vaginal	10	$E_{128}V(24)$
1101 V	255-051	No Diug	vagillal	10	$L_{130K}(2.4)$ L 74W/E129K (4.5)
					$L/4 \sqrt{E130K} (4.3)$ L 114V/E138V/C106D (2.4)
	0/2 021	No Drug	voginal	10	$L114 \sqrt{L130 K}/0190 K (2.4)$
	945-021 255-006	DDU LA D1	vaginal	10	1/a V188U (2.2)
	255-000	REV LA DI	vaginal	J 10	$\frac{110011}{2.2}$
	255-015	RIVLADI DDVLAD1	vaginal	10	$E_{1/2}^{II/a}$
	255-025	REV LA DI	vaginal	10	E130R/0133E(2.2) E139K(2.2)
	255-058	KPV LA DI	vagillal	10	E130R(2.3)
	255 045		vaginal	10	F 22311 (2.3) E29 $V/E129V (2.2)$
	233-043	Kr v LA DI	vagillai	10	E20N/E130N (2.3) E138K/D237N/D250N (2.3)
	255-056	RPV I A D1	vaginal	10	n/a
	235-030		vaginai	10	11/ u

Table 12. Detection of DRMs by single-genome sequencing in HIV-1 isolated from plasma of BLT mice

^a Mice were either untreated or received RPV LA at 1 or 7 days pre-challenge. ^b Results represent amino acid positions 1-277 of RT

4.6 **DISCUSSION**

Because of its safety, potency, and sustained drug release, RPV LA is under consideration as potential PrEP to inhibit HIV-1 infection; however, the global presence of NNRTI-resistant HIV-1 calls into question the utility of RPV LA PrEP to prevent transmission of virus with DRMs. High plasma concentrations of RPV LA were previously shown to inhibit vaginal transmission of WT HIV-1 clones in a BLT mouse model (501), but inhibition of WT and drug-resistant HIV-1 infection at biologically relevant concentrations of RPV has not been tested. Thus, BLT mice were treated with RPV LA and challenged with WT HIV-1 or clones with a single DRM that conferred low- (Y181C) or high-levels (Y181V) of RPV resistance. The primary goal of this work was to determine if RPV LA could inhibit mucosal transmission of WT and drug-resistant HIV-1. Secondarily, if RPV LA failed to prevent HIV-1 transmission, we also wanted to determine if breakthrough infection selects for drug resistance.

We found that RPV LA at plasma and mucosal tissue concentrations comparable to values reported in humans did not significantly inhibit vaginal transmission of either WT or Y181C HIV-1. As we had determined our stock of RPV LA to be effective, the lack of protection was attributed to inadequate RPV concentrations *in vivo*. Therefore, we performed a second round of vaginal challenges when RPV concentrations were approximately 8-fold higher in plasma and vaginal tissues and similar to plasma concentrations reported in a study that reported protection in RPV LA-treated mice challenged with transmitted/founder infectious molecular clones of HIV-1 (501). We found that the higher RPV concentrations did not significantly protect mice from a WT HIV-1 clone with robust replication, thus future experiments with clinical transmission/founder HIV-1 are planned. While our clone may be too robust for this model and clinical isolates are representative of actual circulating HIV-1,

sequence variability would introduce a confounding factor and would not allow a direct comparison of infection and prophylaxis between WT HIV-1 and clones with a single DRM.

Despite a lack of significant inhibition of WT HIV-1 transmission, mice challenged with Y181C HIV-1 were fully protected from infection at high RPV concentrations. This result shows that RPV LA can be protective in the event of drug-resistant HIV-1 exposure; however, our results also indicate that biologically relevant concentrations of RPV reported in humans (338) and recapitulated in our mice do not appear to be sufficiently protective. Like all NNRTIS, RPV binds highly to serum proteins (265, 556), and there is not a method of easily differentiating between protein-bound and free active RPV. Thus, the higher RPV concentrations for the mice challenged at day 1 post-RPV LA dosing may have provided enough free drug to inhibit Y181C HIV-1 and compensate for resistance provided by the mutation. While the 12.1 ng/ml PAEC₉₀ may be the protective threshold, current methods of RPV detection likely underestimate the concentration of active drug. Thus, higher RPV LA doses may be necessary to provide inhibitive concentrations; however, the feasibility and toxicity of such doses should be studied.

However, it could be argued the inhibition of Y181C HIV-1 at higher RPV concentrations could be attributed to viral fitness. Macaque studies have shown that infection rates by TFV- (K65R) or FTC-resistant (M1814V) SHIV clones are lower than WT SHIV in the presence of Truvada PrEP due to reduced fitness and not necessarily the presence of drug (440, 492). A reduction in mucosal transmission of K65R HIV-1 was also reported in humanized mice (509). However, results from our *in vitro* replication kinetics assay and a previous study (555) show that Y181C does not confer a substantial replication defect to HIV-1 when compared to WT virus. Also, similar numbers of untreated and sub-optimally treated animals were infected with our stock of virus; therefore, we credit the lack of Y181C HIV-1 infection to RPV activity.

While Y181C HIV-1 transmission was fully inhibited by RPV LA, the opposite was noted for Y181V HIV-1, which was expected given the level of resistance provided by the mutation (~30-fold). The lack of substantial difference in viral replication between WT and Y181V HIV-1, and its ability to break through RPV LA PrEP suggests that Y181V could be of greater clinical concern because its prevalence could increase if RPV LA is approved for PrEP. Y181V is already detected in treatment-experienced populations (557, 558) and is considered a surveillance transmitted DRM (309); thus, RPV LA users could be exposed to HIV-1 with the mutation and potentially become infected due to lack of prophylactic efficacy. Theoretically there is a concentration of RPV that should inhibit Y181V HIV-1 transmission, but the concentration of such a dose may not be tolerable or achievable *in vivo*.

Although we did not observe significant inhibition of WT HIV-1 transmission in RPV LA-treated animals, the time to HIV-1 detection results are interesting in regard to virus replication and resistance selection. While the same numbers of mice were infected in both RPV LA-treated groups challenged with WT HIV-1 (days 1 or 7 post-RPV LA), detection of HIV-1 was delayed until week 7 post-challenge in two mice challenged at day 1 after RPV LA dosing. This was also observed in one Y181C animal challenged at day 7 post-RPV LA injection. Therefore, RPV LA likely provided a therapeutic advantage by suppressing systemic viremia below the limit of detection for a sustained amount of time. We postulate that RPV waned after week 5 post-challenge to a concentration below which virus replication was no longer inhibited in the vaginal tissue. It is possible that a more sensitive vRNA detection method could have uncovered infection sooner, but the limitation in blood draw volumes in mice does not allow for high sensitivity of vRNA detection and greater sampling frequency. Nonetheless, our results raise the following questions: would WT HIV-1-infected animals maintain undetectable levels of plasma viremia over the course of monthly RPV LA doses, or would low-level undetectable replication eventually select for drug-resistant variants? While we did not detect any DRMs by population sequencing in a subset of animals infected with WT or Y181C virus at 7 days post-RPV LA dosing, single-genome sequencing of a broader subset of infected mice revealed the selection of DRMs in nearly half the animals, albeit at <10% of the individual virus populations. Interestingly, DRMs not associated with RPV were selected, thus displaying how stochastic the HIV-1 mutation process can be. These results recapitulate the sequencing results seen in our macaques given RPV LA monotherapy (Chapter 3); however, sequencing of other time points could be performed to determine the stability of the DRMs and if RPV truly selects for resistance or if the detected DRMs were transient random events from mutational bias or hypermutations (546, 547). The idea of a "smoldering" HIV-1 infection presents the opportunity to use reporter viruses and visual techniques, such as *in vivo* bioluminescence or immunofluorescence assays, to identify sanctuary sites where virus replication occurs despite systemic drug concentrations. We could then study drug penetration at sanctuary sites through PK analysis and track HIV-1 evolution under near-suppressive drug pressure using sensitive sequencing techniques. Such studies could reveal areas of improvement for RPV LA dosing and better identify the circumstances of DRM evolution.

While the majority of new HIV-1 infections occur through vaginal exposure, rectal tissue is also a significant route of transmission (10). RPV LA is shown to penetrate both tissue compartments and concentrate to levels that should be protective (338, 348). However, human explant models indicate that there is a difference in RPV protection between the two mucosal tissue compartments, which is likely due to differences in RPV penetration (348, 349). Our results were unclear due to statistical power, but they suggest that RPV LA may be more effective at inhibiting HIV-1 transmission in rectal rather than vaginal tissue. Through week 5 post-challenge, the numbers of infected animals were similar between vaginally and rectally challenged groups at days 1 and 7 post-RPV LA injection, respectively. Had the number of infected animals remained the same through the end of the study, our data would have mirrored those of Dezzutti *et al.* where higher RPV concentrations would be required to be equally protective in ectocervical tissue as colonic tissue (349). Elucidating the difference in the ability of RPV LA to inhibit HIV-1 transmission by mucosal compartment will be important as RPV LA trials are currently focused on women at risk of vaginal infection; whereas, our results and published explant data indicate that RPV LA may be more suitable for populations at risk of rectal infection.

In conclusion, our data suggest that RPV LA at biologically relevant concentrations reported in humans is ineffective at significantly inhibiting vaginal transmission of WT or drug-resistant HIV-1. However, we do show that RPV LA can inhibit vaginal transmission of HIV-1 with a low-level RPV resistance mutation at plasma and tissue concentrations nearly 1-log higher than those reported in humans. We also showed that virus with high RPV resistance can be transmitted in the presence of high concentrations of RPV, which may not be achievable or sustained *in vivo*. Thus, we conclude that the level of resistance conferred by a mutation can affect PrEP efficacy. Our data also support that selection of DRMs after breakthrough infection during RPV LA PrEP may be difficult as RPV-associated DRMs were selected but only in a small number of animals and at low prevalence. Overall, our study raises more questions with RPV LA that should be addressed to better understand the effect of HIV-1 resistance on the PrEP strategy. Also, careful consideration, specifically in regard to dosing, should be made before moving RPV LA into Phase III clinical trials to test the efficacy of this PrEP modality.

5.0 AIM 3: A RILPIVIRINE ANALOG SELECTS FOR A NOVEL COMBINATION OF DRUG-RESISTANT MUTATIONS IN HIV-1 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE

Kevin Melody¹, Christopher Kline², Barry C. Johnson³, Steven J. Smith³, Paul L. Boyer³, Stephen Hughes³, Zandrea Ambrose^{1, 2}

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, Graduate School of Public Health, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA; ²Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, Pittsburgh, PA; ³HIV Drug Resistance Program, National Cancer Institute, Frederick, MD

5.1 **PREFACE**

Results from this research were presented as a poster titled "*In vitro* HIV-1 infection in the presence of a rilpivirine analog selects for a novel combination resistance mutation" at the 2015 Palm Springs Symposium on HIV/AIDS in Palm Springs, California.

Results from this work were included in two publications:

Our results were included in two publications:

1) Smith SJ, Pauly GT, Akram A, Melody K, Ambrose Z, Schneider JP, Hughes SH. 2016. Rilpivirine and doravirine have complementary efficacies against NNRTI-resistant HIV-1 mutants. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 72: 485-491.

2) Smith SJ, Pauly GT, Akram A, Melody K, Rai G, Maloney DJ, Ambrose Z, Thomas CJ, Schneider JT, Hughes SH. 2016. Rilpivirine analogs potently inhibit drug-resistant HIV-1 mutants. *Retrovirology* 13: 11.

The work presented in this chapter is for completion of Aim 3 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. Kevin Melody performed all work reported in this chapter.

5.2 ABSTRACT

Analogs of the FDA-approved NNRTI RPV were designed to preserve the potency and tolerability of RPV and broaden efficacy against drug-resistant HIV-1. Three analogs, 7, 11, and 13, showed similar in vitro efficacy against a panel of NNRTI-resistant HIV-1 isolates and were chosen for resistance selection to understand the mechanisms of HIV-1 antiretroviral activity. Resistance selection was conducted by passaging HIV-1-infected cells in increasing concentrations of the compounds. The RT coding region of virus isolated from culture supernatants was sequenced and analyzed for mutations that could confer drug resistance. Compounds 7 and 11 selected for known RPV-associated resistance mutations K101E, E138K, Y181C, or M230I in single clones, which showed similar resistance phenotypes to the analogs as to RPV. However, compound 13 consistently selected a combination of two mutations in RT: G112D and M230I. Virus with either G112D or M230I alone conferred resistance to the NRTI FTC or all NNRTIs, respectively. Together, G112D and M230I conferred a >2-fold decrease in NNRTI susceptibility beyond that conferred by M230I alone, but the presence of M230I abrogated FTC resistance of G112D and caused hypersusceptibility to three NRTIs and a pyrophosphate analog. Replication assays revealed that G112D/M230I virus has better replication kinetics than virus with either single mutation, yet all three mutants displayed decreased replication capacity compared to WT HIV-1. Our data suggests that RPV analog 13 selects a combination of mutations through a novel mechanism of action. RT polymerization assays and modeling of drug binding is underway to confirm the results of our drug susceptibility assays and to better understand the resistance conferred by G112D, M230I, and G112D/M230I.

5.3 INTRODUCTION

Due to lack of fidelity by RT during reverse transcription (239, 240) and a high replication rate (263), HIV-1 evolves frequent mutations. These mutations can lead to the selection of isolates with DRMs that are not fully suppressed by therapeutic agents (264). Thus, the evolution of drug-resistant HIV-1 necessitates adjusting ART regimens to maintain viremia suppression in HIV-1⁺ individuals. Some DRMs can confer cross-resistance to all drugs of the same class (16). Consequently, evolution of cross-resistant DRMs could eliminate the use of an entire antiretroviral drug class, thus limiting alternative ART regimens in HIV-1⁺ individuals.

Due to increasing prevalence of HIV-1 drug resistance (285), new antiretroviral drugs effective against viruses with known DRMs are needed. RPV is a diarylpyrimidine NNRTI that possesses flexible arms, which allows it to better conform to changes in RT structure and maintain efficacy against common DRMs associated with more rigid NNRTIs (265, 286, 288). In in vitro studies, RPV was shown to have a higher genetic barrier to resistance than the NNRTIS EFV and NVP (265). While the use of EFV and NVP is often abrogated by a single nonsynonymous base change that leads to high levels of resistance, RPV-associated mutations with single base changes confer low-level reductions in susceptibility (<4-fold change). High-level resistance (>10-fold change) is conferred by 2 base changes in a single codon (e.g., Y181I/V) or multiple amino acid mutations (e.g., K103N/Y181I) (265, 303). Compared to EFV, RPV was shown in two phase III clinical trials to have similar efficacy, better tolerability, and selection of different DRMs (292). Participants who failed treatment predominantly selected for the DRMs K103N or E138K in the EFV or RPV arms, respectively (306). Efficacy against common NNRTI-resistant mutations, a higher genetic barrier to resistance, and a favorable safety profile makes RPV an attractive NNRTI; however, the mechanism of action of RPV to prevent HIV-1

replication is similar to all approved NNRTIs, and cross-resistant DRMs exist that would negate the use of this drug class (49, 218, 265, 288)

To address cross-resistance in NNRTIs, analogs of RPV with changes to the pyrimidine and 4-amino-benzonitrile moieties were developed to maintain the potency and safety of RPV while potentially altering the mechanism of action (543). The acrylonitrile ring moiety was left unchanged because it is essential for RPV function as it binds a hydrophobic pocket in RT (286, 288, 289). Of 22 analogs tested, three compounds displayed similar therapeutic indices and antiretroviral efficacies as RPV in a panel of HIV-1 with mutations in RT including L100I, K103N, V106A, E138K, Y181C, Y188L, H221Y, and K103N/Y181C (543). It is possible that the modifications made in these analogs result in new mechanisms of action that would select for novel resistance mutations. If this is the case, these analogs could reveal new virus-drug interactions that could enhance our understanding of HIV-1 biology and lead to development of new RT inhibitors for use in ART or PrEP. The goal of this work was to investigate the genotypic and phenotypic resistance profiles of a subset of these RPV analogs: 7, 11, and 13 (Figure 13). By determining the resistance profile of these compounds, we can infer their mechanisms of HIV-1 inhibition. We hypothesized that the analogs would select for DRMs that would not display cross-resistance to other NNRTIs.



Figure 13. Chemical structures of RPV and analogs 7, 11, and 13.

5.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.4.1 Cell lines and compounds

293T, TZM-bl, and GHOST-R3/X4/R5 were maintained as described in section 3.41. HuT-R5 (559) cells were grown in RPMI 1640 media (Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, 0.292 mg/ml L-glutamine, 500 μ g/ml G418, and 0.5 μ g/ml puromycin. All cell lines and cell culture experiments were maintained at 37° C with an atmosphere of 5% CO₂.

RPV and RPV analogs 7, 11, and 13 were kindly provided by Steve Hughes (543). NVP, EFV, ETR, ddI, FTC, TFV, and AZT were obtained from the AIDS Reagent Program, Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, NIH. Foscarnet (PFA) was a kind gift provided by Dr. John Mellors.

5.4.2 HIV-1 production

 $HIV-1_{xxLAI}$, a $HIV-1_{LAI}$ clone with silent restriction sites within RT (534), was used in all cell culture assays and will hereafter be referred to as HIV-1. RT mutations were made in the proviral plasmid using the QuikChange II XL site-directed mutagenesis kit (Agilent Technologies). Viruses were generated by transfection of 293T cells and titered on GHOST-R3/X4/R5 cells as described in section 3.4.2.

5.4.3 Selection of HIV-1 resistance mutations with RT inhibitors

HuT-R5 cells were infected with HIV-1 at a MOI of 0.05 for 2 hours at 37° C. After virus exposure, cells were cultured in media containing inhibitors at a concentration 4-fold above the reported EC_{50} (543). Cell cultures were split every 2-3 days until CPE was noted. After observation of CPE, aliquots of cell-free supernatant were harvested and stored at -80° C and drug concentrations in the cultures were increased 2-fold.

vRNA was isolated from cell-free supernatants with the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). cDNA was generated from recovered vRNA using the SuperScript III First-Strand Synthesis kit using random hexamer primers (Invitrogen). vDNA was isolated from supernatant-free infected cells by the QiAmp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen). The RT coding region was amplified using Platinum PCR Supermix (Invitrogen) with primers LAI-RTF (5'-TTTGCCAGGAAGATGGAAAC-3') and LAI-R (5'-TCACTAGCCATTGCTCTCCA-3'). PCR reaction conditions were 94° C for 2 min; 35 cycles of 94° C for 30 s, 52° C for 30 s, 72° C for 2 m; and one cycle at 72° C for 5 min. Amplified PCR products were cloned into TOPO vectors using a pCR 2.1-TOPO TA Cloning kit (Invitrogen). Bacteria colonies were screened for fulllength RT insertion by PCR with the aforementioned primers and reaction conditions. Colonies positive for RT were cultured overnight at 37°C in Luria-Bertani broth (Mo Bio Laboratories, Inc.) supplemented with 50 µg/ml carbenicillin (Thermo Fischer Scientific). Plasmid was recovered using the QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen) and sequenced using primers LAI-RT-F, 200F, and 350F. Sequences were analyzed using Lasergene (DNASTAR).

5.4.4 Drug susceptibility assays

Susceptibility to RPV analogs, NNRTIs, NRTIs, and a pyrophosphate analog were performed as described in section 4.4.3.

5.4.5 HIV-1 replication assay

Virus replication was measured as described in 4.4.4 with the use of HuT-R5 cells and not PBMCs. A Retrotek HIV-1 p24 antigen ELISA kit (ZeptoMetrix) was used for the data displayed in Figure 15.

5.5 **RESULTS**

5.5.1 Selection of DRMs in HIV-1 by RPV and compounds 7 and 11

To select mutations in HIV-1 that confer resistance to the RPV analogs, HuT-R5 cells were infected with WT HIV-1 and passaged in increasing concentrations of RPV or analogs until viral replication was similar in the absence of drug. The RT coding region of vRNA isolated from culture supernatants was amplified by PCR, cloned, and sequenced. After each concentration change, RPV and compounds 7 and 11 displayed similar CPE patterns of large syncytia and substantial cell death and were increased gradually to concentrations 128-fold above their respective EC_{50} values until virus replication was robust within 60 days post-infection (Figure 14A). Sequencing of RT clones from RPV, compound 7, and compound 11 cultures revealed the

selection of RPV-associated mutations at \geq 64-fold the starting EC₅₀ values (Table 12). K101E was detected in 43% of clones isolated from the RPV culture, and this mutation is a known RPV-associated DRM (16, 265, 306). Like RPV, compound 7 selected K101E, albeit in 100% of clones (Table 12).



Figure 14. Increase in RT inhibitor concentrations during HIV-1 resistance selection. HuT-R5 cells infected with HIV-1 and cultured in the presence of RPV or RPV analogs were monitored for CPE, at which time RT inhibitor concentrations were increased. Resistance selection in WT HIV-1-infected cells cultured in RPV, compound 7, or compound 11 were started at 4-fold above their respective EC_{50} (A). Alternatively, two resistance selection cultures of WT HIV-1 in compound 13 were started at 2- or 4-fold above the EC_{50} , while M230I HIV-1 selection in compound 13 was started at 4-fold above the EC_{50} (B).

Compound 11 selected a more complex resistance profile than compound 7. RPVassociated resistance mutations E138K, Y181C, and M230I were detected separately in 10%, 50%, and 20% of clones, respectively (Table 12). However, two mutations not previously associated with RPV resistance were discovered with consistency. E40K was detected in 50% of clones, both alone and with Y181C, indicating a possible linkage between the mutations. D67E was detected in 20% of clones along with Y181C or M230I. The lack of consistent DRMs indicates that selection in compound 11 may not have been complete at termination of the cultures. Because both compounds 7 and 11 selected known RPV-associated DRMs, selection experiments were not repeated.

eompound ,	, and compou	nu II		
Compound	Total days in selection	Fold-change from EC ₅₀	Clone	Mutations in RT ^a
RPV	56	128	1-3	WT
			4-5	K101E
			6	S489P
			7	K101E , S489P
Analog 7	49	128	1-7	K101E
-			8	K101E , S1051 ^{FS}
			9	K101E , I375*
			10	K101E , G456R
Analog 13	57	64	1	E40K
U			2	L246P
			3	E138K
			4-5	E40K, V111A, Y181C
			6	D67E, Y181C , T400A
			7	E40K, Y181C , L301P
			8	D67E, S1051 ^{FS} , K154E ^{FS} , M230I
			9	M16V, M230I , Q330*, K465E, G556R
			10	E40K, T69A, Y181C , L228P, I375N

Table 13. RT sequences of HIV-1 clones isolated from supernatant of cell cultures in RPV, compound 7, and compound 11

^a Bold, RPV-associated mutations.

FS, frameshift; *, stop codon.

5.5.2 Selection of a novel combination of RT mutations in HIV-1 by compound 13

Unlike selection with RPV and compounds 7 and 11, cells cultivated in the presence of compound 13 displayed few small syncytia and maintained large cell clusters similar to an uninfected culture. Because of the lack of robust CPE, concentrations of compound 13 were not increased as frequently or as high compared to RPV and compounds 7 and 11 (Figure 14B). CPE

suppression by compound 13 was maintained at a concentration 8-fold above the EC_{50} for >130 days in two separate cultures started at 2- or 4-fold above the EC_{50} .

vDNA from cells and vRNA from supernatant were isolated at day 156 post-infection from the culture begun at 2-fold the EC₅₀. The mutations G112D and M230I were identified in near full-length RT sequences from both vDNA and vRNA populations (Table 13). This mutation combination was also observed in 2/3 of vRNA clones we could obtain, but only M230I alongside K101E was detected in the single vDNA clone. Sequencing of population and clonal vDNA and vRNA from the culture started at 4-fold above the EC₅₀ also revealed G112D and M230I linkage, which was observed in 100% of the sequences.

To determine if M230I would allow quicker selection of G112D in the presence of compound 13, HuT-R5 cells were infected with M230I HIV-1 and cultured in media containing compound 13. Seven days after switching the compound concentration to 16-fold above the EC₅₀ (Figure 14B), G112D and K196R were detected by population sequencing of vRNA (Table 13). Interestingly, sequencing of additional archived supernatant samples from the culture started at 2-fold above the EC₅₀ revealed that G112D evolved prior to M230I and was observed as early as 63 days post-infection (Table 13). This was similar to the time needed for G112D to evolve in M230I HIV-1 in the presence of compound 13. Our data suggest that G112D is not a spontaneous mutation and arises with M230I to provide an advantage to HIV-1 in the presence of RPV analog 13 *in vitro*.

5.5.3 Resistance phenotypes of RT mutants selected by RPV and RPV analogs

Viruses with known RPV-associated mutations were resistant to RPV and the respective compounds in which they were selected (Table 14). The mutations K101E, E138K, and Y181C

in HIV-1 conferred low-level resistance to RPV, which is comparable with previous reports (265, 543). Although only consistently detected in RPV and compound 7 cultures, K101E HIV-1 was tested for resistance against all three RPV analogs because it is a known DRM selected *in vitro* and *in vivo* by RPV (265, 283, 306) and was not included in the original analog experiment (543). K101E conferred low-level resistance to RPV and compounds 11 and 13 compared to WT HIV-1 (2.8- to 3.5-fold), but resistance was slightly higher against compound 7 (6.0-fold). This difference between K101E resistance to RPV and compound 7 was similar in another study (560). E138K and Y181C also conferred low-level resistance to both RPV and compound 11 (2.0- to 3.5-fold). However, virus with Y181C and E40K or D67E had similar resistance to RPV and compound 11 as Y181C alone (3.0- to 3.5-fold).

Of the known mutations tested, M230I HIV-1 showed the highest resistance to RPV and analogs (Table 14). The EC₅₀ values of RPV and compounds 11 and 13 were 7.3- to 9.8-fold higher for M230I HIV-1 than WT HIV-1; however, EC₅₀ values were similar for D67E/M230I HIV-1 and M230I HIV-1, suggesting that D67E does not have a direct role in resistance. The EC₅₀ values for compound 11 to M230I HIV-1 and the culture supernatant were similar, implying that M230I is the mutation mainly responsible for HIV-1 resistance to compound 11 in the culture (Table 12). Of note, the addition of G112D to M230I tripled the resistance of M230I HIV-1 to both RPV (30.3-fold) and compound 13 (20.4-fold), whereas G112D alone was as susceptible as WT virus to both compounds (1.1- to 1.8-fold). The EC₅₀ values of compound 13 to G112D/M230I HIV-1 and the compound 13 supernatant were similar, suggesting that the dual mutant is likely responsible for resistance in our compound 13 culture.

Virus	Days of selection	Nucleic acid source	Positions sequenced	Mutations in RT ^a
WT	63	RNA (population)	1-250	K64*, S69C, G112D
(2x EC ₅₀ start)	91	RNA (population)	1-250	G112D, M230I
	156	RNA (population)	1-140, 228-450	G112D, M230I , V381L
		DNA (population)	1-120, 210-560	G112D, M230I
		RNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I
		RNA (clone)	1-560	V10I, G112D, K126E, M230I
		RNA (clone)	1-560	K43R, E53G, K281*, E297G, A360V, P433L
		DNA (clone)	1-560	K101E , M230I , L391P
WT	199	RNA (population)	1-560	G112D M230I
(4x EC ₅₀ start)	177	DNA (population)	1-560	G112D, M230I
(RNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I
		RNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I
		RNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I , L517F ^{FS}
		RNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I , D250V, T403I
		DNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I
		DNA (clone)	1-560	G112D, M230I , K331E
		DNA (clone)	1-560	P55L, G112D, M230I , R448G
M230I	59	RNA (population)	1-470	G112D, K196R, M230I

 Table 14. RT sequences of HIV-1 populations and clones isolated from supernatant of cell cultures compound 13

¹ Bold, RPV-associated mutations.

FS, frameshift; *, stop codon.

	EC ₅₀ (nM) (Fold-change above WT)					
Virus	RPV	Compound 7	Compound 11	Compound 13		
Supernatant ^b	-	23.6 (12.4)	5.5 (9.2)	24.8 (20.7)		
WT	$0.4 \pm 0.1 \ (1.0)$	$1.9 \pm 0.4 \ (1.0)$	$0.6 \pm 0.1 \; (1.0)$	$1.2 \pm 0.2 \ (1.0)$		
K101E	1.4 ± 0.4 (3.5)	11.4 (6.0)	$1.7 \pm 0.4 \ (2.8)$	$3.6 \pm 0.9 \ (3.0)$		
G112D	$0.7 \pm 0.04 \; (1.8)$	-	-	$1.3 \pm 0.3 (1.1)$		
E138K	1.0 ± 0.2 (2.5)	-	1.2 ± 0.3 (2.0)	-		
Y181C	1.4 ± 0.3 (3.5)	-	1.7 ± 0.3 (2.8)	-		
E40K/Y181C	1.4 ± 0.4 (3.5)	-	1.8 ± 0.3 (3.0)	-		
D67E/Y181C	1.2 ± 0.2 (3.0)	-	$1.7 \pm 0.2 \ (2.8)$	-		
M230I	$3.9 \pm 0.6 \ (9.8)$	-	$5.9 \pm 1.3 \ (9.8)$	8.8 ± 1.3 (7.3)		
D67E/M230I	$3.4 \pm 0.6 \ (8.5)$	-	$6.2 \pm 1.8 (10.3)$	-		
G112D/M230I	$12.1 \pm 1.1 (30.3)$	-	-	$24.5 \pm 1.9 (20.4)$		

Table 15. *In vitro* antiviral activity of RPV and compounds 7, 11, and 13 against WT or mutant HIV-1

^a Average and standard deviation values based on 3-6 independent experiments each performed in triplicate. Bulk virus results based on 1 independent experiment performed in triplicate.
^b Virus population in supernatant at time of DRM detection.

-, not done.

5.5.4 Effect of select RT mutations on HIV-1 replication

Since the D67E mutation did not enhance resistance, we hypothesized that it may act as a compensatory mutation to increase replication capacity of HIV-1 with the DRMs Y181C or M230I. To measure virus replication *in vitro*, HuT-R5 cells were infected with WT, M230I, or D67E/M230I HIV-1 and passaged for 12 days. Virus production was measured by HIV-1 capsid protein (p24) in the culture supernatants (Figure 15A). Cells infected with WT HIV-1 demonstrated high levels of CPE and cell death early, which explains the initial exponential increase in p24 production followed by a plateau after day 4 post-infection. In contrast, HIV-1 with M230I or D67E/M230I mutations produced approximately 1-log less p24 through day 4 and surpassed the WT culture after day 6 post-infection. Overall, the replication curves for M230I and D67E/M230I were similar suggesting that D67E is not a compensatory mutation. Replication assays were not performed for E40K viruses.

The consistent detection of G112D and M230I mutations by sequencing HIV-1 selected in compound 13 cultures suggests an advantage for virus with both mutations; although, G112D alone did not confer resistance to RPV or compound 13. Replication kinetics of WT, G112D, M230I, and G112D/M230I HIV-1 indicate that the single mutations cause reduced replication capacity (Figure 15B). G112D HIV-1 and M230I HIV-1 displayed a 1- to 2-log difference in p24 concentrations through day 6 of the assay and had similar growth curves. Similar to the D67E/M230I experiment, WT virus p24 production plateaued after day 6, whereas the single mutant viruses continued to produce p24 after 6 days post-infection. However, G112D appears to be compensatory to M230I as replication capacity was 0.5- to 1.0-log higher for the double versus single mutant viruses through day 6 post-infection. While not as efficient at p24 production as WT HIV-1 early in the experiment, the replication curve of G112D/M230I HIV-1 mirrored that of WT HIV-1 with a plateau in virus production after day 6 post-infection. Based on two separate replication assays using these viruses, replication fitness is ranked as WT > G112D/M230I > G112D > M230I. Combined with the resistance data, it appears that the G112D mutation is responsible for improved replication and increased resistance in M230I HIV-1.



Figure 15. Replication kinetics of WT and mutant HIV-1.

HuT-R5 cells were infected with WT or mutant HIV-1, and p24 concentrations in culture supernatants were measured by ELISA. Concentrations of p24 in cultures infected with WT, M230I, or D67E/M230I HIV-1 (A) or WT, G112D, M230I, or G112D/M230I HIV-1 (B) are shown. Results of (B) are representative of two independent experiments.

5.5.5 G112D/M230I HIV-1 susceptibility to NNRTIs and NRTIs

Although G112D/M230I HIV-1 had enhanced resistance to RPV and compound 13 and improved replication capacity over virus with either mutation alone, we investigated the inhibition of this double mutant by a broader panel of RT inhibitors. Testing the mutant virus for susceptibility to other RT inhibitors will determine if there is a cross-resistance profile and
subsequently how the mutant may avoid inhibition by compound 13. WT, G112D, M230I, and G112D/M230I HIV-1 were tested for susceptibility against a panel of FDA-approved NNRTIS (EFV, ETR, and NVP), NRTIS (AZT, ddI, FTC, TFV), and a pyrophosphate inhibitor (PFA) (Table 15). Similar to RPV and compound 13, G112D HIV-1 had no resistance to other NNRTIS and the NRTI TFV (0.7- to 1.2-fold). However, this mutant did have intermediate resistance (16.1-fold) to FTC, while displaying hypersusceptibility to AZT and PFA (0.2-fold). Conversely, M230I conferred resistance to all three NNRTIS (6.5- to 10.6-fold) and hypersusceptibility to all NRTIS (0.1- to 0.3-fold). Virus with both G112D and M230I had increased resistance to NNRTIS compared to M230I alone (16.5- to 17.9-fold) as was seen with RPV and compound 13. Interestingly, the addition of M230I to G112D virus abrogated the resistance to FTC (3.9-fold) observed with G112D alone. The dual mutant also displayed hypersusceptibility to AZT (0.1-fold) and PFA (0.1-fold), and a mild increase in susceptibility to TFV (0.6-fold). Our results indicate that HIV-1 with G112D and M230I is cross-resistant to all clinically relevant NNRTIS and FTC, susceptible to ddI and TFV, but hypersusceptible to AZT and PFA.

	EC ₅₀ Fold-Change above WT ["]							
Virus	ETR	EFV	NVP	AZT	ddI	FTC	TFV	PFA
G112D	1.2	1.2	0.7	0.2	2.0	16.1	0.7	0.2
M230I	6.5	8.2	10.6	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.3
G112D/M230I	16.5	17.9	17.0	0.1	0.7	3.9	0.6	0.1

Table 16. Change in *in vitro* susceptibility of RT inhibitors against G112D, M230I, or G112D/M230I HIV-1

^a Values represent fold-change based on mean mutant EC_{50} / mean WT EC_{50} . All data are representative of 3 individual experiments, each performed in triplicate.

ETR, etravirine; EFV, efavirenz; NVP, nevirapine; AZT, zidovidine; ddI, didanosine; FTC, emtricitabine; TFV, tenofovir; PFA, foscarnet.

5.6 **DISCUSSION**

Despite the efficacy of available antiretroviral drugs to suppress HIV-1 replication, DRMs evolve in the virus and limit alternative therapy options, especially if the mutations impart cross-resistance to multiple drugs. To counter drug resistance, new compounds must be developed that are potent, safe, and effective against isolates with known resistance mutations. The goal of this work was to determine the resistance profile of three RPV analogs that met these criteria (543), which would shed light on their mechanisms of action as HIV-1 inhibitors. Because of the structural changes to RPV that would affect drug-virus interactions, we hypothesized that these analogs could select novel resistance mutations in HIV-1 RT.

Results from our *in vitro* assays demonstrate that compounds 7 and 11 select for known RPV-resistant RT mutations K101E, E138K, Y181C, and M230I. These mutations were previously selected under RPV pressure *in vitro* and in clinical trials (265, 283, 295, 306). Detection of K101E HIV-1 after selection with compound 7 is not surprising because modeling shows this compound forms a H-bond between its pyrimidine moiety and the K101 residue of RT (543), similar to RPV (288). Loss of this interaction through K101E likely reduces the binding capacity of compound 7; however, the decrease in susceptibility conferred by K101E did not account for the total resistance seen in our culture supernatant. Genotypic evidence indicates that K101E is a key mutation in HIV-1 resistance to compound 7, but other undetected mutations may account for the greater resistance seen in the virus supernatant. Additional selection cultures could be performed to address this disparity.

In contrast to selection of a single HIV-1 DRM by compound 7, resistance to compound 11 was more complex. Three distinct RPV-associated DRMs, E138K, Y181C, and M230I, were detected in vRNA isolated from the compound 11 culture. The selection of these DRMs by compound 11 is likely attributable to its proposed binding to RT, which is similar to RPV (560). The change from a pyrimidine (RPV) to a purine (compound 11) moiety allows the central ring to sit deeper in the NNRTI-binding pocket while maintaining hydrogen bonds with K101 and the shared water molecule between the drug and E138 (560), indicating that K101E also causes resistance to compound 11. The cyanovinyl and benzonitrile moieties of compound 11 occupy a similar confirmation as RPV in RT (560), which could explain the similar resistance Y181C and M230I to both RPV and compound 11. Additional mutations not associated with NNRTI resistance, E40K and D67E were also detected in combination with Y181C or Y181C and M230I, respectively. The selection of E40K with Y181C and/or M230I was previously reported in RPV and ETR selection cultures (265, 548). Similarly, D67E has been observed in ARTtreated patients with NRTI-associated resistance mutations (561, 562), but it was not associated with phenotypic resistance (561). However, these mutations did not meaningfully alter the resistance phenotype of Y181C or M230I to RPV or compound 11, and D67E did not appear to provide a compensatory benefit to M230I HIV-1 replication capacity. A study by our collaborators revealed that D67E, but not E40K, confers low-level resistance to RPV and compounds 7 and 13, while neither mutation conferred resistance to compound 11 (560). Nonetheless, compounds 7 and 11 did not select for novel DRMs and both displayed genotypic and phenotypic resistance profiles similar to RPV.

Contrary to RPV and compounds 7 and 11, compound 13 selected HIV-1 clones with two mutations in RT: G112D and M230I. Our data indicate that G112D enhances both resistance to

NNRTIs and replication capacity of virus also containing the M230I mutation. The resistance phenotype of G112D/M230I is unique as these mutations together conferred >10-fold resistance to all NNRTIs and increased susceptibility to some NRTIs and a pyrophosphate analog. This phenomenon was also seen with the I132M RT mutation, which was resistant to NVP but hypersusceptible to the NRTIs TFV and lamivudine (563). RT polymerization assays performed by our collaborators confirm the resistance of M230I and G112D/M230I to compound 13 and susceptibility to PFA (data no shown). The selection of these mutations and their resistance phenotype suggests that compound 13 has a different mechanism of action than RPV and the other analogs.

While compound 13 likely binds the NNRTI-binding pocket, the change from a pyrimidine moiety in RPV to a purine moiety (reversed in compound 11) may also exert an effect on dNTP binding and incorporation, which is not see in other NNRTIS. G112D is located near the conserved D110 and YMDD motif necessary for catalysis during reverse transcription (564, 565). Pressure in this region from compound 13 binding to RT may explain the development of G112D. Interestingly, this mutation showed high resistance to FTC but not other NRTIS. FTC resistance is associated with the M184 position, which is part of the YMDD motif (313, 564). M184I/V mutations increase selectivity for the natural dNTP over FTC because branching of isoleucine and valine side chains hinders incorporation of the drug (566, 567). Therefore, it is possible that G112D provides some level of steric hindrance that reduces FTC efficacy or confers a selective advantage of natural dNTPs over FTC. G112D and G112D/M230I HIV-1 were also hypersusceptible to AZT and PFA, which is unique because DRMs associated with these drugs tend to be antagonistic (568-570). However, HIV-1 with mutations Q151I/V has been shown to be hypersusceptible to both AZT and PFA (570). The Q151 residue resides in the

RT motif responsible for binding the viral template strand and dNTPs during reverse transcription, and specifically contacts the viral genomic template (565, 570). Therefore, the similar hypersusceptible phenotypes of Q151I/V HIV-1 and G112D/M230I HIV-1 further suggest that compound 13 affects dNTP processing in a manner unique from other NNRTIs.

To elucidate the function of these mutations in RT and their resistance mechanism, biochemical assays and modeling should be performed. DNA- and RNA-dependent DNA polymerase assays performed by our collaborators indicate a defect in polymerization of RTs with the M230I mutation, whereas polymerization of G112D RT is comparable to WT RT (data not shown). To determine the effects of RT inhibitors on RT with G112D, M230I, or G112D/M230I mutations, polymerization assays should be repeated in the presence of drugs to confirm the resistance or hypersusceptibility phenotypes we report in viral assays. Single step incorporation assays could also be implemented to determine if the RT mutations confer preference for the NRTIs or natural dNTPs, potentially pointing to the mechanisms of NRTI hypersusceptibility or resistance. However, modeling of compound 13 in RT, as has been completed for compounds 7 and 11 (543, 560), should be performed to predict the mechanism of resistance. Modeling could show how the difference in structures between compound 13 and RPV could affect drug-RT contacts. For example, the presence of the purine moiety in compound 13 most likely alters the H-bond and water binding observed with RPV and the K101 and E138 positions, respectively, as is seen with compound 11 (560). M230 is located in the primer grip region of RT and stabilizes primer residues by forming a hydrogen bond between the amino acid and a phosphate of the primer strand (565). Modeling of compound 13 and RT could show if the drug-enzyme interaction disrupts the primer bond or if M230I sterically hinders the binding of compound 13. Modeling can be used to predict drug-RT interactions, the mechanisms

of resistance, and identify alternative DRMs to guide the refinement of more analogs; however, crystal structures of compound 13 bound to WT and mutant RT are needed to truly understand the inhibitory effects of compound 13 and how the DRMs reduce compound 13 efficacy.

Overall, our data show that the RPV analogs 7 and 11 do not select different DRMs than RPV. The resistance phenotypes of known RPV-associated DRMs of these compounds are similar to RPV as well, results that are supported by our collaborators (560). Yet, compound 13 selected a novel combination of DRMs in HIV-1. The selection of two resistance mutations, one inside the NNRTI-binding pocket (M230I) and one outside (G112D), suggests that compound 13 is causing a conformational shift in RT that is unique to this molecule. Nevertheless, G112D/M230I confers resistance to all clinically approved NNRTIs but results in hypersusceptibility to NRTIs and a pyrophosphate analog. Compound 13 is not an ideal candidate for further development as ART or PrEP because of NNRTI cross-resistance. However, biochemical and modeling experiments to better understand the mechanisms of resistance and hypersusceptibility conferred by G112D and M230I are the next step in understanding the unique effect that compound 13 has on RT and how the structure can be best used to design new drugs that do not select cross-resistant DRMs.

6.0 FINAL DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH

The global response to the HIV-1 pandemic is one of the most organized and well-funded efforts to control a human disease; however, 30 years after the discovery of the virus, there is no vaccine or cure. Until a vaccine is approved for public use, PrEP with antiretroviral drugs is an effective method to reduce HIV-1 incidences in populations at high-risk of being infected with the virus. Daily oral Truvada is currently the only PrEP regimen available for prescription, but its global availability is limited to less than 12 countries at the time of this writing. Despite significant reductions in HIV-1 infections by Truvada in multiple clinical trials, the biggest barrier to PrEP efficacy is adherence. Alternative PrEP modalities that address adherence include intercourse-dependent oral Truvada or microbicide gels, IVRs, and long-acting injectables. Intercourse-dependent PrEP and IVRs have shown success in clinical trials, but these options are user-driven and adherence cannot be guaranteed. In contrast, long-acting injectable PrEP would guarantee adherence but the ability of such a strategy to prevent HIV-1 transmission has not been tested in clinical trials.

RPV LA is the long-acting injectable formulation of the NNRTI RPV and is safe in humans and a single dose can provide concentrations above a theoretical protective concentration for at least one month post-dosing. However, the current paradigm of using antiretroviral drugs approved for both ART and PrEP has two issues that should be addressed for every PrEP modality. The first issue is selection of drug resistance in individuals who receive PrEP when already HIV-1⁺ or in those who experience a breakthrough infection while on PrEP. The second issue is the ability of PrEP to prevent transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1. Thus, the overall concern is an increase in newly infected individuals with drug-resistant HIV-1. Importantly, certain mutations lead to cross-resistance to some or all drugs of the same class (16), thus ART options could be reduced in newly infected individuals should they acquire a virus with DRMs. There is no ethical way to directly study these scenarios in humans; nevertheless, we used two distinct animal models to address two questions in regard to RPV LA as PrEP and its role in resistance selection. One, would RPV LA monotherapy select for DRMs in macaques infected with RT-SHIV (Chapter 3); and two, can RPV LA prevent mucosal transmission of drugresistant HIV-1 in humanized mice (Chapter 4)? The success of PrEP in clinical trials likely guarantees its eventual global use, thus questions of drug resistance and PrEP efficacy are valuable to study in pre-clinical models prior to large-scale human trials and widespread clinical approval. The public health significance of this dissertation work is the development of preclinical animal models to assess the potential consequences of RPV LA use in scenarios that have occurred in clinical trials with Truvada (318-320) and how drug resistance affects PrEP efficacy. Testing these questions in animal models provides a better understanding of RPV LA PrEP, and the results can be used to inform future study designs with the drug.

Due to cross-resistance between NNRTIs (265) and growing global coverage of ART, the utility of NNRTIs is diminishing because of increases in NNRTI-resistance prevalence and transmission (285, 352, 353). Thus, new antiretroviral drugs to expand options for ART and PrEP are needed. These novel drugs should be active against drug-resistant HIV-1, have novel mechanisms of actions, and should not select cross-resistant mutations (or preferably no resistance at all). We were provided with analogs of RPV that are active against known drug-

resistant HIV-1 molecular clones (543). Our objective was to determine the resistance genotype and phenotype of HIV-1 selected in the presence of the analogs as a way to understand the mechanism of action of the compounds (Chapter 5). Mutations that develop under drug selection and confer resistance in a virus can indicate where the inhibitors bind to suppress the HIV-1 replication cycle. The public health significance of this study is a better understanding of novel compounds that can be used to focus the design of new antiretroviral compounds for control of the HIV-1 pandemic.

6.1 RPV LA MONOTHERAPY DOES NOT READILY SELECT FOR RESISTANCE MUTATIONS IN RT-SHIV-INFECTED MACAQUES

The goal of this aim was to address the concern that RPV LA could select for drug resistance should individuals receive the drug after becoming infected with HIV-1. In this situation RPV becomes monotherapy, which is a strategy no longer in practice due to rapid selection of drug-resistant HIV-1 (268-270, 272). In successful Truvada clinical trials, 17 individuals were found retrospectively to be infected with HIV-1 before receiving PrEP, and five of them (29.4%) developed DRMs (318-320). Although providing PrEP to HIV-1⁺ participants was rare, these findings confirm that PrEP can select drug resistance in persons with undetected HIV-1 infection, hence the need to test DRM selection in a monotherapy setting for RPV LA and any other PrEP strategy.

Contrary to earlier studies in macaques infected with RT-SHIV and treated with EFV or NVP monotherapy (389, 465-467), RPV LA monotherapy did not select DRMs at a high or consistent frequency. Two different RPV-associated resistance mutations were detected at a lower than expected frequency in RT-SHIV isolated from plasma samples of two macaques. No DRMs were observed in virus isolated from ileum or axillary LN tissues of the same macaques, in which drug concentrations were >4-fold higher than in plasma. However, one of 66 participants in a Phase I clinical trial of RPV LA became infected with HIV-1 after receiving a single 300 mg dose of RPV LA (338). This person developed detectable levels of HIV-1 with a RPV-resistant mutation in plasma when drug concentrations were around the $PAEC_{90}$ for RPV (351). In humans, low concentrations of RPV can be detected in plasma and tissues for up to 160 days after a single dose of RPV LA (338, 348). During viral rebound, drug concentrations in our macaques were similar to concentrations reported in the infected person, but resistance selection did not occur in our animals. While our dosing strategy reflected drug concentrations reported in humans, the long tail that hovers around the $PAEC_{90}$ value may be the ideal situation for resistance selection in humans but not in macaques. Our data support that selection of drug resistance by RPV LA monotherapy may be rare in pigtailed macaques infected with RT-SHIV. While our results are based on a population of two animals, single-genome sequencing of HIV-1 RNA isolated from plasma of BLT mice treated with RPV LA PrEP showed similar low frequencies of DRMs (Chapter 4), furthering supporting our macaque results. Nonetheless, the experiment could be repeated with a larger cohort of macaques to show consistency with the RPV LA/RT-SHIV model and eliminate idiosyncrasies of the two animals that may have affected the results.

Our data support that RPV LA monotherapy does not easily select for resistance mutations in RT-SHIV-infected macaques or HIV-1-infected humanized mice. Similar to RT-SHIV, we had difficulty selecting for RPV resistance in HIV-1-infected cells *in vitro* (Chapter 5). RPV concentrations >100-fold the *in vitro* EC₅₀ were needed to select for mutant viruses with

single low-level DRMs. Overall, our data support that low concentrations of RPV do not readily select DRMs in RT-SHIV (or HIV-1); thus, RPV LA may not significantly increase the prevalence of DRMs if approved for widespread prophylactic use. However, the contrasting outcomes between our two macaques on RPV LA monotherapy and one individual on RPV LA with a breakthrough infection should be further studied to better understand the consequences of RPV LA use.

6.2 RPV LA CAN INHIBIT DRUG-RESISTANT HIV-1 TRANSMISSION IN BLT MICE BUT NOT AT BIOLOGICALLY RELEVANT DRUG CONCENTRATIONS

The goal of this aim was to determine the efficacy of RPV LA to inhibit mucosal transmission of WT and drug-resistant HIV-1. RPV LA has been shown to be safe and tolerable in multiple clinical trials and provide drug concentrations above a theoretical protective PAEC₉₀ value for at least a month post-dosing (338, 340, 348). To date, only one study has tested the ability of RPV LA to inhibit mucosal transmission of HIV-1 infection. Kovarova *et al.* showed that a single dose of RPV LA protected 13/16 (81%) mice from vaginal infection after challenge with WT transmitted/founder isolates of HIV-1 (501). However, the RPV LA dose used in this study resulted in sustained plasma RPV concentrations for 28 days post-injection approximately 6-fold higher than peak concentrations reported in humans (six days post-injection) who received a single 1,200 mg dose of RPV LA (338) and tissue RPV concentrations were not measured. In contrast, we performed PK analysis of RPV LA in plasma and mucosal tissues and found that a 150 mg/kg IM dose of RPV LA in BLT mice recapitulated RPV concentrations reported in humans, thus providing a more biologically relevant model for efficacy studies.

We found that biologically relevant concentrations of RPV did not significantly inhibit vaginal transmission of WT or low-level resistant HIV-1. However, we then challenged mice when plasma and vaginal tissue RPV concentrations were approximately 8-fold higher than concentrations reported in humans, similar to Kovarova *et al.* (501). With this dosing strategy, we observed total protection from vaginal infection by low-level resistant HIV-1 (Y181C), demonstrating that RPV LA can inhibit vaginal transmission of virus with a DRM. This is an encouraging result, as most known RPV-associated DRMs confer low-level resistance to the drug, similar to Y181C (265). However, we did not observe statistically significant protection from WT or high-resistant HIV-1. We believe the lack of protection to WT HIV-1 is due to the high replication rate of the lab-adapted challenge strain. It is possible that the use of transmitted/founder HIV-1 isolates and a different titer method by Kovarova et al. (501) resulted in a significant difference between the challenge inoculums used between our studies. It is possible the modest replication defect conferred by Y181C in our challenge stock created a virus with similar replication capacity to the WT viruses used by Kovarova et al. (501), hence the similar protective results. In vitro infectivity and replication assays could directly assess the dissimilarities between our lab-adapted and the transmitted/founder challenge stocks used in the experiments. While our study was designed to analyze specific mutations within RT, we plan to use clinical WT and drug-resistant HIV-1 isolates in future experiments to determine what concentrations of RPV LA should be achieved to inhibit mucosal transmission. The use of clinical isolates would allow us to elucidate the effect of RPV LA concentrations on transmission of biologically relevant viruses; however, the use of clinical isolates introduces the issue of mutations outside of RT and heterogeneous populations that could influence results by affecting infectivity and replication capacity. Therefore, cloning the RT region, and perhaps the Env

region, from clinical viruses into a molecular clone of HIV-1 with consistent replication is being considered to reduce such confounding factors. Regardless, *in vitro* infectivity and replication will be measured to normalize challenge doses.

Although RPV LA did not provide the level of protection against WT HIV-1 that we had hypothesized, detection of plasma viremia was delayed in two WT-infected mice challenged at high RPV concentrations. This indicates that RPV LA had a suppressive but not protective effect on early virus replication. We could utilize animals with this "smoldering" infection to identify sanctuary sites and track initial HIV-1 spread through visualization techniques such as bioluminescence or PET imaging, similar to what has been performed with SIV in mice (571) and macaques (572). Although we have PK data for mucosal tissues, there could be an uneven temporal distribution of active RPV that would allow sanctuary sites to form and be maintained until systemic drug concentrations decline to allow viral circulation. Imaging studies combined with PK analyses could elucidate the specific location(s) of low-level virus replication and determine what drug concentrations are needed to prevent mucosal transmission. For example, if we identify a specific tissue as a sanctuary site, we could then perform a dose response study with RPV LA until we find the drug concentration that prevents such sites from forming. It is also possible that virus is shielded from RPV by immune cell interactions, such as capture by dendritic cells (573), and *ex vivo* immunofluorescence assays could identify the cell populations and tissue locations responsible for such a phenomenon. This information could guide future RPV LA or PrEP designs to account for dosing, improved systemic drug dissemination, and specific cell/tissue drug targeting. Work has begun on the development of infectious and replication competent reporter viruses that produce nano-luciferase or infrared fluorescent protein for *in vivo* imaging of active virus replication sites.

Despite breakthrough infection in the majority of mice challenged at day 7 post-RPV LA dosing, no DRMs were detected in plasma virus by population sequencing. Subsequent singlegenome sequencing of a larger group of infected mice revealed a low prevalence of NRTI- and NNRTI-associated DRMs in both untreated and RPV LA-treated animals. The low frequency of DRMs bolsters our results from Chapter 3 that RPV LA does not readily select for drug resistance but is contradictory to the infection of a participant in the SSAT 040 trial (351). Although we did not perform PK analysis beyond week 1 post-RPV LA injection, it is likely that RPV in our mice would still be detectable at concentrations similar to the infected human through the end of our study.

It is also possible that physiological differences between humans and mice, such as metabolism or protein binding, account for the discrepancy in protective efficacy and resistance selection. To accurately test this, we would need to perform an equilibrium dialysis assay to determine the amount of free, active RPV in mice and humans in relevant tissue compartments; however, this would be costly and technically challenging. Alternatively we could perform drug susceptibility assays in the presence mouse plasma to calculate a PAEC₉₀ to better predict protective RPV concentrations in mice. Based on our PK data, we could adjust dosing strategies to define protective levels of RPV or determine suboptimal concentrations that would be more likely to select for resistance. Thus, longitudinal studies with different doses of RPV LA or challenges at different time points may better reveal the effect of RPV on resistance selection and further refine the BLT model for RPV LA and future PrEP studies.

Combined with results from human tissue explant models (348, 349), our preliminary data comparing vaginal or rectal transmission of WT HIV-1 in RPV LA-treated mice indicate that the drug at current proposed dosing regimens may be more effective at preventing rectal

143

rather than vaginal HIV-1 transmission. However, we need more animals to provide statistical power to the analysis. Even if RPV LA is more appropriate for prevention of rectal infection, we still want to know what concentrations of RPV are protective. To determine these protective concentrations *in vivo*, we could take plasma samples on the day of challenge for pharmacodynamic analysis to establish a protective correlation between plasma and mucosal tissue drug concentrations. This could determine a protective threshold for RPV, as was done for CAB LA in macaques (484). However, it may be worth utilizing the RT-SHIV macaque model for such a study if we first addressed the metabolism of RPV as discussed in the previous section. Using macaques would allow for larger plasma volumes for more sensitive virus detection and mucosal tissue biopsies to correlate actual RPV concentrations at the site of infection. Knowing what concentrations of RPV are necessary for effective HIV-1 inhibition at mucosal sites would provide a better understanding of RPV tissue deposition, guide dosing strategies, and could influence selection of the target populations in future RPV LA trials.

Overall, our data indicate that RPV LA can be effective at preventing low-level drugresistant (2-fold) HIV-1 infection in BLT mice, but not at concentrations observed in human women and not against HIV-1 with higher RPV resistance (27-fold). It will be important to determine an accurate *in vivo* protective concentration of RPV in plasma and mucosal tissues, rather than relying on a theoretical PAEC₉₀ based on *in vitro* data. With a more accurate *in vivo* protective value and clinical HIV-1 isolates, we could design challenge and resistance selection experiments that closely recapitulate human exposure events and provide results that could shape RPV LA dosing recommendations and clinical trial design.

6.3 A RPV ANALOG SELECTS FOR A NOVEL COMBINATION OF MUTATIONS IN HIV-1 REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE

The goal of this work was to determine the resistance profile of three analogs of RPV. By knowing what DRMs these compounds select, we may be able to predict where they bind and how they inhibit HIV-1 replication. The flexible chemical structure of RPV allows it to adjust to mutations in RT (288) and is credited with the low-level resistance conferred by many DRMs (265). Therefore, the structure of RPV was altered to create analogs that potentially select novel DRMs in HIV-1 while maintaining the safety and potency associated with RPV (543). Utilizing *in vitro* assays, we determined the resistance genotype and phenotype of HIV-1 exposed to the RPV analogs and found that one selected a novel combination of RT mutations that conferred resistance to NNRTIs, but was hypersusceptible to NRTIs.

While two of the analogs selected RPV-associated DRMs with similar resistance genotypes and phenotypes as RPV, compound 13 selected for the combination of G112D and M230I mutations in RT. This is unique as currently approved NNRTIs typically select single amino acid changes. The presence of both RT mutations in HIV-1 enhanced replication capacity and NNRTI-resistance compared to virus with either mutation alone. Interestingly, the G112D mutation conferred resistance to the NRTI FTC, no resistance to NNRTIs, and hypersusceptibility to the NRTI AZT and the pyrophosphate analog PFA. Selection of G112D is unique since all DRMs associated with FDA-approved NNRTIs exist near or within the NNRTI-binding pocket, but G112D is near the D110 catalytic domain of the polymerase active site. This indicates that the structure of compound 13 may be binding RT in a novel manner and exerting pressure on RT outside of the canonical NNRTI-binding region. While the M230I mutation is considered part of the NNRTI-binding pocket and conferred cross-resistance to clinically

relevant NNRTIs, this mutation also conferred hypersusceptibility to the NRTIs we tested, which may explain why M230I is not prevalent in sequences cataloged in the HIV Drug Resistance Database (266). To further elucidate the inhibitory mechanism of compound 13, we could test compound 13 against a larger panel of RT inhibitor-resistant HIV-1 clones to predict amino acid positions in which the compound may interact with the viral enzyme.

Because G112D and M230I exist in different motifs of RT, it would be fascinating to know how they alter RT structure to preserve enzyme functionality in the presence of NNRTIs. RT polymerization assays have confirmed a processing defect in RT with the M230I mutation, while G112D alone does little to effect enzyme function. Polymerization assays in the presence of RT inhibitors are planned to confirm our resistance phenotype results. Because compound 13 affects NRTI susceptibility, dNTP incorporation assays could also be performed to determine the effect of the mutations on selectivity and incorporation. This would provide evidence to the mechanism of resistance or hypersusceptibility to NRTIs and PFA. Since the chemical structures of compound 13 and RPV are similar, we hypothesize that compound 13 targets the NNRTIbinding pocket, and in silico modeling of compound 13, using a RPV-RT crystal structure as a template, could predict potential sites of interaction (and DRMs) between RT and compound 13. Drug-RT interactions could be tested phenotypically as mentioned in the previous paragraph. This assumes that compound 13 behaves in a similar manner as RPV, which may not be the case given the selection of G112D. To truly understand how the compound binds, crystal structures of compound 13 bound to a WT and G112D/M230I mutant RT should be solved. Crystallographic structures would reveal how compound 13 and RT truly interact, complement results of drug susceptibility analyses, and refine *in silico* modeling for future analogs.

Although compound 13 selected for a novel combination of resistance mutations in HIV-1, suggesting a higher genetic barrier to resistance than RPV and the other analogs, the pair of mutations conferred cross-resistance to all clinically prescribed NNRTIs. This cross-resistance makes compound 13 unsuitable to move forward for clinical development. However, the selection of two mutations, one outside of the NNRTI-binding pocket, is unique and suggests that compound 13 is binding in a manner distinct from other NNRTIs, particularly RPV. Thus, compound 13 could serve as the backbone for development of a novel NNRTI or a new class of RT inhibitors that could eventually become approved antiretroviral drugs for ART or PrEP.

6.4 CONCLUSION

The unifying theme of this dissertation is the study of the effects of HIV-1 resistance on the FDA-approved drug RPV in regard to its use as a long-acting PrEP agent or as the backbone for novel antiretroviral compounds. We used animal models to address concerns of resistance selection as a result of RPV LA use and the ability of the formulation to prevent transmission of drug-resistant HIV-1. Our data indicate that RPV LA when administered as PrEP or monotherapy, an unintended consequence of its prophylactic use, does not readily select a viral population with high levels or consistent DRMs. This is an encouraging finding as selection for drug resistance should be negligent in compounds proposed for PrEP use. Also, our humanized mouse model shows that RPV LA can prevent vaginal infection of HIV-1 with a low-level RPV resistance mutation, suggesting the prophylactic formulation should be effective in areas with circulating drug-resistant HIV-1, particularly Y181C the second most prevalent transmitted NNRTI-resistant mutation. However, our data also indicate that RPV LA may not prevent

infection with viruses containing transmitted DRMs that confer higher levels of resistance (*e.g.* Y181V), thus the prevalence of certain DRMs in an area should be considered before administering RPV LA. More importantly, our results show that biologically relevant concentrations of RPV in humans do not translate to protection in humanized mice and protective concentrations between mucosal compartments may be significantly different. While drug metabolism differences between humans and mice may account for this discrepancy, we suggest tempering expectations that the current RPV LA dosing strategy in humans should be effective at significantly protecting at-risk populations from HIV-1 infection. Instead, pharmacodynamic studies should be performed to better define an *in vivo* protective concentration of RPV prior to efficacy trials.

Finally, we determined the resistance profile of three RPV analogs to find where they interact with RT and if they could be of use as future ART or PrEP drugs. One of the compounds selected a novel combination of mutations not associated with other RT inhibitors; however, the two mutations together conferred cross-resistance to FDA-approved NNRTIs suggesting the compound targets the NNRTI-binding pocket in a way unique from the approved drugs. This suggests the structure of the compound could be further modified to create a new NNRTI or even a novel class of RT inhibitors with a distinct resistance profile. While more research should be performed to better understand RPV, the data presented in this dissertation demonstrates the utility of RPV for PrEP and as a step toward future anti-HIV-1 drugs.

APPENDIX: ABBREVIATIONS PRESENTED WITHIN THE WORK

AIDS – acquired immunodeficiency syndrome

AAALAC – American Association of Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care

APOBEC3 – apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3

ART – antiretroviral therapy

BLT – bone marrow, liver, thymus

CAB – cabotegravir

CAB LA – long-acting cabotegravir

CCR5 – C-C chemokine receptor type 5

CD3 – cluster of differentiation 3

CD4 – cluster of differentiation 4

CD8 – cluster of differentiation 8

CD34 – cluster of differentiation 34

CD45 – cluster of differentiation 45

cDMEM – complete Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

cDNA - complementary deoxyribonucleic acid

CPE – cytopathic effect

CRF – circulating recombinant form

CXCR4 – C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4

DAP – dapivirine

DMEM – Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium

DNA – deoxyribonucleic acid

dNTP – deoxynucleoside triphosphate

DMPA – depot medroxyprogesterone

DRM – drug resistant mutation

 EC_{50} – effective concentration to prevent 50% infection

EC₉₀ – effective concentration to prevent 90% infection

EFV – efavirenz

Env – HIV-1 envelope protein

ETR – etravirine

FBS - fetal bovine serum

FDA – Food and Drug Administration

FTC – emtricitabine

GALT – gut-associated lymphoid tissue

HIV-1 – human immunodeficiency virus type 1

HSV-2 – herpes simplex virus type 2

IACUC – Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee

IL-2 – interleukin-2 IM – intramuscular IU – infectious units IV - intravenous IVR – intravaginal ring LC-MS/MS - liquid chromatograph-tandem mass spectrometry LN – lymph node MOI - multiplicity of infection mRNA - messenger RNA MSM - men who have sex with men MVC – maraviroc NIH - National Institute of Health NK – natural killer NNRTI - non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor NRTI -nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor NSG – NOD-Prkdc^{scid} IL2rg^{Tm1Wjl} NVP - nevirapine PAEC₉₀ – protein-adjusted effective concentration to prevent 90% of infections PBMC - peripheral blood mononuclear cells PBS - phosphate buffered saline PFA - foscarnet PIC – pre-integration complex PK – pharmacokinetic PrEP – pre-exposure prophylaxis QC – quality control qRT-PCR – quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR RAL – raltegravir RLU – relative light unit RNA – ribonucleic acid RPV - rilpivirine RPV LA – long-acting rilpivirine RT – reverse transcriptase Pol II – human RNA polymerase II *scid* – Severe combined immunodeficiency SHIV – simian-human immunodeficiency virus siRNA - small interfering ribonucleic acid SIV – simian immunodeficiency virus T-20 – enfuvirtide TAR – transactivation-response TFV - tenofovir US – United States vDNA - viral deoxyribonucleic acid vRNA - viral ribonucleic acid WHO - World Health Organization WT – wild-type

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. **Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS.** 2016. Global AIDS Update. <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/global-aids-update-2016-pub/en/</u>.
- 2. **World Health Organization.** 2015. Global Health Observatory (GHO) data. <u>http://www.who.int/gho/hiv/en/</u>.
- 3. Gottlieb MS, Schroff R, Schanker HM, Weisman JD, Fan PT, Wolf RA, Saxon A. 1981. Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia and mucosal candidiasis in previously healthy homosexual men: evidence of a new acquired cellular immunodeficiency. N Engl J Med **305:**1425-1431.
- 4. Siegal FP, Lopez C, Hammer GS, Brown AE, Kornfeld SJ, Gold J, Hassett J, Hirschman SZ, Cunningham-Rundles C, Adelsberg BR, et al. 1981. Severe acquired immunodeficiency in male homosexuals, manifested by chronic perianal ulcerative herpes simplex lesions. N Engl J Med 305:1439-1444.
- 5. Masur H, Michelis MA, Greene JB, Onorato I, Stouwe RA, Holzman RS, Wormser G, Brettman L, Lange M, Murray HW, Cunningham-Rundles S. 1981. An outbreak of community-acquired Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia: initial manifestation of cellular immune dysfunction. N Engl J Med 305:1431-1438.
- 6. Centers for Disease C. 1981. Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis pneumonia among homosexual men--New York City and California. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 30:305-308.
- Barre-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Rey F, Nugeyre MT, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Dauguet C, Axler-Blin C, Vezinet-Brun F, Rouzioux C, Rozenbaum W, Montagnier L. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science 220:868-871.
- 8. Gallo RC, Salahuddin SZ, Popovic M, Shearer GM, Kaplan M, Haynes BF, Palker TJ, Redfield R, Oleske J, Safai B, et al. 1984. Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. Science 224:500-503.

- 9. **World Health Organization.** 2007. WHO case definitions of HIV for surveillance and revised clinical staging and immunological classification of HIV-related disease in adults and children. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 10. **Hladik F, McElrath MJ.** 2008. Setting the stage: host invasion by HIV. Nat Rev Immunol **8**:447-457.
- 11. **Flynn NM, Forthal DN, Harro CD, Judson FN, Mayer KH, Para MF, rgp HIVVSG.** 2005. Placebo-controlled phase 3 trial of a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis **191:**654-665.
- 12. Pitisuttithum P, Gilbert P, Gurwith M, Heyward W, Martin M, van Griensven F, Hu D, Tappero JW, Choopanya K, Bangkok Vaccine Evaluation G. 2006. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled efficacy trial of a bivalent recombinant glycoprotein 120 HIV-1 vaccine among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. J Infect Dis **194:**1661-1671.
- 13. Rerks-Ngarm S, Pitisuttithum P, Nitayaphan S, Kaewkungwal J, Chiu J, Paris R, Premsri N, Namwat C, de Souza M, Adams E, Benenson M, Gurunathan S, Tartaglia J, McNeil JG, Francis DP, Stablein D, Birx DL, Chunsuttiwat S, Khamboonruang C, Thongcharoen P, Robb ML, Michael NL, Kunasol P, Kim JH, Investigators M-T. 2009. Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand. N Engl J Med 361:2209-2220.
- 14. Van Damme L, Corneli A, Ahmed K, Agot K, Lombaard J, Kapiga S, Malahleha M, Owino F, Manongi R, Onyango J, Temu L, Monedi MC, Mak'Oketch P, Makanda M, Reblin I, Makatu SE, Saylor L, Kiernan H, Kirkendale S, Wong C, Grant R, Kashuba A, Nanda K, Mandala J, Fransen K, Deese J, Crucitti T, Mastro TD, Taylor D, Group FE-PS. 2012. Preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. N Engl J Med 367:411-422.
- 15. Marrazzo JM, Ramjee G, Richardson BA, Gomez K, Mgodi N, Nair G, Palanee T, Nakabiito C, van der Straten A, Noguchi L, Hendrix CW, Dai JY, Ganesh S, Mkhize B, Taljaard M, Parikh UM, Piper J, Masse B, Grossman C, Rooney J, Schwartz JL, Watts H, Marzinke MA, Hillier SL, McGowan IM, Chirenje ZM, Team VS. 2015. Tenofovir-based preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. N Engl J Med 372:509-518.
- Wensing AM, Calvez V, Gunthard HF, Johnson VA, Paredes R, Pillay D, Shafer RW, Richman DD. 2015. 2015 Update of the Drug Resistance Mutations in HIV-1. Top Antivir Med 23:132-141.
- 17. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L, Goicochea P, Casapia M, Guanira-Carranza JV, Ramirez-Cardich ME, Montoya-Herrera O, Fernandez T, Veloso VG, Buchbinder SP, Chariyalertsak S, Schechter M, Bekker LG, Mayer KH, Kallas EG, Amico KR, Mulligan K, Bushman LR, Hance RJ,

Ganoza C, Defechereux P, Postle B, Wang F, McConnell JJ, Zheng JH, Lee J, Rooney JF, Jaffe HS, Martinez AI, Burns DN, Glidden DV, iPrEx Study T. 2010. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med 363:2587-2599.

- 18. Abdool Karim Q, Abdool Karim SS, Frohlich JA, Grobler AC, Baxter C, Mansoor LE, Kharsany AB, Sibeko S, Mlisana KP, Omar Z, Gengiah TN, Maarschalk S, Arulappan N, Mlotshwa M, Morris L, Taylor D, Group CT. 2010. Effectiveness and safety of tenofovir gel, an antiretroviral microbicide, for the prevention of HIV infection in women. Science 329:1168-1174.
- 19. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Campbell JD, Wangisi J, Tappero JW, Bukusi EA, Cohen CR, Katabira E, Ronald A, Tumwesigye E, Were E, Fife KH, Kiarie J, Farquhar C, John-Stewart G, Kakia A, Odoyo J, Mucunguzi A, Nakku-Joloba E, Twesigye R, Ngure K, Apaka C, Tamooh H, Gabona F, Mujugira A, Panteleeff D, Thomas KK, Kidoguchi L, Krows M, Revall J, Morrison S, Haugen H, Emmanuel-Ogier M, Ondrejcek L, Coombs RW, Frenkel L, Hendrix C, Bumpus NN, Bangsberg D, Haberer JE, Stevens WS, Lingappa JR, Celum C, Partners Pr EPST. 2012. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. N Engl J Med 367:399-410.
- 20. Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, Smith DK, Rose CE, Segolodi TM, Henderson FL, Pathak SR, Soud FA, Chillag KL, Mutanhaurwa R, Chirwa LI, Kasonde M, Abebe D, Buliva E, Gvetadze RJ, Johnson S, Sukalac T, Thomas VT, Hart C, Johnson JA, Malotte CK, Hendrix CW, Brooks JT, Group TDFS. 2012. Antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for heterosexual HIV transmission in Botswana. N Engl J Med 367:423-434.
- 21. Choopanya K, Martin M, Suntharasamai P, Sangkum U, Mock PA, Leethochawalit M, Chiamwongpaet S, Kitisin P, Natrujirote P, Kittimunkong S, Chuachoowong R, Gvetadze RJ, McNicholl JM, Paxton LA, Curlin ME, Hendrix CW, Vanichseni S, Bangkok Tenofovir Study G. 2013. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet 381:2083-2090.
- 22. Molina JM, Capitant C, Spire B, Pialoux G, Cotte L, Charreau I, Tremblay C, Le Gall JM, Cua E, Pasquet A, Raffi F, Pintado C, Chidiac C, Chas J, Charbonneau P, Delaugerre C, Suzan-Monti M, Loze B, Fonsart J, Peytavin G, Cheret A, Timsit J, Girard G, Lorente N, Preau M, Rooney JF, Wainberg MA, Thompson D, Rozenbaum W, Dore V, Marchand L, Simon MC, Etien N, Aboulker JP, Meyer L, Delfraissy JF, Group AIS. 2015. On-Demand Preexposure Prophylaxis in Men at High Risk for HIV-1 Infection. N Engl J Med 373:2237-2246.
- 23. McCormack S, Dunn DT, Desai M, Dolling DI, Gafos M, Gilson R, Sullivan AK, Clarke A, Reeves I, Schembri G, Mackie N, Bowman C, Lacey CJ, Apea V, Brady M, Fox J, Taylor S, Antonucci S, Khoo SH, Rooney J, Nardone A, Fisher M,

McOwan A, Phillips AN, Johnson AM, Gazzard B, Gill ON. 2016. Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (PROUD): effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic open-label randomised trial. Lancet **387:**53-60.

- 24. **Maddon PJ, Dalgleish AG, McDougal JS, Clapham PR, Weiss RA, Axel R.** 1986. The T4 gene encodes the AIDS virus receptor and is expressed in the immune system and the brain. Cell **47:**333-348.
- 25. Klatzmann D, Champagne E, Chamaret S, Gruest J, Guetard D, Hercend T, Gluckman JC, Montagnier L. 1984. T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. Nature **312:**767-768.
- 26. **McDougal JS, Kennedy MS, Sligh JM, Cort SP, Mawle A, Nicholson JK.** 1986. Binding of HTLV-III/LAV to T4+ T cells by a complex of the 110K viral protein and the T4 molecule. Science **231**:382-385.
- 27. **Kwong PD, Wyatt R, Robinson J, Sweet RW, Sodroski J, Hendrickson WA.** 1998. Structure of an HIV gp120 envelope glycoprotein in complex with the CD4 receptor and a neutralizing human antibody. Nature **393:**648-659.
- 28. **Paxton WA, Martin SR, Tse D, O'Brien TR, Skurnick J, VanDevanter NL, Padian N, Braun JF, Kotler DP, Wolinsky SM, Koup RA.** 1996. Relative resistance to HIV-1 infection of CD4 lymphocytes from persons who remain uninfected despite multiple high-risk sexual exposure. Nat Med **2:**412-417.
- 29. Cocchi F, DeVico AL, Garzino-Demo A, Arya SK, Gallo RC, Lusso P. 1995. Identification of RANTES, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta as the major HIV-suppressive factors produced by CD8+ T cells. Science **270**:1811-1815.
- 30. **Feng Y, Broder CC, Kennedy PE, Berger EA.** 1996. HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. Science **272:**872-877.
- 31. Weissenhorn W, Dessen A, Harrison SC, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC. 1997. Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41. Nature **387:**426-430.
- 32. Fuller SD, Wilk T, Gowen BE, Krausslich HG, Vogt VM. 1997. Cryo-electron microscopy reveals ordered domains in the immature HIV-1 particle. Curr Biol 7:729-738.
- 33. Ganser BK, Li S, Klishko VY, Finch JT, Sundquist WI. 1999. Assembly and analysis of conical models for the HIV-1 core. Science **283**:80-83.
- 34. Gelderblom HR, Hausmann EH, Ozel M, Pauli G, Koch MA. 1987. Fine structure of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and immunolocalization of structural proteins. Virology 156:171-176.

- 35. Welker R, Hohenberg H, Tessmer U, Huckhagel C, Krausslich HG. 2000. Biochemical and structural analysis of isolated mature cores of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 74:1168-1177.
- 36. **Forshey BM, von Schwedler U, Sundquist WI, Aiken C.** 2002. Formation of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 core of optimal stability is crucial for viral replication. J Virol **76:**5667-5677.
- 37. **von Schwedler UK, Stray KM, Garrus JE, Sundquist WI.** 2003. Functional surfaces of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid protein. J Virol **77:**5439-5450.
- 38. Xu H, Franks T, Gibson G, Huber K, Rahm N, Strambio De Castillia C, Luban J, Aiken C, Watkins S, Sluis-Cremer N, Ambrose Z. 2013. Evidence for biphasic uncoating during HIV-1 infection from a novel imaging assay. Retrovirology **10**:70.
- 39. **Hulme AE, Perez O, Hope TJ.** 2011. Complementary assays reveal a relationship between HIV-1 uncoating and reverse transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **108**:9975-9980.
- 40. **Baltimore D.** 1970. RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. Nature **226**:1209-1211.
- 41. **Mizutani S, Boettiger D, Temin HM.** 1970. A DNA-depenent DNA polymerase and a DNA endonuclease in virions of Rous sarcoma virus. Nature **228**:424-427.
- 42. **Hansen J, Schulze T, Moelling K.** 1987. RNase H activity associated with bacterially expressed reverse transcriptase of human T-cell lymphotropic virus III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus. J Biol Chem **262**:12393-12396.
- 43. **Starnes MC, Cheng YC.** 1989. Human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptaseassociated RNase H activity. J Biol Chem **264**:7073-7077.
- 44. **Wondrak EM, Lower J, Kurth R.** 1986. Functional purification and enzymic characterization of the RNA-dependent DNA polymerase of human immunodeficiency virus. J Gen Virol **67** (**Pt 12**):2791-2797.
- 45. Lightfoote MM, Coligan JE, Folks TM, Fauci AS, Martin MA, Venkatesan S. 1986. Structural characterization of reverse transcriptase and endonuclease polypeptides of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome retrovirus. J Virol 60:771-775.
- 46. **di Marzo Veronese F, Copeland TD, DeVico AL, Rahman R, Oroszlan S, Gallo RC, Sarngadharan MG.** 1986. Characterization of highly immunogenic p66/p51 as the reverse transcriptase of HTLV-III/LAV. Science 231:1289-1291.
- 47. **Starnes MC, Gao WY, Ting RY, Cheng YC.** 1988. Enzyme activity gel analysis of human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptase. J Biol Chem **263**:5132-5134.

- 48. Le Grice SF, Naas T, Wohlgensinger B, Schatz O. 1991. Subunit-selective mutagenesis indicates minimal polymerase activity in heterodimer-associated p51 HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. EMBO J 10:3905-3911.
- 49. Kohlstaedt LA, Wang J, Friedman JM, Rice PA, Steitz TA. 1992. Crystal structure at 3.5 A resolution of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase complexed with an inhibitor. Science 256:1783-1790.
- 50. Mohammadi P, Desfarges S, Bartha I, Joos B, Zangger N, Munoz M, Gunthard HF, Beerenwinkel N, Telenti A, Ciuffi A. 2013. 24 hours in the life of HIV-1 in a T cell line. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003161.
- Bukrinsky MI, Sharova N, McDonald TL, Pushkarskaya T, Tarpley WG, Stevenson M. 1993. Association of integrase, matrix, and reverse transcriptase antigens of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with viral nucleic acids following acute infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:6125-6129.
- 52. **Miller MD, Farnet CM, Bushman FD.** 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition. J Virol **71:**5382-5390.
- 53. **Farnet CM, Haseltine WA.** 1991. Determination of viral proteins present in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complex. J Virol **65**:1910-1915.
- 54. **Fujiwara T, Mizuuchi K.** 1988. Retroviral DNA integration: structure of an integration intermediate. Cell **54:**497-504.
- 55. **Brown PO, Bowerman B, Varmus HE, Bishop JM.** 1989. Retroviral integration: structure of the initial covalent product and its precursor, and a role for the viral IN protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **86**:2525-2529.
- 56. **Daniel R, Greger JG, Katz RA, Taganov KD, Wu X, Kappes JC, Skalka AM.** 2004. Evidence that stable retroviral transduction and cell survival following DNA integration depend on components of the nonhomologous end joining repair pathway. J Virol **78**:8573-8581.
- 57. Yoder KE, Bushman FD. 2000. Repair of gaps in retroviral DNA integration intermediates. J Virol 74:11191-11200.
- 58. Koh Y, Wu X, Ferris AL, Matreyek KA, Smith SJ, Lee K, KewalRamani VN, Hughes SH, Engelman A. 2013. Differential effects of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid and cellular factors nucleoporin 153 and LEDGF/p75 on the efficiency and specificity of viral DNA integration. J Virol 87:648-658.
- 59. Sowd GA, Serrao E, Wang H, Wang W, Fadel HJ, Poeschla EM, Engelman AN. 2016. A critical role for alternative polyadenylation factor CPSF6 in targeting HIV-1

integration to transcriptionally active chromatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **113:**E1054-1063.

- 60. Lu YC, Touzjian N, Stenzel M, Dorfman T, Sodroski JG, Haseltine WA. 1991. The NF kappa B independent cis-acting sequences in HIV-1 LTR responsive to T-cell activation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **4**:173-177.
- 61. **Nabel G, Baltimore D.** 1987. An inducible transcription factor activates expression of human immunodeficiency virus in T cells. Nature **326:**711-713.
- 62. Shaw JP, Utz PJ, Durand DB, Toole JJ, Emmel EA, Crabtree GR. 1988. Identification of a putative regulator of early T cell activation genes. Science 241:202-205.
- 63. Sodroski J, Rosen C, Wong-Staal F, Salahuddin SZ, Popovic M, Arya S, Gallo RC, Haseltine WA. 1985. Trans-acting transcriptional regulation of human T-cell leukemia virus type III long terminal repeat. Science 227:171-173.
- 64. **Kim SY, Byrn R, Groopman J, Baltimore D.** 1989. Temporal aspects of DNA and RNA synthesis during human immunodeficiency virus infection: evidence for differential gene expression. J Virol **63:**3708-3713.
- 65. Schwartz S, Felber BK, Benko DM, Fenyo EM, Pavlakis GN. 1990. Cloning and functional analysis of multiply spliced mRNA species of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 64:2519-2529.
- 66. **Sodroski J, Patarca R, Rosen C, Wong-Staal F, Haseltine W.** 1985. Location of the trans-activating region on the genome of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type III. Science **229:**74-77.
- 67. **Muesing MA, Smith DH, Capon DJ.** 1987. Regulation of mRNA accumulation by a human immunodeficiency virus trans-activator protein. Cell **48:**691-701.
- 68. **Dingwall C, Ernberg I, Gait MJ, Green SM, Heaphy S, Karn J, Lowe AD, Singh M, Skinner MA, Valerio R.** 1989. Human immunodeficiency virus 1 tat protein binds transactivation-responsive region (TAR) RNA in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **86**:6925-6929.
- 69. **Bieniasz PD, Grdina TA, Bogerd HP, Cullen BR.** 1998. Recruitment of a protein complex containing Tat and cyclin T1 to TAR governs the species specificity of HIV-1 Tat. EMBO J **17:**7056-7065.
- 70. **Fujinaga K, Cujec TP, Peng J, Garriga J, Price DH, Grana X, Peterlin BM.** 1998. The ability of positive transcription elongation factor B to transactivate human immunodeficiency virus transcription depends on a functional kinase domain, cyclin T1, and Tat. J Virol **72:**7154-7159.

- 71. **Tahirov TH, Babayeva ND, Varzavand K, Cooper JJ, Sedore SC, Price DH.** 2010. Crystal structure of HIV-1 Tat complexed with human P-TEFb. Nature **465**:747-751.
- 72. Wei P, Garber ME, Fang SM, Fischer WH, Jones KA. 1998. A novel CDK9associated C-type cyclin interacts directly with HIV-1 Tat and mediates its high-affinity, loop-specific binding to TAR RNA. Cell **92:**451-462.
- 73. **Kao SY, Calman AF, Luciw PA, Peterlin BM.** 1987. Anti-termination of transcription within the long terminal repeat of HIV-1 by tat gene product. Nature **330**:489-493.
- 74. **Stoltzfus CM.** 2009. Chapter 1. Regulation of HIV-1 alternative RNA splicing and its role in virus replication. Adv Virus Res **74:**1-40.
- 75. Emerman M, Vazeux R, Peden K. 1989. The rev gene product of the human immunodeficiency virus affects envelope-specific RNA localization. Cell **57**:1155-1165.
- 76. **Felber BK, Hadzopoulou-Cladaras M, Cladaras C, Copeland T, Pavlakis GN.** 1989. rev protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 affects the stability and transport of the viral mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **86:**1495-1499.
- 77. **Malim MH, Hauber J, Le SY, Maizel JV, Cullen BR.** 1989. The HIV-1 rev transactivator acts through a structured target sequence to activate nuclear export of unspliced viral mRNA. Nature **338**:254-257.
- 78. Sodroski J, Goh WC, Rosen C, Dayton A, Terwilliger E, Haseltine W. 1986. A second post-transcriptional trans-activator gene required for HTLV-III replication. Nature **321:**412-417.
- 79. **Daugherty MD, Liu B, Frankel AD.** 2010. Structural basis for cooperative RNA binding and export complex assembly by HIV Rev. Nat Struct Mol Biol **17**:1337-1342.
- 80. **Fischer U, Huber J, Boelens WC, Mattaj IW, Luhrmann R.** 1995. The HIV-1 Rev activation domain is a nuclear export signal that accesses an export pathway used by specific cellular RNAs. Cell **82:**475-483.
- 81. Fornerod M, Ohno M, Yoshida M, Mattaj IW. 1997. CRM1 is an export receptor for leucine-rich nuclear export signals. Cell **90**:1051-1060.
- 82. **Ono A, Ablan SD, Lockett SJ, Nagashima K, Freed EO.** 2004. Phosphatidylinositol (4,5) bisphosphate regulates HIV-1 Gag targeting to the plasma membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:14889-14894.
- 83. Berkowitz RD, Ohagen A, Hoglund S, Goff SP. 1995. Retroviral nucleocapsid domains mediate the specific recognition of genomic viral RNAs by chimeric Gag polyproteins during RNA packaging in vivo. J Virol **69:**6445-6456.

- 84. **De Guzman RN, Wu ZR, Stalling CC, Pappalardo L, Borer PN, Summers MF.** 1998. Structure of the HIV-1 nucleocapsid protein bound to the SL3 psi-RNA recognition element. Science **279:**384-388.
- 85. **Miranda LR, Schaefer BC, Kupfer A, Hu Z, Franzusoff A.** 2002. Cell surface expression of the HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins is directed from intracellular CTLA-4-containing regulated secretory granules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99**:8031-8036.
- 86. Aloia RC, Tian H, Jensen FC. 1993. Lipid composition and fluidity of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope and host cell plasma membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:5181-5185.
- 87. Chan R, Uchil PD, Jin J, Shui G, Ott DE, Mothes W, Wenk MR. 2008. Retroviruses human immunodeficiency virus and murine leukemia virus are enriched in phosphoinositides. J Virol 82:11228-11238.
- 88. **Halwani R, Khorchid A, Cen S, Kleiman L.** 2003. Rapid localization of Gag/GagPol complexes to detergent-resistant membrane during the assembly of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol **77:**3973-3984.
- 89. Lindwasser OW, Resh MD. 2001. Multimerization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag promotes its localization to barges, raft-like membrane microdomains. J Virol **75**:7913-7924.
- 90. **Nguyen DH, Hildreth JE.** 2000. Evidence for budding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 selectively from glycolipid-enriched membrane lipid rafts. J Virol **74:**3264-3272.
- 91. **Cosson P.** 1996. Direct interaction between the envelope and matrix proteins of HIV-1. EMBO J **15:**5783-5788.
- 92. **Morita E, Sandrin V, McCullough J, Katsuyama A, Baci Hamilton I, Sundquist WI.** 2011. ESCRT-III protein requirements for HIV-1 budding. Cell Host Microbe **9:**235-242.
- 93. Gheysen D, Jacobs E, de Foresta F, Thiriart C, Francotte M, Thines D, De Wilde M. 1989. Assembly and release of HIV-1 precursor Pr55gag virus-like particles from recombinant baculovirus-infected insect cells. Cell **59**:103-112.
- 94. Wiegers K, Rutter G, Kottler H, Tessmer U, Hohenberg H, Krausslich HG. 1998. Sequential steps in human immunodeficiency virus particle maturation revealed by alterations of individual Gag polyprotein cleavage sites. J Virol **72:**2846-2854.
- 95. Kohl NE, Emini EA, Schleif WA, Davis LJ, Heimbach JC, Dixon RA, Scolnick EM, Sigal IS. 1988. Active human immunodeficiency virus protease is required for viral infectivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:4686-4690.

- 96. **Desimmie BA, Delviks-Frankenberrry KA, Burdick RC, Qi D, Izumi T, Pathak VK.** 2014. Multiple APOBEC3 restriction factors for HIV-1 and one Vif to rule them all. J Mol Biol **426**:1220-1245.
- 97. **Bogerd HP, Cullen BR.** 2008. Single-stranded RNA facilitates nucleocapsid: APOBEC3G complex formation. RNA **14**:1228-1236.
- 98. Harris RS, Bishop KN, Sheehy AM, Craig HM, Petersen-Mahrt SK, Watt IN, Neuberger MS, Malim MH. 2003. DNA deamination mediates innate immunity to retroviral infection. Cell 113:803-809.
- 99. Mangeat B, Turelli P, Caron G, Friedli M, Perrin L, Trono D. 2003. Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. Nature 424:99-103.
- 100. **Bour S, Schubert U, Strebel K.** 1995. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein specifically binds to the cytoplasmic domain of CD4: implications for the mechanism of degradation. J Virol **69:**1510-1520.
- 101. Willey RL, Buckler-White A, Strebel K. 1994. Sequences present in the cytoplasmic domain of CD4 are necessary and sufficient to confer sensitivity to the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein. J Virol **68**:1207-1212.
- 102. Willey RL, Maldarelli F, Martin MA, Strebel K. 1992. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein induces rapid degradation of CD4. J Virol 66:7193-7200.
- 103. Schubert U, Anton LC, Bacik I, Cox JH, Bour S, Bennink JR, Orlowski M, Strebel K, Yewdell JW. 1998. CD4 glycoprotein degradation induced by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein requires the function of proteasomes and the ubiquitin-conjugating pathway. J Virol 72:2280-2288.
- 104. Van Damme N, Goff D, Katsura C, Jorgenson RL, Mitchell R, Johnson MC, Stephens EB, Guatelli J. 2008. The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. Cell Host Microbe 3:245-252.
- 105. Neil SJ, Zang T, Bieniasz PD. 2008. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature 451:425-430.
- 106. Neil SJ, Eastman SW, Jouvenet N, Bieniasz PD. 2006. HIV-1 Vpu promotes release and prevents endocytosis of nascent retrovirus particles from the plasma membrane. PLoS Pathog 2:e39.
- 107. Varthakavi V, Smith RM, Bour SP, Strebel K, Spearman P. 2003. Viral protein U counteracts a human host cell restriction that inhibits HIV-1 particle production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:15154-15159.

- 108. Aiken C, Konner J, Landau NR, Lenburg ME, Trono D. 1994. Nef induces CD4 endocytosis: requirement for a critical dileucine motif in the membrane-proximal CD4 cytoplasmic domain. Cell **76**:853-864.
- 109. Garcia JV, Miller AD. 1991. Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef. Nature **350**:508-511.
- 110. Schwartz O, Marechal V, Le Gall S, Lemonnier F, Heard JM. 1996. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. Nat Med 2:338-342.
- 111. Le Gall S, Prevost MC, Heard JM, Schwartz O. 1997. Human immunodeficiency virus type I Nef independently affects virion incorporation of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules and virus infectivity. Virology **229**:295-301.
- 112. Stumptner-Cuvelette P, Morchoisne S, Dugast M, Le Gall S, Raposo G, Schwartz O, Benaroch P. 2001. HIV-1 Nef impairs MHC class II antigen presentation and surface expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:12144-12149.
- 113. Chaudhry A, Verghese DA, Das SR, Jameel S, George A, Bal V, Mayor S, Rath S. 2009. HIV-1 Nef promotes endocytosis of cell surface MHC class II molecules via a constitutive pathway. J Immunol **183**:2415-2424.
- 114. Collins KL, Chen BK, Kalams SA, Walker BD, Baltimore D. 1998. HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Nature **391:**397-401.
- 115. Rosa A, Chande A, Ziglio S, De Sanctis V, Bertorelli R, Goh SL, McCauley SM, Nowosielska A, Antonarakis SE, Luban J, Santoni FA, Pizzato M. 2015. HIV-1 Nef promotes infection by excluding SERINC5 from virion incorporation. Nature 526:212-217.
- 116. Usami Y, Wu Y, Gottlinger HG. 2015. SERINC3 and SERINC5 restrict HIV-1 infectivity and are counteracted by Nef. Nature **526**:218-223.
- 117. Klimkait T, Strebel K, Hoggan MD, Martin MA, Orenstein JM. 1990. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific protein vpu is required for efficient virus maturation and release. J Virol 64:621-629.
- 118. Gabuzda DH, Lawrence K, Langhoff E, Terwilliger E, Dorfman T, Haseltine WA, Sodroski J. 1992. Role of vif in replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Virol 66:6489-6495.
- 119. Kestler HW, 3rd, Ringler DJ, Mori K, Panicali DL, Sehgal PK, Daniel MD, Desrosiers RC. 1991. Importance of the nef gene for maintenance of high virus loads and for development of AIDS. Cell 65:651-662.

- 120. Watkins BA, Dorn HH, Kelly WB, Armstrong RC, Potts BJ, Michaels F, Kufta CV, Dubois-Dalcq M. 1990. Specific tropism of HIV-1 for microglial cells in primary human brain cultures. Science 249:549-553.
- 121. **Ho DD, Rota TR, Hirsch MS.** 1986. Infection of monocyte/macrophages by human T lymphotropic virus type III. J Clin Invest **77**:1712-1715.
- 122. Gartner S, Markovits P, Markovitz DM, Kaplan MH, Gallo RC, Popovic M. 1986. The role of mononuclear phagocytes in HTLV-III/LAV infection. Science 233:215-219.
- 123. **Patterson S, Rae A, Hockey N, Gilmour J, Gotch F.** 2001. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are highly susceptible to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection and release infectious virus. J Virol **75**:6710-6713.
- 124. **Granelli-Piperno A, Delgado E, Finkel V, Paxton W, Steinman RM.** 1998. Immature dendritic cells selectively replicate macrophagetropic (M-tropic) human immunodeficiency virus type 1, while mature cells efficiently transmit both M- and T-tropic virus to T cells. J Virol **72**:2733-2737.
- 125. Gringhuis SI, van der Vlist M, van den Berg LM, den Dunnen J, Litjens M, Geijtenbeek TB. 2010. HIV-1 exploits innate signaling by TLR8 and DC-SIGN for productive infection of dendritic cells. Nat Immunol 11:419-426.
- 126. **Popov S, Chenine AL, Gruber A, Li PL, Ruprecht RM.** 2005. Long-term productive human immunodeficiency virus infection of CD1a-sorted myeloid dendritic cells. J Virol **79:**602-608.
- 127. Lee B, Sharron M, Montaner LJ, Weissman D, Doms RW. 1999. Quantification of CD4, CCR5, and CXCR4 levels on lymphocyte subsets, dendritic cells, and differentially conditioned monocyte-derived macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:5215-5220.
- 128. Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Bibollet-Ruche F, Mokili JL, Muldoon M, Denham SA, Heil ML, Kasolo F, Musonda R, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Korber BT, Allen S, Hunter E. 2004. Envelope-constrained neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. Science 303:2019-2022.
- 129. **Zhu T, Mo H, Wang N, Nam DS, Cao Y, Koup RA, Ho DD.** 1993. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. Science **261**:1179-1181.
- 130. Wolinsky SM, Wike CM, Korber BT, Hutto C, Parks WP, Rosenblum LL, Kunstman KJ, Furtado MR, Munoz JL. 1992. Selective transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 variants from mothers to infants. Science 255:1134-1137.
- 131. Wolfs TF, Zwart G, Bakker M, Goudsmit J. 1992. HIV-1 genomic RNA diversification following sexual and parenteral virus transmission. Virology **189**:103-110.

- 132. Learn GH, Muthui D, Brodie SJ, Zhu T, Diem K, Mullins JI, Corey L. 2002. Virus population homogenization following acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol **76**:11953-11959.
- 133. Keele BF, Giorgi EE, Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Decker JM, Pham KT, Salazar MG, Sun C, Grayson T, Wang S, Li H, Wei X, Jiang C, Kirchherr JL, Gao F, Anderson JA, Ping LH, Swanstrom R, Tomaras GD, Blattner WA, Goepfert PA, Kilby JM, Saag MS, Delwart EL, Busch MP, Cohen MS, Montefiori DC, Haynes BF, Gaschen B, Athreya GS, Lee HY, Wood N, Seoighe C, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. 2008. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:7552-7557.
- 134. **Sagar M, Kirkegaard E, Long EM, Celum C, Buchbinder S, Daar ES, Overbaugh J.** 2004. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) diversity at time of infection is not restricted to certain risk groups or specific HIV-1 subtypes. J Virol **78:**7279-7283.
- 135. Ritola K, Pilcher CD, Fiscus SA, Hoffman NG, Nelson JA, Kitrinos KM, Hicks CB, Eron JJ, Jr., Swanstrom R. 2004. Multiple V1/V2 env variants are frequently present during primary infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 78:11208-11218.
- 136. Poss M, Martin HL, Kreiss JK, Granville L, Chohan B, Nyange P, Mandaliya K, Overbaugh J. 1995. Diversity in virus populations from genital secretions and peripheral blood from women recently infected with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 69:8118-8122.
- 137. Long EM, Rainwater SM, Lavreys L, Mandaliya K, Overbaugh J. 2002. HIV type 1 variants transmitted to women in Kenya require the CCR5 coreceptor for entry, regardless of the genetic complexity of the infecting virus. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 18:567-576.
- 138. Long EM, Martin HL, Jr., Kreiss JK, Rainwater SM, Lavreys L, Jackson DJ, Rakwar J, Mandaliya K, Overbaugh J. 2000. Gender differences in HIV-1 diversity at time of infection. Nat Med 6:71-75.
- 139. Grobler J, Gray CM, Rademeyer C, Seoighe C, Ramjee G, Karim SA, Morris L, Williamson C. 2004. Incidence of HIV-1 dual infection and its association with increased viral load set point in a cohort of HIV-1 subtype C-infected female sex workers. J Infect Dis 190:1355-1359.
- 140. Zeitz M, Greene WC, Peffer NJ, James SP. 1988. Lymphocytes isolated from the intestinal lamina propria of normal nonhuman primates have increased expression of genes associated with T-cell activation. Gastroenterology **94**:647-655.

- 141. van't Wout AB, Kootstra NA, Mulder-Kampinga GA, Albrecht-van Lent N, Scherpbier HJ, Veenstra J, Boer K, Coutinho RA, Miedema F, Schuitemaker H. 1994. Macrophage-tropic variants initiate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection after sexual, parenteral, and vertical transmission. J Clin Invest 94:2060-2067.
- 142. Meng G, Sellers MT, Mosteller-Barnum M, Rogers TS, Shaw GM, Smith PD. 2000. Lamina propria lymphocytes, not macrophages, express CCR5 and CXCR4 and are the likely target cell for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in the intestinal mucosa. J Infect Dis 182:785-791.
- 143. Salazar-Gonzalez JF, Salazar MG, Keele BF, Learn GH, Giorgi EE, Li H, Decker JM, Wang S, Baalwa J, Kraus MH, Parrish NF, Shaw KS, Guffey MB, Bar KJ, Davis KL, Ochsenbauer-Jambor C, Kappes JC, Saag MS, Cohen MS, Mulenga J, Derdeyn CA, Allen S, Hunter E, Markowitz M, Hraber P, Perelson AS, Bhattacharya T, Haynes BF, Korber BT, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. 2009. Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med 206:1273-1289.
- 144. Veazey RS, Tham IC, Mansfield KG, DeMaria M, Forand AE, Shvetz DE, Chalifoux LV, Sehgal PK, Lackner AA. 2000. Identifying the target cell in primary simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection: highly activated memory CD4(+) T cells are rapidly eliminated in early SIV infection in vivo. J Virol **74:**57-64.
- 145. Isaacman-Beck J, Hermann EA, Yi Y, Ratcliffe SJ, Mulenga J, Allen S, Hunter E, Derdeyn CA, Collman RG. 2009. Heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C: Macrophage tropism, alternative coreceptor use, and the molecular anatomy of CCR5 utilization. J Virol 83:8208-8220.
- 146. **Poles MA, Elliott J, Taing P, Anton PA, Chen IS.** 2001. A preponderance of CCR5(+) CXCR4(+) mononuclear cells enhances gastrointestinal mucosal susceptibility to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol **75**:8390-8399.
- 147. Meng G, Wei X, Wu X, Sellers MT, Decker JM, Moldoveanu Z, Orenstein JM, Graham MF, Kappes JC, Mestecky J, Shaw GM, Smith PD. 2002. Primary intestinal epithelial cells selectively transfer R5 HIV-1 to CCR5+ cells. Nat Med 8:150-156.
- 148. Lapenta C, Boirivant M, Marini M, Santini SM, Logozzi M, Viora M, Belardelli F, Fais S. 1999. Human intestinal lamina propria lymphocytes are naturally permissive to HIV-1 infection. Eur J Immunol **29**:1202-1208.
- 149. Anton PA, Elliott J, Poles MA, McGowan IM, Matud J, Hultin LE, Grovit-Ferbas K, Mackay CR, Chen ISY, Giorgi JV. 2000. Enhanced levels of functional HIV-1 correceptors on human mucosal T cells demonstrated using intestinal biopsy tissue. AIDS 14:1761-1765.
- 150. Yukl SA, Gianella S, Sinclair E, Epling L, Li Q, Duan L, Choi AL, Girling V, Ho T, Li P, Fujimoto K, Lampiris H, Hare CB, Pandori M, Haase AT, Gunthard HF, Fischer M, Shergill AK, McQuaid K, Havlir DV, Wong JK. 2010. Differences in HIV burden and immune activation within the gut of HIV-positive patients receiving suppressive antiretroviral therapy. J Infect Dis 202:1553-1561.
- 151. **Mowat AM, Viney JL.** 1997. The anatomical basis of intestinal immunity. Immunol Rev **156**:145-166.
- 152. Stieh DJ, Matias E, Xu H, Fought AJ, Blanchard JL, Marx PA, Veazey RS, Hope TJ. 2016. Th17 Cells Are Preferentially Infected Very Early after Vaginal Transmission of SIV in Macaques. Cell Host Microbe 19:529-540.
- 153. Alvarez Y, Tuen M, Shen G, Nawaz F, Arthos J, Wolff MJ, Poles MA, Hioe CE. 2013. Preferential HIV infection of CCR6+ Th17 cells is associated with higher levels of virus receptor expression and lack of CCR5 ligands. J Virol **87:**10843-10854.
- 154. Brenchley JM, Paiardini M, Knox KS, Asher AI, Cervasi B, Asher TE, Scheinberg P, Price DA, Hage CA, Kholi LM, Khoruts A, Frank I, Else J, Schacker T, Silvestri G, Douek DC. 2008. Differential Th17 CD4 T-cell depletion in pathogenic and nonpathogenic lentiviral infections. Blood 112:2826-2835.
- 155. Cecchinato V, Trindade CJ, Laurence A, Heraud JM, Brenchley JM, Ferrari MG, Zaffiri L, Tryniszewska E, Tsai WP, Vaccari M, Parks RW, Venzon D, Douek DC, O'Shea JJ, Franchini G. 2008. Altered balance between Th17 and Th1 cells at mucosal sites predicts AIDS progression in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. Mucosal Immunol 1:279-288.
- 156. Schuitemaker H, Koot M, Kootstra NA, Dercksen MW, de Goede RE, van Steenwijk RP, Lange JM, Schattenkerk JK, Miedema F, Tersmette M. 1992. Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytotropic to Tcell-tropic virus population. J Virol 66:1354-1360.
- 157. **Richman DD, Bozzette SA.** 1994. The impact of the syncytium-inducing phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus on disease progression. J Infect Dis **169**:968-974.
- 158. Koot M, van 't Wout AB, Kootstra NA, de Goede RE, Tersmette M, Schuitemaker H. 1996. Relation between changes in cellular load, evolution of viral phenotype, and the clonal composition of virus populations in the course of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Infect Dis 173:349-354.
- 159. Embretson J, Zupancic M, Ribas JL, Burke A, Racz P, Tenner-Racz K, Haase AT. 1993. Massive covert infection of helper T lymphocytes and macrophages by HIV during the incubation period of AIDS. Nature **362**:359-362.

- 160. Little SJ, McLean AR, Spina CA, Richman DD, Havlir DV. 1999. Viral dynamics of acute HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med **190:**841-850.
- 161. **Daar ES, Moudgil T, Meyer RD, Ho DD.** 1991. Transient high levels of viremia in patients with primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. N Engl J Med **324:**961-964.
- 162. Clark SJ, Saag MS, Decker WD, Campbell-Hill S, Roberson JL, Veldkamp PJ, Kappes JC, Hahn BH, Shaw GM. 1991. High titers of cytopathic virus in plasma of patients with symptomatic primary HIV-1 infection. N Engl J Med **324**:954-960.
- 163. Vlahov D, Graham N, Hoover D, Flynn C, Bartlett JG, Margolick JB, Lyles CM, Nelson KE, Smith D, Holmberg S, Farzadegan H. 1998. Prognostic indicators for AIDS and infectious disease death in HIV-infected injection drug users: plasma viral load and CD4+ cell count. JAMA 279:35-40.
- 164. O'Brien TR, Blattner WA, Waters D, Eyster E, Hilgartner MW, Cohen AR, Luban N, Hatzakis A, Aledort LM, Rosenberg PS, Miley WJ, Kroner BL, Goedert JJ. 1996. Serum HIV-1 RNA levels and time to development of AIDS in the Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study. JAMA 276:105-110.
- 165. Mellors JW, Munoz A, Giorgi JV, Margolick JB, Tassoni CJ, Gupta P, Kingsley LA, Todd JA, Saah AJ, Detels R, Phair JP, Rinaldo CR, Jr. 1997. Plasma viral load and CD4+ lymphocytes as prognostic markers of HIV-1 infection. Ann Intern Med 126:946-954.
- 166. Anastos K, Kalish LA, Hessol N, Weiser B, Melnick S, Burns D, Delapenha R, DeHovitz J, Cohen M, Meyer W, Bremer J, Kovacs A. 1999. The relative value of CD4 cell count and quantitative HIV-1 RNA in predicting survival in HIV-1-infected women: results of the women's interagency HIV study. AIDS 13:1717-1726.
- 167. Lyles RH, Munoz A, Yamashita TE, Bazmi H, Detels R, Rinaldo CR, Margolick JB, Phair JP, Mellors JW. 2000. Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viremia after seroconversion and proximal to AIDS in a large cohort of homosexual men. Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Infect Dis 181:872-880.
- 168. Rodriguez B, Sethi AK, Cheruvu VK, Mackay W, Bosch RJ, Kitahata M, Boswell SL, Mathews WC, Bangsberg DR, Martin J, Whalen CC, Sieg S, Yadavalli S, Deeks SG, Lederman MM. 2006. Predictive value of plasma HIV RNA level on rate of CD4 T-cell decline in untreated HIV infection. JAMA 296:1498-1506.
- 169. Liu Z, Cumberland WG, Hultin LE, Prince HE, Detels R, Giorgi JV. 1997. Elevated CD38 antigen expression on CD8+ T cells is a stronger marker for the risk of chronic HIV disease progression to AIDS and death in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study than CD4+ cell count, soluble immune activation markers, or combinations of HLA-DR and CD38 expression. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 16:83-92.

- 170. Giorgi JV, Liu Z, Hultin LE, Cumberland WG, Hennessey K, Detels R. 1993. Elevated levels of CD38+ CD8+ T cells in HIV infection add to the prognostic value of low CD4+ T cell levels: results of 6 years of follow-up. The Los Angeles Center, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 6:904-912.
- 171. **Fahey JL, Taylor JM, Manna B, Nishanian P, Aziz N, Giorgi JV, Detels R.** 1998. Prognostic significance of plasma markers of immune activation, HIV viral load and CD4 T-cell measurements. AIDS **12:**1581-1590.
- 172. Marchetti G, Cozzi-Lepri A, Merlini E, Bellistri GM, Castagna A, Galli M, Verucchi G, Antinori A, Costantini A, Giacometti A, di Caro A, D'Arminio Monforte A, Group IFS. 2011. Microbial translocation predicts disease progression of HIV-infected antiretroviral-naive patients with high CD4+ cell count. AIDS 25:1385-1394.
- 173. Zagury D, Bernard J, Leonard R, Cheynier R, Feldman M, Sarin PS, Gallo RC. 1986. Long-term cultures of HTLV-III--infected T cells: a model of cytopathology of Tcell depletion in AIDS. Science 231:850-853.
- 174. Mehandru S, Poles MA, Tenner-Racz K, Horowitz A, Hurley A, Hogan C, Boden D, Racz P, Markowitz M. 2004. Primary HIV-1 infection is associated with preferential depletion of CD4+ T lymphocytes from effector sites in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med 200:761-770.
- 175. Brenchley JM, Schacker TW, Ruff LE, Price DA, Taylor JH, Beilman GJ, Nguyen PL, Khoruts A, Larson M, Haase AT, Douek DC. 2004. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med 200:749-759.
- 176. Finkel TH, Tudor-Williams G, Banda NK, Cotton MF, Curiel T, Monks C, Baba TW, Ruprecht RM, Kupfer A. 1995. Apoptosis occurs predominantly in bystander cells and not in productively infected cells of HIV- and SIV-infected lymph nodes. Nat Med 1:129-134.
- 177. Doitsh G, Galloway NL, Geng X, Yang Z, Monroe KM, Zepeda O, Hunt PW, Hatano H, Sowinski S, Munoz-Arias I, Greene WC. 2014. Cell death by pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection. Nature 505:509-514.
- 178. Walker CM, Moody DJ, Stites DP, Levy JA. 1986. CD8+ lymphocytes can control HIV infection in vitro by suppressing virus replication. Science 234:1563-1566.
- 179. Martin MP, Gao X, Lee JH, Nelson GW, Detels R, Goedert JJ, Buchbinder S, Hoots K, Vlahov D, Trowsdale J, Wilson M, O'Brien SJ, Carrington M. 2002. Epistatic interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-B delays the progression to AIDS. Nat Genet 31:429-434.

- 180. Nazli A, Chan O, Dobson-Belaire WN, Ouellet M, Tremblay MJ, Gray-Owen SD, Arsenault AL, Kaushic C. 2010. Exposure to HIV-1 directly impairs mucosal epithelial barrier integrity allowing microbial translocation. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000852.
- 181. Marchetti G, Bellistri GM, Borghi E, Tincati C, Ferramosca S, La Francesca M, Morace G, Gori A, Monforte AD. 2008. Microbial translocation is associated with sustained failure in CD4+ T-cell reconstitution in HIV-infected patients on long-term highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 22:2035-2038.
- 182. Brenchley JM, Price DA, Schacker TW, Asher TE, Silvestri G, Rao S, Kazzaz Z, Bornstein E, Lambotte O, Altmann D, Blazar BR, Rodriguez B, Teixeira-Johnson L, Landay A, Martin JN, Hecht FM, Picker LJ, Lederman MM, Deeks SG, Douek DC. 2006. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. Nat Med 12:1365-1371.
- 183. Sandler NG, Wand H, Roque A, Law M, Nason MC, Nixon DE, Pedersen C, Ruxrungtham K, Lewin SR, Emery S, Neaton JD, Brenchley JM, Deeks SG, Sereti I, Douek DC, Group ISS. 2011. Plasma levels of soluble CD14 independently predict mortality in HIV infection. J Infect Dis 203:780-790.
- 184. Perkins MR, Bartha I, Timmer JK, Liebner JC, Wolinsky D, Gunthard HF, Hauser C, Bernasconi E, Hoffmann M, Calmy A, Battegay M, Telenti A, Douek DC, Fellay J, Swiss HIVCS. 2015. The Interplay Between Host Genetic Variation, Viral Replication, and Microbial Translocation in Untreated HIV-Infected Individuals. J Infect Dis 212:578-584.
- 185. Smith AJ, Schacker TW, Reilly CS, Haase AT. 2010. A role for syndecan-1 and claudin-2 in microbial translocation during HIV-1 infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 55:306-315.
- 186. Wiley CA, Schrier RD, Nelson JA, Lampert PW, Oldstone MB. 1986. Cellular localization of human immunodeficiency virus infection within the brains of acquired immune deficiency syndrome patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:7089-7093.
- 187. Gabuzda DH, Ho DD, de la Monte SM, Hirsch MS, Rota TR, Sobel RA. 1986. Immunohistochemical identification of HTLV-III antigen in brains of patients with AIDS. Ann Neurol 20:289-295.
- 188. Cheng-Mayer C, Weiss C, Seto D, Levy JA. 1989. Isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from the brain may constitute a special group of the AIDS virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:8575-8579.
- 189. Navia BA, Jordan BD, Price RW. 1986. The AIDS dementia complex: I. Clinical features. Ann Neurol 19:517-524.

- 190. Navia BA, Cho ES, Petito CK, Price RW. 1986. The AIDS dementia complex: II. Neuropathology. Ann Neurol 19:525-535.
- 191. Goulder PJ, Phillips RE, Colbert RA, McAdam S, Ogg G, Nowak MA, Giangrande P, Luzzi G, Morgan B, Edwards A, McMichael AJ, Rowland-Jones S. 1997. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. Nat Med 3:212-217.
- 192. Phillips RE, Rowland-Jones S, Nixon DF, Gotch FM, Edwards JP, Ogunlesi AO, Elvin JG, Rothbard JA, Bangham CR, Rizza CR, et al. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus genetic variation that can escape cytotoxic T cell recognition. Nature 354:453-459.
- 193. Goulder PJ, Brander C, Tang Y, Tremblay C, Colbert RA, Addo MM, Rosenberg ES, Nguyen T, Allen R, Trocha A, Altfeld M, He S, Bunce M, Funkhouser R, Pelton SI, Burchett SK, McIntosh K, Korber BT, Walker BD. 2001. Evolution and transmission of stable CTL escape mutations in HIV infection. Nature **412**:334-338.
- 194. Albert J, Abrahamsson B, Nagy K, Aurelius E, Gaines H, Nystrom G, Fenyo EM. 1990. Rapid development of isolate-specific neutralizing antibodies after primary HIV-1 infection and consequent emergence of virus variants which resist neutralization by autologous sera. AIDS 4:107-112.
- 195. **Tremblay M, Wainberg MA.** 1990. Neutralization of multiple HIV-1 isolates from a single subject by autologous sequential sera. J Infect Dis **162**:735-737.
- 196. Richman DD, Wrin T, Little SJ, Petropoulos CJ. 2003. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:4144-4149.
- 197. Montefiori DC, Zhou IY, Barnes B, Lake D, Hersh EM, Masuho Y, Lefkowitz LB, Jr. 1991. Homotypic antibody responses to fresh clinical isolates of human immunodeficiency virus. Virology 182:635-643.
- 198. **Munoz A, Wang MC, Bass S, Taylor JM, Kingsley LA, Chmiel JS, Polk BF.** 1989. Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS)-free time after human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) seroconversion in homosexual men. Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study Group. Am J Epidemiol **130**:530-539.
- 199. Nakagawa F, May M, Phillips A. 2013. Life expectancy living with HIV: recent estimates and future implications. Curr Opin Infect Dis 26:17-25.
- 200. **Pantaleo G, Graziosi C, Fauci AS.** 1993. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. N Engl J Med **328**:327-335.

- 201. **Fauci AS, Desrosiers RC.** 1997. Pathogenesis of HIV and SIV. *In* Coffin JM, Hughes SH, Varmus HE (ed), Retroviruses. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press., Cold Spring Harbor (NY).
- 202. Swanstrom R, Coffin J. 2012. HIV-1 pathogenesis: the virus. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a007443.
- 203. Hutter G, Nowak D, Mossner M, Ganepola S, Mussig A, Allers K, Schneider T, Hofmann J, Kucherer C, Blau O, Blau IW, Hofmann WK, Thiel E. 2009. Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stem-cell transplantation. N Engl J Med 360:692-698.
- 204. Liu R, Paxton WA, Choe S, Ceradini D, Martin SR, Horuk R, MacDonald ME, Stuhlmann H, Koup RA, Landau NR. 1996. Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. Cell 86:367-377.
- 205. Dean M, Carrington M, Winkler C, Huttley GA, Smith MW, Allikmets R, Goedert JJ, Buchbinder SP, Vittinghoff E, Gomperts E, Donfield S, Vlahov D, Kaslow R, Saah A, Rinaldo C, Detels R, O'Brien SJ. 1996. Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the CKR5 structural gene. Hemophilia Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE Study. Science 273:1856-1862.
- 206. Samson M, Libert F, Doranz BJ, Rucker J, Liesnard C, Farber CM, Saragosti S, Lapoumeroulie C, Cognaux J, Forceille C, Muyldermans G, Verhofstede C, Burtonboy G, Georges M, Imai T, Rana S, Yi Y, Smyth RJ, Collman RG, Doms RW, Vassart G, Parmentier M. 1996. Resistance to HIV-1 infection in caucasian individuals bearing mutant alleles of the CCR-5 chemokine receptor gene. Nature 382:722-725.
- 207. **Hutter G.** 2014. More on shift of HIV tropism in stem-cell transplantation with CCR5 delta32/delta32 mutation. N Engl J Med **371:**2437-2438.
- 208. Wild C, Greenwell T, Shugars D, Rimsky-Clarke L, Matthews T. 1995. The inhibitory activity of an HIV type 1 peptide correlates with its ability to interact with a leucine zipper structure. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 11:323-325.
- 209. Kliger Y, Shai Y. 2000. Inhibition of HIV-1 entry before gp41 folds into its fusionactive conformation. J Mol Biol 295:163-168.
- 210. Dorr P, Westby M, Dobbs S, Griffin P, Irvine B, Macartney M, Mori J, Rickett G, Smith-Burchnell C, Napier C, Webster R, Armour D, Price D, Stammen B, Wood A, Perros M. 2005. Maraviroc (UK-427,857), a potent, orally bioavailable, and selective

small-molecule inhibitor of chemokine receptor CCR5 with broad-spectrum anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **49:**4721-4732.

- 211. Nelson M, Arasteh K, Clotet B, Cooper DA, Henry K, Katlama C, Lalezari JP, Lazzarin A, Montaner JS, O'Hearn M, Piliero PJ, Reynes J, Trottier B, Walmsley SL, Cohen C, Eron JJ, Jr., Kuritzkes DR, Lange J, Stellbrink HJ, Delfraissy JF, Buss NE, Donatacci L, Wat C, Smiley L, Wilkinson M, Valentine A, Guimaraes D, Demasi R, Chung J, Salgo MP. 2005. Durable efficacy of enfuvirtide over 48 weeks in heavily treatment-experienced HIV-1-infected patients in the T-20 versus optimized background regimen only 1 and 2 clinical trials. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 40:404-412.
- 212. Cooper DA, Heera J, Goodrich J, Tawadrous M, Saag M, Dejesus E, Clumeck N, Walmsley S, Ting N, Coakley E, Reeves JD, Reyes-Teran G, Westby M, Van Der Ryst E, Ive P, Mohapi L, Mingrone H, Horban A, Hackman F, Sullivan J, Mayer H. 2010. Maraviroc versus efavirenz, both in combination with zidovudine-lamivudine, for the treatment of antiretroviral-naive subjects with CCR5-tropic HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 201:803-813.
- 213. **Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents.** 2016. Guidelines for the use of antiretroviral agents in HIV-1-infected adults and adolescents. Department of Health and Human Services, United States. http://www.aidsinfo.nih.gov/ContentFiles/AdultandAdolescentGL.pdf.
- 214. Goody RS, Muller B, Restle T. 1991. Factors contributing to the inhibition of HIV reverse transcriptase by chain-terminating nucleotides in vitro and in vivo. FEBS Lett 291:1-5.
- 215. Furman PA, Fyfe JA, St Clair MH, Weinhold K, Rideout JL, Freeman GA, Lehrman SN, Bolognesi DP, Broder S, Mitsuya H, et al. 1986. Phosphorylation of 3'azido-3'-deoxythymidine and selective interaction of the 5'-triphosphate with human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:8333-8337.
- 216. Esnouf R, Ren J, Ross C, Jones Y, Stammers D, Stuart D. 1995. Mechanism of inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase by non-nucleoside inhibitors. Nat Struct Biol 2:303-308.
- 217. Ren J, Esnouf R, Garman E, Somers D, Ross C, Kirby I, Keeling J, Darby G, Jones Y, Stuart D, et al. 1995. High resolution structures of HIV-1 RT from four RT-inhibitor complexes. Nat Struct Biol 2:293-302.
- 218. Rodgers DW, Gamblin SJ, Harris BA, Ray S, Culp JS, Hellmig B, Woolf DJ, Debouck C, Harrison SC. 1995. The structure of unliganded reverse transcriptase from the human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:1222-1226.

- 219. Das K, Martinez SE, Bauman JD, Arnold E. 2012. HIV-1 reverse transcriptase complex with DNA and nevirapine reveals non-nucleoside inhibition mechanism. Nat Struct Mol Biol 19:253-259.
- 220. **Rittinger K, Divita G, Goody RS.** 1995. Human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptase substrate-induced conformational changes and the mechanism of inhibition by nonnucleoside inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **92**:8046-8049.
- 221. **Spence RA, Kati WM, Anderson KS, Johnson KA.** 1995. Mechanism of inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase by nonnucleoside inhibitors. Science **267**:988-993.
- 222. Espeseth AS, Felock P, Wolfe A, Witmer M, Grobler J, Anthony N, Egbertson M, Melamed JY, Young S, Hamill T, Cole JL, Hazuda DJ. 2000. HIV-1 integrase inhibitors that compete with the target DNA substrate define a unique strand transfer conformation for integrase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:11244-11249.
- 223. Hazuda DJ, Felock P, Witmer M, Wolfe A, Stillmock K, Grobler JA, Espeseth A, Gabryelski L, Schleif W, Blau C, Miller MD. 2000. Inhibitors of strand transfer that prevent integration and inhibit HIV-1 replication in cells. Science **287**:646-650.
- 224. Seelmeier S, Schmidt H, Turk V, von der Helm K. 1988. Human immunodeficiency virus has an aspartic-type protease that can be inhibited by pepstatin A. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:6612-6616.
- 225. Roberts NA, Martin JA, Kinchington D, Broadhurst AV, Craig JC, Duncan IB, Galpin SA, Handa BK, Kay J, Krohn A, et al. 1990. Rational design of peptide-based HIV proteinase inhibitors. Science 248:358-361.
- 226. **World Health Organization.** 2015. Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 227. McGrath CJ, Chung MH, Richardson BA, Benki-Nugent S, Warui D, John-Stewart GC. 2011. Younger age at HAART initiation is associated with more rapid growth reconstitution. AIDS 25:345-355.
- 228. Laughton B, Cornell M, Grove D, Kidd M, Springer PE, Dobbels E, van Rensburg AJ, Violari A, Babiker AG, Madhi SA, Jean-Philippe P, Gibb DM, Cotton MF. 2012. Early antiretroviral therapy improves neurodevelopmental outcomes in infants. AIDS 26:1685-1690.
- 229. Raguenaud ME, Isaakidis P, Zachariah R, Te V, Soeung S, Akao K, Kumar V. 2009. Excellent outcomes among HIV+ children on ART, but unacceptably high pre-ART mortality and losses to follow-up: a cohort study from Cambodia. BMC Pediatr 9:54.

- 230. Puthanakit T, Saphonn V, Ananworanich J, Kosalaraksa P, Hansudewechakul R, Vibol U, Kerr SJ, Kanjanavanit S, Ngampiyaskul C, Wongsawat J, Luesomboon W, Ngo-Giang-Huong N, Chettra K, Cheunyam T, Suwarnlerk T, Ubolyam S, Shearer WT, Paul R, Mofenson LM, Fox L, Law MG, Cooper DA, Phanuphak P, Vun MC, Ruxrungtham K, Group PS. 2012. Early versus deferred antiretroviral therapy for children older than 1 year infected with HIV (PREDICT): a multicentre, randomised, open-label trial. Lancet Infect Dis 12:933-941.
- 231. Anglemyer A, Rutherford GW, Easterbrook PJ, Horvath T, Vitoria M, Jan M, Doherty MC. 2014. Early initiation of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected adults and adolescents: a systematic review. AIDS 28 Suppl 2:S105-118.
- 232. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, Hakim JG, Kumwenda J, Grinsztejn B, Pilotto JH, Godbole SV, Mehendale S, Chariyalertsak S, Santos BR, Mayer KH, Hoffman IF, Eshleman SH, Piwowar-Manning E, Wang L, Makhema J, Mills LA, de Bruyn G, Sanne I, Eron J, Gallant J, Havlir D, Swindells S, Ribaudo H, Elharrar V, Burns D, Taha TE, Nielsen-Saines K, Celentano D, Essex M, Fleming TR, Team HS. 2011. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med 365:493-505.
- 233. Severe P, Juste MA, Ambroise A, Eliacin L, Marchand C, Apollon S, Edwards A, Bang H, Nicotera J, Godfrey C, Gulick RM, Johnson WD, Jr., Pape JW, Fitzgerald DW. 2010. Early versus standard antiretroviral therapy for HIV-infected adults in Haiti. N Engl J Med 363:257-265.
- 234. Group TAS, Danel C, Moh R, Gabillard D, Badje A, Le Carrou J, Ouassa T, Ouattara E, Anzian A, Ntakpe JB, Minga A, Kouame GM, Bouhoussou F, Emieme A, Kouame A, Inwoley A, Toni TD, Ahiboh H, Kabran M, Rabe C, Sidibe B, Nzunetu G, Konan R, Gnokoro J, Gouesse P, Messou E, Dohoun L, Kamagate S, Yao A, Amon S, Kouame AB, Koua A, Kouame E, Ndri Y, Ba-Gomis O, Daligou M, Ackoundze S, Hawerlander D, Ani A, Dembele F, Kone F, Guehi C, Kanga C, Koule S, Seri J, Oyebi M, Mbakop N, Makaila O, Babatunde C, Babatounde N, et al. 2015. A Trial of Early Antiretrovirals and Isoniazid Preventive Therapy in Africa. N Engl J Med 373:808-822.
- 235. Strategies for Management of Antiretroviral Therapy Study G, Emery S, Neuhaus JA, Phillips AN, Babiker A, Cohen CJ, Gatell JM, Girard PM, Grund B, Law M, Losso MH, Palfreeman A, Wood R. 2008. Major clinical outcomes in antiretroviral therapy (ART)-naive participants and in those not receiving ART at baseline in the SMART study. J Infect Dis 197:1133-1144.
- 236. Group ISS, Lundgren JD, Babiker AG, Gordin F, Emery S, Grund B, Sharma S, Avihingsanon A, Cooper DA, Fatkenheuer G, Llibre JM, Molina JM, Munderi P, Schechter M, Wood R, Klingman KL, Collins S, Lane HC, Phillips AN, Neaton JD. 2015. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Early Asymptomatic HIV Infection. N Engl J Med 373:795-807.

- 237. Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T, Vernazza P, Collins S, van Lunzen J, Corbelli GM, Estrada V, Geretti AM, Beloukas A, Asboe D, Viciana P, Gutierrez F, Clotet B, Pradier C, Gerstoft J, Weber R, Westling K, Wandeler G, Prins JM, Rieger A, Stoeckle M, Kummerle T, Bini T, Ammassari A, Gilson R, Krznaric I, Ristola M, Zangerle R, Handberg P, Antela A, Allan S, Phillips AN, Lundgren J, Group PS. 2016. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA 316:171-181.
- 238. Attia S, Egger M, Muller M, Zwahlen M, Low N. 2009. Sexual transmission of HIV according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS 23:1397-1404.
- 239. **Roberts JD, Bebenek K, Kunkel TA.** 1988. The accuracy of reverse transcriptase from HIV-1. Science **242**:1171-1173.
- 240. Kati WM, Johnson KA, Jerva LF, Anderson KS. 1992. Mechanism and fidelity of HIV reverse transcriptase. J Biol Chem 267:25988-25997.
- 241. **Mansky LM, Temin HM.** 1995. Lower in vivo mutation rate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 than that predicted from the fidelity of purified reverse transcriptase. J Virol **69**:5087-5094.
- 242. Kim T, Mudry RA, Jr., Rexrode CA, 2nd, Pathak VK. 1996. Retroviral mutation rates and A-to-G hypermutations during different stages of retroviral replication. J Virol **70**:7594-7602.
- 243. Abram ME, Ferris AL, Shao W, Alvord WG, Hughes SH. 2010. Nature, position, and frequency of mutations made in a single cycle of HIV-1 replication. J Virol 84:9864-9878.
- 244. Gao F, Chen Y, Levy DN, Conway JA, Kepler TB, Hui H. 2004. Unselected mutations in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genome are mostly nonsynonymous and often deleterious. J Virol 78:2426-2433.
- 245. Cromer D, Schlub TE, Smyth RP, Grimm AJ, Chopra A, Mallal S, Davenport MP, Mak J. 2016. HIV-1 Mutation and Recombination Rates Are Different in Macrophages and T-cells. Viruses 8:118.
- 246. O'Neil PK, Sun G, Yu H, Ron Y, Dougherty JP, Preston BD. 2002. Mutational analysis of HIV-1 long terminal repeats to explore the relative contribution of reverse transcriptase and RNA polymerase II to viral mutagenesis. J Biol Chem 277:38053-38061.

- 247. Bebenek K, Abbotts J, Roberts JD, Wilson SH, Kunkel TA. 1989. Specificity and mechanism of error-prone replication by human immunodeficiency virus-1 reverse transcriptase. J Biol Chem 264:16948-16956.
- 248. **Thomas MJ, Platas AA, Hawley DK.** 1998. Transcriptional fidelity and proofreading by RNA polymerase II. Cell **93:**627-637.
- 249. Hu WS, Temin HM. 1990. Retroviral recombination and reverse transcription. Science 250:1227-1233.
- 250. Clavel F, Hoggan MD, Willey RL, Strebel K, Martin MA, Repaske R. 1989. Genetic recombination of human immunodeficiency virus. J Virol 63:1455-1459.
- 251. **Butler IF, Pandrea I, Marx PA, Apetrei C.** 2007. HIV genetic diversity: biological and public health consequences. Curr HIV Res **5**:23-45.
- 252. **Zhuang J, Jetzt AE, Sun G, Yu H, Klarmann G, Ron Y, Preston BD, Dougherty JP.** 2002. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 recombination: rate, fidelity, and putative hot spots. J Virol **76:**11273-11282.
- 253. **Rhodes T, Wargo H, Hu WS.** 2003. High rates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 recombination: near-random segregation of markers one kilobase apart in one round of viral replication. J Virol **77:**11193-11200.
- 254. Nguyen LA, Kim DH, Daly MB, Allan KC, Kim B. 2014. Host SAMHD1 protein promotes HIV-1 recombination in macrophages. J Biol Chem **289**:2489-2496.
- 255. Weiss KK, Chen R, Skasko M, Reynolds HM, Lee K, Bambara RA, Mansky LM, Kim B. 2004. A role for dNTP binding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase in viral mutagenesis. Biochemistry **43**:4490-4500.
- 256. **Operario DJ, Balakrishnan M, Bambara RA, Kim B.** 2006. Reduced dNTP interaction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase promotes strand transfer. J Biol Chem **281**:32113-32121.
- 257. Daddacha W, Noble E, Nguyen LA, Kennedy EM, Kim B. 2013. Effect of ribonucleotides embedded in a DNA template on HIV-1 reverse transcription kinetics and fidelity. J Biol Chem 288:12522-12532.
- 258. Cuevas JM, Geller R, Garijo R, Lopez-Aldeguer J, Sanjuan R. 2015. Extremely High Mutation Rate of HIV-1 In Vivo. PLoS Biol 13:e1002251.
- 259. Delviks-Frankenberry KA, Nikolaitchik OA, Burdick RC, Gorelick RJ, Keele BF, Hu WS, Pathak VK. 2016. Minimal Contribution of APOBEC3-Induced G-to-A Hypermutation to HIV-1 Recombination and Genetic Variation. PLoS Pathog 12:e1005646.

- 260. Jern P, Russell RA, Pathak VK, Coffin JM. 2009. Likely role of APOBEC3Gmediated G-to-A mutations in HIV-1 evolution and drug resistance. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000367.
- 261. Sadler HA, Stenglein MD, Harris RS, Mansky LM. 2010. APOBEC3G contributes to HIV-1 variation through sublethal mutagenesis. J Virol 84:7396-7404.
- 262. **Mulder LC, Harari A, Simon V.** 2008. Cytidine deamination induced HIV-1 drug resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **105**:5501-5506.
- 263. **Perelson AS, Neumann AU, Markowitz M, Leonard JM, Ho DD.** 1996. HIV-1 dynamics in vivo: virion clearance rate, infected cell life-span, and viral generation time. Science **271:**1582-1586.
- 264. **Coffin JM.** 1995. HIV population dynamics in vivo: implications for genetic variation, pathogenesis, and therapy. Science **267:**483-489.
- 265. Azijn H, Tirry I, Vingerhoets J, de Bethune MP, Kraus G, Boven K, Jochmans D, Van Craenenbroeck E, Picchio G, Rimsky LT. 2010. TMC278, a next-generation nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI), active against wild-type and NNRTI-resistant HIV-1. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 54:718-727.
- 266. **Shafer RW.** 2006. Rationale and uses of a public HIV drug-resistance database. J Infect Dis **194 Suppl 1:**S51-58.
- 267. Roche M, Borm K, Flynn JK, Lewin SR, Churchill MJ, Gorry PR. 2016. Molecular Gymnastics: Mechanisms of HIV-1 Resistance to CCR5 Antagonists and Impact on Virus Phenotypes. Curr Top Med Chem 16:1091-1106.
- 268. Larder BA, Darby G, Richman DD. 1989. HIV with reduced sensitivity to zidovudine (AZT) isolated during prolonged therapy. Science 243:1731-1734.
- 269. Schuurman R, Nijhuis M, van Leeuwen R, Schipper P, de Jong D, Collis P, Danner SA, Mulder J, Loveday C, Christopherson C, et al. 1995. Rapid changes in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA load and appearance of drug-resistant virus populations in persons treated with lamivudine (3TC). J Infect Dis 171:1411-1419.
- 270. St Clair MH, Martin JL, Tudor-Williams G, Bach MC, Vavro CL, King DM, Kellam P, Kemp SD, Larder BA. 1991. Resistance to ddI and sensitivity to AZT induced by a mutation in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Science 253:1557-1559.
- 271. Collier AC, Coombs RW, Schoenfeld DA, Bassett RL, Timpone J, Baruch A, Jones M, Facey K, Whitacre C, McAuliffe VJ, Friedman HM, Merigan TC, Reichman RC, Hooper C, Corey L. 1996. Treatment of human immunodeficiency virus infection with saquinavir, zidovudine, and zalcitabine. AIDS Clinical Trials Group. N Engl J Med 334:1011-1017.

- 272. Gulick RM, Mellors JW, Havlir D, Eron JJ, Gonzalez C, McMahon D, Richman DD, Valentine FT, Jonas L, Meibohm A, Emini EA, Chodakewitz JA. 1997. Treatment with indinavir, zidovudine, and lamivudine in adults with human immunodeficiency virus infection and prior antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med 337:734-739.
- 273. Staszewski S, Miller V, Rehmet S, Stark T, De Cree J, De Brabander M, Peeters M, Andries K, Moeremans M, De Raeymaeker M, Pearce G, Van den Broeck R, Verbiest W, Stoffels P. 1996. Virological and immunological analysis of a triple combination pilot study with loviride, lamivudine and zidovudine in HIV-1-infected patients. AIDS 10:F1-7.
- 274. D'Aquila RT, Hughes MD, Johnson VA, Fischl MA, Sommadossi JP, Liou SH, Timpone J, Myers M, Basgoz N, Niu M, Hirsch MS. 1996. Nevirapine, zidovudine, and didanosine compared with zidovudine and didanosine in patients with HIV-1 infection. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases AIDS Clinical Trials Group Protocol 241 Investigators. Ann Intern Med 124:1019-1030.
- 275. Autran B, Carcelain G, Li TS, Blanc C, Mathez D, Tubiana R, Katlama C, Debre P, Leibowitch J. 1997. Positive effects of combined antiretroviral therapy on CD4+ T cell homeostasis and function in advanced HIV disease. Science 277:112-116.
- 276. Catucci M, Venturi G, Romano L, Riccio ML, De Milito A, Valensin PE, Zazzi M. 1999. Development and significance of the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase M184V mutation during combination therapy with lamivudine, zidovudine, and protease inhibitors. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 21:203-208.
- 277. **Hemelaar J.** 2012. The origin and diversity of the HIV-1 pandemic. Trends Mol Med **18**:182-192.
- 278. **Hu WS, Temin HM.** 1990. Genetic consequences of packaging two RNA genomes in one retroviral particle: pseudodiploidy and high rate of genetic recombination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **87:**1556-1560.
- 279. Carr JK, Salminen MO, Koch C, Gotte D, Artenstein AW, Hegerich PA, St Louis D, Burke DS, McCutchan FE. 1996. Full-length sequence and mosaic structure of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate from Thailand. J Virol **70:**5935-5943.
- 280. Piyasirisilp S, McCutchan FE, Carr JK, Sanders-Buell E, Liu W, Chen J, Wagner R, Wolf H, Shao Y, Lai S, Beyrer C, Yu XF. 2000. A recent outbreak of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in southern China was initiated by two highly homogeneous, geographically separated strains, circulating recombinant form AE and a novel BC recombinant. J Virol 74:11286-11295.

- Hemelaar J, Gouws E, Ghys PD, Osmanov S, Isolation W-UNfH, Characterisation.
 2011. Global trends in molecular epidemiology of HIV-1 during 2000-2007. AIDS 25:679-689.
- 282. Kantor R, Katzenstein DA, Efron B, Carvalho AP, Wynhoven B, Cane P, Clarke J, Sirivichayakul S, Soares MA, Snoeck J, Pillay C, Rudich H, Rodrigues R, Holguin A, Ariyoshi K, Bouzas MB, Cahn P, Sugiura W, Soriano V, Brigido LF, Grossman Z, Morris L, Vandamme AM, Tanuri A, Phanuphak P, Weber JN, Pillay D, Harrigan PR, Camacho R, Schapiro JM, Shafer RW. 2005. Impact of HIV-1 subtype and antiretroviral therapy on protease and reverse transcriptase genotype: results of a global collaboration. PLoS Med 2:e112.
- 283. Asahchop EL, Wainberg MA, Oliveira M, Xu H, Brenner BG, Moisi D, Ibanescu IR, Tremblay C. 2013. Distinct resistance patterns to etravirine and rilpivirine in viruses containing nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor mutations at baseline. AIDS 27:879-887.
- 284. **Sluis-Cremer N, Huber KD, Brumme CJ, Harrigan PR.** 2014. Competitive fitness assays indicate that the E138A substitution in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase decreases in vitro susceptibility to emtricitabine. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **58**:2430-2433.
- 285. Rhee SY, Blanco JL, Jordan MR, Taylor J, Lemey P, Varghese V, Hamers RL, Bertagnolio S, Rinke de Wit TF, Aghokeng AF, Albert J, Avi R, Avila-Rios S, Bessong PO, Brooks JI, Boucher CA, Brumme ZL, Busch MP, Bussmann H, Chaix ML, Chin BS, D'Aquin TT, De Gascun CF, Derache A, Descamps D, Deshpande AK, Djoko CF, Eshleman SH, Fleury H, Frange P, Fujisaki S, Harrigan PR, Hattori J, Holguin A, Hunt GM, Ichimura H, Kaleebu P, Katzenstein D, Kiertiburanakul S, Kim JH, Kim SS, Li Y, Lutsar I, Morris L, Ndembi N, Ng KP, Paranjape RS, Peeters M, Poljak M, Price MA, et al. 2015. Geographic and temporal trends in the molecular epidemiology and genetic mechanisms of transmitted HIV-1 drug resistance: an individual-patient- and sequence-level meta-analysis. PLoS Med 12:e1001810.
- 286. Janssen PA, Lewi PJ, Arnold E, Daeyaert F, de Jonge M, Heeres J, Koymans L, Vinkers M, Guillemont J, Pasquier E, Kukla M, Ludovici D, Andries K, de Bethune MP, Pauwels R, Das K, Clark AD, Jr., Frenkel YV, Hughes SH, Medaer B, De Knaep F, Bohets H, De Clerck F, Lampo A, Williams P, Stoffels P. 2005. In search of a novel anti-HIV drug: multidisciplinary coordination in the discovery of 4-[[4-[[4-[(1E)-2-cyanoethenyl]-2,6-dimethylphenyl]amino]-2-(R278474, rilpivirine). J Med Chem 48:1901-1909.
- 287. Mordant C, Schmitt B, Pasquier E, Demestre C, Queguiner L, Masungi C, Peeters A, Smeulders L, Bettens E, Hertogs K, Heeres J, Lewi P, Guillemont J. 2007. Synthesis of novel diarylpyrimidine analogues of TMC278 and their antiviral activity against HIV-1 wild-type and mutant strains. Eur J Med Chem 42:567-579.

- 288. Das K, Bauman JD, Clark AD, Jr., Frenkel YV, Lewi PJ, Shatkin AJ, Hughes SH, Arnold E. 2008. High-resolution structures of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase/TMC278 complexes: strategic flexibility explains potency against resistance mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:1466-1471.
- 289. Lansdon EB, Brendza KM, Hung M, Wang R, Mukund S, Jin D, Birkus G, Kutty N, Liu X. 2010. Crystal structures of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase with etravirine (TMC125) and rilpivirine (TMC278): implications for drug design. J Med Chem 53:4295-4299.
- 290. Goebel F, Yakovlev A, Pozniak AL, Vinogradova E, Boogaerts G, Hoetelmans R, de Bethune MP, Peeters M, Woodfall B. 2006. Short-term antiviral activity of TMC278--a novel NNRTI--in treatment-naive HIV-1-infected subjects. AIDS **20:**1721-1726.
- 291. Pozniak AL, Morales-Ramirez J, Katabira E, Steyn D, Lupo SH, Santoscoy M, Grinsztejn B, Ruxrungtham K, Rimsky LT, Vanveggel S, Boven K, Group TCS. 2010. Efficacy and safety of TMC278 in antiretroviral-naive HIV-1 patients: week 96 results of a phase IIb randomized trial. AIDS 24:55-65.
- 292. Cohen CJ, Molina JM, Cassetti I, Chetchotisakd P, Lazzarin A, Orkin C, Rhame F, Stellbrink HJ, Li T, Crauwels H, Rimsky L, Vanveggel S, Williams P, Boven K, Echo Tsg. 2013. Week 96 efficacy and safety of rilpivirine in treatment-naive, HIV-1 patients in two Phase III randomized trials. AIDS 27:939-950.
- 293. van Lunzen J, Antinori A, Cohen CJ, Arribas JR, Wohl DA, Rieger A, Rachlis A, Bloch M, Segal-Maurer S, Garner W, Porter D, Bosse M, Piontkowsky D, Chuck SK, De-Oertel S. 2016. Rilpivirine vs. efavirenz-based single-tablet regimens in treatment-naive adults: week 96 efficacy and safety from a randomized phase 3b study. AIDS 30:251-259.
- 294. **Rimsky L, Van Eygen V, Hoogstoel A, Stevens M, Boven K, Picchio G, Vingerhoets J.** 2013. 96-Week resistance analyses of rilpivirine in treatment-naive, HIV-1-infected adults from the ECHO and THRIVE Phase III trials. Antivir Ther **18:**967-977.
- 295. **Porter DP, Kulkarni R, Fralich T, Miller MD, White KL.** 2014. Characterization of HIV-1 drug resistance development through week 48 in antiretroviral naive subjects on rilpivirine/emtricitabine/tenofovir DF or efavirenz/emtricitabine/tenofovir DF in the STaR study (GS-US-264-0110). J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **65**:318-326.
- 296. Hsiou Y, Ding J, Das K, Clark AD, Jr., Boyer PL, Lewi P, Janssen PA, Kleim JP, Rosner M, Hughes SH, Arnold E. 2001. The Lys103Asn mutation of HIV-1 RT: a novel mechanism of drug resistance. J Mol Biol **309:**437-445.
- 297. Lindberg J, Sigurdsson S, Lowgren S, Andersson HO, Sahlberg C, Noreen R, Fridborg K, Zhang H, Unge T. 2002. Structural basis for the inhibitory efficacy of efavirenz (DMP-266), MSC194 and PNU142721 towards the HIV-1 RT K103N mutant. Eur J Biochem 269:1670-1677.

- 298. Ren J, Nichols C, Bird L, Chamberlain P, Weaver K, Short S, Stuart DI, Stammers DK. 2001. Structural mechanisms of drug resistance for mutations at codons 181 and 188 in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and the improved resilience of second generation non-nucleoside inhibitors. J Mol Biol 312:795-805.
- 299. **Ren J, Nichols CE, Chamberlain PP, Weaver KL, Short SA, Stammers DK.** 2004. Crystal structures of HIV-1 reverse transcriptases mutated at codons 100, 106 and 108 and mechanisms of resistance to non-nucleoside inhibitors. J Mol Biol **336:**569-578.
- 300. Ren J, Nichols CE, Stamp A, Chamberlain PP, Ferris R, Weaver KL, Short SA, Stammers DK. 2006. Structural insights into mechanisms of non-nucleoside drug resistance for HIV-1 reverse transcriptases mutated at codons 101 or 138. FEBS J 273:3850-3860.
- 301. Kulkarni R, Babaoglu K, Lansdon EB, Rimsky L, Van Eygen V, Picchio G, Svarovskaia E, Miller MD, White KL. 2012. The HIV-1 reverse transcriptase M184I mutation enhances the E138K-associated resistance to rilpivirine and decreases viral fitness. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 59:47-54.
- 302. Singh K, Marchand B, Rai DK, Sharma B, Michailidis E, Ryan EM, Matzek KB, Leslie MD, Hagedorn AN, Li Z, Norden PR, Hachiya A, Parniak MA, Xu HT, Wainberg MA, Sarafianos SG. 2012. Biochemical mechanism of HIV-1 resistance to rilpivirine. J Biol Chem 287:38110-38123.
- 303. **de Bethune MP.** 2010. Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), their discovery, development, and use in the treatment of HIV-1 infection: a review of the last 20 years (1989-2009). Antiviral Res **85:**75-90.
- 304. Bacheler LT, Anton ED, Kudish P, Baker D, Bunville J, Krakowski K, Bolling L, Aujay M, Wang XV, Ellis D, Becker MF, Lasut AL, George HJ, Spalding DR, Hollis G, Abremski K. 2000. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mutations selected in patients failing efavirenz combination therapy. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 44:2475-2484.
- 305. Eshleman SH, Mracna M, Guay LA, Deseyve M, Cunningham S, Mirochnick M, Musoke P, Fleming T, Glenn Fowler M, Mofenson LM, Mmiro F, Jackson JB. 2001. Selection and fading of resistance mutations in women and infants receiving nevirapine to prevent HIV-1 vertical transmission (HIVNET 012). AIDS 15:1951-1957.
- 306. **Rimsky L, Vingerhoets J, Van Eygen V, Eron J, Clotet B, Hoogstoel A, Boven K, Picchio G.** 2012. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 isolates obtained from patients on rilpivirine therapy experiencing virologic failure in the phase 3 ECHO and THRIVE studies: 48-week analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **59**:39-46.
- 307. Cohen CJ, Molina JM, Cahn P, Clotet B, Fourie J, Grinsztejn B, Wu H, Johnson MA, Saag M, Supparatpinyo K, Crauwels H, Lefebvre E, Rimsky LT, Vanveggel S,

Williams P, Boven K, Group ES, Group TS. 2012. Efficacy and safety of rilpivirine (TMC278) versus efavirenz at 48 weeks in treatment-naive HIV-1-infected patients: pooled results from the phase 3 double-blind randomized ECHO and THRIVE Trials. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 60:33-42.

- 308. Andries K, Azijn H, Thielemans T, Ludovici D, Kukla M, Heeres J, Janssen P, De Corte B, Vingerhoets J, Pauwels R, de Bethune MP. 2004. TMC125, a novel next-generation nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor active against nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **48**:4680-4686.
- 309. Bennett DE, Camacho RJ, Otelea D, Kuritzkes DR, Fleury H, Kiuchi M, Heneine W, Kantor R, Jordan MR, Schapiro JM, Vandamme AM, Sandstrom P, Boucher CA, van de Vijver D, Rhee SY, Liu TF, Pillay D, Shafer RW. 2009. Drug resistance mutations for surveillance of transmitted HIV-1 drug-resistance: 2009 update. PLoS One 4:e4724.
- 310. Calvez V, Marcelin AG, Vingerhoets J, Hill A, Hadacek B, Moecklinghoff C. 2016. Systematic review to determine the prevalence of transmitted drug resistance mutations to rilpivirine in HIV-infected treatment-naive persons. Antivir Ther **21**:405-412.
- 311. Baert L, van 't Klooster G, Dries W, Francois M, Wouters A, Basstanie E, Iterbeke K, Stappers F, Stevens P, Schueller L, Van Remoortere P, Kraus G, Wigerinck P, Rosier J. 2009. Development of a long-acting injectable formulation with nanoparticles of rilpivirine (TMC278) for HIV treatment. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 72:502-508.
- 312. Williams PE, Crauwels HM, Basstanie ED. 2015. Formulation and pharmacology of long-acting rilpivirine. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 10:233-238.
- 313. **Tisdale M, Kemp SD, Parry NR, Larder BA.** 1993. Rapid in vitro selection of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 resistant to 3'-thiacytidine inhibitors due to a mutation in the YMDD region of reverse transcriptase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **90**:5653-5656.
- 314. Wainberg MA, Miller MD, Quan Y, Salomon H, Mulato AS, Lamy PD, Margot NA, Anton KE, Cherrington JM. 1999. In vitro selection and characterization of HIV-1 with reduced susceptibility to PMPA. Antivir Ther **4**:87-94.
- 315. Denton PW, Estes JD, Sun Z, Othieno FA, Wei BL, Wege AK, Powell DA, Payne D, Haase AT, Garcia JV. 2008. Antiretroviral pre-exposure prophylaxis prevents vaginal transmission of HIV-1 in humanized BLT mice. PLoS Med 5:e16.
- 316. Garcia-Lerma JG, Otten RA, Qari SH, Jackson E, Cong ME, Masciotra S, Luo W, Kim C, Adams DR, Monsour M, Lipscomb J, Johnson JA, Delinsky D, Schinazi RF, Janssen R, Folks TM, Heneine W. 2008. Prevention of rectal SHIV transmission in macaques by daily or intermittent prophylaxis with emtricitabine and tenofovir. PLoS Med 5:e28.

- 317. **Hendrix CW.** 2013. Exploring concentration response in HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis to optimize clinical care and trial design. Cell **155**:515-518.
- 318. Chirwa LI, Johnson JA, Niska RW, Segolodi TM, Henderson FL, Rose CE, Li JF, Thigpen MC, Matlhaba O, Paxton LA, Brooks JT. 2014. CD4(+) cell count, viral load, and drug resistance patterns among heterosexual breakthrough HIV infections in a study of oral preexposure prophylaxis. AIDS 28:223-226.
- 319. Liegler T, Abdel-Mohsen M, Bentley LG, Atchison R, Schmidt T, Javier J, Mehrotra M, Eden C, Glidden DV, McMahan V, Anderson PL, Li P, Wong JK, Buchbinder S, Guanira JV, Grant RM, iPrEx Study T. 2014. HIV-1 drug resistance in the iPrEx preexposure prophylaxis trial. J Infect Dis 210:1217-1227.
- 320. Lehman DA, Baeten JM, McCoy CO, Weis JF, Peterson D, Mbara G, Donnell D, Thomas KK, Hendrix CW, Marzinke MA, Frenkel L, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Celum C, Overbaugh J, Matsen FA, Partners Pr EPST. 2015. Risk of drug resistance among persons acquiring HIV within a randomized clinical trial of single- or dual-agent preexposure prophylaxis. J Infect Dis 211:1211-1218.
- 321. **Corneli A, Wang M, Agot K, Ahmed K, Lombaard J, Van Damme L, Group FE-PS.** 2014. Perception of HIV risk and adherence to a daily, investigational pill for HIV prevention in FEM-PrEP. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr **67**:555-563.
- 322. van der Straten A, Montgomery ET, Musara P, Etima J, Naidoo S, Laborde N, Hartmann M, Levy L, Bennie T, Cheng H, Piper J, Grossman CI, Marrazzo J, Mensch B, Microbicide Trials Network DST. 2015. Disclosure of pharmacokinetic drug results to understand nonadherence. AIDS 29:2161-2171.
- 323. Amico KR, Mehrotra M, Avelino-Silva VI, McMahan V, Veloso VG, Anderson P, Guanira J, Grant R, iPrEx Study T. 2016. Self-reported Recent PrEP Dosing and Drug Detection in an Open Label PrEP Study. AIDS Behav 20:1535-1540.
- 324. Hood JE, Buskin SE, Dombrowski JC, Kern DA, Barash EA, Katzi DA, Golden MR. 2016. Dramatic increase in preexposure prophylaxis use among MSM in Washington state. AIDS **30:**515-519.
- 325. **Stein ZA.** 1990. HIV prevention: the need for methods women can use. Am J Public Health **80:**460-462.
- 326. Skoler-Karpoff S, Ramjee G, Ahmed K, Altini L, Plagianos MG, Friedland B, Govender S, De Kock A, Cassim N, Palanee T, Dozier G, Maguire R, Lahteenmaki P. 2008. Efficacy of Carraguard for prevention of HIV infection in women in South Africa: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 372:1977-1987.
- 327. McCormack S, Ramjee G, Kamali A, Rees H, Crook AM, Gafos M, Jentsch U, Pool R, Chisembele M, Kapiga S, Mutemwa R, Vallely A, Palanee T, Sookrajh Y, Lacey

CJ, **Darbyshire J**, **Grosskurth H**, **Profy A**, **Nunn A**, **Hayes R**, **Weber J**. 2010. PRO2000 vaginal gel for prevention of HIV-1 infection (Microbicides Development Programme 301): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, parallel-group trial. Lancet **376**:1329-1337.

- 328. Abdool Karim SS, Richardson BA, Ramjee G, Hoffman IF, Chirenje ZM, Taha T, Kapina M, Maslankowski L, Coletti A, Profy A, Moench TR, Piwowar-Manning E, Masse B, Hillier SL, Soto-Torres L, Team HIVPTNS. 2011. Safety and effectiveness of BufferGel and 0.5% PRO2000 gel for the prevention of HIV infection in women. AIDS 25:957-966.
- 329. Feldblum PJ, Adeiga A, Bakare R, Wevill S, Lendvay A, Obadaki F, Olayemi MO, Wang L, Nanda K, Rountree W. 2008. SAVVY vaginal gel (C31G) for prevention of HIV infection: a randomized controlled trial in Nigeria. PLoS One 3:e1474.
- 330. Van Damme L, Ramjee G, Alary M, Vuylsteke B, Chandeying V, Rees H, Sirivongrangson P, Mukenge-Tshibaka L, Ettiegne-Traore V, Uaheowitchai C, Karim SS, Masse B, Perriens J, Laga M, Group COLS. 2002. Effectiveness of COL-1492, a nonoxynol-9 vaginal gel, on HIV-1 transmission in female sex workers: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet **360**:971-977.
- 331. Van Damme L, Govinden R, Mirembe FM, Guedou F, Solomon S, Becker ML, Pradeep BS, Krishnan AK, Alary M, Pande B, Ramjee G, Deese J, Crucitti T, Taylor D, Group CSS. 2008. Lack of effectiveness of cellulose sulfate gel for the prevention of vaginal HIV transmission. N Engl J Med 359:463-472.
- 332. McGowan I, Cranston RD, Duffill K, Siegel A, Engstrom JC, Nikiforov A, Jacobson C, Rehman KK, Elliott J, Khanukhova E, Abebe K, Mauck C, Spiegel HM, Dezzutti CS, Rohan LC, Marzinke MA, Hiruy H, Hendrix CW, Richardson-Harman N, Anton PA. 2015. A Phase 1 Randomized, Open Label, Rectal Safety, Acceptability, Pharmacokinetic, and Pharmacodynamic Study of Three Formulations of Tenofovir 1% Gel (the CHARM-01 Study). PLoS One 10:e0125363.
- 333. Anton PA, Saunders T, Elliott J, Khanukhova E, Dennis R, Adler A, Cortina G, Tanner K, Boscardin J, Cumberland WG, Zhou Y, Ventuneac A, Carballo-Dieguez A, Rabe L, McCormick T, Gabelnick H, Mauck C, McGowan I. 2011. First phase 1 double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized rectal microbicide trial using UC781 gel with a novel index of ex vivo efficacy. PLoS One 6:e23243.
- 334. Anton PA, Cranston RD, Kashuba A, Hendrix CW, Bumpus NN, Richardson-Harman N, Elliott J, Janocko L, Khanukhova E, Dennis R, Cumberland WG, Ju C, Carballo-Dieguez A, Mauck C, McGowan I. 2012. RMP-02/MTN-006: A phase 1 rectal safety, acceptability, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic study of tenofovir 1% gel compared with oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 28:1412-1421.

- 335. **Kiser PF, Johnson TJ, Clark JT.** 2012. State of the art in intravaginal ring technology for topical prophylaxis of HIV infection. AIDS Rev **14**:62-77.
- 336. Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Brown ER, Schwartz K, Soto-Torres LE, Govender V, Mgodi NM, Matovu Kiweewa F, Nair G, Mhlanga F, Siva S, Bekker LG, Jeenarain N, Gaffoor Z, Martinson F, Makanani B, Pather A, Naidoo L, Husnik M, Richardson BA, Parikh UM, Mellors JW, Marzinke MA, Hendrix CW, van der Straten A, Ramjee G, Chirenje ZM, Nakabiito C, Taha TE, Jones J, Mayo A, Scheckter R, Berthiaume J, Livant E, Jacobson C, Ndase P, White R, Patterson K, Germuga D, Galaska B, Bunge K, Singh D, Szydlo DW, Montgomery ET, Mensch BS, Torjesen K, Grossman CI, Chakhtoura N, Nel A, Rosenberg Z, et al. 2016. Use of a Vaginal Ring Containing Dapivirine for HIV-1 Prevention in Women. N Engl J Med 375:2121-2132.
- 337. Nel A, Bekker LG, Bukusi E, Hellstrm E, Kotze P, Louw C, Martinson F, Masenga G, Montgomery E, Ndaba N, van der Straten A, van Niekerk N, Woodsong C. 2016. Safety, Acceptability and Adherence of Dapivirine Vaginal Ring in a Microbicide Clinical Trial Conducted in Multiple Countries in Sub-Saharan Africa. PLoS One 11:e0147743.
- 338. Jackson AG, Else LJ, Mesquita PM, Egan D, Back DJ, Karolia Z, Ringner-Nackter L, Higgs CJ, Herold BC, Gazzard BG, Boffito M. 2014. A compartmental pharmacokinetic evaluation of long-acting rilpivirine in HIV-negative volunteers for preexposure prophylaxis. Clin Pharmacol Ther **96:**314-323.
- 339. Spreen W, Williams P, Margolis D, Ford SL, Crauwels H, Lou Y, Gould E, Stevens M, Piscitelli S. 2014. Pharmacokinetics, safety, and tolerability with repeat doses of GSK1265744 and rilpivirine (TMC278) long-acting nanosuspensions in healthy adults. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 67:487-492.
- 340. Verloes R, Deleu S, Niemeijer N, Crauwels H, Meyvisch P, Williams P. 2015. Safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of rilpivirine following administration of a long-acting formulation in healthy volunteers. HIV Med 16:477-484.
- 341. Bera RB. 2014. Patient outcomes within schizophrenia treatment: a look at the role of long-acting injectable antipsychotics. J Clin Psychiatry **75 Suppl 2:**30-33.
- 342. Blumenthal PD, Voedisch A, Gemzell-Danielsson K. 2011. Strategies to prevent unintended pregnancy: increasing use of long-acting reversible contraception. Hum Reprod Update 17:121-137.
- 343. **Pouwer AW, Farquhar C, Kremer JA.** 2015. Long-acting FSH versus daily FSH for women undergoing assisted reproduction. Cochrane Database Syst Rev **7:**CD009577.
- 344. **Tunn UW, Gruca D, Bacher P.** 2013. Six-month leuprorelin acetate depot formulations in advanced prostate cancer: a clinical evaluation. Clin Interv Aging **8**:457-464.

- 345. Mack N, Evens EM, Tolley EE, Brelsford K, Mackenzie C, Milford C, Smit JA, Kimani J. 2014. The importance of choice in the rollout of ARV-based prevention to user groups in Kenya and South Africa: a qualitative study. J Int AIDS Soc 17:19157.
- 346. Meyers K, Rodriguez K, Moeller RW, Gratch I, Markowitz M, Halkitis PN. 2014. High interest in a long-acting injectable formulation of pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV in young men who have sex with men in NYC: a P18 cohort substudy. PLoS One 9:e114700.
- 347. van 't Klooster G, Hoeben E, Borghys H, Looszova A, Bouche MP, van Velsen F, Baert L. 2010. Pharmacokinetics and disposition of rilpivirine (TMC278) nanosuspension as a long-acting injectable antiretroviral formulation. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 54:2042-2050.
- 348. McGowan I, Dezzutti CS, Siegel A, Engstrom J, Nikiforov A, Duffill K, Shetler C, Richardson-Harman N, Abebe K, Back D, Else L, Egan D, Khoo S, Egan JE, Stall R, Williams PE, Rehman KK, Adler A, Brand RM, Chen B, Achilles S, Cranston RD. 2016. Long-acting rilpivirine as potential pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV-1 prevention (the MWRI-01 study): an open-label, phase 1, compartmental, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic assessment. Lancet HIV 3:e569-e578.
- 349. **Dezzutti CS, Else LJ, Yandura SE, Shetler C, Russo J, Back DJ, McGowan I.** 2016. Distinct Pharmacodynamic Activity of Rilpivirine in Ectocervical and Colonic Explant Tissue. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **60**:2765-2770.
- 350. **Jayaweera D, Dilanchian P.** 2012. New therapeutic landscape of NNRTIs for treatment of HIV: a look at recent data. Expert Opin Pharmacother **13**:2601-2612.
- 351. Penrose KJ, Parikh UM, Hamanishi KA, Else L, Back D, Boffito M, Jackson A, Mellors JW. 2016. Selection of Rilpivirine-Resistant HIV-1 in a Seroconverter From the SSAT 040 Trial Who Received the 300-mg Dose of Long-Acting Rilpivirine (TMC278LA). J Infect Dis **213**:1013-1017.
- 352. Gupta RK, Jordan MR, Sultan BJ, Hill A, Davis DH, Gregson J, Sawyer AW, Hamers RL, Ndembi N, Pillay D, Bertagnolio S. 2012. Global trends in antiretroviral resistance in treatment-naive individuals with HIV after rollout of antiretroviral treatment in resource-limited settings: a global collaborative study and meta-regression analysis. Lancet **380**:1250-1258.
- 353. Hamers RL, Wallis CL, Kityo C, Siwale M, Mandaliya K, Conradie F, Botes ME, Wellington M, Osibogun A, Sigaloff KC, Nankya I, Schuurman R, Wit FW, Stevens WS, van Vugt M, de Wit TF, PharmAccess African Studies to Evaluate R. 2011. HIV-1 drug resistance in antiretroviral-naive individuals in sub-Saharan Africa after rollout of antiretroviral therapy: a multicentre observational study. Lancet Infect Dis 11:750-759.

- 354. Shafer RW, Rhee SY, Pillay D, Miller V, Sandstrom P, Schapiro JM, Kuritzkes DR, Bennett D. 2007. HIV-1 protease and reverse transcriptase mutations for drug resistance surveillance. AIDS 21:215-223.
- 355. Grossman H, Anderson P, Grant R, Gandhi M, Mohri H, Markowitz M. 2016 Newly acquired HIV-1 infection with multi-drug resistant (MDRI) HIV-1 in a patient on TDF/FTC-based PrEP. HIV Research for Prevention. Chicago, IL.
- 356. Knox DC, Anderson PL, Harrigan PR, Tan DH. 2017. Multidrug-Resistant HIV-1 Infection despite Preexposure Prophylaxis. N Engl J Med **376:**501-502.
- 357. Parikh UM, Halvas EK, Mageret CA, Husnik M, Hardesty R, Opest A, Edlefsen PT, Baeten JM, Palanee-Phillips T, Mellors JW, Team M-S. 2016. HIV-1 resistance outcomes in seroconverters from the MTN-20/ASPIRE dapivirine vaginal ring study. HIV Research for Prevention. Chicago, IL.
- 358. Gao F, Bailes E, Robertson DL, Chen Y, Rodenburg CM, Michael SF, Cummins LB, Arthur LO, Peeters M, Shaw GM, Sharp PM, Hahn BH. 1999. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. Nature **397:**436-441.
- 359. Plantier JC, Leoz M, Dickerson JE, De Oliveira F, Cordonnier F, Lemee V, Damond F, Robertson DL, Simon F. 2009. A new human immunodeficiency virus derived from gorillas. Nat Med 15:871-872.
- 360. Keele BF, Van Heuverswyn F, Li Y, Bailes E, Takehisa J, Santiago ML, Bibollet-Ruche F, Chen Y, Wain LV, Liegeois F, Loul S, Ngole EM, Bienvenue Y, Delaporte E, Brookfield JF, Sharp PM, Shaw GM, Peeters M, Hahn BH. 2006. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. Science 313:523-526.
- 361. Worobey M, Gemmel M, Teuwen DE, Haselkorn T, Kunstman K, Bunce M, Muyembe JJ, Kabongo JM, Kalengayi RM, Van Marck E, Gilbert MT, Wolinsky SM. 2008. Direct evidence of extensive diversity of HIV-1 in Kinshasa by 1960. Nature 455:661-664.
- 362. Watanabe H, Fujiyama A, Hattori M, Taylor TD, Toyoda A, Kuroki Y, Noguchi H, BenKahla A, Lehrach H, Sudbrak R, Kube M, Taenzer S, Galgoczy P, Platzer M, Scharfe M, Nordsiek G, Blocker H, Hellmann I, Khaitovich P, Paabo S, Reinhardt R, Zheng HJ, Zhang XL, Zhu GF, Wang BF, Fu G, Ren SX, Zhao GP, Chen Z, Lee YS, Cheong JE, Choi SH, Wu KM, Liu TT, Hsiao KJ, Tsai SF, Kim CG, S OO, Kitano T, Kohara Y, Saitou N, Park HS, Wang SY, Yaspo ML, Sakaki Y. 2004. DNA sequence and comparative analysis of chimpanzee chromosome 22. Nature 429:382-388.
- 363. Van Rompay KK. 2012. The use of nonhuman primate models of HIV infection for the evaluation of antiviral strategies. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **28**:16-35.

- 364. **Pandrea I, Sodora DL, Silvestri G, Apetrei C.** 2008. Into the wild: simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection in natural hosts. Trends Immunol **29:**419-428.
- 365. Chahroudi A, Bosinger SE, Vanderford TH, Paiardini M, Silvestri G. 2012. Natural SIV hosts: showing AIDS the door. Science **335**:1188-1193.
- 366. Daniel MD, Letvin NL, King NW, Kannagi M, Sehgal PK, Hunt RD, Kanki PJ, Essex M, Desrosiers RC. 1985. Isolation of T-cell tropic HTLV-III-like retrovirus from macaques. Science 228:1201-1204.
- 367. Letvin NL, Daniel MD, Sehgal PK, Desrosiers RC, Hunt RD, Waldron LM, MacKey JJ, Schmidt DK, Chalifoux LV, King NW. 1985. Induction of AIDS-like disease in macaque monkeys with T-cell tropic retrovirus STLV-III. Science 230:71-73.
- 368. **Hatziioannou T, Evans DT.** 2012. Animal models for HIV/AIDS research. Nat Rev Microbiol **10**:852-867.
- 369. Uberla K, Stahl-Hennig C, Bottiger D, Matz-Rensing K, Kaup FJ, Li J, Haseltine WA, Fleckenstein B, Hunsmann G, Oberg B, et al. 1995. Animal model for the therapy of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome with reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:8210-8214.
- 370. Ambrose Z, Boltz V, Palmer S, Coffin JM, Hughes SH, Kewalramani VN. 2004. In vitro characterization of a simian immunodeficiency virus-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) chimera expressing HIV type 1 reverse transcriptase to study antiviral resistance in pigtail macaques. J Virol **78**:13553-13561.
- 371. Reimann KA, Li JT, Voss G, Lekutis C, Tenner-Racz K, Racz P, Lin W, Montefiori DC, Lee-Parritz DE, Lu Y, Collman RG, Sodroski J, Letvin NL. 1996. An env gene derived from a primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolate confers high in vivo replicative capacity to a chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus in rhesus monkeys. J Virol 70:3198-3206.
- 372. Shibata R, Kawamura M, Sakai H, Hayami M, Ishimoto A, Adachi A. 1991. Generation of a chimeric human and simian immunodeficiency virus infectious to monkey peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J Virol 65:3514-3520.
- 373. Veazey RS, DeMaria M, Chalifoux LV, Shvetz DE, Pauley DR, Knight HL, Rosenzweig M, Johnson RP, Desrosiers RC, Lackner AA. 1998. Gastrointestinal tract as a major site of CD4+ T cell depletion and viral replication in SIV infection. Science 280:427-431.
- 374. **Pereira LE, Srinivasan P, Smith JM.** 2012. Simian-human immunodeficiency viruses and their impact on non-human primate models for AIDS, p 311-356. *In* Metodiev K (ed), Immunodeficiency doi:10.5772/53556. InTech.

- 375. **Policicchio BB, Pandrea I, Apetrei C.** 2016. Animal Models for HIV Cure Research. Front Immunol **7**:12.
- 376. Blakley GB, Beamer TW, Dukelow WR. 1981. Characteristics of the menstrual cycle in nonhuman primates. IV. Timed mating in Macaca nemestrina. Lab Anim 15:351-353.
- 377. Walker ML, Gordon TP, Wilson ME. 1983. Menstrual cycle characteristics of seasonally breeding rhesus monkeys. Biol Reprod **29:**841-848.
- 378. Hadzic SV, Wang X, Dufour J, Doyle L, Marx PA, Lackner AA, Paulsen DB, Veazey RS. 2014. Comparison of the vaginal environment of Macaca mulatta and Macaca nemestrina throughout the menstrual cycle. Am J Reprod Immunol 71:322-329.
- 379. Hrecka K, Hao C, Gierszewska M, Swanson SK, Kesik-Brodacka M, Srivastava S, Florens L, Washburn MP, Skowronski J. 2011. Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. Nature **474:**658-661.
- 380. Jia B, Serra-Moreno R, Neidermyer W, Rahmberg A, Mackey J, Fofana IB, Johnson WE, Westmoreland S, Evans DT. 2009. Species-specific activity of SIV Nef and HIV-1 Vpu in overcoming restriction by tetherin/BST2. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000429.
- 381. Laguette N, Sobhian B, Casartelli N, Ringeard M, Chable-Bessia C, Segeral E, Yatim A, Emiliani S, Schwartz O, Benkirane M. 2011. SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. Nature 474:654-657.
- 382. Mariani R, Chen D, Schrofelbauer B, Navarro F, Konig R, Bollman B, Munk C, Nymark-McMahon H, Landau NR. 2003. Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. Cell 114:21-31.
- 383. Stremlau M, Owens CM, Perron MJ, Kiessling M, Autissier P, Sodroski J. 2004. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature **427**:848-853.
- 384. **Giuffre AC, Higgins J, Buckheit RW, Jr., North TW.** 2003. Susceptibilities of simian immunodeficiency virus to protease inhibitors. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **47:**1756-1759.
- 385. Hazuda DJ, Young SD, Guare JP, Anthony NJ, Gomez RP, Wai JS, Vacca JP, Handt L, Motzel SL, Klein HJ, Dornadula G, Danovich RM, Witmer MV, Wilson KA, Tussey L, Schleif WA, Gabryelski LS, Jin L, Miller MD, Casimiro DR, Emini EA, Shiver JW. 2004. Integrase inhibitors and cellular immunity suppress retroviral replication in rhesus macaques. Science 305:528-532.
- 386. Witvrouw M, Pannecouque C, Switzer WM, Folks TM, De Clercq E, Heneine W. 2004. Susceptibility of HIV-2, SIV and SHIV to various anti-HIV-1 compounds: implications for treatment and postexposure prophylaxis. Antivir Ther 9:57-65.

- 387. **Desrosiers RC.** 1990. The simian immunodeficiency viruses. Annu Rev Immunol **8:**557-578.
- 388. Isaka Y, Miki S, Kawauchi S, Suyama A, Sugimoto H, Adachi A, Miura T, Hayami M, Yoshie O, Fujiwara T, Sato A. 2001. A single amino acid change at Leu-188 in the reverse transcriptase of HIV-2 and SIV renders them sensitive to non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Arch Virol 146:743-755.
- 389. Ambrose Z, Palmer S, Boltz VF, Kearney M, Larsen K, Polacino P, Flanary L, Oswald K, Piatak M, Jr., Smedley J, Shao W, Bischofberger N, Maldarelli F, Kimata JT, Mellors JW, Hu SL, Coffin JM, Lifson JD, KewalRamani VN. 2007. Suppression of viremia and evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance in a macaque model for antiretroviral therapy. J Virol 81:12145-12155.
- 390. Shultz LD, Ishikawa F, Greiner DL. 2007. Humanized mice in translational biomedical research. Nat Rev Immunol 7:118-130.
- Shultz LD, Brehm MA, Garcia-Martinez JV, Greiner DL. 2012. Humanized mice for immune system investigation: progress, promise and challenges. Nat Rev Immunol 12:786-798.
- 392. McCune JM, Namikawa R, Kaneshima H, Shultz LD, Lieberman M, Weissman IL. 1988. The SCID-hu mouse: murine model for the analysis of human hematolymphoid differentiation and function. Science **241**:1632-1639.
- 393. Namikawa R, Kaneshima H, Lieberman M, Weissman IL, McCune JM. 1988. Infection of the SCID-hu mouse by HIV-1. Science 242:1684-1686.
- 394. **Mosier DE, Gulizia RJ, Baird SM, Wilson DB.** 1988. Transfer of a functional human immune system to mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. Nature **335:**256-259.
- 395. Mosier DE, Gulizia RJ, Baird SM, Wilson DB, Spector DH, Spector SA. 1991. Human immunodeficiency virus infection of human-PBL-SCID mice. Science 251:791-794.
- 396. Lapidot T, Pflumio F, Doedens M, Murdoch B, Williams DE, Dick JE. 1992. Cytokine stimulation of multilineage hematopoiesis from immature human cells engrafted in SCID mice. Science **255**:1137-1141.
- 397. Bosma GC, Custer RP, Bosma MJ. 1983. A severe combined immunodeficiency mutation in the mouse. Nature 301:527-530.
- 398. **Fulop GM, Phillips RA.** 1990. The scid mutation in mice causes a general defect in DNA repair. Nature **347:**479-482.

- 399. Nonoyama S, Smith FO, Bernstein ID, Ochs HD. 1993. Strain-dependent leakiness of mice with severe combined immune deficiency. J Immunol 150:3817-3824.
- 400. Christianson SW, Greiner DL, Schweitzer IB, Gott B, Beamer GL, Schweitzer PA, Hesselton RM, Shultz LD. 1996. Role of natural killer cells on engraftment of human lymphoid cells and on metastasis of human T-lymphoblastoid leukemia cells in C57BL/6J-scid mice and in C57BL/6J-scid bg mice. Cell Immunol **171**:186-199.
- 401. **Mombaerts P, Iacomini J, Johnson RS, Herrup K, Tonegawa S, Papaioannou VE.** 1992. RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. Cell **68**:869-877.
- 402. Shinkai Y, Rathbun G, Lam KP, Oltz EM, Stewart V, Mendelsohn M, Charron J, Datta M, Young F, Stall AM, et al. 1992. RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. Cell 68:855-867.
- 403. Hesselton RM, Greiner DL, Mordes JP, Rajan TV, Sullivan JL, Shultz LD. 1995. High levels of human peripheral blood mononuclear cell engraftment and enhanced susceptibility to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in NOD/LtSz-scid/scid mice. J Infect Dis 172:974-982.
- 404. **Pflumio F, Izac B, Katz A, Shultz LD, Vainchenker W, Coulombel L.** 1996. Phenotype and function of human hematopoietic cells engrafting immune-deficient CB17-severe combined immunodeficiency mice and nonobese diabetic-severe combined immunodeficiency mice after transplantation of human cord blood mononuclear cells. Blood **88:**3731-3740.
- 405. Shultz LD, Schweitzer PA, Christianson SW, Gott B, Schweitzer IB, Tennent B, McKenna S, Mobraaten L, Rajan TV, Greiner DL, et al. 1995. Multiple defects in innate and adaptive immunologic function in NOD/LtSz-scid mice. J Immunol 154:180-191.
- 406. Cao X, Shores EW, Hu-Li J, Anver MR, Kelsall BL, Russell SM, Drago J, Noguchi M, Grinberg A, Bloom ET, et al. 1995. Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor gamma chain. Immunity 2:223-238.
- 407. **DiSanto JP, Muller W, Guy-Grand D, Fischer A, Rajewsky K.** 1995. Lymphoid development in mice with a targeted deletion of the interleukin 2 receptor gamma chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **92:**377-381.
- 408. Ohbo K, Suda T, Hashiyama M, Mantani A, Ikebe M, Miyakawa K, Moriyama M, Nakamura M, Katsuki M, Takahashi K, Yamamura K, Sugamura K. 1996. Modulation of hematopoiesis in mice with a truncated mutant of the interleukin-2 receptor gamma chain. Blood 87:956-967.

- 409. Traggiai E, Chicha L, Mazzucchelli L, Bronz L, Piffaretti JC, Lanzavecchia A, Manz MG. 2004. Development of a human adaptive immune system in cord blood cell-transplanted mice. Science **304**:104-107.
- 410. Shultz LD, Lyons BL, Burzenski LM, Gott B, Chen X, Chaleff S, Kotb M, Gillies SD, King M, Mangada J, Greiner DL, Handgretinger R. 2005. Human lymphoid and myeloid cell development in NOD/LtSz-scid IL2R gamma null mice engrafted with mobilized human hemopoietic stem cells. J Immunol 174:6477-6489.
- 411. Ishikawa F, Yasukawa M, Lyons B, Yoshida S, Miyamoto T, Yoshimoto G, Watanabe T, Akashi K, Shultz LD, Harada M. 2005. Development of functional human blood and immune systems in NOD/SCID/IL2 receptor {gamma} chain(null) mice. Blood 106:1565-1573.
- 412. Ito M, Hiramatsu H, Kobayashi K, Suzue K, Kawahata M, Hioki K, Ueyama Y, Koyanagi Y, Sugamura K, Tsuji K, Heike T, Nakahata T. 2002. NOD/SCID/gamma(c)(null) mouse: an excellent recipient mouse model for engraftment of human cells. Blood 100:3175-3182.
- 413. Aryee KE, Shultz LD, Brehm MA. 2014. Immunodeficient mouse model for human hematopoietic stem cell engraftment and immune system development. Methods Mol Biol 1185:267-278.
- 414. Veselinovic M, Charlins P, Akkina R. 2016. Modeling HIV-1 Mucosal Transmission and Prevention in Humanized Mice. Methods Mol Biol **1354**:203-220.
- 415. Melkus MW, Estes JD, Padgett-Thomas A, Gatlin J, Denton PW, Othieno FA, Wege AK, Haase AT, Garcia JV. 2006. Humanized mice mount specific adaptive and innate immune responses to EBV and TSST-1. Nat Med 12:1316-1322.
- 416. Lan P, Tonomura N, Shimizu A, Wang S, Yang YG. 2006. Reconstitution of a functional human immune system in immunodeficient mice through combined human fetal thymus/liver and CD34+ cell transplantation. Blood **108**:487-492.
- 417. Denton PW, Nochi T, Lim A, Krisko JF, Martinez-Torres F, Choudhary SK, Wahl A, Olesen R, Zou W, Di Santo JP, Margolis DM, Garcia JV. 2012. IL-2 receptor gamma-chain molecule is critical for intestinal T-cell reconstitution in humanized mice. Mucosal Immunol 5:555-566.
- 418. Stoddart CA, Maidji E, Galkina SA, Kosikova G, Rivera JM, Moreno ME, Sloan B, Joshi P, Long BR. 2011. Superior human leukocyte reconstitution and susceptibility to vaginal HIV transmission in humanized NOD-scid IL-2Rgamma(-/-) (NSG) BLT mice. Virology 417:154-160.
- 419. Sun Z, Denton PW, Estes JD, Othieno FA, Wei BL, Wege AK, Melkus MW, Padgett-Thomas A, Zupancic M, Haase AT, Garcia JV. 2007. Intrarectal

transmission, systemic infection, and CD4+ T cell depletion in humanized mice infected with HIV-1. J Exp Med **204:**705-714.

- 420. Greenblatt MB, Vrbanac V, Tivey T, Tsang K, Tager AM, Aliprantis AO. 2012. Graft versus host disease in the bone marrow, liver and thymus humanized mouse model. PLoS One 7:e44664.
- 421. **Brehm MA, Wiles MV, Greiner DL, Shultz LD.** 2014. Generation of improved humanized mouse models for human infectious diseases. J Immunol Methods **410:**3-17.
- 422. Nochi T, Denton PW, Wahl A, Garcia JV. 2013. Cryptopatches are essential for the development of human GALT. Cell Rep 3:1874-1884.
- 423. **Biswas S, Chang H, Sarkis PT, Fikrig E, Zhu Q, Marasco WA.** 2011. Humoral immune responses in humanized BLT mice immunized with West Nile virus and HIV-1 envelope proteins are largely mediated via human CD5+ B cells. Immunology **134:**419-433.
- 424. Rongvaux A, Willinger T, Martinek J, Strowig T, Gearty SV, Teichmann LL, Saito Y, Marches F, Halene S, Palucka AK, Manz MG, Flavell RA. 2014. Development and function of human innate immune cells in a humanized mouse model. Nat Biotechnol 32:364-372.
- 425. McDermott AB, Mitchen J, Piaskowski S, De Souza I, Yant LJ, Stephany J, Furlott J, Watkins DI. 2004. Repeated low-dose mucosal simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 challenge results in the same viral and immunological kinetics as high-dose challenge: a model for the evaluation of vaccine efficacy in nonhuman primates. J Virol 78:3140-3144.
- 426. Otten RA, Adams DR, Kim CN, Jackson E, Pullium JK, Lee K, Grohskopf LA, Monsour M, Butera S, Folks TM. 2005. Multiple vaginal exposures to low doses of R5 simian-human immunodeficiency virus: strategy to study HIV preclinical interventions in nonhuman primates. J Infect Dis 191:164-173.
- 427. Van Rompay KK, Marthas ML, Ramos RA, Mandell CP, McGowan EK, Joye SM, Pedersen NC. 1992. Simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection of infant rhesus macaques as a model to test antiretroviral drug prophylaxis and therapy: oral 3'-azido-3'-deoxythymidine prevents SIV infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **36**:2381-2386.
- 428. Van Rompay KK, Otsyula MG, Marthas ML, Miller CJ, McChesney MB, Pedersen NC. 1995. Immediate zidovudine treatment protects simian immunodeficiency virusinfected newborn macaques against rapid onset of AIDS. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 39:125-131.

- 429. Van Rompay KK, Berardi CJ, Aguirre NL, Bischofberger N, Lietman PS, Pedersen NC, Marthas ML. 1998. Two doses of PMPA protect newborn macaques against oral simian immunodeficiency virus infection. AIDS 12:F79-83.
- 430. Van Rompay KK, Miller MD, Marthas ML, Margot NA, Dailey PJ, Canfield DR, Tarara RP, Cherrington JM, Aguirre NL, Bischofberger N, Pedersen NC. 2000. Prophylactic and therapeutic benefits of short-term 9-[2-(R)-(phosphonomethoxy)propyl]adenine (PMPA) administration to newborn macaques following oral inoculation with simian immunodeficiency virus with reduced susceptibility to PMPA. J Virol 74:1767-1774.
- 431. Van Rompay KK, McChesney MB, Aguirre NL, Schmidt KA, Bischofberger N, Marthas ML. 2001. Two low doses of tenofovir protect newborn macaques against oral simian immunodeficiency virus infection. J Infect Dis 184:429-438.
- 432. Van Rompay KK, Schmidt KA, Lawson JR, Singh R, Bischofberger N, Marthas ML. 2002. Topical administration of low-dose tenofovir disoproxil fumarate to protect infant macaques against multiple oral exposures of low doses of simian immunodeficiency virus. J Infect Dis **186**:1508-1513.
- 433. Subbarao S, Otten RA, Ramos A, Kim C, Jackson E, Monsour M, Adams DR, Bashirian S, Johnson J, Soriano V, Rendon A, Hudgens MG, Butera S, Janssen R, Paxton L, Greenberg AE, Folks TM. 2006. Chemoprophylaxis with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate provided partial protection against infection with simian human immunodeficiency virus in macaques given multiple virus challenges. J Infect Dis 194:904-911.
- 434. Van Rompay KK, Kearney BP, Sexton JJ, Colon R, Lawson JR, Blackwood EJ, Lee WA, Bischofberger N, Marthas ML. 2006. Evaluation of oral tenofovir disoproxil fumarate and topical tenofovir GS-7340 to protect infant macaques against repeated oral challenges with virulent simian immunodeficiency virus. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 43:6-14.
- 435. Cranage M, Sharpe S, Herrera C, Cope A, Dennis M, Berry N, Ham C, Heeney J, Rezk N, Kashuba A, Anton P, McGowan I, Shattock R. 2008. Prevention of SIV rectal transmission and priming of T cell responses in macaques after local pre-exposure application of tenofovir gel. PLoS Med 5:e157; discussion e157.
- 436. Garcia-Lerma JG, Cong ME, Mitchell J, Youngpairoj AS, Zheng Q, Masciotra S, Martin A, Kuklenyik Z, Holder A, Lipscomb J, Pau CP, Barr JR, Hanson DL, Otten R, Paxton L, Folks TM, Heneine W. 2010. Intermittent prophylaxis with oral truvada protects macaques from rectal SHIV infection. Sci Transl Med 2:14ra14.
- 437. Veazey RS, Ketas TJ, Dufour J, Moroney-Rasmussen T, Green LC, Klasse PJ, Moore JP. 2010. Protection of rhesus macaques from vaginal infection by vaginally

delivered maraviroc, an inhibitor of HIV-1 entry via the CCR5 co-receptor. J Infect Dis **202:**739-744.

- 438. Cong ME, Youngpairoj AS, Zheng Q, Aung W, Mitchell J, Sweeney E, Hanson DL, Hendry RM, Dobard C, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2011. Protection against rectal transmission of an emtricitabine-resistant simian/human immunodeficiency virus SHIV162p3M184V mutant by intermittent prophylaxis with Truvada. J Virol 85:7933-7936.
- 439. Malcolm RK, Veazey RS, Geer L, Lowry D, Fetherston SM, Murphy DJ, Boyd P, Major I, Shattock RJ, Klasse PJ, Doyle LA, Rasmussen KK, Goldman L, Ketas TJ, Moore JP. 2012. Sustained release of the CCR5 inhibitors CMPD167 and maraviroc from vaginal rings in rhesus macaques. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 56:2251-2258.
- 440. Cong ME, Mitchell J, Sweeney E, Bachman S, Hanson DL, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2013. Prophylactic efficacy of oral emtricitabine and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate combination therapy against a tenofovir-resistant simian/human immunodeficiency virus containing the K65R mutation in macaques. J Infect Dis 208:463-467.
- 441. Massud I, Aung W, Martin A, Bachman S, Mitchell J, Aubert R, Solomon Tsegaye T, Kersh E, Pau CP, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2013. Lack of prophylactic efficacy of oral maraviroc in macaques despite high drug concentrations in rectal tissues. J Virol 87:8952-8961.
- 442. Dobard CW, Taylor A, Sharma S, Anderson PL, Bushman LR, Chuong D, Pau CP, Hanson D, Wang L, Garcia-Lerma JG, McGowan I, Rohan L, Heneine W. 2015. Protection Against Rectal Chimeric Simian/Human Immunodeficiency Virus Transmission in Macaques by Rectal-Specific Gel Formulations of Maraviroc and Tenofovir. J Infect Dis 212:1988-1995.
- 443. Parikh UM, Dobard C, Sharma S, Cong ME, Jia H, Martin A, Pau CP, Hanson DL, Guenthner P, Smith J, Kersh E, Garcia-Lerma JG, Novembre FJ, Otten R, Folks T, Heneine W. 2009. Complete protection from repeated vaginal simian-human immunodeficiency virus exposures in macaques by a topical gel containing tenofovir alone or with emtricitabine. J Virol 83:10358-10365.
- 444. **Dobard C, Sharma S, Martin A, Pau CP, Holder A, Kuklenyik Z, Lipscomb J, Hanson DL, Smith J, Novembre FJ, Garcia-Lerma JG, Heneine W.** 2012. Durable protection from vaginal simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection in macaques by tenofovir gel and its relationship to drug levels in tissue. J Virol **86:**718-725.
- 445. Radzio J, Aung W, Holder A, Martin A, Sweeney E, Mitchell J, Bachman S, Pau CP, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2012. Prevention of vaginal SHIV transmission in macaques by a coitally-dependent Truvada regimen. PLoS One 7:e50632.

- 446. Smith JM, Rastogi R, Teller RS, Srinivasan P, Mesquita PM, Nagaraja U, McNicholl JM, Hendry RM, Dinh CT, Martin A, Herold BC, Kiser PF. 2013. Intravaginal ring eluting tenofovir disoproxil fumarate completely protects macaques from multiple vaginal simian-HIV challenges. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:16145-16150.
- 447. Radzio J, Hanley K, Mitchell J, Ellis S, Deyounks F, Jenkins L, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2014. Depot-medroxyprogesterone acetate does not reduce the prophylactic efficacy of emtricitabine and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate in macaques. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 67:365-369.
- 448. Dobard CW, Sharma S, Cong ME, West R, Makarova N, Holder A, Pau CP, Hanson DL, Novembre FJ, Garcia-Lerma JG, Heneine W. 2015. Efficacy of topical tenofovir against transmission of a tenofovir-resistant SHIV in macaques. Retrovirology 12:69.
- 449. Smith JM, Srinivasan P, Teller RS, Lo Y, Dinh CT, Kiser PF, Herold BC. 2015. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate intravaginal ring protects high-dose depot medroxyprogesterone acetate-treated macaques from multiple SHIV exposures. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 68:1-5.
- 450. Tsegaye TS, Butler K, Luo W, Radzio J, Srinivasan P, Sharma S, Aubert RD, Hanson DL, Dobard C, Garcia-Lerma JG, Heneine W, McNicholl JM, Kersh EN. 2015. Repeated Vaginal SHIV Challenges in Macaques Receiving Oral or Topical Preexposure Prophylaxis Induce Virus-Specific T-Cell Responses. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 69:385-394.
- 451. Radzio J, Henning T, Jenkins L, Ellis S, Farshy C, Phillips C, Holder A, Kuklenyik S, Dinh C, Hanson D, McNicholl J, Heneine W, Papp J, Kersh EN, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2016. Combination Emtricitabine and Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate Prevents Vaginal Simian/Human Immunodeficiency Virus Infection in Macaques Harboring Chlamydia trachomatis and Trichomonas vaginalis. J Infect Dis 213:1541-1545.
- 452. Srinivasan P, Moss JA, Gunawardana M, Churchman SA, Yang F, Dinh CT, Mitchell JM, Zhang J, Fanter R, Miller CS, Butkyavichene I, McNicholl JM, Smith TJ, Baum MM, Smith JM. 2016. Topical Delivery of Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate and Emtricitabine from Pod-Intravaginal Rings Protects Macaques from Multiple SHIV Exposures. PLoS One 11:e0157061.
- 453. **Tsai CC, Follis KE, Sabo A, Beck TW, Grant RF, Bischofberger N, Benveniste RE, Black R.** 1995. Prevention of SIV infection in macaques by (R)-9-(2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl)adenine. Science **270**:1197-1199.
- 454. **Hladik F, Hope TJ.** 2009. HIV infection of the genital mucosa in women. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep **6**:20-28.

- 455. **World Health Organization.** 2014. Global Update on the Health Sector Response to HIV, 2014. WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 456. Ugaonkar SR, Wesenberg A, Wilk J, Seidor S, Mizenina O, Kizima L, Rodriguez A, Zhang S, Levendosky K, Kenney J, Aravantinou M, Derby N, Grasperge B, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Kumar N, Roberts K, Robbiani M, Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM. 2015. A novel intravaginal ring to prevent HIV-1, HSV-2, HPV, and unintended pregnancy. J Control Release 213:57-68.
- 457. **Fisher AG, Collalti E, Ratner L, Gallo RC, Wong-Staal F.** 1985. A molecular clone of HTLV-III with biological activity. Nature **316**:262-265.
- 458. **Balzarini J, Weeger M, Camarasa MJ, De Clercq E, Uberla K.** 1995. Sensitivity/resistance profile of a simian immunodeficiency virus containing the reverse transcriptase gene of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) toward the HIV-1-specific non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **211:**850-856.
- 459. **Balzarini J, De Clercq E, Uberla K.** 1997. SIV/HIV-1 hybrid virus expressing the reverse transcriptase gene of HIV-1 remains sensitive to HIV-1-specific reverse transcriptase inhibitors after passage in rhesus macaques. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol **15**:1-4.
- 460. **Soderberg K, Denekamp L, Nikiforow S, Sautter K, Desrosiers RC, Alexander L.** 2002. A nucleotide substitution in the tRNA(Lys) primer binding site dramatically increases replication of recombinant simian immunodeficiency virus containing a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase. J Virol **76:**5803-5806.
- 461. Xing HQ, Moritoyo T, Mori K, Tadakuma K, Sugimoto C, Ono F, Hayakawa H, Izumo S. 2003. Simian immunodeficiency virus encephalitis in the white matter and degeneration of the cerebral cortex occur independently in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected monkey. J Neurovirol 9:508-518.
- 462. **Ten Haaft P, Verstrepen B, Uberla K, Rosenwirth B, Heeney J.** 1998. A pathogenic threshold of virus load defined in simian immunodeficiency virus- or simian-human immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J Virol **72**:10281-10285.
- 463. Rosenwirth B, ten Haaft P, Bogers WM, Nieuwenhuis IG, Niphuis H, Kuhn EM, Bischofberger N, Heeney JL, Uberla K. 2000. Antiretroviral therapy during primary immunodeficiency virus infection can induce persistent suppression of virus load and protection from heterologous challenge in rhesus macaques. J Virol 74:1704-1711.
- 464. Wadford DA, Kauffman RC, Deere JD, Aoki ST, Stanton RA, Higgins J, Van Rompay KK, Villalobos A, Nettles JH, Schinazi RF, Pedersen NC, North TW. 2014. Variation of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 reverse transcriptase within the simian immunodeficiency virus genome of RT-SHIV. PLoS One 9:e86997.

- 465. **Zuber B, Bottiger D, Benthin R, ten Haaft P, Heeney J, Wahren B, Oberg B.** 2001. An in vivo model for HIV resistance development. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **17:**631-635.
- 466. Hofman MJ, Higgins J, Matthews TB, Pedersen NC, Tan C, Schinazi RF, North TW. 2004. Efavirenz therapy in rhesus macaques infected with a chimera of simian immunodeficiency virus containing reverse transcriptase from human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **48**:3483-3490.
- 467. North TW, Van Rompay KK, Higgins J, Matthews TB, Wadford DA, Pedersen NC, Schinazi RF. 2005. Suppression of virus load by highly active antiretroviral therapy in rhesus macaques infected with a recombinant simian immunodeficiency virus containing reverse transcriptase from human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol **79**:7349-7354.
- 468. Van Rompay KK, Johnson JA, Blackwood EJ, Singh RP, Lipscomb J, Matthews TB, Marthas ML, Pedersen NC, Bischofberger N, Heneine W, North TW. 2007. Sequential emergence and clinical implications of viral mutants with K70E and K65R mutation in reverse transcriptase during prolonged tenofovir monotherapy in rhesus macaques with chronic RT-SHIV infection. Retrovirology **4**:25.
- 469. **Sahlberg C, Zhou XX.** 2008. Development of non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors for anti-HIV therapy. Anti-Infect Agents in Med Chem **7:**101-117.
- 470. Turville SG, Aravantinou M, Miller T, Kenney J, Teitelbaum A, Hu L, Chudolij A, Zydowsky TM, Piatak M, Jr., Bess JW, Jr., Lifson JD, Blanchard J, Gettie A, Robbiani M. 2008. Efficacy of Carraguard-based microbicides in vivo despite variable in vitro activity. PLoS One 3:e3162.
- 471. Crostarosa F, Aravantinou M, Akpogheneta OJ, Jasny E, Shaw A, Kenney J, Piatak M, Lifson JD, Teitelbaum A, Hu L, Chudolij A, Zydowsky TM, Blanchard J, Gettie A, Robbiani M. 2009. A macaque model to study vaginal HSV-2/immunodeficiency virus co-infection and the impact of HSV-2 on microbicide efficacy. PLoS One 4:e8060.
- 472. Singer R, Derby N, Rodriguez A, Kizima L, Kenney J, Aravantinou M, Chudolij A, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Lifson JD, Piatak M, Jr., Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM, Robbiani M. 2011. The nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor MIV-150 in carrageenan gel prevents rectal transmission of simian/human immunodeficiency virus infection in macaques. J Virol 85:5504-5512.
- 473. Kenney J, Aravantinou M, Singer R, Hsu M, Rodriguez A, Kizima L, Abraham CJ, Menon R, Seidor S, Chudolij A, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Lifson JD, Piatak M, Jr., Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM, Robbiani M. 2011. An antiretroviral/zinc combination gel provides 24 hours of complete protection against vaginal SHIV infection in macaques. PLoS One 6:e15835.

- 474. Kenney J, Singer R, Derby N, Aravantinou M, Abraham CJ, Menon R, Seidor S, Zhang S, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Piatak M, Jr., Lifson JD, Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM, Robbiani M. 2012. A single dose of a MIV-150/Zinc acetate gel provides 24 h of protection against vaginal simian human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptase infection, with more limited protection rectally 8-24 h after gel use. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 28:1476-1484.
- 475. Hsu M, Aravantinou M, Menon R, Seidor S, Goldman D, Kenney J, Derby N, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Piatak M, Jr., Lifson JD, Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM, Robbiani M. 2014. A combination microbicide gel protects macaques against vaginal simian human immunodeficiency virus-reverse transcriptase infection, but only partially reduces herpes simplex virus-2 infection after a single high-dose cochallenge. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 30:174-183.
- 476. Singer R, Mawson P, Derby N, Rodriguez A, Kizima L, Menon R, Goldman D, Kenney J, Aravantinou M, Seidor S, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Piatak M, Jr., Lifson JD, Fernandez-Romero JA, Robbiani M, Zydowsky TM. 2012. An intravaginal ring that releases the NNRTI MIV-150 reduces SHIV transmission in macaques. Sci Transl Med 4:150ra123.
- 477. Aravantinou M, Singer R, Derby N, Calenda G, Mawson P, Abraham CJ, Menon R, Seidor S, Goldman D, Kenney J, Villegas G, Gettie A, Blanchard J, Lifson JD, Piatak M, Jr., Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM, Teleshova N, Robbiani M. 2012. The nonnucleoside reverse transcription inhibitor MIV-160 delivered from an intravaginal ring, but not from a carrageenan gel, protects against simian/human immunodeficiency virus-RT Infection. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 28:1467-1475.
- 478. Ambrose Z, KewalRamani VN, Bieniasz PD, Hatziioannou T. 2007. HIV/AIDS: in search of an animal model. Trends Biotechnol 25:333-337.
- 479. Pani A, Musiu C, Loi AG, Mai A, Loddo R, La Colla P, Marongiu ME. 2001. DABOs as candidates to prevent mucosal HIV transmission. Antivir Chem Chemother 12 Suppl 1:51-59.
- 480. Caron M, Besson G, Etenna SL, Mintsa-Ndong A, Mourtas S, Radaelli A, Morghen Cde G, Loddo R, La Colla P, Antimisiaris SG, Kazanji M. 2010. Protective properties of non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (MC1220) incorporated into liposome against intravaginal challenge of Rhesus macaques with RT-SHIV. Virology **405**:225-233.
- 481. Stolte-Leeb N, Loddo R, Antimisiaris S, Schultheiss T, Sauermann U, Franz M, Mourtas S, Parsy C, Storer R, La Colla P, Stahl-Hennig C. 2011. Topical nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor MC 1220 partially prevents vaginal RT-SHIV infection of macaques. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 27:933-943.

- 482. Fetherston SM, Geer L, Veazey RS, Goldman L, Murphy DJ, Ketas TJ, Klasse PJ, Blois S, La Colla P, Moore JP, Malcolm RK. 2013. Partial protection against multiple RT-SHIV162P3 vaginal challenge of rhesus macaques by a silicone elastomer vaginal ring releasing the NNRTI MC1220. J Antimicrob Chemother **68**:394-403.
- 483. **Spreen WR, Margolis DA, Pottage JC, Jr.** 2013. Long-acting injectable antiretrovirals for HIV treatment and prevention. Curr Opin HIV AIDS **8**:565-571.
- 484. Andrews CD, Spreen WR, Mohri H, Moss L, Ford S, Gettie A, Russell-Lodrigue K, Bohm RP, Cheng-Mayer C, Hong Z, Markowitz M, Ho DD. 2014. Long-acting integrase inhibitor protects macaques from intrarectal simian/human immunodeficiency virus. Science 343:1151-1154.
- 485. Radzio J, Spreen W, Yueh YL, Mitchell J, Jenkins L, Garcia-Lerma JG, Heneine W. 2015. The long-acting integrase inhibitor GSK744 protects macaques from repeated intravaginal SHIV challenge. Sci Transl Med 7:270ra275.
- 486. Mayer KH, Maslankowski LA, Gai F, El-Sadr WM, Justman J, Kwiecien A, Masse B, Eshleman SH, Hendrix C, Morrow K, Rooney JF, Soto-Torres L, Team HP. 2006. Safety and tolerability of tenofovir vaginal gel in abstinent and sexually active HIV-infected and uninfected women. AIDS 20:543-551.
- 487. **Patton DL, Kidder GG, Sweeney YC, Rabe LK, Hillier SL.** 1999. Effects of multiple applications of benzalkonium chloride and nonoxynol 9 on the vaginal epithelium in the pigtailed macaque (Macaca nemestrina). Am J Obstet Gynecol **180**:1080-1087.
- 488. **Patton DL, Cosgrove Sweeney YT, Rabe LK, Hillier SL.** 2002. Rectal applications of nonoxynol-9 cause tissue disruption in a monkey model. Sex Transm Dis **29:**581-587.
- 489. Van Rompay KK, Cherrington JM, Marthas ML, Berardi CJ, Mulato AS, Spinner A, Tarara RP, Canfield DR, Telm S, Bischofberger N, Pedersen NC. 1996. 9-[2-(Phosphonomethoxy)propyl]adenine therapy of established simian immunodeficiency virus infection in infant rhesus macaques. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **40**:2586-2591.
- 490. Van Rompay KK, Matthews TB, Higgins J, Canfield DR, Tarara RP, Wainberg MA, Schinazi RF, Pedersen NC, North TW. 2002. Virulence and reduced fitness of simian immunodeficiency virus with the M184V mutation in reverse transcriptase. J Virol 76:6083-6092.
- 491. Hsu M, Keele BF, Aravantinou M, Krawczyk N, Seidor S, Abraham CJ, Zhang S, Rodriguez A, Kizima L, Derby N, Jean-Pierre N, Mizenina O, Gettie A, Grasperge B, Blanchard J, Piatak MJ, Jr., Lifson JD, Fernandez-Romero JA, Zydowsky TM, Robbiani M. 2014. Exposure to MIV-150 from a high-dose intravaginal ring results in limited emergence of drug resistance mutations in SHIV-RT infected rhesus macaques. PLoS One 9:e89300.

- 492. Cong ME, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2007. The fitness cost of mutations associated with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance is modulated by mutational interactions. J Virol 81:3037-3041.
- 493. Veazey RS, Shattock RJ, Pope M, Kirijan JC, Jones J, Hu Q, Ketas T, Marx PA, Klasse PJ, Burton DR, Moore JP. 2003. Prevention of virus transmission to macaque monkeys by a vaginally applied monoclonal antibody to HIV-1 gp120. Nat Med 9:343-346.
- 494. Veazey RS, Klasse PJ, Schader SM, Hu Q, Ketas TJ, Lu M, Marx PA, Dufour J, Colonno RJ, Shattock RJ, Springer MS, Moore JP. 2005. Protection of macaques from vaginal SHIV challenge by vaginally delivered inhibitors of virus-cell fusion. Nature **438**:99-102.
- 495. Lederman MM, Veazey RS, Offord R, Mosier DE, Dufour J, Mefford M, Piatak M, Jr., Lifson JD, Salkowitz JR, Rodriguez B, Blauvelt A, Hartley O. 2004. Prevention of vaginal SHIV transmission in rhesus macaques through inhibition of CCR5. Science 306:485-487.
- 496. **Boadi T, Schneider E, Chung S, Tsai L, Gettie A, Ratterree M, Blanchard J, Neurath AR, Cheng-Mayer C.** 2005. Cellulose acetate 1,2-benzenedicarboxylate protects against challenge with pathogenic X4 and R5 simian/human immunodeficiency virus. AIDS **19:**1587-1594.
- 497. Moog C, Dereuddre-Bosquet N, Teillaud JL, Biedma ME, Holl V, Van Ham G, Heyndrickx L, Van Dorsselaer A, Katinger D, Vcelar B, Zolla-Pazner S, Mangeot I, Kelly C, Shattock RJ, Le Grand R. 2014. Protective effect of vaginal application of neutralizing and nonneutralizing inhibitory antibodies against vaginal SHIV challenge in macaques. Mucosal Immunol 7:46-56.
- 498. Dereuddre-Bosquet N, Morellato-Castillo L, Brouwers J, Augustijns P, Bouchemal K, Ponchel G, Ramos OH, Herrera C, Stefanidou M, Shattock R, Heyndrickx L, Vanham G, Kessler P, Le Grand R, Martin L. 2012. MiniCD4 microbicide prevents HIV infection of human mucosal explants and vaginal transmission of SHIV(162P3) in cynomolgus macaques. PLoS Pathog 8:e1003071.
- 499. Veazey RS, Chatterji U, Bobardt M, Russell-Lodrigue KE, Li J, Wang X, Gallay PA. 2015. C5A Protects Macaques from Vaginal Simian-Human Immunodeficiency Virus Challenge. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 60:693-698.
- 500. Denton PW, Othieno F, Martinez-Torres F, Zou W, Krisko JF, Fleming E, Zein S, Powell DA, Wahl A, Kwak YT, Welch BD, Kay MS, Payne DA, Gallay P, Appella E, Estes JD, Lu M, Garcia JV. 2011. One percent tenofovir applied topically to humanized BLT mice and used according to the CAPRISA 004 experimental design demonstrates partial protection from vaginal HIV infection, validating the BLT model for evaluation of new microbicide candidates. J Virol 85:7582-7593.
- 501. Kovarova M, Council OD, Date AA, Long JM, Nochi T, Belshan M, Shibata A, Vincent H, Baker CE, Thayer WO, Kraus G, Lachaud-Durand S, Williams P, Destache CJ, Garcia JV. 2015. Nanoformulations of Rilpivirine for Topical Pericoital and Systemic Coitus-Independent Administration Efficiently Prevent HIV Transmission. PLoS Pathog 11:e1005075.
- 502. Kovarova M, Swanson MD, Sanchez RI, Baker CE, Steve J, Spagnuolo RA, Howell BJ, Hazuda DJ, Garcia JV. 2016. A long-acting formulation of the integrase inhibitor raltegravir protects humanized BLT mice from repeated high-dose vaginal HIV challenges. J Antimicrob Chemother 71:1586-1596.
- 503. Destache CJ, Mandal S, Yuan Z, Kang G, Date AA, Lu W, Shibata A, Pham R, Bruck P, Rezich M, Zhou Y, Vivekanandan R, Fletcher CV, Li Q. 2016. Topical Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate Nanoparticles Prevent HIV-1 Vaginal Transmission in a Humanized Mouse Model. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 60:3633-3639.
- 504. Mandal S, Prathipati PK, Kang G, Zhou Y, Yuan Z, Fan W, Li Q, Destache CJ. 2017. Tenofovir alafenamide and elvitegravir loaded nanoparticles for long-acting prevention of HIV-1 vaginal transmission. AIDS **31:**469-476.
- 505. Wahl A, Ho PT, Denton PW, Garrett KL, Hudgens MG, Swartz G, O'Neill C, Veronese F, Kashuba AD, Garcia JV. 2017. Predicting HIV Pre-exposure Prophylaxis Efficacy for Women using a Preclinical Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic In Vivo Model. Sci Rep 7:41098.
- 506. Denton PW, Krisko JF, Powell DA, Mathias M, Kwak YT, Martinez-Torres F, Zou W, Payne DA, Estes JD, Garcia JV. 2010. Systemic administration of antiretrovirals prior to exposure prevents rectal and intravenous HIV-1 transmission in humanized BLT mice. PLoS One 5:e8829.
- 507. Chateau ML, Denton PW, Swanson MD, McGowan I, Garcia JV. 2013. Rectal transmission of transmitted/founder HIV-1 is efficiently prevented by topical 1% tenofovir in BLT humanized mice. PLoS One 8:e60024.
- 508. Wahl A, Swanson MD, Nochi T, Olesen R, Denton PW, Chateau M, Garcia JV. 2012. Human breast milk and antiretrovirals dramatically reduce oral HIV-1 transmission in BLT humanized mice. PLoS Pathog 8:e1002732.
- 509. Chateau M, Swanson MD, Garcia JV. 2013. Inefficient vaginal transmission of tenofovir-resistant HIV-1. J Virol 87:1274-1277.
- 510. Cong ME, Youngpairoj AS, Aung W, Sharma S, Mitchell J, Dobard C, Heneine W, Garcia-Lerma JG. 2011. Generation and mucosal transmissibility of emtricitabine- and tenofovir-resistant SHIV162P3 mutants in macaques. Virology **412**:435-440.

- 511. Kovarova M, Shanmugasundaram U, Baker CE, Spagnuolo RA, De C, Nixon CC, Wahl A, Garcia JV. 2016. HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis for women and infants prevents vaginal and oral HIV transmission in a preclinical model of HIV infection. J Antimicrob Chemother **71**:3185-3194.
- 512. Wheeler LA, Trifonova R, Vrbanac V, Basar E, McKernan S, Xu Z, Seung E, Deruaz M, Dudek T, Einarsson JI, Yang L, Allen TM, Luster AD, Tager AM, Dykxhoorn DM, Lieberman J. 2011. Inhibition of HIV transmission in human cervicovaginal explants and humanized mice using CD4 aptamer-siRNA chimeras. J Clin Invest 121:2401-2412.
- 513. Hur EM, Patel SN, Shimizu S, Rao DS, Gnanapragasam PN, An DS, Yang L, Baltimore D. 2012. Inhibitory effect of HIV-specific neutralizing IgA on mucosal transmission of HIV in humanized mice. Blood 120:4571-4582.
- 514. Kim SS, Peer D, Kumar P, Subramanya S, Wu H, Asthana D, Habiro K, Yang YG, Manjunath N, Shimaoka M, Shankar P. 2010. RNAi-mediated CCR5 silencing by LFA-1-targeted nanoparticles prevents HIV infection in BLT mice. Mol Ther 18:370-376.
- Balazs AB, Ouyang Y, Hong CM, Chen J, Nguyen SM, Rao DS, An DS, Baltimore D. 2014. Vectored immunoprophylaxis protects humanized mice from mucosal HIV transmission. Nat Med 20:296-300.
- 516. Rongvaux A, Takizawa H, Strowig T, Willinger T, Eynon EE, Flavell RA, Manz MG. 2013. Human hemato-lymphoid system mice: current use and future potential for medicine. Annu Rev Immunol **31:**635-674.
- 517. Donnell D, Baeten JM, Bumpus NN, Brantley J, Bangsberg DR, Haberer JE, Mujugira A, Mugo N, Ndase P, Hendrix C, Celum C. 2014. HIV protective efficacy and correlates of tenofovir blood concentrations in a clinical trial of PrEP for HIV prevention. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 66:340-348.
- 518. **Margolis DA, Boffito M.** 2015. Long-acting antiviral agents for HIV treatment. Curr Opin HIV AIDS **10**:246-252.
- 519. Fennell C, Sartorius G, Ly LP, Turner L, Liu PY, Conway AJ, Handelsman DJ. 2010. Randomized cross-over clinical trial of injectable vs. implantable depot testosterone for maintenance of testosterone replacement therapy in androgen deficient men. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) **73**:102-109.
- 520. Marberger M, Kaisary AV, Shore ND, Karlin GS, Savulsky C, Mis R, Leuratti C, Germa JR. 2010. Effectiveness, pharmacokinetics, and safety of a new sustained-release leuprolide acetate 3.75-mg depot formulation for testosterone suppression in patients with prostate cancer: a Phase III, open-label, international multicenter study. Clin Ther **32**:744-757.

- 521. Winner B, Peipert JF, Zhao Q, Buckel C, Madden T, Allsworth JE, Secura GM. 2012. Effectiveness of long-acting reversible contraception. N Engl J Med 366:1998-2007.
- 522. **Janssen Therapeutics.** 2011. Edurant package insert. Janssen Therapeutics, Titusville, NJ, USA.
- 523. Jackson A, McGowan I. 2015. Long-acting rilpivirine for HIV prevention. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 10:253-257.
- 524. **Ambrose Z, Kline C, Polacino P, Hu SL.** 2014. Dysregulation of multiple inflammatory molecules in lymph node and ileum of macaques during RT-SHIV infection with or without antiretroviral therapy. J Med Primatol **43**:298-309.
- 525. Jiang Y, Tian B, Agy MB, Saifuddin M, Tsai CC. 2009. Macaca fascicularis are highly susceptible to an RT-SHIV following intravaginal inoculation: a new model for microbicide evaluation. J Med Primatol **38 Suppl 1:**39-46.
- 526. Jiang Y, Tian B, Saifuddin M, Agy MB, Emau P, Cairns JS, Tsai CC. 2009. RT-SHIV, an infectious CCR5-tropic chimeric virus suitable for evaluating HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitors in macaque models. AIDS Res Ther 6:23.
- 527. Kearney M, Spindler J, Shao W, Maldarelli F, Palmer S, Hu SL, Lifson JD, KewalRamani VN, Mellors JW, Coffin JM, Ambrose Z. 2011. Genetic diversity of simian immunodeficiency virus encoding HIV-1 reverse transcriptase persists in macaques despite antiretroviral therapy. J Virol 85:1067-1076.
- 528. North TW, Higgins J, Deere JD, Hayes TL, Villalobos A, Adamson L, Shacklett BL, Schinazi RF, Luciw PA. 2010. Viral sanctuaries during highly active antiretroviral therapy in a nonhuman primate model for AIDS. J Virol 84:2913-2922.
- 529. Shao W, Kearney M, Maldarelli F, Mellors JW, Stephens RM, Lifson JD, KewalRamani VN, Ambrose Z, Coffin JM, Palmer SE. 2009. RT-SHIV subpopulation dynamics in infected macaques during anti-HIV therapy. Retrovirology 6:101.
- 530. **DuBridge RB, Tang P, Hsia HC, Leong PM, Miller JH, Calos MP.** 1987. Analysis of mutation in human cells by using an Epstein-Barr virus shuttle system. Mol Cell Biol **7:**379-387.
- 531. Platt EJ, Wehrly K, Kuhmann SE, Chesebro B, Kabat D. 1998. Effects of CCR5 and CD4 cell surface concentrations on infections by macrophagetropic isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol 72:2855-2864.
- 532. Derdeyn CA, Decker JM, Sfakianos JN, Wu X, O'Brien WA, Ratner L, Kappes JC, Shaw GM, Hunter E. 2000. Sensitivity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to the

fusion inhibitor T-20 is modulated by coreceptor specificity defined by the V3 loop of gp120. J Virol **74:**8358-8367.

- 533. Cecilia D, KewalRamani VN, O'Leary J, Volsky B, Nyambi P, Burda S, Xu S, Littman DR, Zolla-Pazner S. 1998. Neutralization profiles of primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 isolates in the context of coreceptor usage. J Virol 72:6988-6996.
- 534. Shi C, Mellors JW. 1997. A recombinant retroviral system for rapid in vivo analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 susceptibility to reverse transcriptase inhibitors. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 41:2781-2785.
- 535. **Kimpton J, Emerman M.** 1992. Detection of replication-competent and pseudotyped human immunodeficiency virus with a sensitive cell line on the basis of activation of an integrated beta-galactosidase gene. J Virol **66**:2232-2239.
- 536. Cline AN, Bess JW, Jr., Piatak M, Jr., Lifson JD. 2005. Highly sensitive SIV plasma viral load assay: practival considerations, realistic performance expectations, and application to reverse engineering of vaccines for AIDS. J Med Primatol **34**:303-312.
- 537. Kline C, Ndjomou J, Franks T, Kiser R, Coalter V, Smedley J, Piatak M, Jr., Mellors JW, Lifson JD, Ambrose Z. 2013. Persistence of viral reservoirs in multiple tissues after antiretroviral therapy suppression in a macaque RT-SHIV model. PLoS One 8:e84275.
- 538. Salter RD, Howell DN, Cresswell P. 1985. Genes regulating HLA class I antigen expression in T-B lymphoblast hybrids. Immunogenetics **21**:235-246.
- 539. Mansoor LE, Abdool Karim Q, Yende-Zuma N, MacQueen KM, Baxter C, Madlala BT, Grobler A, Abdool Karim SS. 2014. Adherence in the CAPRISA 004 tenofovir gel microbicide trial. AIDS Behav 18:811-819.
- 540. **Ton Q, Frenkel L.** 2013. HIV drug resistance in mothers and infants following use of antiretrovirals to prevent mother-to-child transmission. Curr HIV Res **11**:126-136.
- 541. Boltz VF, Ambrose Z, Kearney MF, Shao W, Kewalramani VN, Maldarelli F, Mellors JW, Coffin JM. 2012. Ultrasensitive allele-specific PCR reveals rare preexisting drug-resistant variants and a large replicating virus population in macaques infected with a simian immunodeficiency virus containing human immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptase. J Virol 86:12525-12530.
- 542. Bacheler L, Jeffrey S, Hanna G, D'Aquila R, Wallace L, Logue K, Cordova B, Hertogs K, Larder B, Buckery R, Baker D, Gallagher K, Scarnati H, Tritch R, Rizzo C. 2001. Genotypic correlates of phenotypic resistance to efavirenz in virus isolates from patients failing nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor therapy. J Virol 75:4999-5008.

- 543. Johnson BC, Pauly GT, Rai G, Patel D, Bauman JD, Baker HL, Das K, Schneider JP, Maloney DJ, Arnold E, Thomas CJ, Hughes SH. 2012. A comparison of the ability of rilpivirine (TMC278) and selected analogues to inhibit clinically relevant HIV-1 reverse transcriptase mutants. Retrovirology **9**:99.
- 544. **Porter DP, Kulkarni R, Fralich T, Miller MD, White KL.** 2015. 96-week resistance analyses of the STaR study: rilpivirine/emtricitabine/tenofovir DF versus efavirenz/emtricitabine/tenofovir DF in antiretroviral-naive, HIV-1-infected subjects. HIV Clin Trials **16**:30-38.
- 545. Ren J, Chamberlain PP, Stamp A, Short SA, Weaver KL, Romines KR, Hazen R, Freeman A, Ferris RG, Andrews CW, Boone L, Chan JH, Stammers DK. 2008. Structural basis for the improved drug resistance profile of new generation benzophenone non-nucleoside HIV-1 reverse transcriptase inhibitors. J Med Chem 51:5000-5008.
- 546. McCallum M, Oliveira M, Ibanescu RI, Kramer VG, Moisi D, Asahchop EL, Brenner BG, Harrigan PR, Xu H, Wainberg MA. 2013. Basis for early and preferential selection of the E138K mutation in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 57:4681-4688.
- 547. Xu HT, Colby-Germinario SP, Asahchop EL, Oliveira M, McCallum M, Schader SM, Han Y, Quan Y, Sarafianos SG, Wainberg MA. 2013. Effect of mutations at position E138 in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and their interactions with the M184I mutation on defining patterns of resistance to nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors rilpivirine and etravirine. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 57:3100-3109.
- 548. Vingerhoets J, Azijn H, Fransen E, De Baere I, Smeulders L, Jochmans D, Andries K, Pauwels R, de Bethune MP. 2005. TMC125 displays a high genetic barrier to the development of resistance: evidence from in vitro selection experiments. J Virol **79**:12773-12782.
- 549. Das K, Clark AD, Jr., Lewi PJ, Heeres J, De Jonge MR, Koymans LM, Vinkers HM, Daeyaert F, Ludovici DW, Kukla MJ, De Corte B, Kavash RW, Ho CY, Ye H, Lichtenstein MA, Andries K, Pauwels R, De Bethune MP, Boyer PL, Clark P, Hughes SH, Janssen PA, Arnold E. 2004. Roles of conformational and positional adaptability in structure-based design of TMC125-R165335 (etravirine) and related non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors that are highly potent and effective against wild-type and drug-resistant HIV-1 variants. J Med Chem 47:2550-2560.
- 550. Mariani R, Rasala BA, Rutter G, Wiegers K, Brandt SM, Krausslich HG, Landau NR. 2001. Mouse-human heterokaryons support efficient human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly. J Virol **75:**3141-3151.
- 551. **Golde WT, Gollobin P, Rodriguez LL.** 2005. A rapid, simple, and humane method for submandibular bleeding of mice using a lancet. Lab Anim (NY) **34:**39-43.

- 552. Palmer S, Boltz V, Maldarelli F, Kearney M, Halvas EK, Rock D, Falloon J, Davey RT, Jr., Dewar RL, Metcalf JA, Mellors JW, Coffin JM. 2006. Selection and persistence of non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-resistant HIV-1 in patients starting and stopping non-nucleoside therapy. AIDS 20:701-710.
- 553. Palmer S, Wiegand AP, Maldarelli F, Bazmi H, Mican JM, Polis M, Dewar RL, Planta A, Liu S, Metcalf JA, Mellors JW, Coffin JM. 2003. New real-time reverse transcriptase-initiated PCR assay with single-copy sensitivity for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA in plasma. J Clin Microbiol **41**:4531-4536.
- 554. Palmer S, Kearney M, Maldarelli F, Halvas EK, Bixby CJ, Bazmi H, Rock D, Falloon J, Davey RT, Jr., Dewar RL, Metcalf JA, Hammer S, Mellors JW, Coffin JM. 2005. Multiple, linked human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance mutations in treatment-experienced patients are missed by standard genotype analysis. J Clin Microbiol 43:406-413.
- 555. Archer RH, Dykes C, Gerondelis P, Lloyd A, Fay P, Reichman RC, Bambara RA, Demeter LM. 2000. Mutants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) reverse transcriptase resistant to nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors demonstrate altered rates of RNase H cleavage that correlate with HIV-1 replication fitness in cell culture. J Virol 74:8390-8401.
- 556. Usach I, Melis V, Peris JE. 2013. Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors: a review on pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, safety and tolerability. J Int AIDS Soc 16:1-14.
- 557. Anta L, Llibre JM, Poveda E, Blanco JL, Alvarez M, Perez-Elias MJ, Aguilera A, Caballero E, Soriano V, de Mendoza C, Resistance Platform of the Spanish ARN. 2013. Rilpivirine resistance mutations in HIV patients failing non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-based therapies. AIDS 27:81-85.
- 558. Bunupuradah T, Ananworanich J, Chetchotisakd P, Kantipong P, Jirajariyavej S, Sirivichayakul S, Munsakul W, Prasithsirikul W, Sungkanuparph S, Bowonwattanuwong C, Klinbuayaem V, Petoumenos K, Hirschel B, Bhakeecheep S, Ruxrungtham K. 2011. Etravirine and rilpivirine resistance in HIV-1 subtype CRF01_AE-infected adults failing non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-based regimens. Antivir Ther 16:1113-1121.
- 559. Wu L, Martin TD, Vazeux R, Unutmaz D, KewalRamani VN. 2002. Functional evaluation of DC-SIGN monoclonal antibodies reveals DC-SIGN interactions with ICAM-3 do not promote human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission. J Virol **76**:5905-5914.
- 560. Smith SJ, Pauly GT, Akram A, Melody K, Rai G, Maloney DJ, Ambrose Z, Thomas CJ, Schneider JT, Hughes SH. 2016. Rilpivirine analogs potently inhibit drug-resistant HIV-1 mutants. Retrovirology 13:11.

- 561. Winters MA, Coolley KL, Girard YA, Levee DJ, Hamdan H, Shafer RW, Katzenstein DA, Merigan TC. 1998. A 6-basepair insert in the reverse transcriptase gene of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 confers resistance to multiple nucleoside inhibitors. J Clin Invest 102:1769-1775.
- 562. Tamalet C, Yahi N, Tourres C, Colson P, Quinson AM, Poizot-Martin I, Dhiver C, Fantini J. 2000. Multidrug resistance genotypes (insertions in the beta3-beta4 finger subdomain and MDR mutations) of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase from extensively treated patients: incidence and association with other resistance mutations. Virology 270:310-316.
- 563. Ambrose Z, Herman BD, Sheen CW, Zelina S, Moore KL, Tachedjian G, Nissley DV, Sluis-Cremer N. 2009. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor resistance mutation I132M confers hypersensitivity to nucleoside analogs. J Virol 83:3826-3833.
- 564. Johnson MS, McClure MA, Feng DF, Gray J, Doolittle RF. 1986. Computer analysis of retroviral pol genes: assignment of enzymatic functions to specific sequences and homologies with nonviral enzymes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:7648-7652.
- 565. **Ding J, Das K, Hsiou Y, Sarafianos SG, Clark AD, Jr., Jacobo-Molina A, Tantillo C, Hughes SH, Arnold E.** 1998. Structure and functional implications of the polymerase active site region in a complex of HIV-1 RT with a double-stranded DNA template-primer and an antibody Fab fragment at 2.8 A resolution. J Mol Biol **284**:1095-1111.
- 566. **Feng JY, Anderson KS.** 1999. Mechanistic studies examining the efficiency and fidelity of DNA synthesis by the 3TC-resistant mutant (184V) of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. Biochemistry **38**:9440-9448.
- 567. Sarafianos SG, Das K, Clark AD, Jr., Ding J, Boyer PL, Hughes SH, Arnold E. 1999. Lamivudine (3TC) resistance in HIV-1 reverse transcriptase involves steric hindrance with beta-branched amino acids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **96**:10027-10032.
- 568. Larder BA, Kemp SD, Purifoy DJ. 1989. Infectious potential of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase mutants with altered inhibitor sensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:4803-4807.
- 569. Tachedjian G, Hooker DJ, Gurusinghe AD, Bazmi H, Deacon NJ, Mellors J, Birch C, Mills J. 1995. Characterisation of foscarnet-resistant strains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Virology **212:**58-68.
- 570. **Smith RA, Anderson DJ, Preston BD.** 2006. Hypersusceptibility to substrate analogs conferred by mutations in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase. J Virol **80:**7169-7178.

- 571. Song J, Cai Z, White AG, Jin T, Wang X, Kadayakkara D, Anderson CJ, Ambrose Z, Young WB. 2015. Visualization and quantification of simian immunodeficiency virus-infected cells using non-invasive molecular imaging. J Gen Virol 96:3131-3142.
- 572. Santangelo PJ, Rogers KA, Zurla C, Blanchard EL, Gumber S, Strait K, Connor-Stroud F, Schuster DM, Amancha PK, Hong JJ, Byrareddy SN, Hoxie JA, Vidakovic B, Ansari AA, Hunter E, Villinger F. 2015. Whole-body immunoPET reveals active SIV dynamics in viremic and antiretroviral therapy-treated macaques. Nat Methods 12:427-432.
- 573. Yu X, Xu F, Ramirez NG, Kijewski SD, Akiyama H, Gummuluru S, Reinhard BM. 2015. Dressing up Nanoparticles: A Membrane Wrap to Induce Formation of the Virological Synapse. ACS Nano 9:4182-4192.